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Property: Oregon Short Line Passenger Depot
Address: 125 So MT St, Dillon, Beaverhead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: railroad stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Union Pacific Railroad entered Montana Territory via the Utah and Northern narrow gauge branch line in
1880. The newly platted town of Dillon, named for Utah and Northern president Sidney Dillon, stood ready as a
stopping point between Utah and the mining town of Butte. By 1907, Dillon’s Oregon Short Line Depot was
handling $1,000 a day in passenger and freight traffic. The old depot building, dismantled elsewhere and moved
to Dillon in sections in 1880, was inconveniently located, “...dingy, dirty and absolutely unfit....” Dillon
businessmen feared its wretched condition might encourage passengers to choose an alternate route. Mayor B. F.
White secured the promise of a new depot from Union Pacific officials, thereby assuring the survival of this
railroad-dependent town. On New Year’s night, 1908, townspeople christened their new depot, declaring it “...a
credit to a town ten times the size of Dillon.” The Arts and Crafts style brick depot features quoining and banding
of cast concrete, multi-paned windows, and wide eaves supported by wooden brackets. Its central presence
enhances the architectural character of the community. Rail traffic dwindled in the 1970s and in 1989, the Union
Pacific acknowledged the end of an era, transferring its depot keys to Beaverhead County Museum officials. The
elegant depot, a splendid example of period railroad architecture, symbolizes Dillon’s roots.

Property: Dillon City Library
Address: 121 S. Idaho, Dillon, Beaverhead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: libraries (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

As early as 1888, the Reverend and Mrs. Sidney Hooker of the Episcopal Church launched a book club, laying the
foundation for this impressive public library. A town meeting in 1890 established a library association, and soon
contributions of books, time, and money for the “free library” yielded a modest collection. The books were
housed in a variety of settings: a Masonic Lodge room, a grocery store, a bank, and finally, in 1894, the parish
house of the Episcopal Church. In 1896, the mayor appointed the first library trustees. Among them was Mrs.
Hooker, the grandniece of author Harriet Beecher Stowe, who served as chief librarian. By 1901, the library had
enlarged to 2,438 volumes and outgrown its parish home. Trustee secretary Reverend Henry Cope applied to the
Andrew Carnegie Endowment Fund. A sum of $7,500 toward the $8,600 cost of a new building was granted.
Distinguished Helena architect C. S. Haire designed the Romanesque Revival structure, completed in 1902. A steep
gable, octagonal tower, semicircular arches, and carved faces lend a medieval quality to this dignified library built
with such civic pride. One of seventeen Montana libraries constructed with Carnegie funds, the Dillon City Library
is a tribute to the townspeople who supported its creation and to those who continue to nurture it.

Property: Bannack Historic District
Address: , Bannack, Beaverhead

Historic District: Bannack Historic District Building Type: district
Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Bannack epitomizes the tough, primitive towns that sprang up with gold discoveries. Its story also illustrates a
century of survival, through boom and bust periods associated with resource extraction and technological
advances. On July 28, 1862, prospectors John White and company made a lucky strike, triggering Montana’s first
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major gold rush. Miners—many from Idaho’s crowded Salmon River diggings—swarmed over the Continental
Divide. By spring 1863, Bannack had 3,000 inhabitants. The town saw six vigilante hangings, including that of its
infamous sheriff, Henry Plummer. Briefly designated capital of the new Montana Territory in 1864, the first
legislature met here in a crude log cabin. While other gold strikes stole Bannack’s initial population, the town
rebounded in the 1870s and served as the Beaverhead County seat until 1881. The Masonic Lodge Hall/School
(1874), Methodist Church (1877), and the Hotel Meade built as the Beaverhead County courthouse (1875) reflect
this period. Evidence of hydraulic, dredge, and hard rock mining interrupt the landscape. Montana’s first quartz
claims initiated hard rock mining here in 1862 and stamp mills soon operated alongside placer mining. Changing
technologies produced new boom periods and other changes to Bannack. Electrification of the mines in 1930
brought electricity to the town. Despite its varied fortunes, the community held together while local mills
operated sporadically until World War Il. The State of Montana acquired most of the town in 1954, and a few
residents remained until the early 1970s. Bannack features multi-period buildings spanning the primitive 1860s,
urbanized 1870s-1880s, and early twentieth century. In 1961, Bannack earned status as a National Historic
Landmark.

Property: Hotel Metlen
Address: 5 South Railroad Avenue, Dillon, Beaverhead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

As a ranching and agricultural center and major railroad stop between Butte and the Idaho line, Dillon’s future
looked very bright in the late 1890s. The recent invention of the gold dredge and resurgence of gold mining
brought added prosperity to the county. With optimistic vigor in 1897, pioneer politician and businessman Joseph
Metlen expressed his support of the community and belief in Dillon’s potential with the construction of a $30,000
sixty-room hotel. Grand in scale and rich in detail, Metlen spared no expense on the three-story Second Empire
style building. White quarry-faced sandstone, white brick, a tin-covered mansard roof, and interior finishing of
Michigan and Oregon pine reveal the best quality materials. The hotel boasted all the most modern conveniences:
call bells in every room, electricity, hot and cold water, and a steam heating system “absolutely free from
hammering.” Over 200 distinguished guests attended the formal opening on February 11, 1898, including
Governor R. B. Smith and Chief Justice Pemberton. One of Dillon’s three surviving landmarks of the early
community, the Metlen Hotel remains an important economic and social fixture, providing similar services for
over ninety years.

Property: Martin Barrett House
Address: 733 S. Pacific, Dillon, Beaverhead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: ranches (agricultural complexes)
Sign Text:

The Martin Barrett House, built in 1912, was the in-town retirement home of prominent pioneer rancher,
politician and philanthropist Martin Barrett and his wife Alice. One of the finest examples of early-twentieth-
century architecture in Dillon, the Barrett House combines the grace and symmetry of the Colonial Revival style
with the horizontal rooflines of the Prairie style. Born in Ireland, Martin Barrett arrived in Montana Territory in
1863, wisely choosing to make his fortune in the goldfields by raising stock at Horse Prairie. By 1871, he ran 2,000
head of shorthorn cattle on 4,500 acres. He was elected to two terms in the territorial legislature and was the
Beaverhead County Stock Commissioner for six years in the early 1900s. He served on the Dillon School Board, but
was defeated by his wife, who then served as a board member for the next twenty-two years. Martin Barrett also
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was a founding member and vice president of the Dillon State Bank. In 1921, he donated $100,000 towards the
construction of a new hospital in Dillon, named for him as its major benefactor.

Property: James Reid's Pool Hall

Address: 204 N. Center, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: pool halls Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The elaborate corbelling on the front facade and the parapet above the transom evoke the glory days of this
building, which long provided recreation for Hardin residents. German immigrant Anton Becker, owner of the
hotel next door, constructed the one-story building in 1910, only three years after Hardin was founded. The
town's earliest map shows the building as a dance hall, but by 1911, the brick structure housed the Pioneer Pool
Parlor. Popular Hardin barber Matt Larkin shared the space from 1912 to 1918. In 1918, pool hall owner James
Reid constructed a forty-foot addition at the back of the building and installed a double bowling alley. In the
1920s, in response to golf's rising popularity, owners installed a nine-hole indoor golf course with a sand green. In
later years, the space served as a meat market, grocery store, and then the Pastime Café. The plate glass
storefront, glass block transom, and aluminum awnings are later modifications, but the top of the building
remains as it was during Hardin's boom years.

Property: Chief Plenty Coups Home
Address: 1/2 mile west on Edgar Rd, Pryor, Big Horn

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Aleek-chea-ahoosh, or “Many Achievements,” was a fitting name for the influential Crow chief who was esteemed
among his people and honored by both statesmen and presidents. White men called him Plenty Coups for the 80
feathers he wore with earned authority on his coup stick. A veteran warrior and shrewd negotiator, Plenty Coups
was also a true, if sometimes critical, patriot and friend to the white man. At the age of ten, Plenty Coups had a
dream, which foretold the demise of the buffalo. His tribe realized the poignant truth this vision held and, unlike
others, the Crow resignedly “pointed their guns with the white man’s.” The passing of the buffalo brought
irreparable change, and Plenty Coups served as a bridge for his people between the old ways and the new. On the
reservation he learned to farm and in 1888 chose this spot to build a home of square hewn logs; in keeping with
native custom, the door faces east. Completed in 1906, it was the reservation’s only two-story building. Plenty
Coups and his wife, Strikes-the-Iron, executed a Deed of Trust, providing that 40 acres of the farm be “set aside as
a park and recreation ground for members of the Crow Tribe of Indians and white people jointly....” The
government symbolically accepted this gift at a great ceremony in 1928. Plenty Coups died in 1932 at the age of
84. He was the last chief of the Crow Nation, so venerated that his people never named a successor. The
designation of Chief Plenty Coups Memorial State Park in 1965 would have been in accordance with his wishes.

Property: Schneider Harness and Confectionery

Address: 206 N. Center, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Charles and Rushann Schneider built this two-story brick business block in 1910. Anticipating the arrival of
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electricity by four years, the Schneiders had their building wired during its construction. The exterior's relative
simplicity reflects the styles of the day. Simple brick bands adorn the building's facade, whose main decoration is a
denticulated cornice. (The term "denticulated" comes from the Latin word dentil, meaning teeth.) In 1910, the
Schneiders lived upstairs. The first floor housed both Charles' harness shop and Rushann's confectionery. The
popular Hardin couple celebrated their tenth wedding anniversary in 1913 by inviting all their friends to the store
for refreshments. The confectionery, which boasted a soda fountain, proved the more successful and longer
lasting of the two businesses. In 1918, only four years after expanding the building, Charles closed his harness
shop to help Rushann with the confectionery. Perhaps the growing popularity of tractors and automobiles
influenced his decision. Charles died in 1945. The next year, Rushann moved to her daughter's home in Forsyth,
closing the successful thirty-six-year business.

Property: Francis Kopriva House
Address: 416 N. Crawford, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1900, John Svaren left his home in Bergen, Norway, to join family in South Dakota. There he learned English
before homesteading to North Dakota in 1909. With his bride, Betsy, Svaren arrived in Hardin in 1917 to build a
home. He applied his considerable talents as a carpenter to the construction of this one-and-one-half-story
Craftsman style bungalow, probably relying on a pattern book for its design. Typical Craftsman elements are the
combination of lap and shingle sidings, gabled dormers, wide eaves with exposed rafter ends, low-pitched roof,
and high ceilings. To these basic specifications, Svaren tastefully added doors with fine beveled and leaded glass,
hardwood floors, wide interior moldings, and an upstairs wall of built-in cupboards. Francis Kopriva bought the
property in 1921, and Svaren moved on to build other houses in Hardin, helping the town grow from a “mud-
streeted little village” into a vibrant community. Kopriva, co-proprietor of the Hardin Mercantile Company, owned
the home until 1937. The late Don Stacey purchased the home in 1989, adding custom-made wooden storm
windows and a new roof. Today the well-kept residence, with its beautiful landscaping, reflects the home’s
picturesque early-twentieth-century charm and reveals the continuing care of its current owner.

Property: St. Joseph's Catholic Church
Address: 710 North Custer Ave, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Bishop John Brondel founded St. Joseph’s Parish in 1902 to serve the varied ethnic groups settling on Butte’s
south side. Father P. A. Quesnel celebrated the parish’s first Mass in a makeshift public hall. In 1907, a
combination parish church and school was built on Delaware Street, which served until it was destroyed by fire in
1911. Once again, services were held in a public hall while the present church was under construction. On
Christmas Day of 1911, the first Mass was offered in the grand new church, which was dedicated by Bishop John
Carroll, the following April. Albert O. Von Verbulis, the Austrian-born architect who designed Helena’s famed St.
Helena Cathedral, drew the plans for this impressive Greek Revival style building. lonic columns supporting a full-
height entry porch, denticulated cornice, and beautiful stained glass enhance the tall windows and light-colored
brick. Today, St. Joseph’s Parish maintains its vibrant ethnic diversity, counting many of the original families
among its membership.
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Property: Lee Building

Address: 10 West 4th St., Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Montana created twenty-six counties during its 1910 county-splitting craze. Among them was Big Horn County,
carved from portions of Yellowstone and Rosebud Counties in 1913. Private entrepreneurs constructed the new
county’s first courthouses. In 1913, the county leased offices in the Sullivan Block. In 1918, W. O. Lee won the
contract “to furnish 20 rooms for courthouse purposes.” To fulfill the contract, he hired Percy Wilcox to construct
this $60,000, two-story building. The Prairie style likely inspired the handsome building’s geometric decoration,
bands of windows, and horizontal emphasis. Sibley Drug Store and Stockman Bank shared the business block with
the county. The bank personalized its interior with mahogany wainscoting, marble trim, and a marble floor. In
1923 the bank closed, a victim of the agricultural depression. That year, the county also moved its offices back to
the Sullivan Block. A post office, a clothing store, and a dance hall (on the second floor in the former courtroom)
were among the building’s later occupants. The Wilson Building sign dates from the 1960s or 1970s, when Judge
Robert Wilson owned the property.

Property: St. Xavier Mission Church and Rectory
Address: PO Box 138, St. Xavier, Big Horn

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Determined to “Christianize” and “civilize” the Indians, the federal government encouraged churches to establish
reservation schools and missions. Government support of Christian missionaries aided the efforts of Jesuit priests
who began visiting the Crow reservation in 1880. The Jesuits established a permanent mission here in February
1887. Fathers Peter Prando and Peter Bandini resided in a tent before constructing the first permanent building at
St. Xavier, a two-story boarding school staffed by Ursuline nuns (since replaced). Construction of the 1888
wooden Gothic style church and the 1889 rectory soon followed. Money to build the church came from
Philadelphia heiress Katherine Drexel, who founded the Sisters of the Blessed Sacrament and donated her entire
fortune to mission work. An excellent linguist, Father Prando soon translated hymns, Bible stories, and the
catechism into Crow. However, the Jesuits saw the school as their best tool for gaining converts—both among the
pupils and their parents. Punishments at the school could be harsh, and close-knit Crow families disliked the
boarding school system because it took their children away from home. Nevertheless, most parents preferred the
mission school to the agency school, and many families established camps nearby in order to see their children as
often as possible. The mission served as an orphanage and a hospital in addition to a school; Father Prando
particularly was well known as a healer. Today the church operates Pretty Eagle parochial day school and
continues to minister to families in the St. Xavier area.

Property: Alvin Young Barn and Cabin

Address: near Busby, Busby vicinity, Big Horn

Historic District: Alvin Young Barn and Cabin  Building Type: district

Subject 1: homesteads Subject 2: battlefield

Sign Text:

A potent symbol of the area’s contested history, the June 17, 1876, Battle of Rosebud Creek occurred near here.
Eight days before the infamous Battle of the Little Bighorn, Crazy Horse’s warriors attacked General George
Crook’s encampment, fatefully delaying Crook’s rendezvous with Custer’s Seventh Cavalry. Twenty years later,
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Alvin Young and his brother Charles took out 160-acre homesteads on the battlefield. Alvin steadily increased the
size of his holdings. By 1928, he had amassed 970 acres of grazing and agricultural land. With improvements—
particularly a massive stone barn and “hall-and parlor” cabin—his property valued at $9,380 (approximately
equivalent to $100,000 in 2009). Constructed of square-hewn logs, the 16-by-20-foot log cabin is an excellent
example of a homesteader’s first dwelling, and its dovetail notching reflects the work of a particularly skilled
builder. The cabin was moved to its present location prior to 1920. Faded red painted numbers reveal that Young
numbered each log before dismantling the cabin for the move. In contrast to the modest log cabin, the massive
stone barn reflects the emphasis ranchers placed on protecting livestock. A local supply of tertiary and red clinker
sandstone, and a shortage of timber, made stone the logical choice for the gable-roofed barn. The substantial
sandstone barn, constructed c. 1896-1902, exhibits a high level of craftsmanship. So does the red clinker stone
loafing shed extension, which provided the stock shelter in harsh weather. Likely they are the work of Frederick
Kollmar, Young’s closest neighbor and an experienced German stonemason.

Property: Hardin Commercial Historic District

Address: Historic District, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Long before fur trappers entered the Bighorn Valley, Crows, Sioux, and Cheyennes vied for the area’s abundant
game. In 1876, Sioux and Cheyenne warriors defeated the U.S. Army at the Battle of the Little Bighorn; the
following year, the Army established Fort Custer just across the river. After the Chicago, Burlington, and Quincy
Railroad laid its tracks into the Crow Indian Reservation in 1894, the tribe faced enormous pressure to open the
reservation to homesteaders. In its last and smallest land cession, the Crows relinquished territory south of the
Yellowstone River in 1904. To serve the anticipated flood of settlers, the Lincoln Land Company platted Hardin in
1907. Owned by the same men who owned the railroad, the land company founded some three hundred towns
across the West. It gave Hardin a variation of its T-town plat, with Center Street forming a T with the tracks. Forty
men arrived from Billings to place bids the morning town lots were sold. Edwin Spencer bought the first lot for
$900, where he built a general store and post office. In the 1910s architectural fashion dictated restrained,
symmetrical buildings, and solid brick business blocks, some designed by Billings architects, came to dominate
Hardin’s commercial district. After World War |, low commodity prices slowed the growth of this agricultural
shipping point. However, Hardin continued to serve as Big Horn county seat, a role represented by its 1937
Moderne style courthouse.

Property: Kendrick House

Address: 206 N. Custer, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: boardinghouses Subject 2: hospitals (buildings for health facility)

Sign Text:

Elizabeth and John Kendrick arrived in Hardin in 1914 and soon opened a boarding house downtown. The
following year, Elizabeth purchased this lot, hiring Billings architect Charles Bloedel and contractor Ernest Adler to
design and build a new boarding house. The modern, brick structure boasted eleven bedrooms, each with hot and
cold running water. After her divorce from John in December 1915, Elizabeth relied on the boarding house for her
support. Elizabeth moved to Sheridan, Wyoming, in 1917 and sold the Kendrick House for ten thousand dollars. In
1920, tenants included an engineer, musician, mechanic, grocer, rancher, and physician. In 1943, the boarding
house was converted into an emergency hospital. The living room became the operating room, and surgical
patients recuperated in the parlor. Upstairs rooms housed maternity patients. The hospital only remained open
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for two years. After completion of the Big Horn County Hospital in 1945, the Kendrick became a boarding house
once more. Although a fire destroyed much of the interior in 1990, the elegant foursquare home was lovingly
restored to a bed and breakfast, named after the original owners.

Property: Haverfield Hospital
Address: 520 West Third Street, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Orville Snell Haverfield came to Montana in 1909, newly graduated from St. Louis College of Physicians and
Surgeons. Haverfield set up practice in Hardin and eventually became county physician, health officer, and
coroner. During the early years of his practice, Hardin doctors treated patients in a private residence. Better
facilities were needed, however, and Haverfield began construction of a new private hospital. Completed in 1916,
the structure demonstrates an institutional form of the Craftsman style that enjoyed great popularity during
Hardin’s formative years. The cross-shaped building features a horizontal orientation, emphasized by low-pitched
gable rooflines, wide eaves with exposed brackets and rafter ends, and bands of windows. The screened porches
were enclosed in 1929 to add more rooms, and a modest Bungalow style cottage was moved onto the property in
the early 1930s for use as a nurses’ residence. At the height of Haverfield’s practice in 1918, Hardin suffered a
severe influenza epidemic. Haverfield permanently damaged his own health caring for patients and died six years
later at the age of thirty-seven. His hospital continued to function, however, and eventually all four of the town’s
doctors, including Haverfield’s brother, practiced here. The hospital served the community until the county
hospital was built in 1958.

Property: Charles S. Eder House
Address: 416 West Third Street, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

As Hardin’s residential neighborhoods began to take shape during the 1910s and 1920s, the new Craftsman style
emerged as a favored design. Its popularity was partly due to the ready availability and low cost of the machine-
made, mass-produced materials the style utilized. The Eder House displays the characteristic elements of the
Craftsman style: a heavy horizontal emphasis to the composition, projecting shed dormers, a combination of
narrow lap siding on the first level with wooden shingling in the gable ends, and a gently pitched roof with
overhanging bracketed eaves. A flat-roofed sunroom with rows of six-over-one double hung windows further
enhances the Craftsman characteristics. The home’s first owner was prominent local businessman Charles S. Eder,
who operated a hardware business in town from 1911 to 1950. Charles also owned Hardin’s first Ford automobile
dealership and helped promote automotive transportation in the young town. In 1913, Charles and his bride,
Marie, commissioned local builder Peter Beck to construct a new home. Like many early Hardin builders, Beck
probably relied on mail-order plans and ready-made materials for the design. The residence appears today much
as it did when the newlyweds moved into their new home in 1914.

Property: Burlington Northern Depot

Address: 10 East Railway Street, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: railroad stations Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

Hardin’s first railroad depot was moved from Fort Custer after being cut into small sections and transported by
train over the Big Horn Bridge. That depot was expanded in 1909, but was deemed inadequate after the
homestead boom dramatically increased freight and passenger traffic during the teens. Modeled on Burlington
depots in Nebraska, the 1923 depot is a hollow clay tile structure with a brick and stucco veneer. The interior
included a general waiting room, men’s waiting room, ticket office, and baggage and express room. Segregation
was in effect in Hardin, and in addition to men’s and women’s bathrooms, there was a separate bathroom for
Indians. Like other depots, the back of the building (facing the town) is equally as prominent as the building’s front
(facing the tracks). Declared by the Hardin Tribune to be “one of the best depots” for a city Hardin’s size “between
the Missouri river and the coast,” the building, at an estimated $100,000 price tag, showed the railroad’s faith in
Hardin’s future.

Property: T.E. Gay Building

Address: 10 West 3rd St, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type:

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

On May 4, 1917, Hardin celebrated the “formal opening of the Gay block . . . with a grand ball in the south store
room of this magnificent structure.” The storage area’s hardwood floor was perfect for dancing, and construction
of the two-story brick business block merited a celebration. Merchant T. E. Gay had hired the Billings architectural
firm of Link and Haire to design the structure, only the second architect-designed building in Hardin. His
investment in the $50,000 business block reflected his confidence in the town’s future. In the understated style of
the day, Link and Haire ornamented the building with a bracketed cornice, decorative parapet, and a large glass
block clerestory that visually separated the first and second floors. Recognizing that many of his customers would
be farmers in town for the day, Gay had a “commodious ladies’ rest room” included in the plans. Among the five
businesses occupying the first floor, Gay’s hardware and implement store was by far the largest. Tenants of the
second-floor’s twenty-two offices included attorneys, physicians, and the Hardin Chamber of Commerce.

Property: Big Horn County Courthouse

Address: 121 W. 3rd St, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: county courthouses Subject 2: courthouse

Sign Text:

In the midst of the Great Depression, the federal Works Progress Administration created jobs across the country
in an effort to jumpstart the economy. From 1935 to 1937, the WPA spent $24.6 million in Montana alone, which
was matched by $3.4 million in local contributions. Among the larger projects in 1937 was the Big Horn County
Courthouse, designed by Billings architect J. G. Link, whose firm designed eighteen of Montana’s fifty-six
courthouses. Constructed at a cost of $150,000, the project put over a hundred men to work. Because regulations
stipulated that 90 percent of workers paid with WPA funds had to be on relief, WPA projects often employed
unskilled and semi-skilled laborers. Conveniently, the clean lines of the highly fashionable Monumental Deco style
used for many WPA projects, including this courthouse, required less skill to build than did other styles. Simple
cast concrete elements decorate the courthouse’s rose-colored ashlar limestone, quarried forty miles south of
Hardin. In addition to the courtroom, the two-and-one-half-story building housed a jail, public auditorium, living
quarters for the sheriff, and county offices.
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Property: Hotel Becker

Address: 200 N. Center, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: saloons (bars) Subject 2: hotels (public accommodations)

Sign Text:

German immigrant Anton Becker had great faith in Hardin’s future. Becker bought this lot on May 30, 1907, the
day town lots went on sale. He soon constructed a two-story brick building, in front of which he installed Hardin’s
first cement sidewalk. He and his wife, Katie, and their six children lived upstairs; downstairs was Becker’s
Montana Saloon. In 1917, the Beckers hired Billings architect Curtis Oehme to convert the saloon into a hotel,
adding a third story and extending the entire building to the alley. Oehme’s design drew attention to the hotel’s
canted entrance through a square tower decorated with pressed metal, a metal roof, and an ornamental flagpole.
According to the Hardin Tribune, the hotel, which cost $60,000 to build, included “a large lobby on each of the
three floors, a barroom, dining room, kitchen and parlor ... [and] thirty-eight handsomely furnished rooms, some
of them en suite with private bath.” Ghost signs on the west and north walls still advertise rooms for “S1 up” and
“$1.50 up,” respectively. Although Anton died in 1920, the hotel remained in the Becker family until 1954.

Property: Adler Storefronts

Address: 412 North Custer, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Residential Building Type: building

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Building contractor Ernest Adler constructed these attached, flat roofed storefronts between 1914 and 1920. A
German immigrant, Adler was one of Hardin’s most prolific builders. Situated on the edge of the business district,
the one-story brick business block housed a plumbing supply store in the north storefront and a sheet metal
warehouse and paint and wallpaper store in the south. A car garage, gas station, and electrical supply house later
occupied the building’s southern portion, as did the Hardin Creamery from 1932 to 1950. The building remained a
creamery, manufacturing butter and ice cream until 1960, when Bud and Doris Novark opened Bud’s Freezer and
Locker Service. Several rear additions (including concrete block apartments) expanded the structure, and the front
facade was remodeled in 1984. Nevertheless, elements from the historic period remain. The use of glass block for
the transom suggests that Hardin in the 1910s was an up-to-date and forward-looking community. A material
originally developed in the early 1900s, glass block was first used in manufacturing plants to brighten up the
interior with natural light while providing durability and insulation.

Property: Big Horn County Library

Address: 419 N. Custer Avenue, Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: libraries (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Hardin women began raising money for a library in 1909. Numerous fundraisers followed, and in 1912 a hundred-
book library opened in the home of Walter and Ella Fearis. After the city passed a mill levy in 1914, Walter Fearis
wrote library benefactor Andrew Carnegie to solicit funds for a library building. Fearis argued that farmwomen
needed somewhere to go while their husbands conducted business. He also believed a library could keep young
men from frequenting the community’s saloons. Carnegie’s secretary initially refused the request because the
young town of Hardin did not appear on his outdated map. Ultimately, however, Carnegie donated $15,000 on
condition that the county provide a building site and $1,500 in annual support. The county did so, noting that a
“Free Library would be a good thing.” Architect C. L. Pruett designed the Neoclassical one-and-one-half-story
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building in accordance with Carnegie guidelines. A 1987 addition expanded the library while shifting the entrance
from the west to the south. However, visitors can still distinguish the original hipped-roof structure, welcomed
amid much fanfare when it opened its doors in 1919.

Property: Hardin Residential Historic District

Address: , Hardin, Big Horn

Historic District: Hardin Residential Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The Lincoln Land Company, the development arm of the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad, purchased Crow
Reservation allotments and platted the Hardin townsite on a sage brush flat in 1907. Surveyor Carl Rankin—who
later served two terms as the town’s mayor—sold the first lots in May. Buyers immediately ordered construction
materials, and within a week, building began. The town took its name from Wyoming cattleman Samuel H. Hardin,
who was a friend of the land company’s president. By fall the streets had been graded and the town took shape.
Rankin named the streets, choosing numbers and words that began with the letter “C,” like Custer and Crow. He
built his own residence on North Crow in this residential district—the second home in Hardin. Others followed
suit, including livery owner W. E. Reno and bank founder E. A. Howell. Because there were no trees in sight,
boosters billed the neighborhood as “cozy” with “plenty of space on every side to let in the air and sunlight.” The
town incorporated in 1911. Dubbed “the City with a Reason” for its agricultural ties and hydroelectric potential,
Hardin catered to local farms, including the Campbell Farming Corporation’s huge 95,000-acre wheat operation.
Hardin’s residential district includes a church, library, and neighborhood grocery. The district’s importance,
however, lies in the small-town rural architecture characteristic of the homestead boom. The well-preserved
vernacular cottages and post-1910 Craftsman style bungalows visually reflect the shift from simple dwellings to
defined architectural styles. This trend, common throughout the 1910s in the American West, is rarely so evident.

Property: Young Brothers Chevrolet Garage
Address: 201 Pennsylvania Street, Chinook, Blaine

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: automobile showrooms Subject 2: service stations
Sign Text:

A garage/automotive business has served the motoring public at this location since 1912, establishing a long
pattern of similar use rarely found in Montana buildings. Although the building was possibly built as a livery
stable, it was soon converted to an auto garage, which catered to US 2 travelers and local residents. In 1929,
brothers Neil and Hollis Young bought the business, known in the 1920s as the Triple A Garage, and moved their
automotive shop here from across the street. The Youngs owned the local Chevrolet dealership, and within five
years they had also purchased Pontiac and Oldsmobile franchises, offering Chinook residents a fine choice of
General Motors products. Typical of most small-town dealerships, gasoline and petroleum sales supplemented
automotive sales and repair. Primarily an outlet for Conoco, the pumps also dispensed Grizzly gas from Cut Bank
and Silver gas from Great Falls. In 1939, S. L. Taylor purchased the business and it remained the Taylor Motor
Company until 1977. The gas pumps were removed and the franchise closed under owner Mike Tilleman in 1979.
Former Tilleman employee Wesley Bevis purchased the facility in the early 1980s and opened his own business,
Precision Auto Body, continuing the long tradition of auto service at this location. The building itself is an
outstanding example of the Mission style, an architectural form not often found in the Rocky Mountain/Great
Plains region. A splendid curvilinear parapet, capped pilasters, horizontal relief banding, and a smooth stucco
exterior provide excellent expression of this style; its bold modernity reflects the spirited progressiveness of the
early automotive era.
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Property: Lodgepole Community Hall
Address: BIA Route 8, Lodgepole, Blaine

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: community centers Subject 2: recreation
Sign Text:

The Lodgepole Community Hall was dedicated in November 1936 in a ceremony the Harlem News called an
interesting mix of “Indian tribal tradition and modern governmental activity.” In fact, that mix can be seen in the
hall itself. Works Progress Administration (WPA) crews built the hall with timber likely logged in the Little Rockies
by members of the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC). Both the WPA and CCC were New Deal programs aimed at
putting people to work in the midst of the Depression. The hall’s log walls—now concealed by exterior siding—
reflected the Rustic style often favored by the WPA. Inside the hall evenly spaced vertical logs line the walls to
provide structural stability. An eighteen-foot-ceiling shelters the expansive dance floor, which is also marked out
for a basketball court. Bleachers overlook the dance floor and a raised stage sits at one end. The hall’s irregular
shape echoes the shape of round halls built on Fort Belknap at the turn of the century. These, in turn, mirrored
the temporary arenas Assiniboines created for dances by circling their wagons. In the 1930s, the hall was the site
of children’s programs, basketball games, “white dances,” and such feature films as Call of the Rockies and Last of
the Mohicans. Such programs nurtured the community by providing opportunities to gather. So, too, did the
frequent traditional feasts and dances—including weeklong dances held at Christmastime—that played an
essential role in sustaining Assiniboine cultural traditions.

Property: Anna Scherlie Homestead Shack
Address: MT 241, Turner, Blaine

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: homesteads Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Enlarged Homestead Act of 1909 brought settlers to Montana and to this area called the Big Flat. Neil J.
Scherlie was among the first to file a homestead claim and over the course of four years, three sisters and two
brothers made claims nearby. Thirty-two-year-old Anna Scherlie arrived in 1913, becoming part of a long tradition
of women homesteaders in Montana. In fact, in the four surrounding townships, women made up about one-
fourth of the total homestead applicants. By 1916, Anna had forty acres planted in wheat, oats, and flax. Isolation
on the Big Flat led many settlers to winter elsewhere and Anna followed suit. Legend has it that she went to St.
Paul to work for the family of railroad magnate James J. Hill. Over the decades, Anna made few changes to her
small woodframe shack, adding only a vestibule for use as a summer kitchen, a storage shed, and laundry.
Droughts, depression, and two world wars passed. Anna remained here long after her neighbors had build
modern homes, insisting that she was “too old for modern conveniences.” The Spartan lifestyle seems to have
been Anna’s preference. When she died in 1973, an estate of more than $100,000 was divided among eighteen
nieces and nephews; her ashes were scattered beneath a lilac bush on the property. Leon and Nellie Cederburg
purchased the homestead when its seasoned resident moved to Havre in 1968. Rather than return the site to crop
land, the Cederbergs maintain the homestead exactly as Anna left it.

Property: State Bank of Townsend

Address: 400 Broadway, Townsend, Broadwater

Historic District: Building Type: building

Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

J. P. Kearns came to Townsend from Benton, Wisconsin, in 1899. Business-educated and experienced, Kearns
astutely recognized the town’s need for a new financial institution and founded the State Bank of Townsend only
three months later. The bank was first located at 312 Broadway Street. Then in 1916, plans for a new building
were begun. Albert Mooreman and Company of St. Paul, Minnesota, a firm specializing in bank plans and
construction, designed the Neo-classical style building. The structure features an imposing entrance in temple
motif framed by columns and pilasters with a pediment of colored sandstone. Completed in 1918, its secure and
commanding presence came to be especially significant during the hard financial time ahead. Despite drought,
depression, and the area’s dependency on an agricultural economy so devastated by these circumstances, the
State Bank of Townsend managed to survive when many small-town banks did not. J. P. Kearns’ cautious loan
policies and conservative banking methods provided a solid foundation for long-term success. For almost a
century, the State Bank of Townsend has been owned and operated in principal by members of the same family
that chartered it, thus setting a record unmatched by any other bank in Montana.

Property: St. Joseph's Catholic Mission Church
Address: 3497 Hwy 284, Townsend, Broadwater

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

St. Joseph’s Catholic Church of Hardin was founded by Jesuit missionaries to the Crow Indians. Fr. Thomas Grant
of St. Francis Xavier’s Mission purchased three town lots for $425 in 1908. The Jesuits constructed a plain, gable-
front wooden building at the corner of Custer and Fourth, where each month one of the Fathers would come to
say mass. In 1913, Fr. Grant paid $1,000 for a block of land on which to build a permanent church. Under canon
law, only masonry churches—which were expected to hold at least 250 parishioners—could be consecrated as
permanent structures. St. Xavier Mission Superior Father Louis Taelman estimated in 1916 that such a church
would cost $6,000 to build. Post-World War | inflation and design changes brought the building’s final cost to
between $15,000 and $20,000. To help fund construction, the parish sold the temporary church in 1917. While
Omabha contractor J. W. Russell began work on the new church in spring 1919, Fr. Taelman held services in the
downtown Sullivan Block. Fr. Taelman held the first mass in the new church on Christmas Day 1919. The church
basement served as both rectory and parish hall. Although the interior was remodeled in 1938, the exterior
retains the classic Gothic Revival elements that Hardin’s early congregations favored for their churches. In St.
Joseph'’s case, these include a steeply pitched roof, pointed windows, simple tracery, a tall tower with an
octagonal steeple, brick buttresses, and a raised concrete foundation tooled to look like stone.

Property: Toston Bridge
Address: Abandoned segment of Old US Route 287, Toston, Broadwater

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: bridges (built works) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Norwegian immigrant Tom Toston established a ranch and ferry near here in 1871. Strategically located at the
junction of the Helena-Gallatin Valley Road and the road to Radersburg, a settlement quickly grew up around
Toston’s ranch. Soon the town boasted a post office, mercantile, hotel, and a smelter to process ore from the
Radersburg mines. A bridge replaced Toston’s ferry in the 1890s, but by the 1910s it had become unsafe. Local
residents petitioned the Broadwater County commissioners to replace it. State Highway Department engineer
Charles A. Kyle developed a riveted steel Warren through truss design for this Missouri River crossing in 1918.
Inexpensive to build and known for its durability, the “W” configuration of the trusses is its trademark. In July
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1919, the county commissioners awarded a contract to the Billings-based Security Bridge Company, a firm known
for its high quality work. The company employed eleven men on the project, many of them local. Among these
was long-time Toston resident William Lorentz. A native of Pennsylvania, Lorentz came to Toston in 1884 working
for the Northern Pacific Railway. A carpenter by trade, he also served as the last superintendent of the Toston
smelter and helped build bridges for the Montana Railroad Company. Completed in July 1920, the Toston Bridge
became an integral part of the community because of its location on the highway between Helena and Bozeman.
During the 1920s, teenage girls would parade across the bridge on summer evenings for lack of something better
to do. The highway bypassed Toston and the bridge in 1955.

Property: Stone Hill Prehistoric District

Address: , , Broadwater

Historic District: Stone Hill Prehistoric District  Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: pre-contact archaeology

Sign Text:

Numerous archaeological sites scattered over 2,000 unspoiled acres form a cohesive unit that together illustrate
subsistence activities of Native people before contact with Euro-Americans. For the earliest people and tribes who
later utilized the area, this landscape furnished amenities critical to survival. Its fresh-water springs and plentiful
grasses attracted humans and wildlife. Its natural landscape also facilitated the hunting and processing of large
numbers of bison. Before acquisition of the horse circa 1750, cliff-jumps and impoundments were typical means
of procuring bison. The district includes a cliff jump, adjacent steep-sided impoundment area, extensive
processing site, and a prominent ridge system providing overviews of the terrain and bison loafing area. Two
converging drive lines of more than 300 strategically placed rock piles, or cairns, facilitated funneling bison over
the cliff or into the impoundment area. Larger cairns positioned on knolls and a rock-walled blind on the ridge
may have aided the hunt. A stone-lined pit likely functioned as an eagle catch and/or vision quest site. More than
fifty stone rings, or circles, grouped into three major concentrations, indicate places where tipis were erected.
Charcoal from the hearths in the processing area yield environmental clues about life in earlier eras. Maple,
chokecherry, and willow—not found in the area today—along with juniper, provided nutrition, medicine, and
building materials. The earliest discovered artifacts at Stone Hill date to 1500 B.C., but most span a period of use
from A.D. 1167-1800. The district’s pristine foothill terrain and remarkable human-made features afford a rare
opportunity to better understand the lifeway of the first Montanans.

Property: Red Lodge Commercial Historic District

Address: Historic District, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: mining towns

Sign Text:

Rapid growth of the young town of Red Lodge coincided with the arrival of the Northern Pacific Railroad’s branch
line in 1889. The area became Montana’s leading coal mining region. Town lots were platted by the secretary of
the Rocky Fork Town and Electric Company, a subsidiary of the mining company, in turn owned by the railroad. By
the mid-1890s, businesses had moved from the old town site, and Red Lodge’s commercial center developed
rapidly. Although half of Red Lodge’s population was foreign-born, buildings erected between 1895 and 1936
generally reflect American trends rather than traditions of the various ethnic groups. Fraternal organizations,
doctors’ offices, ethnic clubs, bawdy houses, and hotels occupied the upper floors of downtown buildings. As
miners poured into Red Lodge, some slept in shifts at the hotels until other housing became available. The town
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reeled from the closing of the last coal mine in 1932, but within four years the Beartooth Scenic Highway began to
reveal Red Lodge to tourists, and a new era of development began.

Property: Robbins / Wiggenhorn House

Address: 602 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi-Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A steep-roofed gable-front cottage with a wraparound porch stood on this lot by 1901. Sometime before 1907
Rose Robbins—who owned the one-and-one-half-story home along with many other lots in the neighborhood—
expanded the residence, adding a rear addition with a second porch. According to the 1907 city directory, Rose’s
children—teacher Eva and her two younger brothers, both still in school—lived here. Rose’s official address was a
nearby homestead. Their father, the secretary treasurer of the Carbon Mercantile Company, lived around the
corner on Word. In 1913, Rose sold the home to attorney R. G. Wiggenhorn and his wife Maud who in turn sold it
to druggist Edgar Allen in 1921. Sometime after 1940, owners removed the wraparound porch, replacing it with a
Craftsman style entryway. The new porch featured a fascia board shaped into three arches with solid knee braces
flanking the door, a stylistic element popular in Red Lodge in the early 1940s. A Victorian-style hairpin fence,
manufactured by Stewart Iron Works in Cincinnati, separates the residence from the street, providing the home
symbolic protection from the outside world.

Property: Chapman House

Address: 715 North Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Forty-five guests enjoyed a sumptuous dinner and housewarming at the home of John and Alphia Chapman on
November 12, 1903. Begun in 1902, completion of the residence was delayed when contractor Walter S. Smith
suffered a serious fall from the porch scaffolding in May 1903. Seth Hunnywell, the architect who played a major
role in shaping the local streetscapes, adapted the patternbook plans according to Mrs. Chapman’s specifications.
The Red Lodge Picket declared the five-bedroom home “pretentious,” especially since the Chapmans had no
children. John and Alphia Chapman ran a large cattle business as equal partners and adopted Red Lodge as their
headquarters in 1892. Chapman later entered the banking business, serving as president of the Meyer and
Chapman State Bank from 1912 until his death in 1934. The Chapmans always closed the house during the winter
months and lived above the bank. The gracious Queen Anne style residence with its intersecting gables, graceful
veranda, ornate leaded glass, and classical details was long the center of Red Lodge society.

Property: McDowell House

Address: 606 N. Hauser Ave, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The sloping roof of this one-and-one-half-story house once shaded an open porch. The curved roofline and shed
dormer add Craftsman style elegance to the home, constructed on a double lot after 1907. The interior also
reflected Craftsman ideals with space-saving built-in bookshelves and a living room fireplace, a symbolic focal
point for domestic life. Dentist ElImer McDowell and his wife lived in the side-gabled residence by 1912. Both Mr.
and Mrs. McDowell enthusiastically participated in Red Lodge's genteel society. He was a member of the Masons
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and contributed money for the new Elks Lodge. She was an officer in the Eastern Star and took an active role in

the Red Lodge Woman's Club. That organization helped establish the public library and encouraged the study of
literature and music. Members took turns holding the weekly club meetings in their homes, and Mrs. McDowell
hosted an “interesting and instructive” program for the club's musical department here in February 1914.

Property: Bearcreek Bank
Address: Main and 2nd Streets, Bearcreek, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

A coal-mining town established in 1905, Bearcreek developed quickly, and after just one year the town boasted
telephones, city water, and electric streetlights. Bert Vaill, a cashier with the Carbon County Bank of Red Lodge,
purchased this lot from the townsite company for $800, and in 1906 he hired John Russell to construct a one-story
Romanesque style bank from native sandstone quarried just north of town. Symbolizing Vaill’s faith in Bearcreek’s
future, the bank’s thick stone walls were also meant to assure customers that their money was safe from theft
and bank failure, a tenuous assumption in the days before Federal Deposit Insurance. Part of a vibrant commercial
district, the bank—owned for a time by Butte copper magnate William A. Clark—played a significant role in
Bearcreek’s development through loans and investments. It also provided currency exchange for the community’s
immigrant miners. When the International Coal Company defaulted on a $170,000 loan in 1921, the bank went
into receivership. Former mine foreman Tom Frasure purchased the property and reopened the bank under the
name Miner’s State Bank in 1922. In 1928 it, too, closed. The building then housed a restaurant until 1943. That
year an explosion at the Smith Mine killed 74 miners. The disaster started an exodus from Bearcreek, causing the
restaurant and many other businesses to close. Used for storage, the building was rehabilitated in 1967 for use as
the Bearcreek City Hall, a function it has served ever since.

Property: Alderson House

Address: 313 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: boardinghouses

Sign Text:

Over a quarter of the houses in the elite “Hi Bug” neighborhood were built between 1900 and 1901, including this
one-and-one-half-story home, erected as a real estate investment by Red Lodge merchant Walter R. Hall and his
wife Louisa. After leasing it briefly, Red Lodge Picket owner and editor Walter Alderson and his wife Anna
purchased the home, where they lived for twenty-four years. Sometime before 1907 they added an open front
porch. Upwind from the coal mines and separated from the railroad depot by the city’s first park, the Aldersons
raised three children here. When Walter died in 1924 following a long iliness, Anna lost the property. J. F.
Montgomery, owner of the Golden Rule Store, purchased the residence in a sheriff’s sale in 1925. In the 1930s
local contractor Leo Ranta was likely hired to update the house by enclosing the front porch and adding distinctive
Craftsman style detailing. The tri-arched fascia over the sun porch and front door is a Ranta hallmark. Though rare
in this neighborhood, the design elements are found on homes throughout Red Lodge.

Property: Bearcreek Cemetery

Address: 1 mile west of Bearcreek, Bearcreek, Carbon
Historic District: Building Type: site

Subject 1: cemeteries Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

A large red granite monument commemorates the 75 miners who died in the 1943 explosion at the Smith Mine.
The United Mine Workers of America installed this memorial in 1947 to memorialize Montana’s worst coal mining
disaster. Twenty-two of the Smith Mine’s victims are buried here in family plots. The death date—February 27,
1943 —carved onto their grave markers recalls the tragedy. Other headstones express other, individual losses. Of
the 473 people buried here, 107 are children, including the first person interred in the cemetery in 1909, six-year-
old Helen Markovich. Marble tombstones decorated with carved lambs and other tokens of innocence mark many
of the children’s graves. They communicate parents’ great grief, while also suggesting the toll poverty, infant
mortality, and childhood diseases historically took on families. Grouped in the cemetery’s southeastern corner are
headstones marked with Cyrillic lettering, many displaying photographs, burned into porcelain to produce a
permanent image of the deceased. These markers reflect the Eastern European roots of many Bearcreek miners
and their families. At the community’s height, in 1920, a third of its residents were immigrants while another third
were the children of immigrants. Headstones marked with Croatian, Montenegrin, Slavic, Italian, Scottish,
German, Finnish, French, and English surnames attest to Bearcreek’s ethnic diversity. After the Smith Mine
disaster, Bearcreek became a near ghost town as many residents departed, fleeing bad memories. They left
behind this simple rural cemetery, whose sandstone, granite, and marble headstones provide mute testimony to
Bearcreek’s coal mining heritage and to the people buried here.

Property: B.P.O.E. Lodge #534

Address: 112 N Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: fraternal lodges Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Americans organized much of their social life around fraternal groups at the turn of the twentieth century. The
Benevolent and Protective Order of Elks provided an important social and charitable outlet for Red Lodge's
professionals, who circulated the charter petition in 1899 and established the Beartooth Lodge in 1900. By 1914,
membership had grown from the original 40 members to over 160, and the organization needed "larger and more
commodious" quarters than its rented rooms. The Elks raised building funds through membership dues,
donations, concerts, and vaudeville-style performances. Billings architect C. C. Oehme designed the Elks Lodge in
the "bungalow style." Stucco and cobblestones adorn the exterior, which at one time also featured a parapet
along the roofline. The thoughtfully designed interior included a first-floor lodge hall, pool hall, card room, and
bar. The basement included a banquet hall, kitchen, washroom, and coal room. The Red Lodge Picket declared the
handsome building's grand opening on December 18, 1914, "a big hit," predicting that the Elks' new lodge would
"become the most popular social place in the city."

Property: W.R. Hall Building

Address: 113 South Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: fraternal lodges

Sign Text:

This fine example of masonry architecture, with its unusually preserved storefront and recessed entry, appears
almost as it did in 1900 when Walter Hall opened his first-floor grocery. Sandstone banding, corbelled arches, and
original stained glass lend elegance to the simple facade. The second floor, connected to the building next door,
functioned as a lodge hall used by various organizations, including the Red Lodge Labor Union and the I.0.0O.F. In
1909, the ground floor housed the fashionable New York Store, and from 1910 to 1918 saloons occupied the
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commercial space. During Prohibition the ground floor served a more sedate clientele as a soft drink and ice
cream parlor.

Property: The Rocky Fork and Cooke City Railway Depot

Address: 11 West 8th Street, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: railroad stations Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Coal was discovered in the upper Rock Creek Valley in 1866. The Rocky Fork Development Company purchased
the mines in 1887 and actively lobbied the Northern Pacific Railway for a branch line to carry the coal to markets
throughout Montana. In 1889, the Rocky Fork and Cooke City Railway reached Red Lodge, causing a boom in the
population and fortunes of the new community. The Northern Pacific formally acquired the line in 1890 and
abandoned it after World War Il. Built in 1889 and expanded in 1904, this classic Craftsman style depot provided,
for many, their first glimpse of Red Lodge and the Beartooth Mountains. The flared eaves, eave brackets, shiplap
siding, and irregular configuration of the building were hallmarks of Northern Pacific depots along the railroad’s
main and branch lines. At one time, this building sported a second floor which served as the living quarters for the
railroad’s agent in Red Lodge. Since 1982, the old depot has been the home of the Carbon County Arts Guild.

Property: Rock Creek State Bank
Address: Main Street, Joliet, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2: fraternal lodges
Sign Text:

The Bank of Joliet opened in 1904 and began planning construction of this stately one-story building soon after.
By the time the $8,000 building was completed in 1907, the bank had new owners and a new name. Built on
Joliet’s most visible corner, the bank’s canted entrance welcomed passersby from both directions. Its design,
according to the 1907 Joliet Journal, represented “both beauty and strength, thus adding materially to the
appearance of ... our rapidly-growing little city.” The symmetrical facade and use of stone and brick exemplified
small-town bank design, which endeavored to relieve depositors’ fears of losing their savings to theft, fire, or bank
failure by conveying the impression of permanence and stability. When drought and low commaodity prices
shattered the homestead economy in the 1920s, however, over half of Montana’s banks closed, including Rock
Creek State Bank in 1923. Three years later, Lodge #77 of the International Order of Odd Fellows purchased the
bank for $2,750 and six months’ back taxes. A fraternal organization, the Odd Fellows advocated love, friendship,
and truth while offering fellowship and a social safety net for its members. Lodges paid members sick benefits and
funeral expenses, contributed to a statewide retirement home, and supported local and national charities. The
Odd Fellows and their sister organization, La Cuesta Rebekah Lodge #56, shared the building until 1979, when the
0Odd Fellows Lodge disbanded and sold the building to the Rebekahs for $10. The Rebekahs still meet here—
continuing the longstanding tradition of Odd Fellowship in Joliet.

Property: Camp Senia Historic District

Address: Custer Nat'l Forest; 16 Miles South of Red Lodge, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Camp Senia Historic District ~ Building Type: district

Subject 1: camp sites (recreation spaces) Subject 2: historic districts

Sign Text:

As a teenager, Alfred Croonquist guided fishing trips and dreamed of a place where eastern visitors could enjoy
Montana’s bounty. In 1919, the first building on the banks of the West Fork of Rock Creek was completed. Camp
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Senia, named for Alfred’s wife, was the first, and is now the only intact survivor, of four dude ranches and fishing
camps in the Beartooth Mountains. Forty-five dollars a week included plenty of good food and a horse. Visitors
were instructed to bring “western togs” and hang their “city clothes on the hitching post.” With the help of
friends, Alfred added nineteen buildings over the next decade that reveal sophistication and skill in the use of
native materials. The summer of 1929 marked a record-breaking tourist year in the West, but the Great
Depression brought an end to dude ranching at Camp Senia in the 1930s. Alfred, an organizer of the Dude
Ranchers Association and an active conservationist, did much to pioneer tourism in Montana and Carbon County.
Today the Western Rustic style cabins of lodge pole pine and native river cobble stand as a reminder of the
Croonquists’ foresight, surrounded by the forest wilderness they both loved.

Property: Joliet Christian Church
Address: 101 South 1st Street, Joliet, Carbon

Historic District: Joliet Residential Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

"Chief shepherd"" Walter Jordan and ""singing evangelist" Lucile Park preached to a packed house at an October
1908 revival meeting, held above the meat market on Joliet's Main Street. Forty-five charter members joined
together to found the Joliet Christian Church that night, including high school principal and ordained Christian
minister Oliver Shanklin, who served as the congregation's first pastor. Shanklin led services at the Opera House
while women members of the Christian Workers took the lead in raising money for a permanent sanctuary.
Proceeds from events like their Election Day luncheon, soon a Joliet tradition, combined with contributions from
more established Christian Churches to provide the needed funds. Local carpenter Charles Hemery and his son
Raymond designed the vernacular building and, assisted by many community volunteers, completed the wood-
frame church in time for a June 2, 1909, dedication service. Precise attention to detail reflects the care paid during
construction. The gable-roofed church, ornamented by Palladian windows, features a flared-roof belfry. A growing
congregation supported remodeling of the basement in 1956, but the church's exterior still looks much as it did in
1909."

Property: A.H. Davis Jewelry Store

Address: 16 N. Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This distinctive two-story brick building designed by W. H. Perham of Butte enlivens the district’s architectural
landscape. Red Lodge jeweler Allen H. Davis opened his well-equipped new shop here in the original one-story
building in 1902. Expansion in 1906 added the second floor with its false-front, sheet metal cornice and wood-
paneled oriel windows. The lovely bays, through common in vernacular western architecture, are the town’s only
example of this detail. The tin ceiling that graced the interior of Davis’ shop remains today.

Property: larussi Building

Address: 6 South Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)

Sign Text:

In the 1920s Italian shoemaker Ludovico larussi (later changed to Jarussi) owned this property containing his shop
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and several frame commercial buildings. In 1929, larussi razed the older shops and constructed the present
building. Financially disabled in the stock market crash later that year, larussi was unable to afford occupancy
himself. He leased part of the commercial space and sold the remainder. The Yugoslavian families of Yelich and
then Thiel ran a saloon in the north portion until 1985, while various businesses occupied the additional space.
Polychromatic brickwork, a recessed double entry, original transom glass, and intact commercial glazing form a
superior example of 1920s vintage architecture.

Property: Montana Bakery

Address: 110 S Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

These two turn-of-the-twentieth-century wood-frame commercial buildings with a tiny shop sandwiched in
between today share one facade. In 1900, Biagio Sconfienza opened a bakery in the one-story building. In 1903, as
the business prospered, Biagio purchased the two-story building, formerly a plumbing shop, as a rental property.
He then built the diminutive shop between the two buildings, which originally displayed C. Cottino’s terra cotta
and then housed Filomino’s Tin Shop. For many years, the Sconfienza family tempted passersby with Italian
delicacies displayed in their bakery storefront. Four ovens and a two-story bake house added to the back between
1901 and 1927 provide a unique construction history chronicling the Montana Bakery’s long-term success. The
Italian bakery tradition continued from 1938 to 1947, under the ownership of Steve and Verna Buffo, who
renamed the business Treasure State Bakery.

Property: Sichler-Davis House

Address: 401 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A prestigious corner site contributes much to the elegance of this Queen Anne style cottage, built by rancher and
businessman Louis Sichler in 1902. The steep and asymmetrical roofline, projecting gables, and two-storied bay
epitomize the Queen Anne style. Between 1907 and 1912, second owner A. H. Davis, a prominent local jeweler,
added the Classical Revival style porch with its Tuscan Columns and upper balustrade. Such classical details,
popular in Red Lodge during this period, today architecturally unify the neighborhood.

Property: Lovering House
Address: Address
301 South Park Street, Joliet, Carbon

Historic District: Joliet Residential Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

With its gambrel roof, multiple dormers, shingle siding, and semicircular arches in the gable ends, this prominent
Shingle style residence stands out among Joliet’s more modest homes. When Guy and Cora Lovering purchased
the house in 1907, it was one story without a front porch. They lived here with Cora’s parents and brother in
1910, and before their only child Gladys was born in 1911, they decided to expand. They hired an efficient
contractor, whose crew “tore the old roof completely away, put down an upstairs floor, raised the roof joist,
sheeted and covered the new roof all the same day.” The remodel included the addition of a wraparound front
porch (now enclosed) with an oblique corner entrance. Guy Lovering and his uncle built Joliet’s first brick business
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block in 1902, from which they operated a general store. During the agricultural depression of the 1920s, Lovering
became known for his generosity in extending credit. Guy died in 1937 and Cora in 1953, but daughter Gladys and
her husband Virgil Dowell resided here into the 1980s. Behind the home stands a barn, a reminder of earlier days.

Property: Carbon County Hospital and Sanitarium

Address: 206 N Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hospitals (buildings for health facility) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

When prominent local physician and surgeon Dr. Samuel Souders built this magnificent hospital in 1909, it was
considered “state-of-the-art.” Amenities included a central heating system, wide doorways and hallways, an
elevator, and private telephones in patients’ rooms. The operating room featured white enameled walls and a
white marble tile floor, then considered the best surfaces for sterilization. The Craftsman style facility follows a
domestic floorplan common in period hospital construction and could accommodate thirty to fifty patients.
Although a large classical style front porch, balcony, and covered ambulance entrance were removed in the 1940s,
the splendid building endures as a significant element of the district.

Property: The Iris Theater

Address: 7 South Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: theaters (buildings) Subject 2: theaters (buildings)

Sign Text:

Originally intended as a meeting hall with storefront space, tenants Byton Down and Robert Pryde redesigned the
building’s ground floor before its completion for use as a theater. When the Iris opened in 1925, residents viewed
it as welcome competition since ownership of Red Lodge theaters had previously been monopolized by one
family. The Slavonian National Protective Society used the upper floor meeting hall while the front section held an
apartment. Sound equipment was added in 1929 and the Iris, later the Park Theater, operated until 1961.
Distinctive brickwork in red and buff and the 1930s marquee distinguish this Red Lodge landmark.

Property: Montana Bakery

Address: 110 South Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

These two turn-of-the-twentieth-century wood-frame commercial buildings with a tiny shop sandwiched in
between today share one fagade. In 1900, Biagio Sconfienza opened a bakery in the one-story building. In 1903, as
the business prospered, Biagio purchased the two-story building, formerly a plumbing shop, as a rental property.
He then built the diminutive shop between the two buildings, which originally displayed C. Cottino’s terra cotta
and then housed Filomino’s Tin Shop. For many years, the Sconfienza family tempted passersby with Italian
delicacies displayed in their bakery storefront. Four ovens and a two-story bake house added to the back between
1901 and 1927 provide a unique construction history chronicling the Montana Bakery’s long-term success. The
Italian bakery tradition continued from 1938 to 1947, under the ownership of Steve and Verna Buffo, who
renamed the business Treasure State Bakery.
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Property: Norther Pacific Railroad Depot
Address: 101 East River, Fromberg, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: depots Subject 2: railroad
Sign Text:

The Gebo Mine, founded in the Clarks Fork Valley in the late 1890s, brought the tracks of the Northern Pacific to
this area. The railroad, however, bypassed the coal mine and the town of Gebo that flourished near it because of
difficult accessibility. A spur line to the mine was constructed in 1898, and by early 1899, a small wood-frame
depot stood ready north of where the Gebo spur left the main tracks. The railroad named the station “Fromberg”
after Northern Pacific stockholder Conrad Fromberg, and it immediately provided local ranchers with a link to
distant markets. William Swallow recognized that his land near the depot offered potential for a new townsite.
The original six-block townsite of Fromberg was platted in “T-town” form, with the main street perpendicular to
the tracks. The depot, constructed by the railroad from standardized plans for “fourth class combination stations,”
originally included a ticket office and waiting room on one end, freight room on the other end, and central living
quarters for the agent. Remodeling in 1909 expanded the waiting area into the central apartment, and clapboard
siding was applied over the board-and-batten walls. The depot served passengers and freight until 1970. Later
moved seventy-five feet to its present location, the building today is the only remaining Northern Pacific depot
along the historic Clarks Fork branch line and the last railroad building in Fromberg. In its new function as the
Clarks Fork Valley Museum, this railroad veteran is an appropriate ambassador of the region’s rich history and a
significant reflection of Fromberg’s roots.

J

Property: Frank Church Building

Address: 22 N Broadway, Roscoe, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hospitals (buildings for health facility) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Local rancher Frank Church purchased this property as an investment in 1905. Its history is intertwined with the
community’s early medical needs. W. A. Talmage constructed the building in 1906 as the Carbon County Hospital
and Sanitarium under Dr. S. M. Souders. It was the county’s first modern medical facility offering trained nurses,
steam heat, x-rays, and electric and thermal treatments. Dr. Souders moved to a larger hospital in 1909 and
throughout the 1910s the upper floor of this building housed the private hospital of Dr. Edwin Adams, longtime
Red Lodge physician and local civic leader. By 1912, undertaker R. B. Mooney occupied the ground floor
advertising “prompt and careful attention” to out-of-town calls. R. G. Martin later operated his undertaking
business here until 1920. By 1927, a millinery shop had replaced the funeral parlor. The Western Commercial style
building features locally produced concrete blocks, which form a rusticated pattern. The ground-floor retains its
original wood-framed storefront, recessed entry, and separate doorway accessing the second story. Original
window placements and decorative cornice make this a wonderful example of sensitive rehabilitation.

Property: Samuel and Jennie Greenblatt Residence
Address: 411 E River St, Fromberg, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Jewish merchant Samuel Greenblatt moved to Fromberg from Gebo in 1900. An immigrant from Russia,
Greenblatt built the town’s first commercial building. Two years later he married Jennie Hetch of Chicago at
Temple Emanu-El in Helena. Greenblatt built his “cash only” mercantile at a time when store credit was the norm.
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Although the couple and their two daughters moved to Denver in 1909, they returned to Fromberg at the peak of
its prosperity in 1911 and built this Colonial Revival home. Local carpenter W. C. Parker constructed the “modern”
residence, promising it “would be one of the best buildings in town.” A skilled craftsman, Parker distinguished the
home with a half-story “great room” and ornamental woodwork; the gambrel roof, a hallmark of Parker’s,
featured a tri-foil window in the front gambrel. The home was built in front of a 1905 two-story wooden barn that
Greenblatt used to store hay for his horse. As a pioneering businessman, Samuel considered himself a “square
dealing merchant” who operated “with justice to all; special favors to none.” His store offered clothing, fabric, and
furniture; he also sold sugar, lard, and other groceries. Grenblatt bought hides and pelts as well as old rubber,
copper, and brass. Despite his enterprising nature, the mercantile failed in 1913 and the family moved to Billings.
Coal company owner W. E. Pinkney purchased the home in 1914, but then sold it in the 1920s to Martin and
Bertha Halpin of Fromberg Pressed Brick and Tile.

Property: Raymond Hough House
Address: 312 S. Second, Bridger, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Raymond Hough, one of six entrepreneurial brothers who settled in this area, came to “String Town” in 1900.
Mining, ranching, banking, and business ventures accorded the Houghs prominence in the community. Raymond
served as bookkeeper and later as both manager and secretary of the Bridger Coal Mine under brother George,
president of the mine. Raymond resigned in 1909 to pursue other business interests and opened a grocery store
in 1912. Raymond and his wife, the former Bertha Barlow, built this residence in 1910. The Bridger Times
predicted that the home would be a “handsome building,” and indeed it was the most refined residence in the
community. Two polygonal bays and a spacious clipped-corner porch with Doric columns highlight the
combination Queen Anne/Colonial Revival style home. Untouched by alterations or additions, this beautiful
residence retains its original irregular shape. Between 1914 and 1916, the Hough brothers suffered financial
misfortune. George, Clint, and Guy filed bankruptcy, Bodley joined the army, and banker William, accused of
forgery and grand larceny, allegedly escaped to Mexico with $34,000. Though Raymond fared better than some of
his brothers, foreclosure of his grocery business in 1915 prompted a move to Cody. This fine home remains today,
illustrating the Houghs’ former importance in the founding of this small community.

Property: Talmage House

Address: 716 North Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

W. A. Talmage arrived in Red Lodge in 1888 to manage a branch of a Billings mercantile. By 1894, the ambitious
businessman owned his own large hardware and farm implements store on Billings Avenue. Undoubtedly, his
business connections helped Talmage locate first-rate material and workmen to build this impressive two-and-
one-half-story home in 1903. In fact, local sources note that Talmage contracted with an lowa carpenter, who
arrived with a boxcar of oak, to install the home’s interior trim, including the staircase, paneling, and parquet
floors. The exterior of the “free classic” style Queen Anne residence matches the interior’s elegance and attention
to detail. Classical elements include paired Tuscan porch columns, banded friezes, molded cornices, and the
symmetrical front pediment. Queen Anne style decoration includes the delicate balustrade, beveled glass
windows, and prominent curved brackets under the side eAvenue The cross-gabled roof, multiple porches, bay
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windows, and varying wall textures—including a river rock foundation and patterned shingles—also reflect Queen
Anne’s emphasis on assembling elements in interesting and artistic combinations.

Property: Corey House
Address: 106 North "E" Street, Bridger, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1906, speculative investor Leonard A. Corey and wife Mary set up housekeeping in a tent along the Clark’s Fork
River, awaiting completion of their new home. Several years before, Corey, brother-in-law Samuel H. Glidden, and
others had formed the Bridger Canyon Oil Company. Company stock rapidly increased until the firm was
capitalized at $1,500,000. In July of 1907, Corey filed thirty oil placer locations, and within two weeks twenty-two
tons of drilling equipment was enroute to Bridger. The Coreys moved into their fine new residence at the height
of this financial prosperity. Completed in May of 1907, the home reveals the architectural transition from Queen
Anne to Arts and Crafts styles. An irregular floor plan, two-story polygonal bay, and gabled roof reflect the older
Queen Anne charm, while the broad porch, wood shingles, sandstone, and masonry work display fashionable Arts
and Crafts characteristics. Beautiful beveled, leaded, and stained glass windows further reveal quality
craftsmanship. Though Corey never struck oil and suffered financially, he remained undaunted. A mining venture
took him to Alaska in 1913, and Corey was never heard from in Bridger again. Today, the stylistically sophisticated
Corey House and the Glidden House next door recall the short-lived wealth of these early speculators.

Property: Nutting Rental

Address: 305 N. Word Avenue, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

One of nine remaining homes on Nutting Row, this foursquare cottage features a hip-roofed main block with
ornate dormers with shingles in an imbricate pattern. The design and plan of this 1907 home reflects William B.
Nutting’s role in the development of rental housing in Red Lodge. The original front entryway has been replaced
with a gable-front wing of Tudor Revival design that features a layered cornice and octagonal multi-light window.
A picket fence and curved sidewalk highlight the entrance. From 1907 to 1918 various tenants, including Gunnar
Wingard, proprietor of the Wingard Drug Company, occupied the residence. Nutting sold this lot to his son and
daughter-in-law, Roy and Mae Nutting, in 1918. Chester Hagen bought the property in 1929. During the 1930s, he
hand-dug the basement with the help of some miner friends and completed the garage addition. Hagen owned
the property until 1986.

Property: Yodeler Motel
Address: 601 Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: motels Subject 2: residential structures
Sign Text:

Red Lodge was at the heart of a tourism boom in the 1950s when the federal Mission 66 program brought
improvements to national parks. Visitors by the hundreds traveled over the stunning Beartooth Highway to
Yellowstone Park. The Yodeler Motel, once one of several busy nearby hostelries during the “golden age” of
motels, is Red Lodge’s most unique roadside inn. Its architectural layers illustrate its history first as an apartment
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building and later as Red Lodge’s first and only theme motel. Daniel O’Shea originally built the complex as an
apartment building for working-class families in 1909. Residents were primarily European immigrants who worked
in the Rocky Fork Coal Company’s nearby East Bench Mine. After the closure of the mines in the 1920s, many of
its tenants stayed in Red Lodge to help build the Beartooth Highway during the Great Depression. For a short
time beginning in the 1940s, a grocery store occupied the north end of the building. In 1961, local building
contractor Al Sloulin purchased the property and transformed the simple brick apartments into a Bavarian-
themed motel. Its guest rooms, large chalet entrance, decorative scrolled woodwork, historic signage, and
southern German motifs continue to appeal to tourists and skiers who come to Red Lodge to enjoy the area’s
recreational and scenic opportunities. The Yodeler Motel and its unique architecture symbolize Red Lodge’s
history, first as a hard-working mining community and melting pot of different ethnic groups, and, more recently,
as a popular destination for visitors from around the world.

Property: Labor Temple

Address: 224 N Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: assembly halls Subject 2: fraternal lodges

Sign Text:

Red Lodge Miner’s Local No. 1771 had grown to more than a thousand members when this labor temple was built
in 1909. The United Mine Workers of America organized nationally in 1896 and by 1898, Local No. 1771 had 200
members. The building is a testament to the labor struggles of Red Lodge coal miners and the primary symbol of
labor history in the area. John Horne of Laurel designed the $36,000 building and Butte Local #22 contributed
major funding. John Massow, building committee chairman, took the train to Butte and returned with a $10,000
loan in his pocket. Carved sandstone with the words “Labor Temple” at the center of the parapet proclaims the
building’s purpose. The temple included a union meeting hall, union offices, a library, and a saloon for members
called the Workers’ Club of Carbon County. Old-timers say club patrons were mostly Welsh, Scottish, and Irish;
miners of other ethnic groups frequented local establishments run by their compatriots. The Finnish Kaleva
Cooperative Mercantile, a reflection of the town’s colorful ethnic diversity, was the original ground floor tenant.

Property: Pollard Hotel

Address: 2 N Broadway Ave, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The Rocky Fork Coal Company constructed this hotel, originally the Spofford, which welcomed its first guests on
July 4, 1893. This architectural landmark, built before the commercial district was platted, originally had its main
entrance on 11th Street, which was the busy roadway leading to the Eastside coal mines. Early guests included
Buffalo Bill Cody, Calamity Jane, and William Jennings Bryan. In 1903, an annex added twenty-five guest rooms
and the Golden Rule Store. By 1907, the entrance was relocated to Broadway. The Pollard’s commercial space
housed the post office, a bank, and other tenants, and it soon became a primary business and social center. Today
the brick walls chart a century of remodeling and change.

Property: Neithammer Brothers Meat Market

Address: 201 South Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

German-born Victor and Otto Neithammer first established their meat market on North Broadway in 1912, raising
their own livestock to supply this and other local family-run stores. Because the Neithammers’s employees
represented many ethnic groups, the shop enjoyed wide patronage despite local competition. In 1916, the
prosperous brothers constructed a new meat-packing plant at this location. The poured concrete and brick
building featured a brightly lit retail shop in the front. A walk-in refrigerator, kitchen, and smokeroom outfitted
with the latest equipment filled the back and basement space. The shop continued to operate under various
owners until the 1970s.

Property: Calvary Episcopal Church
Address: 9 North Villard, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The little log schoolhouse was comfortably full on a spring evening in 1889 when the Reverend Charles Linley, an
Episcopal minister from Billings, delivered the first formal sermon in Red Lodge. Father Linley continued to visit
Red Lodge once a month, and a tiny congregation organized the Calvary Mission in late 1889. Early members may
have been few, but their resolve was firm. By 1900, there were twenty communicants. The small congregation
purchased the land on which to build this frame church in 1900. The vernacular, residential-scale building was one
of six small distinctive carpenter-built churches constructed in Red Lodge between 1890 and 1900. All were
important social institutions reflecting the early prosperity of this coal mining community. The Calvary Episcopal
Church was the last of the six constructed. A steeply pitched gable roof, Gothic arched windows, patterned
shinglework, and applied religious motifs reveal the skill and craftsmanship of its builders, E. S. Donnell and B. B.
Baker. The beautiful European stained-glass windows demonstrate the meticulous planning that went into its
construction. This quaintly picturesque house of worship is a physical expression of the early community and a
symbol of the significance of spiritual guidance in the lives of Red Lodge pioneers.

Property: Meyer House

Address: 705 N. Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Celebrated lawyer, banker, and state senator William F. Meyer fulfilled his resolve to have the town’s finest
residence with the construction of this Queen Anne style home in 1899. The plan, adapted from an architectural
pattern book, was lavishly ornamented with spindle balustrades, scrolled brackets, stained glass windows, and
applied floral garlands. Shortly after construction, remodeling increased usable space by squaring off the corner
turret. Meyer’s wife, Alice, a co-founder of the local public library and an educated, cultured hostess, often
welcomed guests into the elegant hall. Its golden oak staircase features a landing “large enough to accommodate
a string quartet.”

Property: Smith Mine Historic District

Address: , Bearcreek, Carbon

Historic District: Smith Mine  Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: mining towns
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Sign Text:

Thirty-nine corrugated metal structures mark the site of the Smith Mine, a ghostly reminder of a once vibrant
mining district. The Montana Coal and Iron Company (MCI) began developing the Smith Mine in earnest after the
arrival of the Montana, Wyoming and Southern Railroad, producing 8,000 tons of high-grade coal in 1907. MCI
electrified its operation by 1915, completely mechanizing it by 1929. Throughout the 1930s, the company
continued to invest in new equipment, building a new crushing plant, elevator, cleaning plant, coal sheds and
scales, electrical substation, and other above-ground structures to support the underground operation. By 1943,
miners working three shifts a day, six days a week produced almost 500,000 tons of coal annually, “to meet coal
needs for a nation at war.” Investments in safety lagged behind other improvements, however, and in the 1940s
many Smith miners still used open-flame carbide headlamps (as opposed to safer electric lamps). The highly
gaseous mine also lacked good ventilation or rock-dusting equipment to control coal dust. On February 27, 1943,
this proved a deadly combination, when a methane gas explosion in Smith Mine #3 killed seventy-four miners
(and later one rescuer) in the worst coal mining disaster in Montana history. Only three of the men working that
day survived. Although MCI closed the Number 3 adit after the explosion, it continued to work its other mines,
raking in record profits through 1945. Declining demand, lower quality coal, competition from diesel and natural
gas, and bad management led to the operation’s closure in 1953.

Property: Kent Dairy Round Barn
Address: 2 Mi North of Red Lodge, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: barns Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Finnish immigrant Ephraim Kent settled in Red Lodge in the early 1900s to work in the coal mines while his wife,
Fiina, began a small dairy business. It was a family venture from the start, with all the children pitching in to
deliver raw milk in buckets, and later bottles, to local customers. The business grew, and by 1938 the Kent sons
and their wives were all involved in the dairy. When a city ordinance prohibited cows in town, the family moved,
purchasing this land and an abandoned building in Bear Creek. They meticulously salvaged its bricks, wood joists,
and decorative tin ceiling, which they used to build their barn. Eighty-one-year-old Emery McNamee, an expert on
round barns, served as building consultant, but the work was accomplished by Ephraim and his sons. Although
none of the Kents had ever laid brick, they quickly learned, displaying uncanny ingenuity in adapting materials at
hand along the way. Steam pipes recovered from a nearby mine served as stall dividers, hand-hewn beams were
finished with a plane whose cutting bit was a piece of leaf-spring from a car, and thirty-seven log support posts
were shaped with a draw knife. Built with the determination, perseverance, and fortitude the Finnish call “sisu,”
the round barn served the industrious, hard-working Kents for thirty years. Many locals remember summer
dances held in the spacious second floor before it was filled with winter feed. When Armas and Sylvia Kent retired
in 1969, the barn was converted for use as a restaurant. Its historic function remains evident, however, and the
cherished Red Lodge landmark is today an excellent example of adaptive reuse.

Property: Red Lodge City Hall and Fire Station

Address: 1 Platt Avenue, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: city halls Subject 2: fire stations

Sign Text:

"A hook and ladder outfit stored at a central point" and a loosely organized volunteer company served as Red
Lodge's defense against fire in 1897. A disastrous fire in 1900, which killed one man and destroyed four brick
business blocks, highlighted the need for more comprehensive protection. By 1901, Red Lodge boasted a wooden
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fire hall, a reorganized volunteer fire department, a municipal water system, two hose carts, one hook-and-ladder
truck, and two thousand feet of well-maintained hose. Attached to the fire station was a small city hall. By 1939,
the structure had become dilapidated, and the city needed more office space. The city applied to the Works
Progress Administration for money to replace the old building. A federal Depression-era jobs program, the WPA
funded hundreds of projects in Montana including this one, constructed in part from material salvaged from the
original structure. The 1939 building housed the city hall, fire and police departments, and jail. The design
features stone, wood, and concrete, which creates a textured facade, and stepped parapets, which visually unite
the one- and two-story sections.

Property: Labor Temple

Address: 224 North Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: assembly halls Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Red Lodge Miner’s Local No. 1771 had grown to more than a thousand members when this labor temple was built
in 1909. The United Mine Workers of America organized nationally in 1896 and by 1898, Local No. 1771 had 200
members. The building is a testament to the labor struggles of Red Lodge coal miners and the primary symbol of
labor history in the area. John Horne of Laurel designed the $36,000 building and Butte Local #22 contributed
major funding. John Massow, building committee chairman, took the train to Butte and returned with a $10,000
loan in his pocket. Carved sandstone with the words “Labor Temple” at the center of the parapet proclaims the
building’s purpose. The temple included a union meeting hall, union offices, a library, and a saloon for members
called the Workers’ Club of Carbon County. Old-timers say club patrons were mostly Welsh, Scottish, and Irish;
miners of other ethnic groups frequented local establishments run by their compatriots. The Finnish Kaleva
Cooperative Mercantile, a reflection of the town’s colorful ethnic diversity, was the original ground floor tenant.

Property: Croonquist House

Address: 521 N. Word, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Perched high on a hill overlooking the district, this Craftsman style bungalow reflects the original owners’ love of
nature and natural surroundings. The distinctive home served as the winter residence of Alfred and Senia
Croonquist. Well known for promoting Montana tourism in the 1920s and 1930s, the Croonquists were owners
and proprietors of Camp Senia, a dude ranch and fishing camp in the Beartooth Mountains. With the help of local
Finnish craftsmen, Alfred built the bungalow of lodge pole pine and native river cobble in 1922. Its rustic
architecture mirrors that of Camp Senia.

Property: Robbins House

Address: 401 North Word Avenue, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Prominent Red Lodge businessman William B. Nutting subdivided this northwestern neighborhood as the Nutting
Addition circa 1899. Beginning in 1900 with this home, he built five cottages north of his own residence that
became known as Nutting Row. J. S. Robbins, secretary/treasurer of the Carbon Mercantile Company, arranged
for Nutting to build this first cottage for him. Rose Robbins bought it for $1500 in 1902. The gable-front residences
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with a one-story kitchen wing at the back and front porch spanning the front were modest, simply ornamented,
well-built homes. Ship-lap siding, a material not often used in the Hi Bug neighborhoods, originally covered all five
cottages. The bay window on this home is a unique feature. By 1907, a stable and coal shed had been added to
the property and soon after, a north kitchen wing and bedroom enlarged the original floor plan. Among the
residents have been the families of Manus Wentworth, W. A. Beans, and M. J. McCabe.

Property: Carnegie Library
Address: 3 West 8th, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: libraries (buildings) Subject 2: museum (buildings)
Sign Text:

The Red Lodge City Library opened in the Savoy Hotel in 1914 thanks to the efforts of the Women’s Club of Red
Lodge. The hotel, however, was just a temporary home. The Club soon took up the campaign to secure a
permanent library facility. The city appropriated $1,000 toward the effort and agreed to apply to the Carnegie
Foundation for assistance. The Foundation awarded Red Lodge $15,000. In return, the city promised to provide
land upon which to build and annual maintenance. Before the issue could be put to public vote, World War |
intervened. At the close of the war, the city successfully applied again. Billings architect W. K. Kendrick drew the
plans to conform to Carnegie standards, which included modest Classical detailing, meeting room space, open
stacks and a central desk for the librarian. Construction began in 1919, and in March of 1920, the city library
moved into its new quarters. The library, still in use today, is a tribute to the Carnegie Foundation and the
determination of the Red Lodge Women’s Club.

Property: Hawkes and Son Photography Studio

Address: 113 N. Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Photographer Mark E. Hawkes and his son Charley built a photography studio at this location where much of Red
Lodge’s history was documented in pictures. Charley later struck out for Great Falls, and son Harry joined Mark.
Hawkes and Son sold the business in 1919 to William Lewis. The son of a Welsh coal miner, Lewis ran the studio
and continued to document the town’s history. In 1926, a depressed economy threatened the business, forcing
Lewis to relocate to Seattle. Katie Psenda Egenes, who apprenticed with Lewis, eventually came to own Flash’s
Studio, where the valuable Red Lodge collections of Hawkes and Lewis came to reside. Jewelers Berne Rydberg
and later Peter Micheletto occupied the north half of the building from 1914 through the 1960s. The one-story
brick block features the unusual preservation of the original storefront with recessed double entry and large
display windows framed in wood. A large north-facing window at the rear allowing maximum use of natural light
is a unique reminder of the original owner’s profession.

Property: Dr. Theodore J. Benson House
Address: 12 N. Montana, Fromberg, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Homesteaders who came to farm the Clarks Fork Valley in the early 1900s profoundly affected Fromberg’s
growth, adding to its population and elevating its status as a regional trade and shipping center. Dr. Ted Benson, a
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recent graduate of the University of Minneapolis, saw Fromberg’s potential. In 1907, Dr. Benson set up practice in
a two-room building (now relocated) adjacent to his newly constructed, one-story home. Expansion in 1912 added
a second story and rear addition to the home, which was again enlarged in 1915. The front-facing gambrel roof
with continuous dormers, wide eaves with decorative rafter and purlin tails, and a full-length front porch
(enclosed circa 1927) characterize this architecturally sophisticated Colonial Revival style residence built by Edgar
J. Schofield. A gable-roofed horse barn built in 1907 was enlarged in 1912 to accommodate the doctor’s Ford
runabout. Two years before his retirement in 1950, Fromberg celebrated Dr. Benson’s seventy-fifth birthday,
honoring him with a parade of 125 of “Doc’s babies,” a mere fraction of the some three thousand children the
doctor delivered during his long practice. This attractive home today is a Fromberg landmark, representing the
town’s early years and a tribute to a pioneer who served his adopted community long and well.

Property: McDonald House

Address: 501 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: boardinghouses Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Rocky Fork Town and Electric Company sold this lot and the one next door to F. P. Musser for $84 in 1896.
Immediate resale to real estate agent T. P. McDonald for $177 netted Musser a handsome profit. This four-square
cottage was either moved or built here by 1898 when the property again changed hands. In 1899, Frances Harney
moved into the cottage with her small son. The 1900 census lists her occupation as “landlord.” Mrs. Harney, who
was either widowed or divorced, took boarders into her home and after 1912, rented out a small dwelling on the
alley as well. Red Lodge businessman Frank Lyle, a longtime boarder, inherited the property in 1937. This cozy
cottage is contemporary with a number of similar four-square cottages in the neighborhood. Charming Craftsman
style elements including the sunporch and wings added circa 1930 illustrate the changing architectural tastes of Hi
Bug residents.

Property: Flager House

Address: 523 N. Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Architect Seth Hunneywell designed and built this Colonial Revival two-and-one-half-story home for Alfred and
Ruth Flager, who lived here from 1902 to 1911. Costing approximately $3,500 to build and boasting "all the
modern conveniences," its "eight large, airy rooms" and third-floor billiard parlor were heated by "a steam plant
located in the basement." Alfred Flager was the proprietor of the old Carbon Mercantile Co. The civic-minded
merchant actively promoted the city water system and was instrumental in organizing the telephone company. He
also served on the school board, as an alderman, as city clerk, and as a director of the Red Lodge Building and
Loan Association. The Flagers left Red Lodge in 1911. From 1911 to 1921 the house became a rental property,
whose tenants included Thomas Pollard, proprietor of the Pollard Hotel. Maude and William Robinson, who
owned the home from 1921 to 1948, added the garage in 1935. The three-story tower was built in 1975. The
interior features an oak staircase, a pressed tin ceiling in the kitchen, maple floors, and a richly carved fireplace
mantel.

Property: Red Lodge Brewing Company / Red Lodge Canning Company
Address: 904 N Bonner Street, Red Lodge, Carbon
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Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Pure Rock Creek water and a ready market of thirsty coal miners struck Bozeman beer baron Julius Lehrkind as a
recipe for success. With nephews Fred and Paul, Julius incorporated the Red Lodge Brewing Company in 1910,
hiring the prominent architectural firm of Link and Haire to design the monumental brick brewery as well as the
bottling plant next door. Red Lodge contractor Anton Roat constructed both buildings. The brewery design—
modified from plans John Link created for the Washoe Brewery in Anaconda—reflected the owners’ prosperity,
pride in their product, and European heritage. It also reflected the building’s function. The ornamental tower was
an integral part of a gravity flow system that moved huge quantities of liquid through the brewing process
without the use of pumps. The owners’ widely advertised decision to use local Fromberg brick and union labor
tied the brewery to the Red Lodge patrons it hoped to serve. Prohibition spelled the end of the brewery, but the
building received a second life when a Billings capitalist purchased it in 1925. Sturdy construction, an established
railroad spur, connection to city water, and room for expansion made the property the perfect site for a factory—
and the former brewery was soon converted into a pea cannery. Cannery owners constructed the three-story
wood addition in 1927. The cannery, which operated through 1975, was an important part of the Red Lodge
economy, seasonally employing up to 300 people in the rush to preserve the highly perishable product.

Property: Roman Theatre

Address: 120 S Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: RED LODGE COMMERCIAL Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: theaters (buildings) Subject 2: theaters (buildings)

Sign Text:

Original rusticated and ashlar concrete blocks and the 1935 ROMAN marquee distinguish the facade of this early
movie theater. Austrian immigrant Steve Roman built the theater in 1917. One of fourteen sons, nineteen-year-
old Roman came to Red Lodge in 1897 to work in the mines. He launched into the theater business, operating
several local theaters before he built the Roman. Roman’s wife, Librera, ran the upstairs Hotel Isabella, and at
various times Roman'’s six children took tickets, performed on the theater’s stage, accompanied silent movies on
the organ, operated the projector, and ran the box office. In 1935, Roman extensively remodeled the theater
adding air conditioning, new seats, draperies, lighting, and the eight-foot Art Deco style neon marquee. The
remodel, by architect Bjarne Moe and contractor C. W. Hamrick, both of Seattle, caused considerable local
excitement. The opening gala featured special appearances by the nationally renowned Crockett Family.
Admission cost 35 cents for adults and 15 cents for children. Daughter Mary managed the theater until 1977. The
Roman retains much of its 1935 facade and is Montana’s oldest, continuously-running moving picture theater.

Property: W.A. Talmage Company Hardware

Address: 23 N Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A keen sense of the town’s future prompted businessman William Talmage to move his hardware business away
from the busy commercial center a few blocks south to this building in 1894. When other businesses began to
move to the newly platted main street in 1895, owners “lined up” their buildings with Talmage’s storefront. The
original one-story sandstone building acquired its second floor in 1902, and Talmage moved the iron lettering to
the top of the parapet. By 1907, commercial space included a hardware and grocery with an office at the rear.
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Elegant arched tripartite windows and a Greek-patterned fret band embellish the locally manufactured brick of
the upper floor.

Property: L. Chapman Rental

Address: 118 5th St W, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

One of seven side-gabled cottages built in this neighborhood at the turn of the twentieth century, the Craftsman
style tri-arched facade later added to the porch and front window make this charming example unique. The first
owner was Louis Chapman, who purchased several lots on this block and built three rental homes. This was the
first constructed between 1901 and 1907. Chapman had a varied career in hardware, lumber, and oil, but he is
remembered for surviving a well-publicized appendectomy performed by Dr. Souders in 1903. City Treasurer
George Mushback was one of Chapman’s first tenants at this address; another was Paul Lehrkind, secretary of the
Red Lodge Brewing Company. Exceptional preservation of the appealing home belies its long rental history. The
interior features an unusually spacious first floor planned around a central staircase and lovely oak finishing. The
original water closet fixtures, including vintage tub, commode, and copper-lined wooden flush box with pull chain,
are remarkably intact and functional.

Property: Hi Bug Historic District

Address: , Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: residential structures

Sign Text:

Hi Bug was a schoolyard term coined in the 1920s in reference to the wealthy and high-society residents of north
Red Lodge. Developed between 1890 and 1930, the area’s location north of the coal mines yet near the railroad
station, city schools, churches, and business district made it ideal for the privileged class. Before 1910, it was an
enclave of the English-speaking citizens. Bankers, lawyers, mining engineers, businessmen, and ranchers brought
their families to the district. White-collar workers often boarded in the larger homes, while Nutting Row provided
rental housing both for newlyweds awaiting construction of their own homes and families of area ranchers
spending the school year in town. In planning homes, most families chose the popular “pattern book” styles of the
era, but a select few hired local architect Seth Hunneywell. Several houses located at the north end of Hauser
Avenue stand out as the largest, grandest homes in the city. Built by prominent businessmen, they served as
symbols of the success and affluence attainable in Red Lodge.

Property: 105 North Broadway

Address: 105 North Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Local physician Dr. Samuel Souders owned this commercial lot in 1909, when Dan Davis, an advocate for the
construction of a fancy opera house, proposed it for the construction of his vision. The newspapers reported
weekly for several months on Davis’ progress toward securing financial backing, but it was not until 1920 that the
fabulous Theatorium was finally constructed elsewhere at 11th and Platt Street. Jeweler A. H. Davis purchased the
lot from Souders as an investment in 1910, constructing the present building four years later. The one-story
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masonry building, which originally housed a dry goods store, features brick piers with recessed panels and a glass
block and tile transom spanning the front facade.

Property: Methodist Episcopal Church and Parsonage
Address: 220 West Broadway, Bridger, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2: parsonages
Sign Text:

Organization of the Bridger Methodist Episcopal Church and the Ladies Aid took place in 1899, pre-dating by one
year the founding of the town itself. As in other small Montana communities, itinerant ministers like the Reverend
John G. Clark served the early congregation. Services were conducted in the dining room of the Barlow Hotel or in
the hall above Hiram Haskin’s hardware store. Land for the church was donated when the townsite of Bridger was
platted in 1900, but ground-breaking did not take place until March of 1905. The Ladies Aid raised funds for the
building by giving dinners and selling handmade quilts, clothing, and other items. Under the direction of Reverend
Clark, stonemason Eric Forsman prepared the foundation, and construction began with donated materials and
labor. By December the steeple was ready to receive its 700-pound bell. The community-built Methodist Episcopal
Church was dedicated on May 27, 1906, the first in the Clarks Fork Valley. The Bridger landmark is a fine example
of Methodist Church design, typified by the L-shaped plan, corner bell tower, and simplified Gothic windows.
Fretwork in the open bell tower, decorative shingles, and stained glass enrich the basic plan. The adjacent gable-
roofed parsonage, now detached from this property, was finished in 1914. Three congregations merged in 1939 to
form the Methodist Church, and in 1949 an addition was completed to accommodate growing membership.
Renamed the United Methodist Church in 1968, the church today represents the valley’s early religious
development, and its continued use is a fitting tribute to the pioneer congregation responsible for its
construction.

Property: Peters House

Address: 317 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

“Coziness” was the watchword of progressive builders in the early twentieth century. Small, well-designed houses
proliferated after 1900 in part to compensate for the expense of such modern conveniences as indoor plumbing.
Plans for bungalows—including for this house and its mirror image at 111 W. Eighth St.—were published in
popular magazines and specialized pattern books. America’s growing middle class embraced these plans, which
emphasized simplicity, efficiency, and affordability. John and Hulda Peters purchased this lot in 1910 and in 1912
constructed a home, the first of seven Craftsman bungalows built in the Hi-Bug neighborhood. The residence
originally included a front porch. Peters owned a tailor shop and men’s clothing store on Broadway. The civic-
minded merchant held offices in the Odd Fellows and the Elks, served as president of the Chamber of Commerce,
and was a charter member of Red Lodge’s Eagles Lodge and Rotary Club. The pride he and his wife felt for their
home, where they lived until 1945, is apparent: the cement sidewalk leading to their front door is still inscribed
with the Peters name.

Property: Pippinger House

Address: 114 6th Street West, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: boardinghouses Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

During the summer of 1887, Ben F. Pippinger became Red Lodge’s first teacher, hired to teach the children of the
Rocky Fork Coal Company miners opening the area’s first coal mines. Pippinger later ran the Cloverdale Dairy on a
ranch north of town. He and his wife Cora built this nine-room gable-front cottage in 1902, as an “in town”
residence. The house was for sale in 1904 at an asking price of $2,600, “...furnished throughout and nicely suited
for boarding and rooming purposes” because of its interior arrangement around a central hall. John and Mary
Conway purchased the home in 1907 for $2,500. Mary operated a boardinghouse, one of the few such
establishments in the Hi Bug area, until 1920. Her tenants included school superintendent A. C. Carloon and
railway weighmaster John McLennan. The distinctive roofline sets this residence apart from the neighborhood'’s
twelve other similar cottages. Cornice returns and stained and leaded glass enhance its vintage appeal.

Property: Roysdon House

Address: 517 Hauser Ave. N., Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Real estate speculation abounded after the Northern Pacific Railroad constructed a branch line to Red Lodge to
take advantage of the area's rich coal deposits. In 1891 Nathan Smethurst purchased this lot for $36, selling it for
a profit the same day. The lot sold again in 1896, and a fourth time in 1899, this time to Andrew Chapman, who
constructed this one-and-one-half-story duplex as an investment property. Two front dormers and a full-length
front porch distinguish the facade of the hipped roofed residence. The current porch was added in the extensive
renovation completed in 2009. Builders placed the kitchens at the back of the house under a separate, single-
story roof, a common nineteenth-century practice to minimize fire risk. Bucket brigades could more easily reach a
one-story roof, perhaps saving the main house in case of a kitchen fire. Morris and Keziah Roysdon purchased the
home in 1909, only a year before Keziah died, leaving eight children between the ages of five and twenty. The
owner of a livery stable and then a lumberyard, Morris lived here until 1931

Property: Talmage / Crockett House

Address: 423 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type:

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

According to an oral tradition handed down in the Crockett family, this gable-front cottage was moved here from
“Old Town.” It was remodeled circa 1901 when it is first recorded on this lot. At that time, prominent merchant
W. A. Talmage owned the property and lived here between 1902 and 1903 while his elegant residence at 716 N.
Hauser was under construction. Postmaster William R. Crockett purchased the property in 1906, and it remained
in his family through grandson A. H. Davis, Jr., until the 1970s. One of thirteen such cottages in the Hi Bug
neighborhood, this example is particularly distinguished by the unusual addition of pedimented window heads.
The barn, now an auto garage, is contemporary with the residence and one of few such outbuildings that remain
in the neighborhood.

Property: 612 North Hauser Avenue

Address: 612 North Hauser Avenue, Red Lodge, Carbon
Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

The manager of the Red Lodge Brewery, Paul Lehrkind, purchased this lot in 1920, likely with the intent of building
a home. However, despite efforts to survive Prohibition by manufacturing the "near beer" Bud-O ("Always on
Top"), Lehrkind was forced to close the brewery in 1921. He left Red Lodge soon after, selling the property to
Walter Helm, a butter-maker at (and later owner of) the Carbon County Creamery. Borrowing $1,500 from the
Carbon Building and Loan Association, Walter and his wife Margaret constructed this one-and-one-half-story
Craftsman bungalow. The residence is one of the best executed examples of the Craftsman style in Red Lodge. Its
careful detailing includes vertical stick work in the main gable, wide overhanging eaves, exposed rafter tails, and
angled knee braces. "Battered" square columns support the large, inviting front porch. Craftsman style design
emphasized "coziness, comfort, function, and economy" and embraced the idea that "beauty does not imply
elaboration." The results were highly livable homes like this one, which remained in the Helm family until 1971.

Property: Red Lodge Communal Mausoleum
Address: Montana Highway 78, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: site
Subject 1: cemeteries Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Consolidated Mausoleum Company made the case for constructing a communal mausoleum in a full-page
newspaper advertisement in 1921. “The present high state of civilization demands for the masses a more humane
and sanitary method of taking care of the dead, than found in earth burial,” it asserted. Intrigued by the
“opportunity ... to sleep through eternity ... secure against the ravages of time,” over 200 people subscribed to the
project, and construction of the 232-crypt mausoleum began. Designed as a “time-defying” monument, the
mausoleum’s architecture emphasizes strength and permanence. A simple, but massive temple front frames
heavy bronze doors flanked by two enormous Tuscan columns. Alaskan marble lines the interior. The reinforced
concrete walls, which taper from thirty-eight inches at the base to thirty inches at the top, appear indestructible.
Durable and moisture-tight (prime prerequisites for a mausoleum intended to stand in perpetuity), reinforced
concrete became accepted as a replacement for stone after 1900. The new inexpensive construction material
made building large multiple crypt facilities economically feasible. At the same time, Progressive-era ideology was
encouraging individuals to join together for community improvement. Thus, the communal mausoleum
movement was born, placing above-ground entombment within financial reach of ordinary citizens. Nationwide,
hundreds of communities joined the movement, but the Red Lodge Communal Mausoleum is only one of three
identified in Montana. True to plan, the mausoleum housed Red Lodge citizens of all classes. Here lie wealthy
businessmen, immigrant coal miners, and their families, entombed together “within the walls of one building ...
imposing and everlasting.”

Property: Heatherington Boarding House
Address: 209 E. Broadway, Bridger, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: boardinghouses Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The coal found near here so impressed Butte’s William A. Clark that he formed a company to mine it two miles
west of the center of present-day Bridger. The company town he began in 1898 included boarding houses and
family housing, a school, and a general store. But miners and their paychecks soon attracted other entrepreneurs,
even though the only land available was the county road right-of-way. Undaunted, they built saloons and shops
end to end on the narrow strip, forming “Stringtown,” where a person could walk out one building’s back door
and into the next one’s front. Charles A. and Grace Heatherington built this boarding house in Stringtown in 1899,



MT NATIONAL REGISTER SIGN TEXT 1990 TO APRIL 2019

providing the only housing besides a hotel for new arrivals not employed by the mine. Charles, known as “Curley,”
also operated a livery and ran the stage line that brought Bridger’s mail from Red Lodge—and, in summer, he sold
ice cut from the Clark’s Fork. When Bridger townsite was surveyed in 1900, Heatherington was among many
Stringtowners who moved their buildings here, and he continued to operate the boarding house. Today, this is
one of very few buildings surviving from the original settlement.

Property: O'Shea House

Address: 723 N Hauser, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Irish immigrant Daniel G. O’Shea arrived in Carbon County in 1887. The eager eighteen year old took a position
with the Rocky Fork Coal Company, serving as paymaster and bookkeeper until 1899 when he was appointed
manager. He resigned from RFCC in 1903 to become cashier at the Red Lodge State Bank. By 1912, O’Shea was
president of the bank and an established community leader. He was treasurer of the Carbon Building and Loan
Association, director of Carbon County Bank, trustee and president of the Rocky Fork Town and Electric Company,
and served two terms in the state senate. O’Shea built this grand Queen Anne style cottage as a reflection of his
life as a banker and businessman. Constructed circa 1906, the home features a free classic L-shaped porch, bay
windows, a hipped and gabled roof, and complements the neighboring grand homes on the block in style and
detail.

Property: Frank Brooder House
Address: 303 North Street, Fromberg, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: hospitals (buildings for health facility)
Sign Text:

Fromberg prospered in the first decades of the twentieth century as an important agricultural shipping and trade
center. The town’s status precipitated construction of several impressive houses for prominent members of the
emerging business and professional community. Foremost among them was the Brooder House, perhaps the
most architecturally sophisticated residence to grace the streets of Fromberg during this period. Archibald
McLean, a builder from Bridger, designed this nine-bedroom residence for Clark Fork Valley bank cashier Frank
Brooder. Constructed in 1909 by talented local builder/carpenter W. C. Parker, its square plan, three-sided front
pavilion, Palladian window, and open porches (now enclosed) at both front and back are a refined and elegant
expression of the Colonial Revival style. Brooder left Fromberg in 1911 and sold the house to out-of-town resident
Dr. David Williams. After service in the U.S. Army medical corps during World War |, Williams returned to
Fromberg in 1921 and opened the home as a hospital for the critically ill. The hospital closed when Williams left
Fromberg in 1924, and for many years the splendid residence stood vacant. The home’s more recent history has
not been so bleak: in the last decades one owner has raised nine children and another, eleven.

Property: Plunkett's Hardware

Address: 21 S Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: recreation

Sign Text:

High transom windows that provide interior light for a mezzanine commercial display area are an interesting
design feature of this well-constructed commercial building. The simple chain-patterned ornamentation of buff
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brick across the tall parapet continues the rhythm of the district’s historic streetscape. James Plunkett moved his
plumbing and hardware business to an earlier building at this location after 1909, and by 1917 he had completed
this masonry replacement. During the 1930s, avid Red Lodge bowlers enjoyed a basement four-lane bowling alley
accessed by the rear entrance. Surviving portions of the alleys and both women’s and men’s rooms reveal that
women players, new to the sport in the 1930s, were welcomed. Today the building houses important historic
photographic collections of the Red Lodge area, which current owners have made available to the public.

Property: Charles Antilla Building

Address: 17 South Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This two-story building was under construction in 1907, and for a short time housed part-owner Charles Antilla’s
dry goods store. In 1912, new owners Ed Ricketts and C. V. Lucas located their Okay Meat Market, later the Red
Lodge Meat Market, on the ground floor. The photography studio of Tofferi and Hongell occupied the upper floor
from 1908 to 1918. Though the lower storefront has been remodeled, the upper fagade retains the buff masonry,
attractively corbelled parapet, and sandstone trim typical of local early-twentieth-century commercial
architecture.

Property: Joliet Residential Historic District
Address: Historic District, Joliet, Carbon

Historic District: Joliet Residential Building Type: district
Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The area surrounding Joliet remained Crow country until 1892, when the Carbon Reserve Agreement cut the size
of the reservation almost in half. By that time, railroads already ran through the reservation, including the Rocky
Fork and Cook City Railroad, a spur line connecting the Red Lodge coal mining district to the main Northern Pacific
line. Harry Duffield and John McMonigle were among the early homesteaders to file claims along the tracks. By
1896, a small town had grown up on McMonigle's claim, with a post office, four stores, three saloons, two hotels,
and several residences. According to local legend, McMonigle would pretend to discourage squatters (he was still
proving up and wanted to avoid legal complications) while Duffield would tell newcomers to ignore McMonigle.
The charade apparently continued until McMonigle received his homestead patent in 1899. That year, "a number
of energetic citizens" incorporated a town site company, which bought thirty-two acres from McMonigle for
$1,600. One hundred residents called Joliet home by 1900. The population grew quickly in 1901 when the coal
mine in nearby Carbonado closed, prompting several businesses and home-owners to move their buildings to
Joliet. Joliet incorporated in 1906 in order to initiate electrification and construction of a waterworks, "two
essentials necessary to the progress of any live, up-to-date town." By 1907, this "city of pleasant homes" boasted
forty-seven residences. Many of these houses still stand today. They serve as a continuing testament to the era
when Joliet was the trading center for a substantial farming district.

Property: John Gibson House

Address: 219 West River, Fromberg, Carbon
Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

Norwegian-born immigrant John Gibson arrived in the Clarks Fork Valley at the turn of the twentieth century and
soon opened brickyards in Fromberg and nearby Belfry. Gibson became one of the area’s most prominent
contractors, constructing Fromberg’s first brick building, the 1.0.0.F. Hall, in 1906. Gibson’s future, however, did
not lie in bricks. When a competitor supplanted his company in 1909, the resolute contractor established a small
concrete plant adjacent to this property. Here Gibson began to manufacture concrete block for building
construction, sidewalk blocks, drain tile, flue liners, and fenceposts. By the 1910s, his patented culvert design was
acclaimed the best on the market, and in 1914, Gibson supplied the concrete for the construction of the Fromberg
Concrete Arch Bridge. To promote the use of concrete and demonstrate its viability in residential construction,
Gibson built his own home of concrete block next to the factory circa 1909. It was, and still is, unique to
Fromberg. Gibson subsequently enlarged the home and in 1929, tastefully remodeled it adding Craftsman style
detailing. A gable-roofed front porch and extended eaves with exposed rafters add the characteristic elements of
this popular style. Concrete lug sills and stucco with an unusual mixture of rock and colored glass reveal Gibson’s
exceptionally fine craftsmanship.

Property: Carbon County Courthouse

Address: 100 N. Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: county courthouses Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Butte architect P. J. Donahue drew the plans for the 1899 landmark after fire destroyed its predecessor. Situated
at the busy northern end of the commercial district, the building today provides an excellent example of
restrained, classically proportioned public building design. When foundation settling after construction produced
a wide crack on the northeast wall, fear of collapse caused rapid evacuation of the courtroom on several
occasions before it was stabilized in the 1940s. Despite numerous alterations and additions, the courthouse
retains its prominence as a sturdy reminder of the town’s role as the political and economic center of Carbon
County.

Property: Hasterlik House

Address: 118 West 6th St, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi-Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Prominent lumber merchant C. C. Bowlen purchased this lot in 1901. Two years later, when attorney George
Pierson decided to build a larger home, Bowlen purchased Pierson’s front-gable residence and moved it a block
south to this location. Constructed before 1894, the one-and-one-half-story wood-frame home has a prominent
wraparound porch. The porch’s turned posts and sawn-work brackets mark the home as Folk Victorian, a style
defined by Victorian decorative detailing on simple house forms. In 1907, I. Joseph Hasterlik and his wife
Henrietta purchased the residence, adding the back wing sometime before 1912. Born in Germany, Hasterlik
immigrated to Chicago at age seventeen in 1867. He and Henrietta moved to Red Lodge in 1902, following Simon,
Joseph’s son from his first marriage. Thought to be Red Lodge’s first Jewish family, the Hasterliks quickly
integrated into the Red Lodge community. The newspaper frequently mentioned members of the family, who
enthusiastically participated in fundraisers held by both the Episcopal and Congregational churches. The couple
lived here until their deaths, Henrietta, at age 75 in 1939, and Joseph in 1941, at the age of 91.
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Property: Alcazar (Star) Theater

Address: 9 So Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Picket Block

Address: 20-22 North Broadway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: fraternal lodges

Sign Text:

Designed by Red Lodge carpenter and amateur architect Frank A. Sell and built by W. T. Pernham in 1902, this
impressive brick commercial building was home to the Red Lodge Picket and, after 1918, the Picket-Journal, the
primary news sources for the community and Carbon County for over fifty years. Publisher Walter Anderson, who
came to Red Lodge in 1893, was the original owner. The newspaper’s offices and print shop were located on the
second floor while a succession of businesses, including a millinery shop, undertaking parlor, and hardware stores,
occupied the ground floor. When the Carbon County News acquired the Picket Journal in 1943, Red Lodge grocer
Frank Romersa purchased the building and turned the second floor over to the Fraternal Order of the Knights of
Pythias, a benevolent society dedicated to universal peace and good will among men. With its distinctive second
floor-brick arches, this imposing building has been a significant fixture on Red Lodge’s Main Street for over a
century.

Property: Fromberg Methodist-Episcopal Church
Address: Corner of School & Montana, Fromberg, Carbon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The first Protestant services in the Clarks Fork Valley were held in 1897. The Reverend John G. Clark of Red Lodge
officiated in a company boardinghouse tent at the nearby coal mining town of Gebo. By 1905, the growing
congregation needed a more permanent location, and the thriving town of Fromberg was chosen as the logical
site. On donated land, local contractor Charles Darnall began construction of Fromberg’s first church in April 1907.
When Darnall abruptly left town, a force of volunteers completed the building in January 1908. By 1911, the new
church was paid for, and a special service was held to burn the mortgage notes. A gabled roof, Gothic windows,
and a steeple with square tower and open belfry furnish the clapboard building with an unpretentious elegance
that reflects vernacular church designs of the era. In 1921-1922, a Craftsman style addition expanded the church.
Paid for with funds raised by the Ladies” Aid and built with volunteer labor, the new wing included an office, study
room, and social room. The south room of the addition soon opened as a library, making the church’s book
collection available to the public. Now the United Methodist Church, the building graces Fromberg’s streetscape,
representing the collective efforts and community spirit of its pioneer congregation.

Property: Marino and Blackburn Building

Address: 11 S Braodway, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Commercial Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)
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Sign Text:

Early Red Lodge businessmen James Blackburn and Dominic Marino jointly built this fine two-story commercial
building circa 1905 to house a mercantile business. A series of saloons later occupied the ground floor. An upstairs
boarding house, first advertised as The Pleasanton in 1909, operated until the 1940s. According to local lore, The
Pleasanton was a popular house of ill-repute, and its sign in the window boasting steam heated rooms became a
long-standing joke among the town’s young people. Severe fire damage to the interior occurred in the 1970s, but
something of the building’s original frontier elegance remains in the pressed tin ceiling that still adorns the first
floor. The upper facade, with its well-worn nameplate, is one of the best-preserved examples of rusticated cut
sandstone within the historic district.

Property: McCleary House

Address: 119 W 7th, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Red Lodge Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A four-square plan, tapered porch pillars, and flared overhanging eaves reflect the Craftsman style influence that
affords this distinctive home a more modern appearance than its contemporary neighbors. Decorative cresting
and leaded glass add exterior elegance while fine interior appointments include paneled oak pocket doors, Tuscan
columns, an oak staircase, and decorative moldings. Businessman Frank McCleary, who served as county assessor,
state representative, and senator, built the home circa 1910 for his wife Ella and two children. In 1914, The Red
Lodge Picket reported that a profusion of flowers and potted plants adorned the McCleary home as Ella, always a
gracious hostess, entertained sixty ladies at a “floral whist party” followed by a midnight supper.

Property: Davis House At Brewery Hill

Address: 504 W. 3rd St, Red Lodge, Carbon

Historic District: Hi Bug Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: breweries Subject 2: residential structures

Sign Text:

A natural springs and pond provided ice and water for a brewery established here in the early 1890s. In 1894,
arson destroyed the ice house and brewery buildings, but a small, one-room log residence escaped the blaze. Dan
Davis purchased the property in 1903 where he and his wife, Mary Ann, long made their home. Davis cut tons of
ice from the pond for domestic use and operated a saloon that stood next to the house. Brewery Hill offered
Davis’ patrons a sweeping bird’s-eye view of Red Lodge; he advertised his beer garden in 1904 as a “pleasant
place to sit out under the bushes.” Fire again soon destroyed the business, but Davis remained a dealer of ice and
liquor. In 1910, he helped organize the Red Lodge Brewing Company and was its sales manager. Davis also served
a term as mayor of Red Lodge from 1912 to 1914. This side-gabled cottage, built between 1901 and 1907,
encompasses the original one-room log house. Recent renovation exposed the original logs, covered in 1890
newspapers.

Property: First National Bank of Ekalaka / Rickard Hardware Building
Address: 103 and 105 N Main St, Ekalaka, Carter

Historic District: Building Type:

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:
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Property: Masonic Temple

Address: 821 Central Ave, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: fraternal lodges Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Seventeen charter members formed Kalispell Lodge No. 42 in 1892. Masons first held lodge meetings in several
locations. Work began on this building in 1904, but when the Great Northern Railway moved its division point to
Whitefish, the town paused and construction stopped. In a show of faith in the town’s future, the Renaissance
Revival style temple was completed in 1905. Designed by architect George Shanley, the lodge hall was upstairs
while commercial tenants, including J. C. Penney’s from 1924 to 1956, occupied the ground floor. During World
War |, the Century Club ran a store in the basement. There, 115 “liberty-loving women” —including one who had
also knitted during the Civil War—sewed and knit everything from surgeons’ gowns and bed caps to sweaters and
socks for men in the trenches. The store raised $2,000 for the Red Cross. By 1922, Lodge No. 42 had grown to 400
members who filled the upstairs lodge hall. Despite some changes, the Renaissance Revival style upper story
remains pristine, featuring grand arched windows with keystones, intricate brickwork, and ornamental concrete
and rough-cut stone.

Property: Lemon Boarding House

Address: 12 Sixth St. S., Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Oriental Saloon
Address: 66 Castner St, Belt, Cascade

Historic District: Belt Commercial Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: saloons (bars) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

A one-story wood-frame building stood here between 1897 and 1907. Reflecting the mining town's early hard-
drinking culture, it first originally housed two saloons. When Swedish immigrants Charles Carlson and George
Edman purchased the lot in 1907, the town's prospects looked strong. The Anaconda Company had just expanded
its coal mining operation, and in response to the influx of newcomers, Belt had incorporated as a third-class city.
Main Street businessmen, including Carlson and Edman, began replacing their wooden false-front buildings with
more permanent structures. Carlson and Edman relied on locally quarried, rough-faced sandstone to construct
their two-story commercial block. The first floor housed the Oriental Saloon, which "boasted electric lights,
running water and a bar and back bar of mahogany in a colonial style." Iron pilasters and an iron header allowed
the contractor to install large plate-glass windows, letting natural light into the interior. Although the windows are
gone, the iron framing remains. Carlson converted the saloon into a pool hall and then a "soft drinks parlor"
during Prohibition, before retiring in 1926. Later businesses included a butcher shop and a grocery store.

Property: Masonic Temple
Address: 821 Central Ave, Great Falls, Cascade
Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing
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Subject 1: fraternal lodges Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The first Masonic Lodge in Butte was chartered October 3, 1876. With a membership of 550 after the turn of the
twentieth century, the organization had outgrown its old quarters on West Park. The new temple, completed in
1902, provides an early example of the grandly scaled Beaux-Arts style that came to dominate Butte’s later civic
structures. Link and Carter, the forerunner of the prestigious architectural firm of Link and Haire, created the new
temple, enhancing its facade with lonic columns, a cornice of lions’ heads, and decorative borders of acanthus
leaves and geometric designs.

Property: William and Isabel Shea House

Address: 305 3rd St NW, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls West Bank Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

William and Isabel Shea built this cozy one-story brick home in 1929. With its distinctive low profile, clipped-gable
shingle roof, stucco siding, exposed rafter tails, and multi-pane windows, the inviting residence is a classic
Craftsman style bungalow. Its horizontal orientation, sheltering roofline, subtle decorative elements, and use of
varied natural materials, like wooden shingles, speak to the style’s desire to “sing into the landscape.” The Sheas
lived here over thirty years, until their deaths in 1959 and 1962. Great Falls’ longtime sanitarian, William was
among Montana’s first health officials to establish a mosquito control program. However, he is best remembered
as the driving force behind the Montana Cowboys Association. The organization’s first president, Shea donated a
portion of his property to construct the Montana Cowboys Association Bar and Museum to the north. He also
organized dances to raise money for the construction. In 1941, the National Youth Association finished building
the museum, turning Shea’s vision of a place to celebrate the romance of the Old West into a reality.

Property: Edward H. Cooney Residence

Address: 226 3rd Ave N, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A planned, tree-lined neighborhood away from the town’s industrial activity, the Northside welcomed Great Falls’
business and professional community. Charles Lemley, owner of the Bon Ton Confectionery, chose to build his
family home here in 1900. The well-maintained home preserves Victorian-era ambience in its asymmetry, steep
roof lines, lovely leaded and beveled glass, and charming curb appeal. By 1910, Edward H. Cooney and his wife
Georgina owned the property. Cooney, whose family came to Montana in 1865, grew up in Meagher County. At
White Sulpher Springs, he found his life’s calling at the Rocky Mountain Husbandman setting type after school. A
seasoned newspaperman by 1896, Cooney came to Great Falls to manage the Great Falls Leader. He soon became
editor and part owner. While in residence here on Third Avenue, Cooney also served as the Great Falls
postmaster, under appointments by presidents Roosevelt and Taft, and ran unsuccessfully for governor in 1912
and 1916. Cooney’s legacy includes Montana’s most beloved, often published Yuletide poem, “The Little Brown
Gingerbread Man,” penned shortly before his death in 1930.

Property: Robert Vaughn Homestead
Address: rural, Vaughn, Cascade
Historic District: Building Type:
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Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: Sunburst Office

Address: 216 4th Ave NW, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls West Bank Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Since the mid-1930s, this hipped-roof building with exposed rafter tails and wide overhanging eaves has served as
a private residence. However, its tranquil, domestic appearance masks its earlier history as the Sunburst Oil
Refinery Office. Built in 1923 as part of a 3,000 barrel-per-day refinery, the one-story building is the only
remaining evidence of the large-scale, industrial development. Sunburst chose to build on the West Bank to be
near both the junction of two railroad lines and the Missouri River, which provided inexpensive access to the
water essential to refining. Proximity to the Great Falls market and labor force was also a plus. The refinery
processed crude from the Kevin-Sunburst Qil Field near Shelby, then Montana’s largest oil field, discovered in
1921. Sunburst shipped its first ten carloads of gasoline in June 1923. During the 1920s, the refinery distributed its
product to gas stations throughout northern Montana and western North Dakota under the trade names Sunreco,
Sunburst, and Powerized. The California Eastern Qil Company purchased the locally owned refinery in 1927,
closing the plant in 1933.

Property: Anaconda Company Manager's House

Address: 301 3rd Ave North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: industrial housing

Sign Text:

The Boston and Montana Consolidated Copper and Silver Mining Company, later acquired by the Anaconda
Company, chose a treeless bluff overlooking the river to locate its smelter and refinery in 1892. Among the
seventeen managers’ houses built at Black Eagle in the mid-1890s, this Queen Anne style home was the largest.
Although built circa 1893, its first resident manager was Charles W. Goodale (1902 to 1913). A later manager, Al
Wiggin (1918 to 1941), had many trees planted on barren Smelter Hill, transforming it into a pleasant, shaded
neighborhood. Managers continued to use the residence until the refinery closed in 1980, jeopardizing the future
of the company houses. Most were saved and moved to new locations. This home, weighing 120 tons, was moved
to its present site by Richard and Carol Ecke in 1983. The lovely vintage residence features oak floors, carved
ceiling beams, and rain gutters of copper, a material readily available at the refinery. Mahogany trim and original
pewter and crystal fixtures hint at the refined lifestyle of a high-ranking company official.

Property: Lee M. Ford Home
Address: 401 4th Ave North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Robert S. Ford, pioneer, cattleman, and organizer of the Great Falls National Bank, built this splendid home as a
wedding gift for his son. Lee M. Ford, who later succeeded his father as bank president, brought his bride to the
new residence in 1908. Great Falls architect Henry N. Black skillfully combined elements of Arts and Crafts and

Prairie School styles to achieve an impressive statement of affluence and prestige. The dignified stone residence
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of locally quarried sandstone features a pyramidal hip roof with wide eaves and a deep wraparound porch. A coal-
fired boiler, now converted to gas, and hot water radiators that still function perfectly reflect the latest
technological innovations of the historic period. Original light fixtures grace the interior throughout, while
authentic tapestry above a six-foot oak wainscoting covers the walls in the dining room. A garage (1909), a house
for the homing and racing pigeons Ford raised (1910), and a playhouse for daughter Rachel Sue (1912) complete
the grounds. Trees and bushes gathered by the family on motor outings enhance the mature landscaping. The fine
craftsmanship and up-to-date amenities of this elegant home reflect both the personality of its owner and
popular tastes of the early twentieth century.

Property: J.C. Adams Barn
Address: NE of Sun River off Hwy 89, Sun River, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: Heikkila-Mattila Homestead
Address: Little Belt Creek, Belt, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: homesteads Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Finnish immigrant Gust Heikkila filed his 160-acre homestead claim along the Little Belt Creek coulee in 1902. By
1905, other Finnish settlers had homesteaded the area, calling it Korpivaara, “potentially dangerous wilderness,”
for the remote wooded surroundings. Here the Heikkilas raised eleven children, expanded their holdings to 639
acres, and were among the first to shift from farming to ranching. The skills of Gust and local Finnish builders
Victor Mattila and Matt Maki reveal an outstanding folk vernacular building style that transfers the Finnish
farmstead to a New World setting. Early buildings such as the traditional sauna (1905), spring house (1905), and
main house (1916) of Fenno-Scandian log construction crafted with Old World tools (vara, broadaxe, and awl)
attest to the talents of these builders. Multiple rooflines and special use buildings convey a classic Finnish open
courtyard appearance. In 1938, the sons of Victor Mattila, whose skilled craftsmanship contributed to the building
of the homestead, bought the property. John Mattila, trained in carpentry by Matt Maki, expanded some of the
existing buildings and, with his brother, also built new ones. American in design but Finnish in construction, the
1938 barn in particular represents a masterful blending of the two cultures by second-generation Finnish builders.
In 1986, the homestead was deeded to Gilbert and Eugene Myllymaki, descendants of Victor’s wife, Fannie Jussila.

Property: Lee Forest Garage

Address: 119 1st Ave. North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: garages Subject 2: automobile showrooms

Sign Text:

Winged automobile wheels frame the word “Garage” above this building’s center bay. Two other terra cotta
panels, reading “Lee Forest” and “Machinists,” offer additional clues to the building’s original owner and use. Ford
distributor Lee Forest hired architect George Shanley in 1916 to design a two-story addition to what had been a
one-story garage. Three years earlier, Ford had revolutionized the auto industry with the introduction of the
assembly line. Business boomed for distributors like Forest, who sold five hundred cars in the first quarter of 1916
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alone. The dramatic increase in Forest’s business made the $20,000 addition necessary. The unusual design
included a rear elevator to bring cars to the third-floor repair shop or second-floor showroom. The second floor
also included a parking garage, which held up to 150 cars. The concept was new enough that the newspaper
called the parking garage “storage ... for patron cars and for transient cars ... and for machines that Mr. Forest
keeps for hire or for automobile livery service.”

Property: Charlie and Nancy Russell Honeymoon Cottage
Address: 20 So. Russell Drive, Cascade, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The son of a wealthy St. Louis family, Charles M. “Charlie” Russell longed for western adventure. In 1880, at
fifteen, he convinced his parents to let him visit Montana. He never looked back. For over ten years, he worked as
a night herder during the summer and rode the grub line in the winter, all the while painting and sculpting
western scenes. Russell met Ben Roberts in 1882. The two became friends, and after Roberts married Lela
Gorham and moved to Lela’s hometown of Cascade, the cowboy artist often visited him in the off season. Roberts
supported Russell’s artistic ambitions, and in 1890 he published Russell’s first book of illustrations. While visiting
Cascade in October 1895, Russell met sixteen-year-old Nancy Cooper, who lived with, and worked for, the
Roberts. Nancy and Charlie married a year later in the Roberts’ parlor. After the ceremony they moved into the
small bunkhouse and studio behind the Roberts’ house where Russell always stayed when he visited the family.
Russell spent $75 adding a lean-to kitchen and otherwise fixing up the place. “Our wedding trip,” Charlie
remembered, “was a hundred yards to that one-room shack—and we walked.” Charlie’s marriage to Nancy
marked a turning point in his career, and Nancy’s business acumen is often credited for his professional success.
Her management started early, and within a year of their marriage the Russells had moved to Great Falls, where
Nancy correctly felt there would be a larger market for Charlie’s work.

Property: Victor Arios#2 / Belmont Hotel

Address: 308 (310) 1st Avenue South, Great Falls, Cascade
Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: McCulloh Residence

Address: , Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Carroll B. McCulloh and his wife Ella constructed this elegant two-story brick home in 1911, raising their two
children here. Its two-and-one-half stories, simple box shape, low-hipped roof, large central dormer, wide
overhanging eaves, and offset front porch mark it as a Prairie style foursquare. Light colored bricks decorate the
eavelines; dark bricks mark the corners, mimicking stone quoins, which are stylistically associated with the Italian
Renaissance. The most popular house type in the 1910s, foursquares had a reputation for economy and
efficiency—their straightforward layout maximized a family’s living space. The style’s practicality and commitment
to comfort may have appealed to Carroll, who spent his career improving Montanans’ living conditions. In the
1900s and 1910s, he worked as a civil engineer, helping to modernize the infrastructure (especially sewer and
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water) of towns across Montana. In the 1920s and 1930s, he became a businessman, serving as secretary of an ice
company and manager of the People’s Finance and Thrift. Carroll died in 1937; Ella continued to live here through
1940.

Property: Great Falls Gas

Address: 725 Central Avenue, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: power plants Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A used car lot occupied this site before contractor John Sletten decided to build this commercial structure in 1941.
The timing for the speculative project was right: the worst of the Depression was over, and civilian contractors still
had access to supplies. Once the United States entered World War 1l, the government began rationing steel and
other “controlled materials,” making this one of the few commerecial buildings constructed during the war years.
The decorative brick frieze and dark concrete block at the waterline enhance the building’s horizontal emphasis,
while a diamond marked with an “S” for Sletten reflects the contractor’s pride in his work. Overall, however, the
design of the single-story, brick building reflects an architectural trend toward simplicity. Originally occupied by a
gas appliance store, the building became home to Great Falls Gas in 1955. Founded in 1909 to supply gas for
streetlights, the company boomed after pipelines were constructed from natural gas fields in northern Montana.
By 1959, Great Falls Gas supplied almost every home in the “electric city” and served over 15,000 local customers.

Property: 10th Street Bridge
Address: 10th Street, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: bridges (built works) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

When this critical link between Great Falls and Black Eagle opened in December of 1920, the Great Falls Tribune
described the Tenth Street Bridge as “a carved monument above the water.” Reflecting the pride and optimism of
the community and the vision of Paris Gibson, the founder of Great Falls, the imposing structure of eight sweeping
arches spans 1,130 feet across the Missouri River. It is Montana’s longest and oldest reinforced concrete, open-
spandrel, ribbed-arch bridge. Cascade County could not consider citizens’ pleas for a new bridge until state
legislation in 1917 authorized use of county funds with city limits. Voters approved more than $224,000 for
construction of the bridge in 1918. When bids exceeded available funds, county commissioners held a design
competition. Spokane structural engineer Ralph Adams and Great Falls architect George Stanley collaborated on
the winning plans. State Highway Commission engineer Evarts Blakeslee supervised construction. Crews built a
railroad trestle across the river and used handcars to transport the mixed concrete to wooden forms for the cast-
in-place arches. When completed in 1920 it represented “the most advanced ideas of modern bridge building”
according to the Montana Highway Commission. Construction of the access to the south end of the bridge proved
a major financial problem for the city, while the county completed the north approach as part of a federally aided
project. Historically and aesthetically important, the Tenth Street Bridge combines skillful engineering with
graceful elegance to complement Great Falls’ most significant natural resource: the Missouri River.

Property: Abe and Carrie Kaufman Residence

Address: 617 4th Ave. N., Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

A dramatic living room fireplace, crystal chandelier, and boxed-beam dining room ceiling are among the original
fixtures continuing to decorate the interior of the Abe and Carrie Kaufman residence. Neoclassical, Craftsman, and
Victorian detailing combine in this two-and-one-half-story residence, whose exterior ornamentation includes
elaborate wooden brackets beneath the eaves, stickwork in the gable ends, lead glass windows, and a large
wraparound porch. Abe Kaufman arrived in Great Falls in the 1890s, joining his brother-in-law, merchant Nathan
Wertheim, to operate a clothing store on Central Avenue. Among their competitors were Mose Kaufman (no
direct relation) and Arge Nathan. All four men were members of an extended network of pioneering Jewish
businessmen, whose access to capital and merchandise were instrumental to Montana's commercial
development. Great Falls' promising business climate spelled prosperity, and Abe's economic success is evident in
this showcase home, constructed in 1906. Arge Nathan's son Robert, who inherited the store his father founded,
purchased the residence in 1923 when the Kaufmans moved to San Francisco. He lived here with his family into
the 1940s.

Property: Dubbs Block

Address: 815 1st Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: automobile

Sign Text:

A shortage of steel and limited purchases of nonessential goods during World War Il caused the automobile
industry to skyrocket after the war ended. As the troops came home and the economy recovered, Montana
experienced this boom as well. By the late 1940s, Great Falls consumers could choose from nearly a dozen makes
of automobiles. North Dakotans Edmund and Clara Dubbs, in partnership with Frank P. McGrath, founded
McGrath-Dubbs Motors in 1949 and constructed this building at what was one of the premier car sales locations
of the time. Leonard Haggarty came to Great Falls in the early 1950s to manage the business, then known as
Great Falls Motor, Inc. He purchased the company in 1952 and later changed its name to Haggarty Motors, Inc.
The firm sold new Chryslers and Plymouths, used cars, and offered repair services. Three generations of Haggartys
managed the business until the late 1990s. Streamline Moderne, a 1930s product of the Art Deco style, influenced
the building’s design. The rounded corner, horizontal band of windows on the second story, and wraparound
showroom storefront create a streamlined effect.

Property: Arvon Block
Address: 114-118 1st Ave So, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: boardinghouses Subject 2: livery stables
Sign Text:

During the busy 1890s, Great Falls’ business district swarmed with activity. City boosters such as pioneer rancher
Robert Vaughn expressed confidence in the town’s future by investing in commercial real estate. Vaughn
commissioned an unknown designer to create this unusual combination stable and hotel. The Axtell Stables
occupied the western portion of this splendid 1890 Renaissance-inspired building. Montana’s most complete
livery stable provided passenger, express, draying, and transfer services. While basement stalls accommodated
fifty-eight horses, ground-floor harness and carriage showrooms displayed the newest equipment. Stable hands
shared second-floor sleeping quarters with huge hay chutes that ran to the basement. On the east, a three-story
boardinghouse boasted forty rooms for offices and lodgings. The Derrig Fruit Company had moved into the main
floor area below the hotel by 1895, and in that year, the company paid out over $76,000 in freight charges alone.
Shipped by rail to the station a block away, the goods were no doubt then delivered to Derrig’s by Axtell’s wagons.
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One of few local Victorian-era commercial structures to have escaped natural and manmade destruction, this
“grand old survivor” recalls the necessity of horse-drawn services before the advent of the automobile.

Property: 315 Fourth Avenue North
Address: 315 Fourth Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great FallsNorthside Residential Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Great Falls’ premier residential street, Fourth Avenue North, gained 24 new homes between 1900 and 1910.
Among them was this substantial residence, constructed in 1904 for bookkeeper Edgar Newlon and his wife Anna.
The home is a classic American foursquare, a style so named for its boxy shape. Like most foursquare residences,
this dignified clapboard home is two-and-one-half stories and features a hipped roof with a centered dormer, a
symmetrical facade, and a full-length front porch (now enclosed). The residence’s efficient use of space—a
hallmark of the foursquare style—must have appealed to civil engineer Frank Scotten who, with his wife Lola,
purchased the home in the early 1920s. Scotten came to Great Falls in 1889 and was said to know more about the
town’s construction than any other resident. He supervised construction of several branch railroads, the city’s
streetcar lines and street lighting system, two smelters, and the four hydroelectric dams that gave meaning to the
moniker “the Electric City.” An engaged philanthropist, he also founded a local Community Chest—a forerunner to
the United Way.

Property: Great Falls Central School
Address: 1400 First Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: Clark Apartments
Address: 212-214 1/2 4th Ave N, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: apartments Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Newcomers flooded into Great Falls in the 1910s as the mining industry boomed and businesses grew. Waiting
lists for apartments, hotels, and boarding houses encouraged building on speculation. Joseph Bullock, a retired
laborer for the B and M Mining Company, was one such investor who built these apartments in 1916. Light-
colored brick with darker polychrome accents recall commercial architecture of the period, but the tapered
columns, decorative railings, and a wood stairway for each entry lend an inviting, homey appeal. Four street-level
entries, two of them with original decorative sidelights, access the separate units. Early residents included a bank
teller, dentist, gas company superintendent, newspaper editor, and the organist at the Fox Liberty Theatre. In
1920, Anna Clark was in residence. Federal census information suggests that Anna held the building’s mortgage.
Her husband, Charles F. Clark, owned a successful skylight and sheet metal business. Having survived the deadly
1918 Spanish flu, he died a few weeks later of an allergic reaction during a dental procedure. The inscription
“Clark 1919,” added after the original construction, likely commemorates Anna’s husband.

Property: Great Falls West Bank Historic District
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Address: Historic District, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls West Bank Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2:

Sign Text:

An eclectic cultural landscape has long characterized the West Bank. Separated from downtown Great Falls by the
broad Missouri River, the larger neighborhood has hosted a varied mix of industrial, residential, and commercial
development since the 1880s. The site of Johnstown, the earliest permanent Euro-American settlement, the
greater West Bank area was also home to historic-era Chippewa-Cree encampments. The area began developing
an industrial character after 1887, when the railroad arrived in Great Falls and constructed a roundhouse and
shops nearby. A Great Northern spur line ran northeast along the West Bank to the Boston and Montana, later
Anaconda Company’s Black Eagle smelter, encouraging nearby industrial development. The most prominent West
Bank industry of the early twentieth century was the Sunburst Qil Refinery, which operated from 1923 to 1933.
Two buildings remain as a tribute to the West Bank’s role in this early oil boom. Non-industrial development also
increased in the early 1900s. Attracted by inexpensive land prices and the proximity of downtown, more residents
constructed permanent homes. Improved roads and the construction of the Northern Montana Fairgrounds in
1931 drew retail and entertainment establishments. During the Great Depression, New Deal programs sponsored
the construction of two of the district’s most notable landmarks: the WPA warehouse, built in 1939 as an
operations base for the Works Progress Administration; and the 1940 Cowboys Bar and Museum, home of the
Montana Cowboys Association. Today, six well-preserved residential, commercial, and industrial buildings
compose this small, historic district, which epitomizes the West Bank’s diverse history.

Property: Great Falls Building and Loan Association

Address: 13 5th Street North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2: commercial buildings

Sign Text:

Prominent early business leaders founded the Great Falls Building and Loan in 1916 for a dual purpose: to provide
loans to aspiring homeowners and to pay regular dividends to shareholders. Unlike banks, building and loans were
non-profit corporations partially motivated by the desire to improve Americans’ lives and morals by encouraging
thrift and placing homeownership within reach. Fortuitously, accessible mortgages also helped build the
community—a central goal of Great Falls’ Progressive-era businessmen. By 1940, the thriving building and loan
was ready to construct its own building. Intended “to last a lifetime,” the building featured high quality materials
and a cutting-edge Moderne style design that displayed a forward-looking image. Moderne characteristics include
its spare, geometric detailing, flat roof, and bold asymmetry. In 1958, the renamed Great Falls Federal Savings and
Loan Association expanded into a new building down the street. However, its Moderne monument still promises
to provide Great Falls with office space for the intended lifetime—and beyond.

Property: Cowboy Bar and Museum

Address: 311 3rd St NW, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls West Bank Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: museums (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Former Great Falls “cowhands” held a reunion in 1938. Now grown men, as boys they had earned money herding
local milk cows in and out of town each day or driving range cattle through the city streets. Membership soon
expanded beyond Great Falls, and over 300 former cowboys attended the Montana Cowboys Association’s second
annual reunion banquet in 1939. Association President Bill Shea donated the land for a meeting hall and museum
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dedicated to preserving memories of cowboy life. The Cowboys worked with the National Youth Association (NYA)
to build the museum, completed in 1941. A New Deal program designed to provide work for youth between
sixteen and twenty-five, the NYA intentionally adopted labor intensive designs and techniques to maximize
employment. The result was a well-crafted stone and log building, whose Rustic style evoked the museum’s
intention of glorifying the Old West. Later additions expanded the facility, which houses a bar, noted for its
cowboy hospitality, and a museum of over 500 artifacts—from rifles and saddles to a Kimball-Reed organ, brought
to Montana by steamboat in 1876.

Property: Masonic Temple

Address: 821 Central Ave, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: fraternal lodges Subject 2: commercial buildings

Sign Text:

Terra-cotta medallions sporting the Masonic emblem of square and compass and the words “Masonic Temple”
centered beneath the cornice proudly announce this building’s primary purpose. Chartered in 1898, the Forsyth
Masonic Lodge met in borrowed quarters until 1905, when enthusiastic Mason Hiram Marcyes included a lodge
room in his new Commercial Hotel. Six years later, the Masons hired Miles City architect Brynjulf Rivenes to
design this Beaux Arts style temple, constructed of local brick from Marcyes’ brickyard and finished with a fagade
of high-fire Hebron brick trimmed with Bedford limestone. Rent from the first-floor storefronts subsidized the
building’s $21,000 price tag. The second floor boasted the lodge room as well as a cloakroom and clubroom
designed for members of the short-lived Forsyth Club. During the 1918 flu epidemic, clubrooms were converted
into a temporary hospital. In 1921 the public library, founded by the Forsyth Woman’s Club, occupied the space.
While the library moved to the old courthouse in 1927 and into its current building in 1971, Masons continue to
meet in this lodge, built by their predecessors in 1911.

Property: Rainbow Hotel

Address: #20 3rd St North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Architects George Shanley and John Kent designed the 1911 Rainbow Hotel for the Great Falls Townsite Company.
The Townsite Company’s board included two of the most powerful men in America: Anaconda Company president
John D. Ryan and Great Northern Railway president James J. Hill. The five-story hotel expressed their belief in
Great Falls’ future—as an industrial center and hub for a large, prosperous agricultural district. As Ryan explained,
they did not design the Rainbow for Great Falls as it existed, but for the much larger city they expected it to
become. Decorated with terra cotta, the luxurious brick building cost $400,000 to construct and furnish, making it
the most expensive establishment in the state. The hotel boasted a café, buffet, banquet hall, sample rooms, and
150 sleeping rooms, 120 of which connected to their own bathrooms. Finished in white marble, ivory, and copper,
the lobby exuded elegance. So, too, did the Palm Room, which the Tribune complimented as “the most
pretentious public room in a hotel between the Twin Cities and the Pacific coast.”

Property: Bungalow Bakery

Address: 509 1st Ave. N., Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Business  Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

Edward and Celia Harberson constructed this building for their bakery in 1946. Its simple plan and design, typical
of the period, reflect the post-World War |l boom as the work force returned and small businesses, like the
Harbersons’ bakery, prospered. Edward Harberson came to Great Falls from Billings as an orphan in 1909. He was
among the first children taken into St. Thomas Orphans’ Home where Sister Hermina taught him the art of baking.
Harberson worked for the Eddy Bakery but later started baking in his home and delivering the baked goods by
wagon. He and his wife, also a baker, established the Bungalow Bakery in 1937. In 1952, one of the Harbersons’
three sons died of polio. The following year, the Harbersons created Doughnut Day at the bakery to raise funds for
the March of Dimes; it became a Great Falls tradition. The Harbersons closed the bakery in 1957. A series of
tenant businesses then occupied the space until Carroll and Virginia Blend purchased the property for their small
business, Blends’ Copy Shop, in 1981.

Property: Great Falls Central Business Historic District
Address: Historic District, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: C.E. Davis Residence

Address: 817 4th Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Charles E. Davis, “expert watchmaker and jeweler,” arrived in Great Falls with his wife, Grace, in 1900. With
Charles’ two brothers, the couple opened a store on bustling Central Avenue, selling jewelry, watches, cut glass,
gifts, and eyeglasses. Their son, William, continued the family business, and Davis Jewelry remained a Central
Avenue institution until 1983. The Davises built this two-story residence in 1902. The home’s architecture bridges
the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. The fish-scale shingles in the gable end evoke the Queen Anne style, but
most of the home’s features reflect the cleaner lines of the Colonial Revival style, which became increasingly
popular after the turn of the century. Charles and Grace raised four children, three of whom continued to live
here into adulthood. In 1930, the residence, valued at $10,000, sheltered Charles and Grace, two grown sons, a
teenage daughter, and a live-in servant. When Charles died at the age of seventy-seven in 1948, he was thought
to be Central Avenue’s oldest active businessman. Grace remained in the family home until 1958.

Property: A. W. Kingsbury House

Address: 627 4th Ave North, Great Falls, Cascade
Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: F.W. Woolworth Building
Address: 500 Central Building, Great Falls, Cascade
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Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: hotels (public accommodations)

Sign Text:

A close look at the Woolworth Building’s upper floors makes evident that it was originally two separate, but
closely related edifices. Connecting arches over second-story windows, a decorative metal cornice, and a
crowning brick parapet distinguish the eastern portion from its less ornate neighbor. Constructed in 1890 and
1891, the buildings featured connecting second and third floors. Cascade County’s court and offices occupied the
second floor in 1891. By 1897, the building was home to the Hotel Grand, which provided rooms for $2.00 per
day. Free carriages met all trains, and the hotel boasted a “well-lighted sample room,” dining room, and billiard
room on the first floor. Under new management and a slightly different name, the Grand Hotel opened in 1907
with sixty-two rooms. The residential hotel provided “first-class lodging” for businessmen, “local and transient,
alike.” By 1916, the Golden Rule Store (a precursor to J.C. Penney) occupied the first floor. The ground floor was
remodeled several times by mid-century, and again when the F. W. Woolworth’s Company moved here in 1956.

Property: Union Bethel African Methodist Episcopal Church
Address: 916 5th Ave South, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: Belt Commercial Historic District
Address: Historic District, Belt, Cascade

Historic District: Belt Commercial Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: First United Methodist Church Parsonage
Address: 610 Second Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The pioneer Methodist circuit rider William Wesley Van Orsdel—better known as “Brother Van” —arrived in Fort
Benton, Montana, on the steamboat, Far West, in 1872. For forty-five years, he traveled on horseback, by wagon,
by rail, and, finally, as a passenger, by car, holding services and establishing churches across the state. In the early
days, he held prayer meetings in stores, barns, living rooms, and even, at times, saloons. He is credited with
having helped found more than a hundred churches, a college, six hospitals, and a children’s home, which, in the
years since, have contributed enormously to Montana’s welfare. Because he never married and spent most of his
time traveling, Brother Van did not have a home of his own, even though he oversaw the building of
approximately fifty parsonages. According to legend, saloonkeepers once gave him a thousand dollars to build
himself a home; instead, he donated the money to the Great Falls hospital to help construct a nurses’ residence.
When Rev. J. A. Martin had this classic American four-square home built in 1909, he included a room for Brother
Van. A lively place, the six-bedroom parsonage also sheltered Martin, his wife, their three children, three
boarders, and frequent guests. Brother Van’s room was located at the head of the stairs on the second floor, so
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he wouldn’t disturb the family when he came in late at night. When Brother Van died in 1919, the governor
ordered flags to half-mast. Montana had lost one of her best-loved sons.

Property: Quigley House

Address: 709 4th Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

By 1908, Montana’s agricultural boom was in full swing, and real estate agents like John Quigley, whose firm
offered farms “on 20 years payments,” seemed poised to make a fortune. That year forty-eight-year-old Quigley
built this large Colonial Revival style home on the prestigious block of Fourth Avenue North, where he and his
wife, Katherine, reared three children. The hip-roofed, clapboard residence, whose symmetrical fagade and
columned front porch bespoke of propriety and tradition, reflected the fashion of the day. In 1910 the Quigleys
owned the home free of mortgage, though two boarders lived with the family to help make ends meet. Post-
World War | drought and low commaodity prices ended the boom that built this home, and the Quigleys, like other
Great Falls residents, felt the effects of the agricultural depression. From 1927 to 1930, John worked first as a
laborer and then as a night watchman, and the family once again shared its home—worth $9,000 in 1930—with
renters.

Property: Great Falls Railroad Historic District
Address: Historic District, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Railroad  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Belt Jail
Address: Castner Street, Belt, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: jails (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Lewis and Clark named nearby Belt Butte for its girdle of rocks and, in 1877, John Castner named his town Belt.
Coal brought Castner here, and Fort Benton was the first market for his Castner Coal Company. Then, in 1889, the
Boston and Montana Consolidated Copper and Silver Mining Company built their reduction works at Great Falls—
in part because of the availability of Belt coal. Castner sold his claims to the Anaconda Copper Mining Company,
which had absorbed the Boston and Montana, and their mine soon employed a thousand men. The town
experienced a boom time and in 1900 was Cascade County’s second-largest community, with a population above
2,800, including French, Finnish, Slav, German, and Swedish immigrants. It was during this boom that the jail was
constructed, late in the 1890s, when 32 saloons flourished in town. Fire destroyed the Anaconda mine in 1915
and, in 1930, the smelters stopped using coal. Belt’s population fell off, but it remained a center for this
agricultural area. The jail itself survived major floods in 1909 and 1953, and a 1976 fire caused by a train
derailment, which destroyed five homes and three businesses.

Property: W.K. Floweree House
Address: 825 4th Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade
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Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: Ursuline Academy
Address: 2300 Central Avenue, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: academies (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Sisters of the Order of St. Ursula came to Montana in 1884 to establish schools for Indians. When the
homestead movement created a need for more urban educational facilities, the Great Falls Townsite Company
offered the sisters any two city blocks. This site overlooking the city was chosen for its tranquility, removed from
the bustle of the city’s center. In 1912, the Ursuline Academy opened its doors to day and boarding students of all
denominations. The academy, a detached gymnasium, two shrines, and the grounds comprise the campus.
Iconography by Sister Raphael Schweda graces the academy’s interior. Great Falls architect George Shanley chose
the Collegiate Gothic style to reflect the academy’s commitment to learning and its ecclesiastical associations. But
the building also represents the culmination of the Ursulines’” mission to bring education and culture to Montana’s
youth. From a log cabin to this grand and noble institution of learning, the “lady black robes” have touched the
lives of thousands of Montanans. The sisters continued their mission teaching at the academy until it became the
Ursuline Centre in 1971. The sisters who reside within its lofty halls continue to serve in the community and
graciously open their home to ecumenical activities.

Property: Toole Residence

Address: 512 4th Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The front canted bay window hints at the modest one-story Queen Anne style residence that lies at the core of
this elegant home. In 1891, the house was one of only two on the block. A small back addition had been added by
1900, when Mandeville Philips purchased the home. Philips owned the Stockholm Concert Hall, a vaudeville
house, and was co-proprietor of the Silver Dollar Saloon, a favorite spot of artist Charlie Russell. Between 1900
and 1929, the residence underwent a series of significant renovations. Homeowners added a second story to the
original footprint, a large one-story addition to the front northeast side, and a west-side bay. The transformed
residence mirrored the latest architectural fashion, with its flared hipped roof, casement windows, and general
massing reflecting the popular Prairie style. Lawyer and president of the Montana Wildlife Association John
Thelan lived here with his wife, Vera, from 1911 to 1923. Democratic Party activist Eulalie Toole and her husband
Warren lived here from 1925 to 1937. Son of Montana’s first governor, Warren was a lawyer and state legislator.

Property: Great Falls Civic Center

Address: Park Drive and Central Avenue, Great Falls, Cascade
Historic District: Great Falls Railroad  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:
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Property: St. Ann's Cathedral

Address: 701 3rd Ave. N., Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Shortly after Pope Pius X established the Diocese of Great Falls in 1904, Great Falls’ first bishop, Matthias Lenihan,
hired Montana architect John Hackett Kent to design a cathedral equal to those in Europe. Kent, who helped
design the Montana state capitol, looked to thirteenth-century England for inspiration. St. Ann’s shares all the
features of the Gothic Revival style: an “exaggerated verticality” that makes the building itself look as if it were
reaching toward heaven, a cruciform plan, pointed arches, window tracery, and a ribbed interior vault. According
to the Great Falls Tribune, its red and cream sandstone was quarried locally, with “each block ... cut for a
particular place in the structure and ... marked [to] ... designate it for that one particular place.” Bitterroot Valley
sculptor W. R. Gifford carved the two-ton exterior figure of Christ, which graces the top of the gable end arch.
Construction of the cathedral, which seats five hundred people, cost approximately $100,000. Money for the
project came from the four hundred parishioners living in Great Falls in 1906.

Property: Murphy Maclay Hardware Store

Address: 200 Central Avenue, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In the 1880s Murphy, Maclay and Co. sold everything from flour and fine teas to window glass and blasting
powder. Edgar Maclay and John Murphy established the firm with stores in Helena and Fort Benton in 1882. Two
years later they sent Worden Wren here to open a branch in a canvas tent; Great Falls was only a few months old.
They constructed this stone and brick building in 1886. They expanded the building in 1888, remodeled again
before 1900, and again sometime before 1929. Later remodels reflect Murphy Maclay’s continued prosperity but
disguised the building’s historic character. A look at the west wall, however, reveals the original rubble stone
construction. Locally available rubble stone supplied fire-resistant and sturdy building components before the
railroad arrived in 1887, expanding the choice of construction material. By 1891 the one-story stone building
housed both the Great Falls National Bank and the Murphy Maclay hardware and grocery store. One of the
longest operating businesses in Great Falls, the firm sold hardware from this building from 1886 into the 1960s.

Property: Bus Depot and Garage

Address: 326 1st Avenue South, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: bus terminals Subject 2: garages

Sign Text:

Streamline Moderne architecture celebrated America’s engineering prowess. The style—which offered an
optimistic response to the woes of the Great Depression—promised a better future through technology. Its
celebration of speed and efficiency provided a perfect match for Greyhound Lines, which adopted the style as part
of its corporate identity. Founded in 1914, the bus company built dozens of Streamline Moderne depots during its
dramatic post-World War Il expansion, including this one in 1947. Complementing the sleek aesthetic of
Greyhound’s Silverside buses, the depots incorporated modern materials, including glass block and aluminum,
which gave the buildings a progressive feel. In typical streamlined fashion, the depots hugged the ground while
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their smooth, aerodynamic surfaces, rounded corners, and curved plate-glass windows echoed the company’s
commitment to fast, efficient transportation. The site of the Great Falls depot had once housed a livery stable.
After 1947, it provided access to a more modern form of transportation, conveniently located near the city center.

Property: Cascade County Courthouse

Address: 15 Second Ave North, Great Falls, Cascade
Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Depot
Address: River Drive N., Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: railroad stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railway was constructed between 1907 and 1909, the last transcontinental
railroad to cross Montana. Its service to Great Falls during the homestead boom supported the city’s
establishment as a major urban center for central Montana. When the Milwaukee Road completed this passenger
depot in January of 1915, railway officials hailed it as the finest of its kind between Spokane and Chicago. The
terminal is the only building in Great Falls made of “flash” brick, which is burned and unevenly fired. The 135-foot
tower became a Great Falls landmark, acting as a giant marker of the depot’s location. The corporate logos 100
feet up on each side of the tower were the first of this type, designed to be used on any railway station in the
United States. They are composed of small, high-grade tiles pointed with tinted mortar to create a seamless
effect—even if viewed close up. Each sign measures 17 feet by 10 feet. This grand railroad depot compares
favorably with the Milwaukee Road’s passenger depots in Miles City (1909), Butte (1916-17), and Missoula (1910).

Property: Great Falls Northside Residential Historic District
Address: Historic District, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Northside Residential Building Type: district
Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: residential structures
Sign Text:

Great Falls founder Paris Gibson was drawn to the power of the falls of the Missouri where he vowed to found an
industrial center of “unsurpassed beauty.” Backed by railroad magnate James J. Hill, Gibson hired H. P. Rolfe to
plat the townsite in 1883. Industry harnessed the river’s power and the advent of the railroad in 1887 assured the
town a future. The Northside District, part of the original townsite, was planned as a neighborhood removed from
industrial activity but still convenient to it. By the 1890s doctors, lawyers, politicians, businessmen, and smelter
officials had begun to settle in its neighborhoods. More than 200 beautifully preserved homes and buildings span
the period from 1885 to 1945, offering a medley of period architectural styles including Queen Anne, Colonial
Revival, Craftsman Bungalow, Prairie, and Moderne. The work of renowned architect George Shanley, a Northside
resident, indelibly colors the district. The Classical Revival style Sacred Heart Convent and the Romanesque
Revival style Cascade County Jail showcase his talents. Paris Gibson himself, first mayor of Great Falls, also built a
Northside home. Gibson believed that beautiful surroundings molded a diverse population into a contented
community. Gibson Park which skirts the district and the double-lined boulevards, resplendently shaded by huge
trees planted between 1888 and 1913, are central to Gibson’s legacy. Today the Northside’s residential streets,
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magnificent churches, and impressive public buildings reflect the economic, social and political flowering of
Gibson’s vision.

Property: New Park Hotel

Address: 100 Central, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Liberty Theatre

Address: 301 Central Avenue, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: theaters (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Thirty-six hundred people watched Nomads of the North at the grand opening of the Liberty Theatre in August
1921. A musical score, played on a $47,000 Wurlitzer organ, accompanied the silent film. An overflow crowd of
two thousand toured the theater’s lavishly appointed interior. The Renaissance Revival style building, designed by
Great Falls architect George Shanley, also housed shops, apartments, offices, and a bowling alley. Outside,
floodlights illuminated decorative terra cotta while cascading lights mimicked an Italian fountain, and other lights
spelled out the name of the eighteen-hundred-seat theater. Two glowing terra-cotta torches atop the cornice
emitted red smoke, an illusion created through the use of red lights and forced steam. Like other movie palaces of
its day, the Liberty Theatre promised excitement and luxury with décor that alluded both to American patriotism
and old world extravagance. Thirty cents transported moviegoers into a world of wealth and privilege—and not
just on the screen. The Liberty’s rest rooms and men’s smoking room offered patrons “every convenience from
maid service to engraved stationery and telephone.”

Property: T.E. Collins Mansion
Address: 1003 2nd Ave NW, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: S.H. Kress and Company

Address: 409-411 Central Avenue, Great Falls, Cascade
Historic District: Great Falls Central Business  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Boyd House
Address: 313 2nd Street North, Great Falls, Cascade
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Historic District: Great Falls Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

By 1910, the Queen Anne style had lost much of its allure. Once admired, its artistic jumble of angles, textures,
and colors had become reviled as cluttered and artificial. This rejection of complexity was gradual, and many
houses—like this transitional Queen Anne/Colonial Revival style home—pursued a cleaner look while retaining
some traditional late Victorian features. In this case, those features include a wraparound porch, corbelled
chimney, beveled and leaded glass windows, and a shingled front gable. The rough-dressed sandstone windowsills
and lintels contrast with the home’s dark brick. The 1908 home’s hipped roof, pedimented entranceway, and
relative simplicity reflect a more modern taste. James and Frances Boyd, who built this house, lived here until
their deaths in 1946 and 1947, respectively. The Boyds took in middle-class boarders, who included at various
times an accountant, a student, and a librarian. James's brother and business partner, Gilbert, also shared their
home. The Boyd brothers owned a large plumbing business and invested in real estate. Their projects included
plumbing the Deaconess Hospital and constructing the nearby Teton Apartments.

Property: 305 Third Avenue North

Address: 305 Third Avenue North, Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A graceful wraparound porch with square posts, a central entry beneath a projecting gable, and transomed
windows distinguish this charming vernacular example of the Greek Revival style. Inside, a rounded hall ceiling
adds lovely period elegance. The single-story frame dwelling beautifully illustrates the Greek Revival style in
transition. This popular architectural form evolved from the mid-1800s into the twentieth-century gable-front-
and-wing, the nation’s most popular form of folk housing. Great Falls pioneer realtor Matthew Dunn purchased
the property in 1888, built the home soon after, and was the first occupant. A succession of other early residents
included the David Craig family who, along with five boarders, were tenants in 1900. Prominent pioneer attorney
James W. Speer and his wife, Grace, owned the property circa 1907 to 1910. Grace taught piano while her
husband built his law practice and served as county attorney in 1908 and 1909. He was later elected mayor (1911-
1913), state senator (1923 and 1925) and district judge (1948-1956). The Speers’ household in 1910 included their
two small children, Grace’s mother, a brother-in-law, and two servants.

Property: Terrill Apartments

Address: 312 3rd Ave. N., Great Falls, Cascade

Historic District: Northside Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: apartments Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Apartment buildings were good investments in rapidly expanding communities like Great Falls, which grew from
17,000 to 26,000 between 1910 and 1920. Owners reported waiting lists for units, which ranged from rooms in
old-fashioned “apartment hotels” to elegant flats in modern buildings constructed specifically as apartments. By
1923, Great Falls boasted fifty-two apartment buildings. That year, Genevieve and Clarence Terrill hired the
prominent contracting firm Pappin and Sons to construct this three-story, twelve-unit building, worth $30,000 by
1930. Genevieve managed the apartments; Clarence worked as a buyer for the Standard Furniture Company. A
pedimented entrance, with the name “Terrill” embossed on the gable, and a frieze distinguished by diamond-
patterned brickwork ornament the otherwise simple but solid western commercial style building. Rent in 1930
ranged from $45 to $62 per month, and the building attracted middle-class tenants: engineers, salesmen, small
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business owners, and stenographers. The Terrills also made their home here, Clarence until his death in a tragic
car accident in 1931, and Genevieve into the 1940s.

Property: Geraldine Milwaukee Depot
Address: Railroad Avenue, Geraldine, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: railroad stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railway completed its line across Montana in 1909 as soldiers began to
populate rural areas under the Homestead Act. In 1913, a branch line stretching from Harlowton to Great Falls
was nearly finished. Midway between Lewistown and Great Falls, the brand-new town of Geraldine, named for
the wife of Milwaukee Railroad financier William G. Rockefeller, anticipated a bright future. The Geraldine Review
reported that Milwaukee officials planned to make the town “the show place of the new line.” Workers put the
finishing touches on the only custom-built depot on the central branch and a gala New Year’s Eve dance ushering
in 1914 christened the building. Its hardwood maple floors were pronounced “splendid.” The special design,
described as “a rustic bungalow of the California pattern,” featured two waiting rooms, a ticket room, freight
room with scales embedded in the floor, nickel-trimmed hot-blast stoves, and a ventilating system that changed
the air every five minutes. Geraldine was a busy stopover serving two daily passenger trains and freight crews
until passenger service ended in 1965. All the other depots were sold and, after the Milwaukee’s demise in 1980,
salvage companies removed the rails from the Great Falls-Geraldine section. The nonprofit Geraldine Historical
Committee acquired the depot from Central Montana Rail in 1995. A model of expert workmanship and quality
materials with most original details intact, the depot is still Geraldine’s centerpiece and central to the town’s
history.

Property: T.C. Power Dry Goods Store

Address: 1618 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

T. C. Power and Bro. was founded in 1868 at approximately this location. Initially housed in a wooden building,
the store was moved in 1879 to a large brick structure across the street. When the firm expanded, a hardware
store was built next door and the dry goods-saddlery building constructed in 1881. The business went bankrupt in
1934. In later years Palmer Hardware and Morrison’s Hardware occupied the building.

Property: Stockmen's National Bank

Address: 1318 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Originally built to house the Stockmen’s National Bank, this solid structure represents typical pre-1900s
commercial architecture. Its 1890 construction is significant as one of the few buildings erected after Fort
Benton’s heyday and before homesteaders flocked to Montana in the twentieth century. Arched windows and
front corner quoins add visual interest to this historic institution, which later accommodated the Chouteau County
Bank and First Bank System. The ornate, one-story extension at the rear was added in 1918.
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Property: St. Paul's Episcopal Church
Address: 14th and Chouteau Sts, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Reverend George Stewart designed this English Gothic church, constructed in 1899. Congregant Lena Crutchfield
organized numerous pancake suppers, ice cream socials, and offered generous donations to make this historic
landmark a reality. Margaret Daly, wife of copper king and lumber baron Marcus Daly, was also a prominent
financial contributor. The wood-frame structure incorporated elements typical of British ecclesiastical
architecture, and its pointed-arch windows, decorative wooden tracery, steeply pitched rooflines, and square
towers allude to the denomination's English roots. The interior ceiling is intended to remind worshippers of an
inverted Noah's ark. The towers, originally asymmetrical, were modified in later years. The stained glass windows
were more recently added. In 1941, Mrs. Daly's funeral, one of the largest ever held in the vicinity, took place in
this building. Many businesses closed to allow community members to attend. Today, St. Paul’s Episcopal Church
continues its long tradition of providing a source of Christian fellowship to the community of Hamilton.

Property: St. Paul's Episcopal Church
Address: 14th and Chouteau Sts, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, Fort Benton’s oldest church, is the oldest Episcopal Church in Montana. In continuous
service since August 11, 1881, it appears today almost as it did upon opening. Architecturally, this Gothic style
building is a fine example of the small community churches being built in Montana at that time. But its story
illustrates the difficulties of civilization’s arrival on the raw frontier. After Bishop D. S. Tuttle established a
congregation here in 1879, its members held services in the schoolhouse, a saloon, and finally in the courthouse
while raising money to build a church. The building fund’s first substantial contribution even came from the East,
from the Rev. Joseph Coit, headmaster of St. Paul’s School in Concord, New Hampshire. Thus the church was
named St. Paul’s. Here worshipped notable Montana pioneers including W. G. Conrad, C. E. Conrad, Joseph A.
Baker, and Paris Gibson. Note the leaded stained glass lancet windows, all placed as memorials and each a work
of art.

Property: T.C. Power Building

Address: 1700 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In 1867, merchant T. C. Power, destined to become one of the state’s wealthiest and most influential men,
brought his first wagonload of goods to Fort Benton, where he set up shop in a borrowed tent. Still in business in
1916, Power constructed a new grocery and department store to cater to “sodbusters” during the homestead
boom. Architect George H. Carsley, who was Power’s neighbor in Helena, designed the stylish, two-story brick
building. A flat roof, decorative brackets, and series of second-story windows are architecturally representative of
the period.

Property: Murphy-Neel Building
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Address: 1220 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Prominent Montana merchant and cattleman John T. Murphy, who also ran a major freighting outfit between Fort
Benton and the mining camps, went into partnership with Samuel Neel to build this commercial structure in 1880
at a cost of $15,000. The impressive one-story brick building on the riverfront served as mercantile store and
warehouse. Distinctive corbelling, arched doorways, and tall pillared chimneys enhanced its original appearance.
The one remaining chimney still retains the intricate design.

Property: Gans and Klein

Address: , Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

When Frank Coombs teamed up with architect Thomas Tweedy for the construction of the Grand Union Hotel
across the street, they and J. R. Wilton also built this rather unpretentious commercial building. Begun in June and
completed in September of 1881, it was constructed for the manufacturing, wholesale, and retail firm of Gans and
Klein. This highly successful San Francisco and New York-based firm dealing in “fine clothing and men’s furnishing
goods” also had stores in Helena and Butte. The Fort Benton branch operated here until it closed in 1890. By
1902, the building housed a stationery and cigar store. It was a furniture store in 1910, and in the 1930s, a
mortuary. Most old-timers, however, remember this corner as the longtime home of the local VFW Legion Club.
Although the locally made brick is now covered in stucco, the building is a classic example of western commercial
architecture that retains its original configuration. Conversion to a banking facility in 1996 illustrates the
adaptability of Fort Benton’s historic resources.

Property: West Quincy Granite Quarry
Address: Flat Creek Road, Square Butte, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: quarries (extracting complexes) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Volcanic activity eons ago laid down this substantial granite deposit known as the Shonkin Sag Lacolith. Geologists
Louis N. Pirrson and Walter H. Weed named the gray stone “Shonkinite” in 1894. I. E. Jenkins and W. H. Guyor
began formal quarrying in 1914. They named the company after their hometown of West Quincy, Massachusetts,
America’s “granite capital.” Two companies quarried granite from the two tiers of the outcrop, employing twenty-
seven workers at the peak. Boulders scattered at the base of the upthrust provided enough stone for local needs
and for buildings as far away as Denver. The cliff itself was never quarried. Brothers J. Arthur and Paul Rudin along
with Carl Johnson, all natives of Sweden by way of Massachusetts, leased the West Quincy Quarry in 1916. They
marketed their stone as “Lone Tree Granite” after the nearby ranch and former stage stop. Rudin Bros. Granite
Co. supplied the stone for buildings, monuments, and engraved markers across Montana, including the boulder
that marks renowned artist C.M. Russell’s grave In 1928, the Tanners, Lone Tree ranchers, purchased the quarry
land and then leased it to the Rudin Bros. After Art Rudin’s death in 1939, Johnson and Rudin’s two sons operated
the quarry. Johnson purchased the business in 1943, operating it into the 1960s. Square Butte granite has fueled
the local economy and has long adorned Montana’s buildings, cemeteries, and monuments.
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Property: Eagle Butte School
Address: 4500 Eagle Butte School Road, Geraldine, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: schools (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Fort Benton’s first school opened in 1868, over twenty years before statehood. As Montana’s population grew, so
did its commitment to education, fueled by the belief that a successful democracy demands an educated
populace. Upon statehood (1889), the Enabling Act attempted to set aside sections 16 and 36 in each township to
financially support education. Because some of these sections (or portions thereof) were already claimed, “in lieu”
selections were offered, including the tract on which the Eagle Butte School is located. Chouteau County
established the Eagle Butte School District in 1912. That year, approximately twenty-seven children attended
school for one to two months in abandoned homestead shacks. School construction began in 1914. A storm
demolished the partially completed building, but this clapboard-sided school with attached teacherage (living
quarters for the teacher) was ready for students in August 1915. The schoolhouse followed best practices for
small school design. Near the entry were two cloakrooms (one for boys and one for girls). A single band of
windows left two large unbroken walls for blackboards while avoiding “cross lighting,” which experts believed
harmed pupils’ eyes. Craftsman style detailing added a touch of sophistication and expressed the district’s
ambitions. Nevertheless, in its early years, the school suffered high teacher turnover as isolation and low pay took
their toll. After 1918, drought and agricultural depression led to declining enrollments. The school remained open
by merging with South Eagle Butte School in 1924. Prosperity returned after World War Il, and the school
operated until 1964, when Geraldine Elementary annexed the Eagle Butte district.

Property: First National Bank of Geraldine
Address: 311 Main, Geraldine, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1913, as workers laid track on the spur line from Harlowton to Great Falls, Milwaukee Road surveyors platted
towns along the new route, including Geraldine. By October 2, Farmers State Bank opened in a wooden building
on Main Street. Among the bank’s first acts was to offer loans to area farmers with grain on hand, so that they
could hold their crops until the grain elevator was completed. The bank’s support was the beginning of a long
commitment to the community and area agriculture. As the homesteading boom brought more farmers to the
area, the bank prospered. Construction of a new building of Lewistown brick began in 1914. When it was finished,
the two-story bank building—Geraldine’s first masonry structure—sported a stately cornice and a triangular
pediment over the main door. Its solid construction and dignified neoclassical facade asserted stability and
permanence, offering visual assurance to customers that their money was safe. In the 1920s, ten of Chouteau
County’s thirteen banks failed when extended drought and low commodity prices caused record numbers of
farmers to default on their loans. But this conservatively managed bank—by then renamed the First National Bank
of Geraldine—survived both the agricultural depression of the 1920s and the Great Depression of the 1930s. Due
to the bank’s sound management, it was among the first in the United States allowed to reopen after the Federal
Bank Holiday in 1933. The bank (under several different names) has continued to serve Geraldine into the twenty-
first century.

Property: McGraw's Saloon
Address: , Fort Benton, Chouteau
Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing
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Subject 1: saloons (bars) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

After the turn of the twentieth century homesteaders poured into Montana, and by 1910 the area’s land office at
Great Falls processed between a thousand and fifteen hundred homestead filings per month. The peaceful little
river town of Fort Benton boomed again. Increased population meant more business, and longtime saloon
proprietor John H. McGraw took advantage of the times, building a new club in 1912. Dark maroon bricks and
lovely tile inserts reveal the availability of better, more durable materials than the soft local brick used in the
previous century.

Property: Fort Benton Engine House
Address: Front and 15th Sts, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: engine houses Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Fort Benton Engine House, built in 1883, and the Grand Union Hotel are two of only a few structures
remaining to remind us of the rapid expansion here during the flourishing steamboat days. When Fort Benton
incorporated in 1883, a volunteer fire department was organized and a contract let for $1,710 to build this engine
house. By fall, the building was complete and thirty-five men organized into three companies of firemen were
ready to drill—but the firefighting equipment wintered at Cow Island because the steamboat bringing it up the
Missouri met low water at season’s end (not an uncommon situation). The gear was brought on to Fort Benton by
ox wagon the following spring. This building served as City Hall for more than seventy-five years, until 1966, and
from 1899 it housed the city jail. Its use today as a public meeting hall for service organizations recalls the past use
as a center for social activities as well as for waiting firefighters.

Property: Virgelle State Bank
Address: Main Street, Virgelle, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Homesteaders, travelers, and railroad crews helped the tiny town of Virgelle thrive during the 1910s. Town
founder Virgil Blankenbaker chartered the Virgelle State Bank in 1917 where he, his brother-in-law John G.
Chancellor, C. J. McNamara, and prominent ranchers E. B. Newhall and Thomas Marlow served on the board of
directors. Folks came to town to do their banking, pick up their mail, buy supplies, and catch up on local news.
Drought and depression in the 1920s left few local homesteaders, but the bank was among six of nineteen in
Chouteau County to remain viable during the hard times. Lack of business, however, forced liquidation and
closure in 1927. Through the next decades neighbors rowed across the river, brought their wagons or drove their
Model T’s to Saturday night card games, dances, and midnight suppers held in the empty one-room bank building.
In winter, guests sometimes waited till dawn to cross the river, maneuvering around ice. The bank became the
residence of railroad employee Leon Watson in 1941 when he tired of crossing the river to report to the depot for
work. In 1985, the Burlington Northern, successor of the Great Northern Railway, abandoned its Virgelle line and
today no trace of the railroad remains, but the bank survives intact as a symbol of Blankenbaker’s vision. High
ceilings, wood floors, and the original vault convey its original use. The Neo-Classical style building eloquently
represents the small town banks that once dotted homestead-era Montana and the greater forces that gave
shape to the state’s rural communities.
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Property: Church of the Immaculate Conception

Address: 1518 Choteau Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

When fire destroyed the original Church of the Immaculate Conception in 1905, this beautiful Tudor style
structure of rough cut stone and ornamental half-timbered gables replaced it in 1907. Salvaged from the blaze
was a bell christened in 1880 for prominent resident Michael Flanagan. The bell, known as the “Voice of Michael,”
still serves the community from its lofty perch in the stone bell tower. Stained glass memorial windows, dedicated
to some of Fort Benton’s pioneer families, adorn the interior.

Property: H.J. Wackerlin Hardware Company

Address: 1620 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This structure opened in 1882 during Fort Benton’s “glory days” as Montana’s largest hardware store. T. C. Power
and Hans Wackerlin operated the business. Wackerlin, a tinsmith, had come to Fort Benton in 1867 aboard the
steam boat Richmond, which had been commandeered from Missouri to Montana by Quantrill’s Raiders.
Affiliation with I. G. Baker in 1888 allowed Wackerlin to expand his inventory, adding shelf and builder’s hardware,
gueensware, glassware, and house furnishings. Wackerlin sold out to T. C. Power in 1895.

Property: Cummings Building

Address: 1402 Main Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Originally this site was occupied by a wooden frame building that housed Mose Solomon’s Medicine Lodge. This
legendary saloon was open twenty-four hours a day from spring thaw to first snow. When the building burned,
prominent lawyer, customs collector, insurance agent, and stockman Thomas Cummings replaced it with this two-
story brick structure. Cummings sold out and the building then housed a Chinese restaurant and emporium with
an opium den in the basement until the turn of the twentieth century.

Property: Lonetree
Address: Near Square Butte, Square Butte, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: ranches (agricultural complexes) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Christopher and Edward Wilson chose this narrow canyon as headquarters for their ranching operation in 1887.
The brothers lived in a dugout while they built a more serviceable two-room cabin using granite hand-cut from
the nearby hillside. By 1895, when Edward brought his bride to the ranch, the brothers had finished a two-story
home of hand-cut sandstone complete with running water piped in from the nearby spring. In 1900, Lonetree was
designated a post office and served as both mail and stage stops between the railroads at Fort Benton and
Lewistown. When the “sodbusters” began arriving between 1908 and 1912, Lonetree was the mailing address for
hundreds of homesteaders. New arrivals filled their wooden barrels at the Lonetree spring until their own wells
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could be dug. In 1912, the Lonetree School was established in the two-room cabin. On colder days, students
gathered in an upstairs room of the “big house.” Lonetree had become the focal point of a community scattered
over 400 square miles, but when the Milwaukee Road bypassed it in favor of the town of Geraldine, Lonetree’s
importance dwindled. In 1915, the stage line disbanded, the post office moved to Geraldine, and the school
closed. The 1920s offered Lonetree a new beginning when newlyweds John and Mary Tanner added the Wilson
ranch to their holdings. As a child, Mary had traveled on the Fort Benton stage and stayed overnight at Lonetree.
The “big house” gained new importance as home to the Tanners and their four daughters, adding yet another
chapter to Lonetree’s long, varied history.

Property: Bank of Northern Montana

Address: 1310 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2: commercial buildings

Sign Text:

The bank was established June 1, 1880, by T. E. Collins, Charles Duer and L. H. Hershfield and Brother. It was first
located in the Benton Record Building, then moved to this location in October 1881. The bank remained here until
the large two-story building was built on the corner, and its name was changed to Stockmen’s National Bank. This
site had previously housed Wells Fargo and the Benton-Helena Stage Company; in later years the telegraph office
was located here.

Property: Square Butte Jail
Address: Main Street, Square Butte, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: jails (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Milwaukee Land Company laid out the neat, tree-lined streets of Square Butte in 1913. Strategically located
along the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul and Pacific’s route between Lewistown and Great Falls, Square Butte was
for a time an important stop because it offered an abundant supply of mineral-free water and coal for the
locomotives. In 1915, residents concerned about an “over supply of tramps, beggars and vagabonds” petitioned
Chouteau County Commissioners to appoint a justice of the peace. The commissioners complied, and the
following year hired the Harrington Granite Works to build a county jail at Square Butte. Intended as an interim
holding facility, the jail was constructed on the property of rancher/businessman William P. Sullivan. Sullivan may
have meant it to deter his 15 to 20 cowhands from Saturday night mischief. Perhaps his ploy was effective; there
is no evidence that the jail was actually used for prisoners although legend has it that an inmate froze to death in
his unheated cell. The jail did, however, later serve as road crew housing, as a bachelor’s residence, and as a
granary. It also provided local children a unique clubhouse. The unusual construction of ashlar granite blocks
guarried nearby illustrates the local importance of this stone, which was shipped to distant cities between 1914
and 1922. Ownership of the Sullivan Ranch passed to Dean and Donna Strand who donated the jail to the
Geraldine Historical Committee in 1997.

Property: Fort Benton Historic District

Address: Historic District, Fort Benton, Chouteau
Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:
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Property: Chouteau County Courthouse

Address: 1308 Franklin Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau
Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: |.G. Baker Home
Address: 1604 Front St, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Property: Pacific Hotel (Centennial Hotel)

Address: , Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In 1864, Mills and Douglas operated a restaurant and hotel on this corner. Mills and Robert S. Culbertson went
into partnership in 1877, opening a new establishment called the Centennial Hotel in celebration of the United
States' 100th birthday. Culbertson, nephew of Alexander Culbertson who was the founder of Fort Benton, became
full owner in 1881. In 1882, the hotel was rebuilt of brick and renamed the Pacific Hotel; later it was also known as
the Culbertson House. Robert and his wife Lydia operated the hotel until her death in 1912. It was operated by
one of their nine children, Esther Casey, until 1941, then sold by the family in 1946.

Property: Masonic Building

Address: 1418 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: fraternal lodges Subject 2: commercial buildings

Sign Text:

Members of Masonic Lodge #25 built this brick structure in 1882, housing their temple on the second floor.
Grocer W. H. Burgess rented first floor space. Economic decline in the late 1880s caused the Masons to lose title,
and Burgess, too, went broke. The lodge rented space until 1901, while the lower floor accommodated the Sharp
Brothers’ Store. The sons of the Sharp brothers became two of Fort Benton’s famous admirals. Originally one of a
pair, the structure displays elaborate brick corbelling typical of the 1880s commercial architecture.

Property: Grand Union Hotel

Address: 704 Fourteenth Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This grandiose, three-story Italianate style hotel welcomed weary river travelers to the Gateway of the Northwest,
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offering guests a luxurious refuge before setting out for less civilized destinations. Its opening in 1882 came at the
end of the steamboat era, when Fort Benton was still an unchallenged commercial hub. The very next year,
however, the Northern Pacific transcontinental line was completed across Montana, diminishing the town’s
position as a commercial center. Constructed of soft local brick with intricate corbelling and distinctive windows,
the “Waldorf of the West” featured a saloon, dining room, a saddle room for cowboys to store their gear in
winter, and a secret lookout room where guards could supervise gold shipments. A separate ladies’ stairway led
to elegant parlors since women never entered rooms adjoining saloons. Each room had handsome black walnut,
marble-topped furnishings and, originally, its own woodstove and fancy chimney. From its vantage point near the
docks, the Grand Union presided over the arrival of everything from stamp mills to grand pianos, brought by
steamboat and transferred to ox-team freight wagons. The fine design by architect Thomas Tweedy reflects a
prosperous and optimistic town, unaware of the imminent coming of the railroad and its disastrous effects on the
town’s economy.

Property: Choteau House

Address: 1614 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

I. G. Baker and T. C. Power built the original Twing House in 1868. Under the watchful eye of Mrs. Twing, this
“downtown” hotel competed with the Overland. The hotel closed in 1870 and was rented as military officers’
quarters. It reopened as the Choteau House in 1879, owned and operated by dapper Irishman Jere Sullivan. His
glib tongue promoted both his hostelry and Fort Benton. Sullivan gradually rebuilt the structure in brick and
added the third story during the homestead days.

Property: Pacific Hotel (Centennial Hotel)

Address: , Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In 1864, Mills and Douglas operated a restaurant and hotel on this corner. Mills and Robert S. Culbertson went
into partnership in 1877, opening a new establishment called the Centennial Hotel in celebration of the United
States' 100th birthday. Culbertson, nephew of Alexander Culbertson who was the founder of Fort Benton, became
full owner in 1881. In 1882, the hotel was rebuilt of brick and renamed the Pacific Hotel; later it was also known as
the Culbertson House. Robert and his wife Lydia operated the hotel until her death in 1912. It was operated by
one of their nine children, Esther Casey, until 1941, then sold by the family in 1946.

Property: Davidson and Moffitt Harness Shop

Address: 1212 Front Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: printing firms

Sign Text:

Fort Benton’s building boom of 1887-1884 saw the construction of many commercial buildings made of locally
produced soft brick. This fine example was built in 1881 as a saddlery by Davidson and Moffitt of Helena. The
River Press Company, publisher of the town’s newspaper, purchased the building in 1883. The local news has
been printed on these premises ever since. Decorative corbelling and four arches over the front windows and
doorway embellished the original one-story structure.
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Property: C.E. Conrad House

Address: 1011 Sixteenth Street, Fort Benton, Chouteau

Historic District: Fort Benton  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Financial ruin in the wake of the Civil War brought brothers Charles E. and William G. Conrad from Virginia to Fort
Benton in 1867. Both quickly rose from clerks with I. G. Baker’s mercantile to full company partners in Baker’s vast
western empire, eventually broadening their business concerns and amassing huge fortunes. Charles built this
first home for himself and his bride, Alicia, following their marriage in 1881. They remained here until 1890.
Commercial builder John R. Wilton designed the locally unique residence of soft Fort Benton brick in the
Carpenter Gothic style. The distinctive home, with its tall arched windows, steep gables, and delicate scrollwork,
originally had an ornate wooden porch that spanned the front. Behind her new house Alicia planted Fort Benton’s
first garden, delighting residents long used to tired produce shipped in by steamer. The next year gardens
bloomed all over town.

Property: Kelly Residence
Address: 7 N Cottage Grove, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Street Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Sometimes called “labor’s aristocracy,” locomotive engineers were the highest paid workers on the railroad. That
fact gave William Kelly, an engineer for the Milwaukee Road, the means to purchase this one-story home. In 1920
he lived here with his wife, Nellie, their three-year-old son, and his wife’s sister. Building contractor Carl Anderson
constructed the residence in 1917; he almost certainly took the design from a pattern book. These books of
architectural plans allowed local builders to bring the latest fashions to relatively isolated communities like Miles
City. A classic Craftsman style bungalow, the Kelly residence features a low-pitched roof; exposed rafter tails;
wide, overhanging eaves; and a full-length front porch (now enclosed). Japanese architecture inspired its
distinctive roofline. Japan widely promoted its art and architecture through the 1893 Columbian Exposition and
the 1904 St. Louis World'’s Fair. Architects responded, incorporating Japanese elements into their residential
designs. Anderson must have liked the exotic flavor of the flared eaves and molded gable peaks; he built several
other bungalows in Miles City that sported similar “pagoda-style” roofs.

Property: Alderson House

Address: 1019 Palmer Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Nannie Alderson came to Montana from Kansas with her husband Walt in 1883. They operated a cattle ranch for a
decade but moved to Miles City in 1893 so their children could attend school. In 1895, Walt died from head
injuries after he was kicked by a horse. Left with four children between the ages of two and eleven, Nannie built
this home for her family. She scraped by, selling home-baked bread and milk from the family’s cow and catering
meals. She also took in boarders. Nannie moved the family to Birney in 1902. Later in her life, Nannie earned wide
acclaim for her pioneer reminiscence, A Bride Goes West, published in 1942. Her quaint wood-frame home retains
its Greek Revival style footprint, once common in Miles City, but rarely preserved. Changes, including alteration of
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the front porch and the addition of side entry canopies in the 1910s, add an interesting layer. These reflect
changing tastes and the growing popularity of the bungalow style in the early twentieth century.

Property: Alderson House

Address: 1019 Palmer Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: boardinghouses

Sign Text:

Nannie Alderson came to Montana from Kansas with her husband Walt in 1883. They operated a cattle ranch for a
decade but moved to Miles City in 1893 so their children could attend school. In 1895, Walt died from head
injuries after he was kicked by a horse. Left with four children between the ages of two and eleven, Nannie built
this home for her family. She scraped by, selling home-baked bread and milk from the family’s cow and catering
meals. She also took in boarders. Nannie moved the family to Birney in 1902. Later in her life, Nannie earned wide
acclaim for her pioneer reminiscence, A Bride Goes West, published in 1942. Her quaint wood-frame home retains
its Greek Revival style footprint, once common in Miles City, but rarely preserved. Changes, including alteration of
the front porch and the addition of side entry canopies in the 1910s, add an interesting layer. These reflect
changing tastes and the growing popularity of the bungalow style in the early twentieth century.

Property: City Hall and Fire Station

Address: 19 South 8th Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: city halls Subject 2: fire stations

Sign Text:

The transformation of Miles City in the early 1900s into the economic, social, and governmental center of the
valley precipitated the decision to build a permanent city hall. Ed Arnold, tailor and businessman, became one of
the motivating forces behind the project to erect the new facility. Arriving in Miles City in 1885, Arnold served as
city treasurer for two terms and achieved the position of secretary in the Custer County building. Designed by
Grover C. Pruett, one of Miles City’s most successful engineer/architects in the early twentieth century, this
structure is Pruett’s greatest landmark in the city. The two-story concrete Renaissance Revival style building faced
in Hebron brick is a good example of the new “academically correct” Renaissance styling and is a symbol of Miles
City as a progressive and cosmopolitan town. The words “City Hall” are carved into the sandstone frieze above the
portal as a permanent reminder of the building’s continued public service since 1914.

Property: Walrond and Elizabeth Snell House
Address: 402 South Lake Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Log cabins and canvas tents lined Miles City’s Main Street when Walrond Snell and William Ladd opened their
crockery business in the late 1870s. Snell sold his interests in 1883, returning to his native England to marry his
sweetheart, Elizabeth Carter. Meanwhile, Ladd commissioned Miles City’s only architect, Bryon Vreeland, to build
this home on Lake Street. The original T-shaped dwelling, the first brick home east of the railroad tracks, stood in
the empty prairie. While Ladd continued in business, Snell returned with his bride to take up sheep ranching. He
became a prominent stockman and contributor to Montana’s wool industry. In 1891, Snell purchased his former
partner’s home. The Snells moved to town so their six children could attend school. Elizabeth Snell was the first
local music and piano teacher, and the family moved in the most elite social circles. Snell served the community in
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a variety of civic capacities. He was director of the First National Bank, a county commissioner, and a founder of
the Custer County Building Association. In the 1910s, the Snells expanded their home with an addition at the rear,
which featured newly available plate glass windows and a stylish wraparound porch. A central Gothic pavilion,
French Second Empire arched windows, and stepped triangle brickwork in the gable are distinctive hallmarks of
Vreeland’s original plans. Significant for its association with the prominent Snell family, this charming home is
equally important as the last surviving example of Vreeland’s once-popular central pavilion design.

Property: Stacy Residence

Address: 2206 Main St, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Determined to bring the Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Paul Railroad to Miles City, land developer, cattleman, and
banker Lorenzo Stacy organized his fellow businessmen to secure and donate property for the railroad’s right-of-
way. In 1908, the Milwaukee Road arrived, rewarding their efforts; that same year Stacy hired local architect
Brynjulf Rivenes to design an elegant, if isolated home on the eighty acres he owned at the edge of Miles City.
Rivenes’ eclectic design featured such classical details as a monumental, two-story back porch (enclosed in the
1920s) and a balustraded front porch with a central one-story portico; its hipped dormers, wide eaves, and
Spanish roof tiles reflected the newly fashionable Prairie style. The “commodious and attractive residence of
modern architectural design” did not remain isolated for long. The Milwaukee Railroad delivered the predicted
boom, and Stacy found a ready market for lots. By 1915, when Stacy sold land to the city for Wibaux Park, his
house had been joined by many others, and East Main Street had become home to Miles City’s most fashionable
residences.

Property: 2008 Main Street

Address: 2008 Main, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

High maintenance steam engines required railroads to locate large repair shops every two hundred miles. After
the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul and Pacific Railroad chose Miles City for a division point in 1907, the town grew
rapidly. Population increased to 4,697 in 1910, a 140 percent increase over the 1900 population of 1,938. With an
influx of well-paid railroad workers and new businesses, residential construction boomed, and a comfortable
subdivision emerged on Main. Built between 1908 and 1912, possibly for Jasper Brenizer, the home’s first known
resident, this two-story house combines Queen Anne and Colonial Revival elements. Its cross-gable plan, leaded-
glass windows, and fish scale shingles are associated with the Queen Anne style; the enclosed cornice returns,
overall simplicity, and classical porch supports reflect Colonial Revival. The current wraparound porch replaced
the original full-length front porch between 1916 and 1928. Milwaukee Road conductor Newman Fuller lived here
in 1913. Promoted to trainmaster by 1920, Newman resided here with his wife Ellen, their daughter Margaret,
and boarder Sarah Riley, who supported herself as a dressmaker.

Property: Kennie / Howe House

Address: 114 N 11th St, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carraige HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:



MT NATIONAL REGISTER SIGN TEXT 1990 TO APRIL 2019

Sign Text:

The end of the 1880s witnessed development of Miles City’s north side, with expensive homes being built on
generous tracts of land. As land became scarce, parcels were carved from spacious lawns and working families
became the neighbors of prominent residents. This charming Queen Anne style cottage, built on land once part of
the property to the north, illustrates the trend. Constructed circa 1901, the home also foreshadows changing
architectural tastes. Its symmetry reflects the newer Colonial Revival style while wide eaves suggest the Prairie
style. Lovely stained glass transoms—a classic Queen Anne element—are, however, a dominant feature. The
Craftsman style garage, constructed a little later to replace a barn, further chronicles neighborhood changes as
transportation shifted from horse to automobile. Maud B. and Albert W. Kennie, later the longtime proprietors of
the Olive Hotel, sold the home to rancher John S. Howe in 1904. The residence likely served as winter quarters so
the Howe children could attend nearby Washington School.

Property: Farnum House

Address: 121 N. 12th, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: apartments

Sign Text:

Joseph E. Farnum arrived in Eastern Montana in 1883, settling in the Tongue River area. He married Minnie
Parmenter in 1885 and relocated to a ranch on the Powder River. Typical of many ranchers at the time, Farnum
maintained a residence in Miles City. He built a modest one-and-one-half-story Greek Revival style dwelling
around 1883. In 1893, Farnum moved his family to town and shortly after completed a two-story addition in the
Queen Anne style. He purchased C. A. Wiley’s insurance and real estate business in 1901 and served as City Clerk
in 1912. Farnum remained a prominent figure in Miles City until his death in 1924. Recognizing the importance of
Miles City as a social, political, and economic center, Farnum built his home in the city’s first affluent
neighborhood and continued to alter the property to reflect the city’s growth and prominence. Anna Weber
purchased the property in 1928 and fortunately converted the residence into apartments. When she lost her
savings in the Crash of 1929, the rental income assured her survival.

Property: Dr. A.J. Schrumpf Residence

Address: 2003 Main, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Builder/contractor Oren M. Lanphear experimented with a variety of influences in this 1908 residence, which was
the first home in Miles City to fully employ the American Foursquare design. Simplicity and practicality were the
essence of this architectural form, which originated with Chicago architect Louis Sullivan. Wide eaves and a stone
foundation follow the closely related Craftsman style, but an oriel window and classical Palladian window (the
town’s only such example) refer back to the preceding Victorian era. Stained glass in an Art Nouveau torch-and-
ribbon motif and golden oak interior finishing add further elegance. This progressive home was featured in
Buchanan’s 1911 booster book, Seeing Miles City. The family of its first owner, dentist Augustus J. Schrumpf,
retained ownership until 1947, when the residence was converted to apartments. Current owners have carefully
restored its former grandeur, returning the upper floors to a gracious single-family home.

Property: Rinehart House
Address: 1917 Main Street, Miles City, Custer



MT NATIONAL REGISTER SIGN TEXT 1990 TO APRIL 2019

Historic District: East Main Street Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Nature, comfort, simplicity, honesty, and integrity were ideals incorporated into early-twentieth-century
architecture. This Craftsman style bungalow is an exceptional expression of those ideals. Its compact floorplan and
modestly adorned exterior facilitated comfort and ease while a spacious porch with solid supports was considered
essential to provide a visual link between nature and the manmade environment. The home features an unusual
cross-gabled roof and blending of Craftsman style details with Federal style door and window surrounds that are
unique to Main Street. Constructed in 1913 for Dr. Curtis N. Rinehart, a prominent Miles City dentist, the home
reflects the town’s second growth spurt and initial development of this residential neighborhood. Premier stone
and cement mason Chris Arneberg laid the foundation and the sidewalk, where the first owner’s name, “C. N.
Rinehart,” is incised at the front entry.

Property: Harry J. Horton Residence

Address: 1918 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The stylistic versatility of architect Brynjulf Rivenes is well demonstrated in this distinguished home built for Miles
City businessman Harry J. Horton. The simple foursquare plan combines wide eaves, a low hipped roof, and
massive brick pillars, characteristic of the Prairie and Craftsman styles, with Renaissance Revival style arched
windows and pedimented porch. Elegant beveled glass windows draw attention to the home’s horizontal lines.
Built in 1911 on land purchased from neighbor George Foster, the Horton’s splendid new residence appeared that
same year in the booster brochure, Seeing Miles City.

Property: Miles City Main Street Historic District

Address: , Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: commercial buildings

Sign Text:

The Main Street historic district reveals Miles City’s major growth periods of 1882-1887, 1905-1920, and 1935-
1940. The first of these began with the arrival of the Northern Pacific in 1881, when imposing brick business
blocks began to replace the wooden, false-front buildings of the town’s beginnings. Architect Byron Vreeland
designed many of these buildings, favoring the late-Victorian period vertical lines. This boom ended with the
“Hard Winter of 1886-1887" that decimated range cattle herds, ruining stockmen and the businesses that served
them. The second growth period was spurred by the arrival of the Chicago, St. Paul and Milwaukee Railroad in
1907 and by the homestead boom of the region, for which Miles City served as social and business center. Local
architects Brynjulf and David Rivenes, and Charles S. Haire and John G. Link of Helena, now shaped downtown
Miles City’s appearance, with light-colored, formal, and symmetrical designs. This growth period ended with the
1920's agricultural depression. As the subsequent Great Depression began to lift, Main Street again began to see
new construction, with Art Deco and Moderne enriching the mixture of architectural styles.

Property: Coleman Residence
Address: 2116 Main, Miles City, Custer
Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing
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Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The steamer Far West carried Irish immigrant James Coleman to Fort Keogh in 1876. After working for the army
sutler, Coleman moved into Miles City, where he managed a saloon frequented by army regulars. In 1882, he
married his Irish bride, Margaret Golden. The couple had ten children. By 1912, Coleman owned his own saloon,
the New Stand, had invested in a coal mine and ranchland, and had helped found the Miles City Chamber of
Commerce. That year, the Colemans decided to build a new home, which reflected their rise in status. Fashion at
the time dictated clean lines, a trend this elegant residence personifies. Its two-and-one-half stories, simple box
shape, low-hipped roof, and large central dormer mark it as a foursquare. One of the most popular styles in
America during the 1910s, foursquares offered a dignified home for a relatively economical price. Members of the
Coleman family continued to live here into the 1950s. In later years, the porch was enclosed and the house was
converted into apartments. In the 1990s, the long process of restoring the home began.

Property: The Olive Hotel
Address: 501 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Since the 1880s, Miles City has been the trade, service, and social center for Eastern Montana ranchers. After its
famed McQueen House burned down, town booster Joseph Leighton built the Leighton, 1898-1899, which
became an area landmark. Within a few years his son Alvin took over and renamed it the Olive Hotel. When the
Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railway arrived here in 1908, the thriving economy called for expansion of the
Olive, including a three-story addition to the rear. Architect Brynjulf Rivenes designed the new facade, lobby, and
the east addition. Now the Olive also housed a cafe, barber shop, cigar and curio stand, buffet, and sample rooms,
where ranchers and commercial travelers met. Two fireproof, poured concrete garages built in 1908 and 1912
demonstrate the rising importance of the automobile. The Olive Hotel stands as a symbol of the effects of post-
World War | depression on this region. When thousands of homesteaders lost their lands because of drought and
falling grain prices, the Olive’s business declined noticeably by the mid-1920s.

Property: McAusland House

Address: 1013 Palmer St., Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Nestled amidst grand Queen Anne style houses is this early folk residence. The wooden home, constructed for
Scottish immigrant John McAusland, appears on an 1883 bird’s-eye map of Miles City. A steeply pitched side-gable
roof and a small dormer dominate the home’s fagade. Originally, the dormer likely framed a door that led to the
roof of a full-length front porch. The main part of the house is one-and-one-half stories; the kitchen is under a
separate, one-story roof. This plan was common in the 1800s. Placing the kitchen under separate roof minimized
fire risk. Bucket brigades could more easily reach a one-story roof, perhaps saving the rest of the house in case of
a kitchen fire. The design also provided good ventilation, a boon during hot summers. McAusland arrived in Miles
City from Deadwood, Dakota Territory, in 1882. In 1886, he was named postmaster, an appointment that reflects
political connections. The plum patronage position paid $1,800 annually (equivalent to approximately $37,000
today). In later years, he worked as a clerk. He still lived here with his daughter in 1914.
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Property: Carriage House Historic District

Address: , Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: Historic District

Subject 1: historic district Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This gracious, historic residential neighborhood illustrates Miles City's prosperity as it evolved from a frontier
town into the livestock, transportation, commercial, and governmental hub of eastern Montana. Businessmen
and community leaders built most of these homes between 1880 and 1890 and again from 1900 to 1915—
prosperous years sparked by the arrival of the Northern Pacific Railroad in 1881 and the Chicago, Milwaukee, St.
Paul, and Pacific Railroad in 1908. The neighborhood took shape before automobiles became common. Carriage
houses reflect construction during a pre-car era and distinguish it from other neighborhoods. Residents often
sought design assistance from architects, including Charles S. Haire, David and Brynjulf Rivenes, and Byron
Vreeland. Owners wanted stylish homes that conveyed a sense of culture, beauty, and community stability.
Queen Anne towers, stained glass, spindlework, and shingles are common in many early structures. Later, more
restrained symmetrical Colonial Revival and Renaissance elements, as well as Craftsman style features, were used.
At the height of Montana's homestead boom in the teens, Miles City was bulging with people. Allied in style and
origin, the homes of the Carriage House Historic District reflect the community pride and optimism present during
one of Miles City's most confident periods of growth.

Property: Methodist Church

Address: , Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In 1910, the Methodists hired a New York fundraising firm to raise funds for a new, larger church to replace the
1883 building. The growing congregation raised $14,000 and neighbor C. J. Wagenbreth donated the needed
capital to complete the project, providing that no bell be hung in the belfry. Wagenbreth, not wanting to be
awoken by bells, offered this deal, a steeple but no bells. Designed by the architectural firm of Woodruff and
McGulpin in 1912, the Methodist Church stands as a visual reminder of the growth of Miles City and is an
important neighborhood anchor. The building exhibits eclectic architectural influences, including Romanesque
Revival windows, crenellated Gothic battlements, and early Christian or Tudor massing. Decorative round-arched
Romanesque openings complement the bell tower and the design carries over to the main level windows. Each
opening is highlighted with painted wood mullions and cusps that form a pair of arches with circular openings
surrounded by brick. The only structure in Miles City designed by the firm, the design bears similarities to Brynjulf
Rivenes’ Presbyterian Church on Main Street.

Property: Thomas and Beulah Shore Residence
Address: 602 S. Strevell, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Armed with a degree from the Ontario Business College, Canadian-born Thomas Shore arrived in Miles City in
1896. He and former cowboy Wirt Newcom formed a partnership and opened a department store on Main Street
in 1900. The store flourished, selling everything from men’s clothing, phonographs, washing machines, and even
hay to ranchers, homesteaders, and city dwellers alike. Shore hired Beulah Chartrand as a store clerk in 1910. She
must have made a good impression since the couple married in 1914. Shore purchased this property, in what was
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then a sparsely populated neighborhood, as a wedding gift. Soon after their marriage, Beulah and Miles City
contractor Fred Clearman collaborated to design and construct this beautiful Bungalow style home. Bungalows
gained popularity in the early twentieth century based on the idea that “simplicity and artistry could harmonize in
one affordable house.” Features such as a simple floor plan without hallways, interior built-in cabinetry and
bookcases, and a natural exterior made bungalows affordable and appealing to middle-class home buyers.
Stylistic details include clipped gable dormers, ribbons of windows with multi-light upper panes, and flared eaves
and exposed rafters with scrolled ends. Landscaping with trees and shrubs reinforced the “back-to-nature” dictum
of the Bungalow style. The house was an appropriate symbol of Shore’s continued status and success. In 1923, he
bought out Newcom’s interest, reorganized the store to sell clothing, and renamed it Shore’s. This residence
remained in the Shore family until 1972.

Property: Methodist Church

Address: , Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Property: Jackson Block

Address: 808 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Miles City Main Street Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The Jackson Block’s spare fagade bears witness to those watchwords of modern architecture, “form follows
function.” The two-story building suggests ways that urban architectural trends were translated and adapted in
small communities. Its main decoration derives from the pattern created by its windows; in this, the 1909
commercial block echoes the emphasis found in turn-of-the-century “Chicago-style” skyscrapers on “light, space,
air, and strength” rather than ornamentation. Miles City architect Brynjulf Rivenes designed the surprisingly
modern building for entrepreneur W. C. Jackson, a confectioner who owned a shop at 613 Main. With fellow
Miles City businessman Ed Arnold, Jackson also invested in the next-door Arnold Block. Built in 1913, it matched
the lines of the Jackson Block, and doorways connected the buildings on the second floor. From Jackson Block
storefronts merchants sold pianos, office equipment, clothing, and dry goods. Second-floor tenants included
Brynjulf Rivenes and the Montana Institute, a private school that offered both day and night classes in automobile
engineering, bookkeeping, stenography, and penmanship.

Property: John and Anna Gibb House

Address: 903 Pleasant, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Complex rooflines and decorative details define this wood-frame residence. Particularly noteworthy are the
ornamental bargeboards fastened to the roofline and the unique bull’s-eye pattern decorating the front gable.
Other details include windows decorated by wooden sashes (muntins) laid in a diamond pattern and fish scale
shingles in the porch roof pediment. The elegant residence was built between 1894 and 1904, possibly by John
and Anna Gibb, who purchased the lot in 1903 from sheepman J. W. Pope. The Gibbs arrived in Miles City in 1882.
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A lawyer, coal merchant, insurance agent, and real estate and livestock salesman, John Gibbs also served as
Custer County sheriff and Justice of the Peace. Originally, the deed to the home was in Anna’s name. Under
certain circumstances, married women’s property was protected from their husbands’ creditors, and families used
this fact to protect their assets. Anna transferred the title to John in 1909, and in 1915, they hired builder Mel
Paddock to construct an addition on the residence’s east side. The couple remained in residence in 1920. John
died at age seventy-seven in 1921; Anna died two years later.

Property: Emmanuel Episcopal Church

Address: 204 N 11th, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

An eclectic blend of Romanesque, Gothic, and Queen Anne architectural styles, this 1886 church survives as
designer Byron Vreeland’s most significant building in Montana. Vreeland blended these styles as his architectural
signature in many of his structures. The church features a barrel-vaulted wood ceiling trimmed with California
redwood, a large Gothic style stained glass rose window in the entry gable above the canopy, and decorative brick
work in a mouse-toothed pattern along the end elevations. The only alteration has been the removal of the bell
tower. The interior features a walnut altar created from the salvaged hardwood finish of a steamboat that
wrecked on the Buffalo Rapids below town about 1880. The altar is a rare survivor of steamboat architecture in
Montana, the principal component of the “Wooden City” phase of building between 1878 and the early 1880s in
Miles City. As the only known church designed by Vreeland, the Episcopal Church has continuously served the city
for over a century and remains a unique work.

Property: Pope House
Address: 1906 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Street Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

A low-pitched hipped roof, an asymmetrical open front porch with massive square porch supports, clean lines,
and wide overhanging eaves mark the two-story Pope residence as a classic example of the Prairie style. Builder
Thomas Burton clad the residence in a new product called “Flex-O-Tile,” a substance that resembled stucco, but
was said to be “more lasting ... practically indestructible—and fireproof.” Rancher G. B. Pope had the home built
in 1917, and in 1920 his twenty-two-year-old son James, James’s twenty-three-year-old wife Helen, and James's
nineteen-year-old sister Frances all shared the residence. Banker and businessman Karl Johnson purchased the
home from the Popes, but by 1930 he had sold it to John Johnson. An auto dealer and mechanic, Johnson
strategically located his business on the Yellowstone Trail (the tourist route from St. Paul, Minnesota, to
Yellowstone National Park). Not surprisingly, John was responsible for construction of the two-car garage behind
the house. He and his wife Jacqueline lived here into the 1970s.

Property: Ulmer House

Address: 1003 Pleasant, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The elegance of this magnificent Neoclassical style mansion belies the humble roots of its first owner, George H.
Ulmer, the Pennsylvania-born son of a German immigrant. Ulmer came to Miles City in 1883, and by 1889
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partners George Miles and Charles Strevell had added Ulmer’s name to their pioneer hardware firm. It became
the largest hardware company in southeastern Montana. Helena-based architect Charles S. Haire designed the
home for Ulmer and his wife, Flora, in 1902. Haire, whose talents contributed much to the local streetscape, was
at that time frequently in Miles City supervising the design and construction of the Carnegie Library and the
Ursuline Convent. These and the Ulmer residence showcase the architect’s fluency in the Neoclassical style.
Haire’s design of this residence helped inspire a new trend in Miles City’s domestic architecture. A grand
semicircular entry porch, lonic columns, Palladian windows, and a central pediment with an inset lunette are
elements characteristic of the style. Very fine detailing includes molded pilasters, a carved wreath above the main
entry, paneled oak doors, and beveled glass.

Property: Dr. Gray Residence

Address: 2019 Main, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A sophisticated blend of Classical elements characterizes this intimately elegant residence that, despite its modest
size, easily rivals the district’s grander “high style” homes. Built in 1907, the residence was then “out in the
country,” its urbane design foreshadowing the district’s impending growth. Renowned Montana architect Charles
S. Haire drew the plans for prominent local physician Dr. Francis Gray, who was a charter staff member of Holy
Rosary Hospital and served as county coroner. A pedimented porch with simple Tuscan columns and paneled
balustrade defines the Classical Revival style. Exquisite oak trim, windowseats, and a columned archway grace the
well-appointed interior.

Property: Miles City Water Works
Address: Pumping Plant Road, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Building Type: structure
Subject 1: power plants Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Incorporated in 1887, eleven-year-old Miles City had grown to serve first the Tongue River Cantonment
(established just after the Battle of the Little Bighorn) and then Fort Keogh. Wells within the town were the
original water source and, later, water was drawn from the Tongue River. By 1909, this supply proved inadequate,
and the City Council voted to fund and secure an additional water plant. A bond issue passed the next year, but it
took an Act of Congress in 1911 to allow Miles City to locate, construct, maintain, and operate a pumping station
upon Fort Keogh property, supplying the city with water from the Yellowstone River. From December 1911 until
1974, this plant operated. The original 1911 equipment is still in place, from filter regulatory consoles to marble-
topped oak cabinets. In 1974, the Custer County Art and Heritage Center leased the building and the tanks to the
east, remodeling the tanks into art gallery and office and workshop spaces. The surrounding park long has been a
popular picnic and performance area.

Property: Furstnow House

Address: 1010 Pleasant Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Born in Wisconsin, Al Furstnow settled permanently in Miles City in 1894 and became the major saddler in the



MT NATIONAL REGISTER SIGN TEXT 1990 TO APRIL 2019

northwest. In 1895, Furstnow commissioned Byron Vreeland to build this Queen Anne style home, unusual
because the architect usually designed in brick. The previous year Furstnow opened Al Furstnow’s Saddle Shop on
Main Street in a Vreeland-designed building. Credited with making the first flower hand-stamped saddles in Miles
City for Britain’s Lord Sidney Paget, Furstnow outfitted Leigh Remington of Remington Arms and Buffalo Bill’s Wild
West Show for their Paris exhibition. The bay window heads are embellished with carved medallions in a motif
that is continued throughout the interior. The residence retains the original tall ceilings and detailing, including a
fan-trimmed arch and four brass and stained-glass chandeliers, one being in the form of a British Crown.
Remodeling in 1910 modernized the house with Craftsman details to reflect Miles City’s financial status during the
homestead boom. The home remained in the Furstnow family until the late 1980s.

Property: Holy Rosary Hospital
Address: 310 North Jordan, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: hospitals (buildings for health facility) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

A converted two-story house served as the county hospital in 1907, a year before the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul
and Pacific Railroad arrived in Miles City. With encouragement from the railroad, which needed a place to treat
injured workers, the county decided to build a larger facility. The architectural firm of Link and Haire designed the
thirty-five-bed hospital circa 1910. The building's trussed porticos reflect the era's popular Craftsman style. Its
hipped roof and distinctive curvilinear parapet evoke the Mission style. Inspired by the Spanish missions, which
were an important source of medical care in the early Southwest, the style was a popular choice for hospitals.
Other Mission style hospital buildings include ones built in Helena and Missoula during the same era. The
Presentation Sisters of Aberdeen, South Dakota, assumed management of the hospital shortly after its
completion. Originally a teaching order, the Presentation Sisters entered nursing after a 1900 diphtheria
epidemic, establishing hospitals in Aberdeen, Mitchell, and Sioux Falls, South Dakota, as well as in Miles City. As
did other Presentation hospitals, Holy Rosary offered a nursing certificate within a year of its opening. The 1918
influenza epidemic increased support for the hospital, allowing the sisters, who had purchased the building from
the county in 1919, to expand their operation. Link and Haire designed the compatible, flat-roofed annex. Built in
1922, it boasted modern medical and surgical units and increased the number of available beds to eighty-five. The
Presentation Sisters managed the hospital through drought, depression, and war, before constructing a new
hospital in 1948.

Property: Fort Keogh Historic District

Address: Historic District, , Custer

Historic District: Fort Keogh Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: military buildings

Sign Text:

The New Deal’s National Recovery Administration provided funds for the construction of several significant
buildings at the fort in the 1930s. These included a dairy barn, milk house, cattle sheds, and this large horse barn.
Designed and built in 1934 by the U.S. Bureau of Animal Husbandry at a cost of more than $13,000, the sprawling
frame building featured a clerestory roof with overhead storage loft, seven box stalls, and twenty-five double-tie
stalls. The barn served the Morgan, Belgian, and Thoroughbred horse-breeding research program, which included
studies on feeding, breeding, and reproduction. Early equine research at Fort Keogh helped develop successful
semen collection procedures and modern artificial insemination techniques for horses. The horse research
program ended in 1964. The barn has since accommodated beef cattle research programs focusing on
reproductive physiology studies. Although the interior has undergone considerable renovation, it has always
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served as the Fort Keogh working cowboys’ headquarters. The first lights turned on in the early morning are
almost always those in the “horse” barn as the cowboys arrive for work.

Property: Dr. Redd's Brick Building

Address: 510 Main St, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Dr. Robert G. Redd served as an army surgeon at Fort Keogh in the 1870s. Redd resigned in 1881 to assume a
private practice. He served as county physician, coroner, and surgeon for the Northern Pacific Railroad as well as
mayor from 1889 to 1900. He commissioned architect Byron Vreeland to design a two-story permanent building
for his drug store. Henry C. Smith—mayor from 1911 to 1913—purchased the edifice in 1908 and contracted with
city engineer Grover C. Pruett to remodel the fagade in 1915. The marble and terra cotta Renaissance Revival style
of the building was rare in Miles City and Smith used it to advertise the city’s cosmopolitan attributes in the early
twentieth century. “1915” adorns a terra cotta rectangle above the windows and the entrance bears a
polychrome mosaic tile floor arranged in the image of a pocket watch. Although remodeling obliterated the
original facade, the original 1883 corbelling remains on the east side.

Property: Lukes / Love House
Address: 2302 Main, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Street Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Built for C. N. and Louise E. Lukes in 1911, the home is also known as the Ed Love House. Lukes was cashier of the
Commercial State Bank and after the deaths of C. N. and Louise in 1929, ownership passed to their daughter,
Doris Lukes Love, and her husband, Ed Love. Ed Love was a prominent businessman involved in nearly every
aspect of Miles City life. From the Horse Sales Company to homestead real estate ventures and the Love Ford
Motor Company, Love contributed to the city’s early development. However, several bankruptcies forced Love to
put the home in his wife’s name. Doris retained ownership until her death in 1967. Their daughters, Margaret and
Dorie Lou, sold the home in 1972 upon Love’s death. Typical of Main Street homes from 1910 to 1920, the house
is a high style Craftsman type, with expensive departures from the norm that make the home stand out. Later
remodeling efforts produced the enclosed porch.

Property: First Presbyterian Church

Address: 1401 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

While Butte’s personality was taking shape in the form of impressive commercial buildings, the construction of
five major churches in little more than two decades added grace and eloquence to the city’s demeanor. The
Presbyterians, organized in Butte in 1878, commissioned the town’s most prominent architect, H. M. Patterson, to
design their new church. Patterson, whose style left an indelible print on Butte’s streetscape, completed the
building in 1896. The wood-frame construction with brick veneer is enhanced by a square tower, double arched
doors, and an elaborate stained glass window set in Gothic arches.
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Property: Horse Barn

Address: 243 Fort Keogh Road, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Fort Keogh Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: barns Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The New Deal’s National Recovery Administration provided funds for the construction of several significant
buildings at the fort in the 1930s. These included a dairy barn, milk house, cattle sheds, and this large horse barn.
Designed and built in 1934 by the U.S. Bureau of Animal Husbandry at a cost of more than $13,000, the sprawling
frame building featured a clerestory roof with overhead storage loft, seven box stalls, and twenty-five double-tie
stalls. The barn served the Morgan, Belgian, and Thoroughbred horse-breeding research program, which included
studies on feeding, breeding, and reproduction. Early equine research at Fort Keogh helped develop successful
semen collection procedures and modern artificial insemination techniques for horses. The horse research
program ended in 1964. The barn has since accommodated beef cattle research programs focusing on
reproductive physiology studies. Although the interior has undergone considerable renovation, it has always
served as the Fort Keogh working cowboys’ headquarters. The first lights turned on in the early morning are
almost always those in the “horse” barn as the cowboys arrive for work.

Property: First Presbyterian Church

Address: 1401 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Charter members George and Helen Miles bestowed this land on the church in 1882. Since that time the First
Presbyterian Church has occupied this space. Church trustees met in 1911 to discuss the construction of a larger
$30,000-540,000 church. Pastor Reverend J. Forsythe Smith reasoned that a new house of worship would
“provide better social advantages, better intellectual advantages, and better moral and spiritual advantages.” In
addition to a larger worship space, the modern facility would include a Sunday school and choir room. Architect
Brynjulf Rivenes designed the concrete and brick edifice on the same site as the old church, which was sold and
relocated to face North Prairie. Western Granite and Marble Works of Miles City donated the cornerstone, laid on
November 26, 1914. C. N. Strevell gifted the main stained glass window fronting Montana Avenue. The oak
finished, 871-pipe Estry organ was specially designed to fit the organ chamber. Dedicated in 1917, this impressive
Gothic Revival Style church conveys a sense of stability and permanence.

Property: Water Wagon Shed

Address: 243 Fort Keogh Road, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Fort Keogh Building Type: structure | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Hundreds of military and civilian residents at Fort Keogh made the fort’s water supply a primary concern. By 1879,
two thousand feet of pipe had been laid and seven cisterns installed. A converted boiler pumped water from the
Yellowstone River for the fort’s domestic use. After the initial building period from 1877 to 1880, frame and brick
buildings began to replace the original log structures. This hipped-roof brick shed, constructed during the second
building phase in October 1883, is the fort’s oldest surviving building. Its arched window openings and lack of
ornamentation reflect the fort’s early architecture and the building’s utilitarian function: to house the heavy
water wagon. A team of three mules pulled the wagon that delivered water, stored in wooden barrels, to Fort
Keogh residents two or three times each week. Several days’ water supply was then stored in individual oak
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barrels. In 1934, New Deal monies were used to convert the shed to a truck garage. Later, the building housed
firefighting and fencing equipment. The building was completely restored in 2004 in accordance with Federal
Historical Preservation guidelines at a cost of $125,000.

Property: Graves Funeral Home

Address: 1717 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Miles City East Main Street Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: funeral homes Subject 2: residential structures

Sign Text:

Cabinet and furniture makers also made caskets, and so the two businesses often went hand in hand. Furniture
dealer James E. Graves purchased H. C. Plimpton’s long-established furniture and undertaking business in the
1920s. In 1929, Graves moved the mortuary end of his business to this newly constructed facility. Casper Strom, a
prolific architect then new to the community, designed the striking Mission style building. Graves likely chose the
style. Although unusual for Strom, it is one of his most successful accomplishments. The balanced fagade features
arches, porticos, curved parapets, and a decorative urn and pendants. These elements, reminiscent of a mission
church, are visually appropriate for the building’s function. The combination funeral home and upstairs
apartments also blends well with the character of the neighborhood. The spacious, formally landscaped lawn,
then as now, adds to the residential ambience. The upstairs apartments accommodated nine households
including the owners, their employees, and in 1930, county superintendent of schools Jessie McCoy. The business
has changed hands several times since the 1930s, but the building retains its historic integrity and associated use.

Property: 1005 Palmer

Address: 1005 Palmer, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Carriage HouseBuilding Type:

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

E. H. Johnson, state legislator and Miles City’s first mayor, built this impressive modified Queen Anne style home
in 1887. Attributed to Miles City architect Byron Vreeland, the irregular plan originally featured an elaborate
arched porch and an elliptical bay capped by a conical roof. Rancher William Harmon, the home’s second owner,
built the carriage house in 1891. Third owner Senator Kenneth McLean, following current architectural trends,
added Neo-classical details and a wraparound veranda between 1903 and 1910. Ella M. and David G. Rivenes
purchased the property in 1962.

Property: Anderson Bungalow

Address: 2119 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Real estate speculation abounded in the East Main district when carpenter Ernest Anderson built this lovely one-
and-a-half-story bungalow in 1916. Its large front porch, supported by heavy, tapered columns, and its low-
pitched roofs with overhanging eaves and triangular braces clearly mark this house as a Craftsman style
bungalow, one of the most fashionable house styles during this period. Anderson probably never intended this
house for his own home; rather, he saw it as an investment and an advertisement of his carpentering skills. From
1918 to 1928 the bungalow was used as rental property. Its tenants included Charles D. Jones, general manager of
the Yellowstone Lumber Company. Some time before 1928, when it was sold to Harmon Bright, then vice
president of First National Bank, and his wife Mary, the bungalow’s characteristic open front and side porches
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were enclosed and a breezeway was built, connecting the house to a new garage. These alterations did nothing to
reduce the residence’s charm or its ability to link the Miles City of today with the boomtown of the early 1900s.

Property: Shore-Newcom Building

Address: 700 Block of Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: building contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The Shore-Newcom Store opened in 1900 in the Foster Building at 701 Main. Owned and operated by Thomas
Shore and Wirt H. Newcom, the store handled mercantile goods. They moved to 709 Main in 1905, and upon the
completion of this structure in 1914, the store expanded next door to include gentlemen’s and ladies’ ready-to-
wear. By 1922, the company had grown into the third largest general merchandise business in the state. The
partnership dissolved in 1922 but Shore remained involved in the venture. The Shore family continued operating a
department store late into the twentieth century. Shore and Newcom, like building owner George Miles, were
typical of Miles City businessmen who wanted to display their confidence in the city’s future through progressive
and sophisticated buildings. Construction here represented a visible symbol of the partnership’s success as well as
the city’s. Architecturally, the building is an outstanding example of the Renaissance Revival style's streamlined
appearance. One of the best surviving examples in Miles City, the building and its simple lines reflect the desire
for a modern business district.

Property: Kenney Block (Montana Saloon)

Address: 612 Main, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Miles City Main Street Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: saloons (bars) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This popular gathering place, one of Miles City’s oldest established businesses, has been proclaimed by
connoisseurs the perfect bar. Originally a saloon (1893), then a fine saddlery (1900-1907), businessman James
Kenney purchased the property in 1908 to house his Montana Saloon. Architect Brynjulf Rivenes designed the
1913 Renaissance Revival style facade and the double structure was renamed the Kenney Block. The spacious
saloon, occupying half the ground-floor space, features one of the state’s best preserved historic interiors. The
original pressed tin ceiling, three-pillared back bar, mosaic floor tiles, paddle fans, leather booths, wooden cooler,
and leaded glass (with vintage bullet hole) invite a journey into Montana’s colorful past.

Property: Ismay Jail
Address: Jailhouse Road, Ismay, Custer

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: jails (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Ismay’s bustling business, wicked ways, and itinerant population of cowboys and railroad men earned it the
nickname “Little Chicago.” This town, born with the construction of the Milwaukee Road across Montana, began
in 1908 with the name of Burt. Burt became Ismay a few months later, taking its new name from Isabelle and
Maybelle, daughters of railroad official George Peck. At the start of the heady settlement boom of the 1910s,
Ismay had need of a deterrent for its rougher element. Bids were taken for construction of a local jail and W. T.
Perham won the contract for $676. The utilitarian brick jail, of squat and sturdy construction with small windows
and iron bars, was built in 1910. This type of lock-up was once common in rural settlements. Over the years, the
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building largely accommodated rowdies who overindulged at local saloons and served as a holding facility for
prisoners awaiting transport to the county jail at Miles City. It is the only public building that remains from Ismay’s
early period. Today the community is Montana’s smallest incorporated town, and in 1993 its twenty-two
residents took an unprecedented gamble. In a public relations stroke of genius that won national attention, Ismay
conditionally changed its name to Joe in honor of football player Joe Montana. This entrepreneurial enterprise
netted enough capital to build a new fire hall, acquire a fire truck, and restore the jail. It stands today as a
reminder of the times when Ismay was the “Little Chicago” of the West.

Property: East Main Street Historic District
Address: Historic District, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Street Building Type: district
Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: residential structures
Sign Text:

The development of this elegant residential neighborhood reflects Miles City's second growth spurt in the early
twentieth century. Although the population of this "cowtown" waned between 1890 and 1905, the advent of the
Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railroad in 1908 and the 1909 Enlarged Homestead Act brought a resurgence of
energy and an influx of new residents. The need for more housing generated a construction boom, lasting into the
1920s, which focused upon this heretofore unimproved area. Speculators, contractors, and homebuilders favored
this quieter area where individualism could be expressed through architecture. Sweeping lawns and streets lined
with elm, cottonwood, and green ash trees complement the cottages and foursquares in Craftsman, Prairie,
Mission, and Classical Revival styles that unify this dignified neighborhood. Occasional Queen Anne, Dutch
Colonial Revival, and other styles add a pleasing diversity. Plan books offered contractors and builders like Carl
Anderson, O. M. Lanphear, and N. P. Nelson stylish and less expensive designs for potential homeowners. Even so,
the district embraces many of the area's most architecturally significant homes, revealing the talents of such
prominent architects as Charles S. Haire, Brynjulf Rivenes, and Casper Strom. It is this unique blending of styles
and craftsmen that conveys the prosperity, optimism, and importance of Miles City during this period of
expansion.

Property: Foster House

Address: 1912 Main, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This American foursquare style home appears to have been designed by prominent architect Brynjulf Rivenes.
Built between 1910 and 1914 for businessman George Foster, its compact simplicity is an elegant, individual
statement of the prosperity Miles City enjoyed in the early twentieth century. The home features a blending of
the newest Craftsman and Prairie styles then originating in Chicago and was included in Buchanan’s 1911 booster
book, Seeing Miles City.

Property: Commercial Block

Address: 511 Main Street, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)

Sign Text:

The I. Orschel and Brothers clothing firm first located on this site in 1878 in a small wood-frame building.
Following a disastrous fire that leveled much of the block, local businessmen formed a syndicate to build this four-
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part commercial building designed by Byron Vreeland, Miles City’s first resident architect. Completed in the fall of
1885, John Carter’s Saloon (509), I. Orschel and Brothers Clothing Store (511), Miles and Strevell’s Hardware (513),
and Basinski Brothers (515) were the original occupants. The combination of Romanesque, Gothic Revival, and
Queen Anne style detailing carries Vreeland’s architectural signature. Although the parapets and towers that
originally graced the roofline have long been removed, the brownstone windowsills, polychrome tile, soft brick,
and cast iron columns survive. The Orschels’ landmark business catered to local cowboys at this location until
1940. The brothers let cowboys keep their trunks on the upper floor until they came to town to change clothes.
Inside, the original tin ceiling remains intact.

Property: Remount Depot Mess Hall

Address: 243 Fort Keogh Road, Miles City, Custer

Historic District: Fort Keogh Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Breaking and training thousands of horses at Fort Keogh for the U.S. military and Allied French and British forces
was crucial during World War | because of the military’s reliance on horse-drawn transportation. This two-story
mess hall served employees and civilian cowboys who worked on the ranch. Constructed in 1920 near the end of
Fort Keogh’s days as a Remount Station at a cost of $15,000, the wood-frame building featured many windows,
high ceilings, hot water, steam heat, and electric lights. The main floor originally had five rooms and the basement
three rooms. Records show that the basement housed the heating plant and storage for coal and the commissary.
In 1924, ownership of the fort transferred to the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Bureau of Animal Husbandry, by
an act of Congress. The mess hall was subsequently remodeled to serve as the USDA administrative headquarters.
It served in that capacity until the construction of a new administrative building in 1970. Today, the building
serves as a storage area and carpenter’s shop.

Property: First Christian Church

Address: , Miles City, Custer

Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Accompanied by popular singing evangelist C. M. Ridenour of Fort Benton, J. S. Raum preached the Christian
Church’s first service in Miles City in 1910. Forty-four people attended. Early church membership was diverse,
including a successful attorney, railroad workers, and their families. Eight ministers served the church in its first
seven years, when services were held in a building on the corner of Pearl and South Center. In 1917, the
congregation purchased lots on Main and Lake, but World War | delayed construction. Years of drought and
depressed commodity prices defined the 1920s, hurting the community and by extension the congregation. The
one-story, Craftsman style church, designed by Brynjulf Rivenes, Miles City’s most prominent architect, was finally
built in 1928. The balanced, but simple, design features nesting gables and an arched entrance, accented with red
brick tile. Bruce Bergeson constructed the 1955 rear addition. The building has housed businesses since the
congregation sold it in 2001, but some reminders of its original function remain, including a pew, the baptismal
font (now covered), and the buzzer that called Sunday School children to the service.

Property: Ed and Doris Love House
Address: 2315 Main Street, Miles City, Custer
Historic District: East Main Residential Building Type: building | contributing
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Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Wealthy Miles City residents looked to the undeveloped area east of the Northern Pacific tracks to build their
homes in the early twentieth century. Among them were Ed and Doris Love who had this Prairie Style home
constructed in 1916. Its bands of door height windows, wide overhanging eaves, low-pitched hipped roof,
asymmetrical design, and overall horizontal emphasis reflect the influence of architect Frank Lloyd Wright, father
of the Prairie style. According to the blueprints, St. Louis architect George L. Wageley designed this home; like
many architects, Wageley produced standardized house plans (this was #187) that local contractors then adapted
to specific sites. Interestingly, an advertisement in the March 1916 Ladies Home Journal featured a residence with
a very similar design to this one. The Loves lived here until 1926 when they moved kitty-corner into Doris’s family
home. Later owners made very few changes to the residence. The home’s interior still boasts its original built-ins,
massive fireplace, hardwood floors, light fixtures, and beveled glass French doors.

Property: Daniels County Courthouse
Address: 213 Main St, Scobey, Daniels County

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2: county courthouses
Sign Text:

The settlement of Old Scobey relocated here from the Poplar River flats to greet the approaching Great Northern
Railway branch line in 1913. By the time the first train arrived on Thanksgiving Day, the two-story Commercial
Hotel—today the south half of the courthouse—was the new townsite’s largest building. It served passengers and
visitors until 1915 when Minnie “One-Eyed Molly” Wakefield arrived from Kansas City to purchase the building.
Molly expanded the hotel to include gambling and live entertainment. She and her sons kept pit bulls for fighting
staked between her hotel and the Tallman Hotel next door. In addition to drinking, gambling, and dog fighting,
women were a main attraction. Much of the hotel’s first floor was devoted to this pursuit while a large sleeping
room upstairs accommodated legitimate overnight guests. Molly left town in 1917 when Prohibition and federal
closure of red-light establishments put a damper on her business. In 1920, voters chose Scobey 964 to 358 over
Madoc as the seat of newly designated Daniels County. County officials purchased the hotel and remodeled the
interior. In 1927, an addition on the north doubled the space, preserving and extending the original false front.
The Western False Front architectural style, once common across Montana, gave young communities like Scobey
the look of instant prosperity. The upper porch was long used as a speaking platform for governors, senators, and
visiting dignitaries. Painted a crisp white, the building is Montana’s last functioning false-front frame courthouse
and perhaps the West’s only bordello converted to government use.

Property: Beasley Block

Address: 301 N. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Between 1900 and 1910, Glendive’s population doubled to 2,448 and the small settlement had begun its
transformation from a one-stop cowtown to a more sophisticated city, where residents could stroll on cement
sidewalks and tap into a brand-new water system. Charles Krug, a prominent local rancher and businessman, built
this investment property in 1910 as Glendive stood on the brink of its greatest prosperity. The Glendive
Independent reported in October of that year that a new drug store, “modern in all respects,” would occupy one
of the nine commercial spaces that realtor George Beasley had leased from Krug. Brick and concrete document
the additions which, by 1929, extended along the back of the building. Tenants included a jeweler, a tailor, and a
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milliner as well as a restaurant, a drug store, and a variety store. Newer brick, doors, and windows have
modernized its appearance, but the block is significant today for its long association with the Krug family and as a
representative of this prosperous era.

Property: Chamber of Commerce

Address: 200 N. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: assembly halls Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Early Glendive businessmen took great pride in their town, so when the Glendive Independent reported in 1911
that the rival town of Sidney was “putting on metropolitan airs,” merchants rose to the competition by forming
committees and promotion groups. They formally organized as the Glendive Chamber of Commerce in 1914 with
Frank Hughes as president, E. A. Shabel as vice president, and R. H. Watson as treasurer. The group hired C. A.
Rasmussen as paid secretary and built this building circa 1915 on land owned by the Northern Pacific Railroad.
The one-story frame building reflects both the heightened activity of the homestead boom during the 1910s and
the local significance of the railroad. Contemporary with much of Glendive’s historic architecture, this small
ambassador first stood to the northeast facing the tracks and in front of the yard master’s office. By 1929, it had
been moved to the present location where it continues to represent the Glendive Chamber of Commerce,
cordially welcoming visitors.

Property: Charles Krug House
Address: 103 W. Douglas, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Rancher and banker Charles Krug came west from Ohio in 1878, searching for opportunity and a climate to relieve
his sister Emma’s asthma. In 1881, he and Emma settled in Glendive where she was a seamstress and he worked
for the railroad. Krug built a herd of five hundred cattle, adding one or two head every payday. After the winter of
1886-87 claimed nearly all his livestock, he started over and eventually acquired 34,000 acres of land, 25,000
sheep, and 1,000 head of cattle. In 1900, at the age of fifty-five, Krug married Annie Ketcham, mother of two
young daughters. Together they had five more children. In 1906, St. Louis architect Herbert C. Chivers built this
twenty-five room Neo-classical style home for the Krug family. Constructed of glazed Hebron brick expertly laid by
Michigan masons, Chivers’ own artisans crafted the elaborate details. The interior was handsomely finished in
guartersawn oak with elaborate stairways, porcelain-tiled fireplaces, and beautifully carved columns. In the
economically disastrous 1920s, when many rural banks were ruined by customers’ panic-driven withdrawals, Krug
was president of the Merchant’s National Bank. He and Exchange Bank president Henry Dion agreed to help each
other through the hard times. Krug, known as a man of his word, averted a run on his bank when he vowed
publicly to use every penny he had to keep his bank solvent, if he had to leave town as broke as he arrived. All
four Glendive banks survived.

Property: Merrill Avenue Historic District

Address: Historic District, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type:

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Glendive took root as a steamboat landing on the Yellowstone River and as a railroad center in the middle of
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prime stock country. When the Northern Pacific reached Glendive in 1881, its first cars transported buffalo hides
and bones back to the “states” and river travel became a thing of the past. Soon countless head of cattle were
unloaded at Glendive, filling Montana’s empty prairies. Sheep and cattle ranchers enthusiastically promoted the
region’s grazing lands and the town’s business opportunities grew when it was designated county seat. The
Glendive Times encouraged newcomers, even promising single women “...a ‘right smart’ chance to catch on to
husbands.” By 1884 the town supported three hotels, several churches, a school, a courthouse, at least ten
saloons, and a variety of other commercial enterprises. A calamitous fire in 1886 destroyed thirteen businesses,
but the spirited community rebuilt in more substantial brick. A few buildings, like the Italianate style Masonic
Temple, reflect this early period. Dryland farming and homesteaders in the early 1900s had a profound impact on
Glendive’s economy. The 1914 Neo-classical style city hall designed by influential Miles City architect Brynulf
Rivenes and the 1922 Prairie style depot that anchor the district’s opposite ends well illustrate this prosperous
era. Although railroad-related warehouses, grain elevators, and lumberyards no longer line Merrill Avenue’s
southeast side, this six-block district represents the years from 1886 to 1930 and tells the story of ranching,
railroading, and farming in eastern Montana.

Property: Glendive City Water Filtration Plant
Address: 420 West Bell, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Building Type: structure
Subject 1: filtration plants Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The muddy waters of the Yellowstone River, delivered in wooden barrels for twenty-five cents each, served
Glendive’s early residents. The red flags signaling which households wanted delivery were sometimes
misinterpreted by visitors as a sign of quarantine. Construction of a water and filtration system was therefore a
topic of major interest to the early community. After several decades of intense debate, city incorporation in 1902
allowed bond elections that could ultimately fund such a filtration project. A $50,000 bond issue passed in 1905,
providing for construction of a pump station, wooden water mains, and a reservoir. The early system was only for
water distribution, and it was yet another decade before bonds financed $130,000 for a filtration plant. The City
of Glendive commissioned the Northwood Engineering Company of Florence, Massachusetts, to construct the
one-story front section which was completed in 1917. A two-story brick addition following the original design was
added at the rear in 1923 and the state’s first water softening system, designed by city engineer C. W. Eyer, was
installed in 1934. Expansion and modernization of the plant occurred in 1941 and 1960, but the original sections
of the building remain in use. They represent the most controversial, expensive, and far-reaching project
undertaken by Glendive’s early citizens.

Property: 107 West Bell Street

Address: 107 West Bell Street, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Contractor John Holm constructed this small two-story building for the Dion family in 1929 after he had
remodeled the Dion Block on one side and built the J.C. Penney Building on the other. This final addition to the
five-building Dion Block shares walls with both its neighbors. The simple design is an excellent expression of the
more subdued commercial styles of this later period and complements the architecture of its neighbors. Holm,
who came to Glendive in 1906 from Norway, contributed substantially over several decades to the local
residential and commercial streetscapes. Harold Wester’s electrical contracting business and appliance outlet was
one of the first main-floor tenants, followed by Prefer Millinery in the 1930s. Dr. A. A. Baker, a former Glendive
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mayor and state senator, practiced general dentistry upstairs. Over the years, the Dions modernized their five
buildings. Improvements have included new electrical, heating, and air conditioning systems. An addition with a
basement enlarged this building in 1970.

Property: First Methodist Episcopal Church and Parsonage
Address: Kendrick & Towne Streets, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Noted Miles City architect Brynjulf Rivenes designed this splendid English Gothic style church in 1909. Constructed
under Pastor T. S. Leland during intense community growth brought about by homestead settlement, the building
replaced the smaller Methodist Episcopal Church built in 1883 at Mann and Pearson Streets. Now the Glendive
United Methodist Church, this architectural landmark features a crenelated bell tower, doors and windows with
pointed arches, and fine polychromatic brick detailing. The Craftsman style parsonage, with its flared gable roof
and open front arched porch, was added in 1913. The church and its parsonage were listed in the National
Register of Historic Places in 1988.

Property: Henry Dion Building

Address: 106-108 S. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: apartments

Sign Text:

Fancy arches and other fine detailing highlight the facade of this commercial building, constructed as an
investment in 1905 by pioneer Henry Dion. The outer walls are of softer, locally produced “Glendive brick” while
quality imported brick covers the facade. In 1907, during Dion’s term as mayor, Glendive’s first water plant was
constructed and water was piped to users in wooden mains. Dion constructed a two-story frame addition,
providing his commercial and residential tenants with running water and bathroom facilities. Historic maps show
the post office and a print shop, equipped with a noisy “hit-and-miss” one-cylinder gasoline engine, as the original
first-floor tenets. William Ryan operated a saloon here in 1912 and during the 1920s, this was Lee’s Pool Hall.
Many a youngster received his first haircut on the raised platform in Lee’s front corner barbershop. Frederic Dion,
later owner of the five family buildings in this block, remembers it as a “frightening experience.”

Property: Dion Brothers Building

Address: 110 S. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: apartments

Sign Text:

Henry Dion built this brick building circa 1894 to expand his mercantile business. In 1908, he sold it to his two
eldest sons, Harry N. and Fred. The brothers enlarged the original one-story building in 1910, adding a second
story with apartments and a new facade. The four original shops were converted to one large general
merchandise store that catered to the homesteaders then pouring into Dawson County. The business included an
International Harvester farm equipment outlet across the street. The brothers, who themselves had a ranch on
Belle Prairie, stocked everything imaginable from a spool of thread to a team of horses. Smaller purchases,
wrapped with paper and tied with string, had to be secure enough to be carried many miles on horseback. Miles
City architect Brynjulf Rivenes designed the stunning Neoclassical style facade, which features extensive brick and
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sandstone detailing. Note the “Dion Bros.” inscription and decorative lions’ heads, perhaps a reminder that the
French-Canadian name, Dion, was Americanized to rhyme with lion.

Property: Bell Street Bridge
Address: West Bell Street, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: bridges (built works) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Northern Pacific Railroad platted the townsite of Glendive in 1882 against the arid Montana “badlands.” The
location was an ideal supply and distribution center since it was where the railroad first met the Yellowstone
River, but Glendive looked to ranchers and farmers on the river’s opposite side for economic support. After more
than a decade of debate, the county erected the first bridge at Glendive in the mid-1890s. The four-span bridge
included a swing span because the Yellowstone was still considered navigable. The bridge provided stockmen and
farmers direct access to the railroad and made stage travel to points northwest much more reliable. In 1899, the
bridge was washed out by a flood and ice jam. The Army Corps of Engineers had by then determined the
Yellowstone no longer navigable, and the bridge was rebuilt using one original span plus three new ones. It
sufficed until better technology rendered the older structure obsolete. The new bridge, constructed between
1924 and 1926 with federal aid under the auspices of the Montana State Highway Commission, consists of six
riveted Warren through trusses. This type of bridge construction is characterized by the “W” configuration made
by its diagonal members and above-roadway trusswork. At 1,352 feet, the Bell Street Bridge is one of the longest
of its kind in Montana, representing a significant engineering accomplishment and an essential part of the area’s
commercial development.

Property: Dion Building / Exchange State Bank

Address: 102/104 S. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: banks (financial institutions)

Sign Text:

Fire swept through Glendive’s wood-frame businesses in January of 1886, destroying Henry Dion’s saloon and
general merchandise, established on this corner in 1881. Dion constructed a kiln and built a more substantial fire-
resistant brick building, completed later that year. The striking Gothic style building was featured in an 1889 issue
of The Northwest Magazine. Dion’s businesses occupied the two storefronts while the Glendive Club, the center
of the town’s social life, shared upstairs space. The club opened to ladies one day a week and hosted frequent
dances in its handsome quarters. Remodeling of the building in 1929 included a new fagade of better quality brick
accented with marble and limestone panels. The original “Glendive brick” may still be seen in the elevator foyer.
Dion served as Dawson County’s first sheriff and in many other public offices. He was president of the Exchange
Bank established here in 1901 and retained presidency of the Exchange Sate Bank when it was founded in 1911.
While many financial institutions failed during the 1930s, this bank remained solvent thanks to the private funds
of its stockholders.

Property: Krug Building

Address: 202 S. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)

Sign Text:

Neoclassical style elements including pilasters with decorative capitals and an elegant bracketed cornice enliven
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the fagade of this significant building designed by Miles City architect Brynjulf Rivenes in 1910. Constructed by
Joseph Wester for wealthy Glendive rancher, businessman, and banker Charles Krug, its first tenants were a
saloon and a clothing store. The architect’s brother, Einar Rivenes, was proprietor of The Toggery, whose
advertisement claimed that “if you don’t trade here, we both lose money.” Stetson hats, Florsheim shoes, and
Chesterfield clothing made it a first-class establishment for gentlemen’s furnishings. The saloon next door at #202
had several early tenant proprietors, including David Leidahl in 1912, who owned one of the buildings in this
block. In 1941, the Glendive Masonic Lodge #31 acquired the property from Krug’s widow, Annie. Although the
ground floor has a newer brick facade and the arches along with three of the original seven windows on the
second floor have been infilled, the architectural statement of this marvelous period landmark remains
substantial.

Property: J.C. Penney Store

Address: 111 W. Bell St, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

After the death of Glendive pioneer Henry Dion in 1920, his widow and children contracted with John Holm to
construct this commercial building according to the specifications of the J.C. Penney Company. Built in 1929, the
architecture is typical of the many Penney stores built in small rural towns. Penney stores were easily identified by
their brilliant yellow tile aprons, black signs, and trim. Interior features usually included a rear sales balcony and a
front balcony for the manager’s office. The cashier’s station was connected to the various departments by a
system of trolleys, which carried the cash from each sale. High wattage incandescent fixtures, prism glass over the
display windows, and two large skylights provided ample interior lighting. This building and four others extending
east to the corner and south to 110 South Merrill Avenue are known as the Dion Block. They reflect the long
history of the Dion family in Glendive, from the town’s beginning to the present day.

Property: Leidahl Building

Address: 218 S. Merrill, Glendive, Dawson

Historic District: Merrill Avenue Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The Enlarged Homestead Act of 1909 brought thousands of settlers into Montana, particularly benefiting towns
along the Northern Pacific route. Glendive was fairly bursting with activity when this two story commercial brick
building was constructed for David Leidahl as an investment in 1912. Although the architecture is less grand that
some of Glendive’s earlier buildings, it displays fine workmanship and design characteristics typical of this busy
period. Corbelled cornices and pilasters illustrate the skills of local masons while concrete lintels and sills contrast
with the darker brick. Rudolph Becker and R. E. Wing rented the commercial space from Leidahl, who operated a
saloon in this block. Becker’s tailor shop was on the ground floor and the upstairs accommodated Wing's
photography studio. Both ran prosperous businesses here during the 1910s. VFW Post #1125 purchased the
building circa 1940, and it has since served as a meeting hall for local veterans.

Property: Sacred Heart Church

Address: 316 West Benham, Glendive, Dawson
Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

The Catholics of Glendive first organized at St. Juliana’s, a 100-seat church purchased from the Congregationalists
in 1886. After nearly forty years, they had outgrown those quarters. In 1924, architect Brynjulf Rivenes of Miles
City designed a new Catholic church, inspired by Early Italian Christian and Romanesque styles of architecture. The
two-tiered facade has twin lower arches framing double paired doors and a single upper arch framing the large
circular window. The attached square campanile tower, with hipped roof, was designed to house the 1,300-pound
bell cast for the old church in 1889 by McShane of Baltimore. Local builder John Holm won the construction bid
for $50,000, and Father Michael Webber laid the cornerstone on May 10, 1925. Skilled masons surfaced the entire
building with tan brick from Hebron, North Dakota. Complex patterns of red and tan brick highlight the facade,
side entries, and tower. On May 31, 1926, Bishop Mathias Lenihan dedicated the 500-seat church to the Sacred
Heart of Jesus. He personally donated the large window, which portrays the Sacred Heart of Jesus appearing to St.
Margaret Mary and bears the bishop’s coat-of-arms and motto, “Fides et Caritas” (Faith and Charity). The feast of
the Sacred Heart is celebrated annually in June. This plaque was erected in 1996, the seventieth anniversary year.

Property: Wills Residence
Address: 401 E. 3rd St., Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Butte-Anaconda Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Functional two-story boarding houses and small working-class homes lined the streets and alleys of Anaconda’s
east side in the early 1890s. An exception to the neighborhood’s general character was this Queen Anne style
residence. Fred and Mary Wills, who had the ornate home built in 1896, may have chosen the location for its
proximity to Fred’s bakery and grocery business. A year earlier, Fred and partner J. B. Gnose constructed the
substantial Wills and Gnose Block at 409-411 East Park, a short walk from here. If the location was not particularly
fashionable, the home certainly was. The one-and-one-half-story residence features a welcoming wraparound
porch and an enthusiastic jumble of roof shapes, including a truncated, domed tower and several gabled dormers.
A Gothic arch shades the recessed front dormer window and the semicircular arch frames the second-story
balcony. Ornamental shingles decorate the base of the tower and the second-story porch. The Wills lived here
only until 1903, when they sold the residence to prominent Anaconda builder and businessman William Weiss.
Tenants occupied the home in the 1910s and 1920s.

Property: Roundhouse and Turntable

Address: 300 W. Commercial, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Butte, Anaconda & Pacific Railway Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: roundhouses Subject 2:

Sign Text:

An artifact of the steam era, the BA and P roundhouse curves around a central turntable—a giant lazy Susan used
to direct engines into individual stalls. The fire-resistant 1893 structure boasts load-bearing walls four bricks thick.
Originally only ten stalls, the railroad doubled the building's size in 1907. The expansion reflected rising freight
traffic: engines hauled over 9,000 tons of ore daily in 1910, three times more than in 1894. The engines pulling
these loads required up to six hours a day of maintenance. They also needed to be kept under steam (locomotives
were rarely started cold.) So each night, hostlers would drive the engines into their stalls, bank their coal fires, and
perform routine maintenance. In the morning, they would break the banked fire and otherwise prepare the
engine for the day. Electric and later diesel locomotives required much less work than steam engines. In
consequence, railroad companies demolished most of the roundhouses that punctuated the tracks. Today, this is
one of the few nineteenth-century turntables and roundhouses still in use nationwide.
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Property: Washoe Theater
Address: 305 Main Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: theaters (buildings) Subject 2: commercial buildings
Sign Text:

Seattle-based theater architect B. Marcus Pinteca (1890-1971) drew the plans for this remarkable structure in
1930. However, the Depression delayed interior finishing and the $200,000 movie theater did not open until 1936.
The Washoe Theater and Radio City Music Hall in New York were the last two American theaters built in the
Nuevo Deco style, a lavish form popular for vaudeville theaters. From the street, the Washoe’s restrained brick
exterior gives little indication of the breath-taking splendor that lies beyond the etched glass doors. Designer Nat
Smythe of Hollywood created the sumptuous interior, adorning the walls and ceilings with murals. Colors of
cerulean blue, salmon, rose beige, and yellow are enhanced by abundant copper plating, silver and gold leaf, and
ornamental ironwork. Two magnificent stags are hand-painted on the blue silk plush curtain that graces the stage.
Early advertisements extolled the fine “Mirrophonic Sound” system and the large capacity auditorium that seated
1,000 movie-goers. Admission for first-run films was thirty-five cents. Today, the Washoe is one of the best
preserved theaters in the United States, with original fixtures and equipment still in place and in use. It is all the
more remarkable for its Depression-era birth, when movie theaters were built on a grand scale but no longer so
opulently furnished.

Property: 507 Chestnut

Address: 507 Chestnut, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In 1896, two frame houses nestled on the front of this lot; two cabins stood behind them. By 1903, the two small
cabins still occupied the back of the lot, but this gable-front-wing, brick-clad residence had replaced the earlier
frame homes on the street. Queen Anne details, such as turned porch supports, stained-glass panels, and fish-
scale shingles in the gable end, reflect the ready availability of mass produced architectural decoration. The home
still boasts interior period decorations as well, including ornate oak molding and a linoleum rug. Produced to look
like traditional rugs, linoleum rugs offered comfort, cleanliness, and durability at an affordable price. Like many
Goosetown homes, this residence originally housed immigrant smelter workers. In 1900, laborer Frank Zusek and
his wife Josephine rented the house, where they lived with their nine-year-old daughter and two lodgers, who
also worked at the smelter. Both the family and lodgers emigrated from Austria, which then encompassed a large
swath of Europe, including present-day Croatia and the Czech Republic. An Irish family of six lived here in 1910.

Property: 415 1/2 East Eighth Street

Address: 415 1/2 East Eighth Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Anchoring the southwestern edge of historic Goosetown, this property nestles against the foothills of the Pintler
Range. Edward J. Kelly Sr. is the earliest known occupant of the home, built circa 1900, directly on the Anaconda
city limits and the Deer Lodge County line. Kelly, born in Roscommon, Ireland, came to the United States as a
child. An ore miner by trade, he worked in Colorado where he married Margaret Sullivan, an Irish immigrant from
County Cork. The Kellys moved to Anaconda circa 1905 where Kelly was a longtime employee in the local tram
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department of the Anaconda Reduction Works. The Kellys purchased this property in 1912 and raised their four
sons here. The outbuildings where the family kept chickens, pigs, and horses attest to the rural nature of the
neighborhood. The remains of a moonshine still, no doubt a local source of illegal spirits during Prohibition, reveal
another, more clandestine, aspect of this historic property. The simple cross-gabled cottage and the house next
door have sheltered five generations of the Kelly family.

Property: Electric Light Building

Address: 101 Main, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Anaconda Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: electric power production

Sign Text:

A heavy metal cornice, cast iron columns, and a metal frieze still embellish this building, constructed in 1895. Two
cast-iron oriel windows once also graced the upper story. The Anaconda Company’s foundry produced the
decorative metal front, a prime example of the many iron fronts that once ornamented Anaconda’s business
blocks. The building, constructed by Conrad Kohrs, W. H. Gehrman, and J. M. Boardman—apparently with
Anaconda founder Marcus Daly’s backing—housed the Montana Butchering Company. Beef sold here in the early
years likely came from Daly’s Bitterroot Stock Farm and Kohrs’ Deer Lodge ranch. Though the building and
business changed hands, a butcher shop remained a prominent fixture on this corner until 1910. That year the
Anaconda Company purchased the building for its Electric Light and Railway Department, Water Department, pay
office, and medical offices. To promote the use of electricity and advertise its role in power production, the
Company illuminated the facade with a row of light bulbs, the sockets for which are still visible along the roofline.

Property: Furst Residence
Address: 1403 W 3rd St, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

New residents flooded the housing market as Anaconda’s smelter works expanded into the twentieth century and
the town began to outgrow its original perimeters. The City Council approved several new additions including this
area, annexed as the First Western Addition in 1916. Guidelines to encourage orderly development called for a
minimum dwelling value of $2,500 and a frontage of at least twenty-five feet. Prominent Willow Creek
rancher/dairy farmer John Furst purchased two adjoining lots for $875 and built this home during the winter of
1917-1918. Furst came to the United States from Alsace-Lorraine, France, in 1870, learned the trade of shoe
cobbling, and came to Butte in 1878. He operated a shoe store there until 1881 when he went into ranching. Furst
also had a local contracting business and developed commercial and residential real estate. This residence,
initially built as an investment on the west end of the addition, for many years had few neighbors. After Furst died
in 1927, his wife, Theresa, moved into town from the ranch and made her home here until 1949. The beautifully
maintained residence is an outstanding example of the Craftsman Bungalow, a style that emerged in California
and was widely promoted in the first decades of the twentieth century. Square tapered columns, wide bracketed
eaves with exposed rafter ends, triangular braced roof supports, heavy window trim and a front-gabled dormer
are defining stylistic elements. Multi-paned windows enclosing the porch, added in the 1930s, and a slightly flared
roof line enhance the cottage-like appearance of this charming home.

Property: Barich Block
Address: 420 East Park Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge
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Historic District: Anaconda Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)

Sign Text:

Austrian immigrant George Barich came to Anaconda from Butte in 1883 to work at the smelter. He later turned
to commercial business and, in 1892, commissioned builders Daniel Dwyer and John Cosgrove to construct the
first floor of this block. Barich opened a saloon in the building, which he operated until his retirement in 1910.
Dwyer and Cosgrove added the block’s second story in 1893. Its fourteen offices were soon converted to bachelor
rooms as single men flooded Anaconda’s boardinghouses during the booming 1890s. Barich came to play an
important civic role as a founder of St. Peter’s Austrian Roman Catholic Church and as agent for the North German
Lloyd Steamship Company. In this capacity he helped newly arrived Austrians find suitable housing, work at the
smelter, and the companionship of fellow immigrants. The Barich Block, now a primary element of the historic
commercial district, was independently listed on the National Register in 1983. The upper story retains its original
design, featuring fine ornamental brickwork and granite trim.

Property: City Hall
Address: 401 E Commercial, Anacoda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: city halls Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Butte had over eighty working mines and a teeming population by 1890. The resulting flurry of industrial and
commercial activity initiated a building boom, prompting Mayor Henry Mueller to oversee the construction of this
handsome three-story Richardsonian Romanesque-inspired municipal building in 1891. The tall, narrow edifice of
brick and stone features a clock tower, arched entrance, and arched windows with stained glass transoms. Butte’s
last standing example of nineteenth-century civic architecture, this noble hall served as the seat of city
government from 1891 until consolidation of city-county governments in 1977.

Property: St. Paul's Convent

Address: 601 Main, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

On May 30, 1923, the Rt. Rev. John P. Carroll, bishop of Helena, laid the cornerstone for the St. Paul’s Parochial
School. Built in the center of this block under the direction of Rev. A. R. Coopman, the school long served the
children of St. Paul’s parish. This building, completed at the same time, housed the Ursuline Sisters in charge of
the school. The ground floor contained an office, living room, large dining room, kitchen, and chapel while the
second floor was divided into ten sleeping rooms. The debt for the $115,000 school complex, built largely with
pledges from parish members, was nearly three-fourths paid when Father Coopman passed away in 1927. After
World War Il, the Ursulines withdrew and the school came under the care of the Benedictine Sisters until it closed
in the mid-1970s. The school building was razed in 1984. The convent remains as it appeared in 1923. Classical
columns, a copper-shingled roof, original plaster walls and ceilings, floors of Michigan maple, and Gothic arches
marking the chapel complement the basic American foursquare form.

Property: Washoe Brewery

Address: 1200 E. Park Avenue, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: breweries Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

An architecturally impressive landmark and gateway to Anaconda’s east side, the Washoe Brewery symbolizes the
private enterprise that flourished in this company town. The imposing Italian Renaissance-inspired brewery with
its signature corner tower is a bold reminder of an industry important to Anaconda’s residents. It also represents
an intriguing, unsolved corporate mystery. In 1904, the upstart manger/vice president of the Anaconda Brewing
Company (ABC) suddenly resigned his position to establish a rival brewery. Despite William Haltonhoff’s
resignation, he oddly remained ABC’s manager during construction of the $80,000 Washoe Brewery, completed in
August of 1905. The ABC purchased the Washoe in December for $81,000 and shut it down. The building was
subsequently long unoccupied. After Prohibition in 1933, the Washoe reopened under A. J. Tuchscherer,
producing Rocky Mountain Beer until 1955. The brewery’s boardinghouse and bottling works are now separate
properties, but the gable-front house and wagon barn remain intact. The brewery itself, little changed over time,
is of primary significance to Goosetown'’s historic neighborhoods.

Property: 509 Chestnut

Address: 509 Chestnut, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building contributing

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This simple Victorian cottage well represents Goosetown’s working-class character. Built between 1891 and 1895,
the house sheltered smelter workers and their families. Like many Goosetown homes, the property had a
separate residence at the rear. In 1900, James Ryan and his extended family were the tenants in both dwellings. In
1910, William Lindblad, his wife Agnes, and their three children lived in the rear residence while eight members of
the Barstad family occupied the cottage. Typical of the Goosetown melting pot, the Ryans were Irish, the
Lindblads were Swedish, and the Barstads were Norwegian. William Lindblad died at 47 in 1917, and Agnes took
up a boardinghouse nearby to make ends meet. Her daughter Ruth recalled filling smelter workers’ lunch pails.
Her mother could throw an orange or an apple and hit the pail every time. Goosetown women had numerous
cottage industries. Selling candy from the porch was an enterprise ideal for this home given its proximity to
Lincoln School. After 1940, a portion of the rear residence was moved on logs and attached to the main house.
Original roofing is visible in the attic.

Property: Fred Clark Residence

Address: 602 Locust, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Anaconda’s elite began to build homes on the West Side in the 1890s, and this Queen Anne style mansion was
one of the first to grace upper Locust Street. Built in 1894 for Fred Clark, librarian at the Hearst Free Public Library,
the elegant residence boasted all the latest conveniences including steam heat and electric lights. Classical
elements such as Tuscan columns and a gabled portico enrich the Queen Anne style so favored during the
Victorian era. An octagonal tower, gabled dormers, and wraparound veranda with balconette above heighten the
characteristic Queen Anne asymmetry, while granite-capped windows and decorative shingles add varied textures
to the wall surfaces. Arched doors and windows showcase the skills of builder/contractor J. P. Dolan. Dolan, who
was also a skilled mason, and his partner John Hamill were Anaconda’s leading contractors in the 1890s. Except
for a 1990 addition sensitively designed to blend with the historic appearance, this West Side residence is a
district centerpiece and one of Anaconda’s many well-preserved period homes.
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Property: Conley Residence

Address: 400 Maple, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Most West Side residents were Anaconda Company executives or self-employed professionals, but Daniel Conley,
who built this Queen Anne style home in 1899, was a notable exception. Conley, who came to Anaconda in 1887,
was employed as a Company carpenter. Just as he finished this Queen Anne style home, loss of his hand in an
accident ended Conley’s chosen career. He briefly went into business and then returned to the Company in 1907
as deputy. Conley was still in the Company’s employ in 1918 when he died of anemia at age 61. Mrs. Conley
offered rented rooms until Earl Kinney, a former boarder, bought the home in 1926. Later, the residence housed
Benedictine nuns in the 1950s who taught at St. Paul’s school across the street. lonic columns, a pedimented
porch, decorative wood brackets, and delicate bargeboard trim along the gable eaves illustrate Conley’s talents. A
high level of artistry in the elaborate brickwork, unrivaled in Anaconda, makes this one of the town’s finest period
residences.

Property: St. Peter's Austrian Roman Catholic Church

Address: 401 Alder Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Anaconda architect W. W. Hyslop designed St. Peter’s Austrian Roman Catholic Church, constructed in 1898. Its
contrasting colors, pointed arches, side buttresses, tall pointed steeple, ornate terra cotta panels, and rose
window reflect the High Victorian Gothic style. Built as an alternative to the Irish-dominated St. Paul’s Church, St.
Peter’s primarily served Anaconda’s Croatian, Slovenian, and Montenegrin community. For Slavic smelter workers
and their families, whose home countries were then part of the Austrian empire, the church helped ease the
transition to America. Father John Pirnat, himself from Slovenia, was instrumental in convincing the diocese to
construct St. Peter’s. He served as the church’s pastor for over fifty years, raising the funds for the 1902 rear
addition as well as for many other Anaconda Catholic institutions. Father Pirnat often preached in Serbo-Croatian,
performed traditional Slavic funeral and wedding services, and led the church in celebrating such ethnic holidays
as Mesopust (a pre-Lenten carnival). In so doing, he made St. Peter’s a pillar of Anaconda’s Slavic community and
an important bridge between the old and new worlds.

Property: Granite Apartments
Address: 214 East 3rd Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: apartments Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Construction of large apartment complexes represented a shift in multiple dwelling buildings from boarding
houses, hotels, and rooming houses to larger facilities with self-sufficient units. Apartment living, complete with
private bathrooms, kitchens, bedrooms, and living areas accessed by common interior hallways, offered residents
a more private home life. The third of five complexes built in Anaconda during the 1910s, the Granite Apartments
were constructed in response to a housing shortage created by the rapid growth of the Anaconda Company. Local
builder John Lund Jacobson built the Granite in 1917. Lund, a Norwegian immigrant who came to Anaconda in
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1885, is credited with building the city hall, the county hospital, and the original Our Savior Lutheran Church. His
residential buildings and homes helped characterize Anaconda architecture. The Anaconda Bottling Works
originally occupied the lot, but once the plant closed in 1896 Jacobson recognized the area’s potential and
developed the site to serve the town’s growing population. The Granite, unlike other apartments in the company
town, did not house Anaconda Company employees, but rather was home to local shopkeepers and business
owners. Lipman Coldwater, proprietor of a successful shoe store for over fifty years, was an early tenant. The
Granite has been in continuous operation for over eighty years and remains an excellent example of early-
twentieth-century multiple dwelling construction. The restored interior features eight one-bedroom apartments
of similar size and layout. The original fir woodwork and claw foot bathtubs remain intact and skylights highlight
the second floor.

Property: Methodist Episcopal Church of Anaconda
Address: Corner of Oak and East Third Sts, Anacoda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Itinerant circuit riders brought Methodism to this part of Montana as early as 1880. Anaconda’s first Methodist
church was built in 1884, but its small band of followers had scattered by the time Reverend Philip Lowry was
assigned here in 1889. He and his wife arrived to find no church building, a poorly built two-room dwelling, and a
congregation of only seven discouraged members. During their five-year stay, the Reverend and Mrs. Lowry
bolstered the congregation both spiritually and financially, increasing the membership to over 100 and raising
funds for a new building. Copper king Marcus Daly helped provide the bricks, and the $8,000 church was
dedicated, free from debt, on December 14, 1890. By 1896, membership had grown to 553 and the church was
overcrowded. Architect Henry Nelson Black drew the plans and contractor Joseph Smith substantially rebuilt the
original Gothic style church, adding a tower and widening, lengthening, and heightening the building. Pointed
arches, lanceolate windows, and steeply pitched roof further define the Gothic Revival style. At its dedication on
August 22, 1897, three wagon loads of flowers decorated the magnificent new church. Bishop Earl Cranston of
Helena, Superintendent W. W. Van Orsdel, Reverend W. T. Euster, and many ministers of other Anaconda
churches crowded the pulpit platform. Although a rear addition expanded the facilities in 1905, both interior and
exterior remain true to the historic design. Among the exquisite stained glass windows is the “Lowry window,”
given in memory of the couple to whom, more than to any others, the church is indebted for it permanency and
growth.

Property: 504 Main Street
Address: 504 Main Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Westside Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Intricate ornamental cresting caps the dome on the octagonal tower of this handsome residence. Its eclectic
architecture combines elements of the Queen Anne and French Second Empire styles. A partial Mansard roof at
the northeast corner and a front window with unusual stone and brick surrounds reflect the flamboyant tastes of
the late Victorian era. The tower retains its original, charming multi-paned cottage window. Grocer Albert
MacCallum built the residence in 1895 and sold it in 1904 to miner, politician, and businessman Dennis Roach. The
firm of Roach and Smith offered billiard parlors, a confectionery, flowers, fishing tackle, sporting goods, cigars,
and sundries. Roach and Smith, one of Anaconda’s longest established businesses, still exists as a wholesale
distribution firm. Dennis Roach served as county commissioner and as a representative in the Montana
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legislature. After Roach’s death in 1925, his widow Maude remained at home here for more than thirty years. The
Roaches’ daughter, Katherine “Kash” Felt, a prominent and well-loved Anaconda matron, converted the residence
into classrooms where she taught kindergarten. The family retained ownership of the property into the twenty-
first century.

Property: St. Mark's Episcopal Church
Address: 601 Main Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Anaconda grew quickly after Copper King Marcus Daly established it as his smelter town in 1883, but the
community’s Episcopalians needed to wait seven years before they could lay the cornerstone for St. Mark’s
Episcopal Church on October 21, 1890. Before then, they had depended on priests from Deer Lodge and Butte, or
on visits of Bishop Richmond Leigh Brewer from Helena. Services were held in the Methodist Episcopal Church
South building and later above Foskett’s saloon. At the latter site, water for a baptism by the Rev. A. B. Howard of
Deer Lodge once was supplied from downstairs, and in a beer mug. Even after having their own building, the
congregation was dependent on the smelter’s fortunes, and St. Mark’s closed for some months in 1892 when the
smelter was shut down. The buff sandstone for this Romanesque Revival church was quarried near Garrison. The
original floor plan was that of a Latin cross except for the square entrance bell tower; and a brick one-story
addition has squared off the space between transept and apse.

Property: Hearst Free Library

Address: 401 Main Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: libraries (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Phoebe Hearst, wife of wealthy California senator George Hearst, had a special relationship with Anaconda.
Hearst was one of Daly’s principal investors and Mrs. Hearst took an active interest in improving Anaconda’s
cultural opportunities. She asked city fathers for suggestions. Receiving no reply, Mrs. Hearst proposed a library.
Citizens agreed that was what they had in mind, but had not wanted to burden her with such a costly suggestion.
Mrs. Hearst was touched by their sensitivity and financed Anaconda’s first “reading room” in 1895. It was so
popular that she soon funded construction of this larger facility. San Francisco architect F. S. Van Trees designed
the building; local builder J. C. Twohy completed it in 1898. The grand monument features classical granite
columns, a heavy copper cornice, and graceful arched windows. Fine woodwork, brass railings, chandeliers, and
an impressive fireplace adorn the richly finished interior. Mrs. Hearst financed the library until 1903 when the city
accepted ownership. Listed in the National Register in 1973, this landmark is now a primary element in the
historic district.

Property: Geroge Waddell House
Address: 506 West 3rd Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The 1890s brought growth and prosperity to Anaconda and Marcus Daly’s Anaconda Copper Mining Company.
The town’s population doubled as well, growing from 4,000 in 1890 to nearly 8,000 in 1895. With the influx of
new residents, construction boomed and Anaconda’s elite began to build their homes west of Main Street. Among
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the early prominent west side residents were Marcus Daly’s key company officials and corporate managers.
George Waddell, however, was an interesting exception. While Waddell was employed by the company, he was
neither a manger nor an executive, but rather a talented and creative draftsman. These skills allowed the
ambitious young draftsman to build one of Anaconda’s most elegant homes. Beautifully preserved, the home is
Anaconda’s premier example of high style Victorian era architecture. Patterned shingles combined with clapboard
siding, irregular roof lines, a grand turret, and cut-away bay define the Queen Anne style while curvilinear
brackets and decorative elements provide elegant detailing characteristic of the eclectic 1890s. The home was
built for $2,500 in 1896. Waddell brought his bride Amelia here, where a son was born in 1897 and a daughter in
1899. By 1905, Waddell and his family had moved to Wisconsin and by 1910, the Manus Kane family owned the
home. Kane, a longtime railroad station engineer for the B A and P, died in 1938; his widow remained at the
family home until the late 1940s.

Property: Goosetown Historic District

Address: , Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: residential structures

Sign Text:

Attracted by the opportunity to work at Marcus Daly’s copper smelter, thousands of immigrants came seeking
work in Anaconda. Many were from Ireland, like Daly himself, but skilled and unskilled workers also came from a
myriad of foreign places. Most settled in Goosetown, a working-class neighborhood ideally located adjacent to the
Anaconda foundry and the original Washoe works site, under the shadow of the Great Stack. Small inexpensive
lots, simple frame workers’ cottages, boarding houses and small businesses dating mostly from 1883 to 1918
illustrate the neighborhood’s economic solidarity and working-class character. Modest homes on narrow lots with
bachelor cabins at the rear, rented for a little extra income, are common throughout the district. Occasional
saloons and the 1905 Washoe Brewery reflect the private commerce and industry that flourished alongside the
dominant smelter-related enterprises. In addition, widows often maintained their families by operating small
businesses from their homes. The Beaudette Block, the Anaconda Meat and Grocery Company and the
depression-era Club Moderne are Goosetown’s most significant commercial buildings. Historic churches including
the Austrian Roman Catholic, Free Swedish Mission, Norwegian Evangelical Lutheran, and Serbian Orthodox only
hint at the many ethnically oriented organizations that offered comaraderie and comfort far from home. There
are two schools of thought on the source of Goosetown’s name. The most widely accepted theory attributes the
name to the east side bars’ practice of keeping turkeys and geese to raffle off at Thanksgiving. Another theory
holds that the neighborhood’s initial freshwater system consisted of a water tap at the end of a gooseneck pipe in
each residential yard.

Property: Alpine Apartments
Address: 200 Hickory, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: apartments Subject 2:
Sign Text:

At the height of a building boom in 1914, businessman John Wenger commissioned architects Hyslop and
Westcott to design this grand-scale multi-family dwelling. W. W. Hyslop’s prolific career began in Anaconda in the
1890s but he moved his practice to Spokane circa 1900. Upon returning to Anaconda with George Westcott, his
Spokane partner, the firm designed the Alpine, the Lorraine Apartments, and the Bluebird Theater (demolished in
1956) at about the same time. When the three-story Alpine was finished in 1915 it was not only the first
apartment building of its kind in Anaconda, but it was also completely state of the art. Each of the twenty-nine
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suite apartments boasted steam heat, kitchenettes fully equipped with electric ranges and refrigerators, and beds
that could fold up and disappear into the wall. The back entry of each of the two- and three-room units opened
onto an elaborate, three-story wood-frame balcony and porch. Several small one-story additions functioned as
storage units. All these amenities as well as indirect lighting fixtures, hinged-center windows, and janitorial
services made apartment living at the Alpine highly desirable. Upon its opening, tenants who had placed their
names on a waiting list immediately filled the building. The facade remains today as it appeared in 1915; even the
original back doors of heavy wood, each with ten glass panes, remain intact. Members of the Wenger family long
occupied apartments at the Alpine, and John Wenger’s widow Sarah, well into her 90s, continued to manage the
property through the 1950s.

Property: 413 East Eighth Street

Address: 413 East Eighth Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Edward Kelly Sr. was an experienced ore miner who put his skills to work building this foursquare style secondary
residence. Kelly and his wife Margaret, both Irish immigrants, settled in the house next door in 1912. He set to
work building this second house, cutting the granite foundation by hand out of local stone. Its bold appearance
recalls the walls of a medieval fortress. The brick residence features Chicago “three-over-one” style windows
typical of the 1910s. Original doors and other detailing remain in place. According to family lore, Kelly and his sons
were involved in the moonshine business during Prohibition. The Kelly boys were famous for their driving skills
and fast cars, necessary when the revenue officer was on their heels. Legend has it that a “smuggling tunnel” runs
beneath the property. Shards of glass from bottles of moonshine litter the hills behind the house, lending
credence to the tales old timers tell. They recall lounging on the hills with their bottles of Kelly’s libations,
watching the lights of the city.

Property: Fuller Drug Company

Address: 415 East Park, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Anaconda Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: recreation

Sign Text:

The stepped brick parapet boasts a concrete nameplate, “Fuller Drug Company,” harkening back to this building’s
long service as a drugstore. The sleek, black tile siding on the building’s first story reflects its next incarnation as
the Highland Theater. A restaurant and rooming house in 1898, the site became the Kennedy Drug Company in
1899. From 1906 through the mid-1930s, the building was home to Fuller Drug Company (“Prescriptions a
Specialty”). Remodeled by the Washoe Amusement Company, which also owned the fabulous Washoe Theater,
the building gained the Art Moderne theater fagade with double entrances and a ticket booth (now in-filled) when
it became the Highland Theater. Promoted as “especially for those who are not able to attend evening shows due
to working hours,” the Highland offered “the best motion pictures . . . at prices within the reach of all” and
distributed free passes to children on Smelterman’s Day. It opened on August 31, 1940, with Bing Crosby’s “Sing
You Sinners.” Shows ran continuously from 1:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.; admission was ten cents.

Property: Westside Historic District
Address: , Anaconda, Deer Lodge
Historic District: West Side Building Type: district
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Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Marcus Daly watched with pride as Anaconda steadily gained momentum after its founding in 1883. While Daly’s
social and political ambition was reflected in the elegant downtown Montana Hotel, Anaconda Company
managers, city officials, and other affluent residents built homes adjacent to and west of Main Street. The West
Side encompasses a majority of the city’s original townsite and includes some of Anaconda’s most elaborate
residences as well as impressive public buildings and modest dwellings. The buildings of the West Side’s eclectic
streetscapes, diverse in both style and function, feature Victorian-era spindling, scrollwork, and leaded glass as
well as early twentieth-century Craftsman-style detailing. Cast-iron street lamps, locally produced by the Tuttle
Manufacturing and Supply Company, visually unified the district by 1920. Judge George B. Winston was the first to
build a fine home on the West Side in 1888. By 1890, expensive architect-designed homes were scattered
throughout the neighborhood. Designs of local and regional architects include those of Joseph Smith, Martin Kern,
Fred Willson, and Herman Kemna. Prominent early residents included Anaconda Standard editor John Durston,
county attorney John Boarman, Superintendent of Schools W. K. Dwyer, metallurgist Frederick Laist, and Marcus
Daly’s two sisters. The City Common (Kennedy Common), with its distinctive bandstand and winter skating rink,
anchors the northeast corner of the district. The Deer Lodge County Courthouse, Hearst Free Library, Washoe
Theatre, Brentwood Apartments, and three historic churches are integral to the civic, educational, and social
tapestry of a planned community that took root in the dreams of its founder, Marcus Daly.

Property: Judge George B. Winston Residence

Address: 510 Main St, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Alice and George Winston were among the first residents of the Main Street neighborhood south of Anaconda’s
business district. The Anaconda Weekly Review noted in August of 1888 that the Winstons’ fine home was well
under construction. A lovely example of the Victorian-era Queen Anne style, the 1890s addition of the half-story
complements the original front bay window and wooden window trim. George Winston served as Anaconda’s first
city attorney and city clerk. Winston was one of the authors of Montana’s 1889 state constitution and later served
as judge of the 3rd Judicial District from 1904 until his retirement in 1932. Interestingly, the Winstons’ longtime
maid was Bridget Sullivan, previously employed by Andrew Borden of Fall River, Massachusetts. Borden and his
wife were murdered in 1892 and Sullivan was a key witness in the trial of their daughter, Lizzie. The maid never
spoke of the crime, but reportedly confessed on her deathbed in 1948 that Lizzie, who was acquitted, paid
Sullivan for her evasive testimony.

Property: Deer Lodge County Courthouse
Address: 800 Oak Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: county courthouses Subject 2:
Sign Text:

This valley known by Native Americans as “Lodge of the White Tailed Deer” officially became Deer Lodge County
when this area was part of the Territory of Idaho. After the creation of the Territory of Montana in 1864, the first
territorial legislature named Deer Lodge one of Montana’s original nine counties. The county seat, first located at
Silver Bow and then Deer Lodge, moved to Anaconda in 1896. A bond election in 1898 assured funding for the
construction of a county courthouse. County Clerk Martin Martin suggested placing the building at the head of
Main Street rather than in the middle of the block so that “A stranger visiting Anaconda has no need to ask where
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the court house is.” Architects Charles E. Bell and John N. Kent, who also drew the plans for the state capitol in
Helena, were commissioned to design the building. Deer Lodge County officials moved from Anaconda’s City Hall
into the new facility in the spring of 1900. The grand Neoclassical style building, constructed of buff-colored
dressed sandstone, features a central two-tiered, domed tower. On the interior, the dome’s painted ribs
dramatically simulate structural members. Frescoes and county seals by Consolidated Artists of Milwaukee,
Wisconsin, adorn the panels between the “ribs.” Other interior appointments include an ornate spiral staircase of
oak and marble treads, oak banisters, and cast iron risers. Decorative square cast iron newel posts, originally
capped with electric lights, are especially noteworthy.

Property: Anaconda Commercial Historic District

Address: Historic District, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Anaconda Commercial Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: commercial buildings

Sign Text:

Backed by the powerful San Francisco syndicate of Hearst, Haggin and Tevis, Marcus Daly built the world’s largest
smelter (combined upper and lower works) on Warm Springs Creek between 1883 and 1889. Along with the
smelters, Daly envisioned a substantial city and filed the original townsite plat June 25, 1883. While smelter
construction got underway that summer, people arrived faster than building supplies. The first boarding houses
and saloons opened in tents. A railroad spur soon linked the town to the Anaconda Mine in Butte. By the time the
furnaces of the Upper Works fired up in the fall of 1884, Anaconda’s 80 buildings included seven hotels and
boarding houses and twelve saloons. At the end of 1885, Anaconda’s reduction works had a payroll of 1,700. The
Anaconda Copper Mining Company dominated the local economy. Company subsidiaries built and maintained the
city water supply, electric power system, and street railway. Daly and his associates established key commercial
enterprises including the major bank, retailer D. J. Hennessy’s local company store, a race track, the highly
acclaimed Montana Standard, and the Montana Hotel. Modeled after New York City’s Hoffman House, this
premier hotel represented Daly’s political ambition as he promoted Anaconda in the race for state capital. Daly
was bitterly disappointed when the city lost the capital race in 1894, but Anaconda survived as a vibrant piece of
the Montana mosaic. Significant for its labor history and ethnic diversity, this unique company town was a place
where private enterprise also flourished. Elaborate Victorian-era business blocks and the more utilitarian fagcades
of the early twentieth century are testimony to a vigorous business community.

Property: Glover Cabin
Address: Washoe Park, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: cabins (houses) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Alexander Glover, a native of Scotland, came to ranch in the Deer Lodge Valley in 1865. The first to settle in the
Warm Springs Creek drainage, he built this cabin of saddle- notched hewn logs. On April 12, 1868, Glover, at
thirty, married twenty-year-old Mary James. Mary’s father, William M. James, had come with his family from
Wales to the Deer Lodge Valley where he established one of the early ranches. The marriage of Alexander and
Mary was the first at Warm Springs Creek. The Glovers’ son Thomas, eldest of their seven children, was born on
March 14, 1870, reputedly the first white child born at the creek. The Glovers ranched and farmed until 1883
when Marcus Daly commissioned local rancher Morgan Evans to purchase lands for a townsite and smelter. The
Glover family sold the ranch, Alexander eventually turned to mining, and the family cabin became headquarters
for the Anaconda townsite surveying crew. The quaint little cabin remained on its original site near Elm Street for
another thirty years. In 1916, annexation of the First Western Addition, which included most of the original Glover
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ranch, prompted removal of the cabin to Washoe Park about a mile away. Here in its new setting, the historic
cabin long served as park headquarters. Today the Glover Cabin, unique to the area for its single-pen linear form,
is Anaconda’s oldest surviving building and a tribute to the first settlers at Warm Springs Creek.

Property: Morel Rainbow Arch Bridge
Address: 25200 East Side Road, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: structure
Subject 1: bridges (built works) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1913 Deer Lodge County officials decided to build a bridge to span Silver Bow Creek, appropriating $2,067.88
for materials and $265 to H. B. Grant for design specifications. The bridge made passable the county road
between the nearby Milwaukee Railroad Morel Substation and the community of Anaconda. The county’s
decision to build the bridge reflected a national initiative known as the Good Roads Movement, an effort to
improve rural and in-town highways. In Montana, many “Good Roads” infrastructure improvements were the
work of prisoners from the state penitentiary. In 1914, the year inmates completed construction of the Morel
Bridge, over one-third of Montana’s inmates were employed in work camps, primarily building roads. Praised for
its strength, economy of materials, and low cost, the Morel Rainbow Arch Bridge is patterned after the Marsh
Rainbow Arch Bridge, patented by J. B. Marsh of lowa in 1912. The design was particularly suited to the use of
prison labor because it could be built primarily by unskilled workers. During the 1920s and 1930s, the Montana
Department of Highways designed and built numerous concrete bridges, but this rainbow arch concrete bridge is
the only one of its kind in Montana. The bridge was abandoned in 1916 when the Anaconda Mining Company—
which owned the surrounding land—built Pond 2, one of a series of settling ponds that separate old Highway 10
and the interstate. Today, Atlantic Richfield, a BP affiliated company, maintains the water treatment facilities and
the State of Montana manages the site for wildlife and recreational use.

Property: 403 East Eighth Street

Address: 403 East Eighth Street, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Economic solidarity and frugal ingenuity define the Goosetown District, which attracted workers from across the
globe. Housing was scarce as Goosetown matured in the shadow of the Big Stack. A small, simple worker’s cottage
stood on this lot at least by the mid-1910s. Early owner and smelterman Ernest Stead, his wife Mary, and their
two children were in residence by 1920. The Steads were both recent English immigrants. The property changed
hands and by 1930, newlyweds Ann and Rufus Horsfall rented the house from Elmer Barnett, who lived next door.
Ann and Rufus were also English born and came to the United States as children. Rufus was a molder at the
Anaconda Company’s foundry. In 1935, Joseph Bickerstaff purchased the property and enlarged the house,
incorporating the older cottage into the plan. A leaded glass window and portions of a stone foundation provide
clues to the home’s early origins. llluminating this cottage is one of Anaconda's original streetlights, a legacy of
the foundry where it was made, and of the copper industry that electrified America.

Property: Club Moderne

Address: 811 E Park, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Goosetown  Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

It was a grand and gala event on October 9, 1937, when John “Skinny” Francisco debuted his luxurious
establishment to an eager public. Souvenir roses and etched liquor glasses commemorated the long-awaited
occasion. Club Moderne is today a premier example of the Art Deco style, especially noteworthy for its pristinely
preserved interior. The style, introduced to America at a Paris exposition in 1925, rejected historical references. It
was a new “modern” style, the ultimate architectural expression of the machine age. The club’s gently rounded
facade embellished with smooth Carrara glass panels elegantly emphasizes streamlined proportions. Original
neon lighting boldly illuminates the fagade. Bozeman architect Fred Willson designed the building constructed by
Theodore Eck of Anaconda and finished entirely by local craftsmen. The henna and tan interior includes the
original inlaid woods, leather panels, chromium and leather furniture, and Formica tables. Renowned as “the king
of such places,” the Club Moderne was independently listed in the National Register in 1986 and has become a
true icon for Art Deco connoisseurs.

Property: Marcus Daly and Company Bank Building

Address: 123 Main, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Anaconda Commercial Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Marcus Daly and W. L. Hoge founded Anaconda’s first bank in 1883. Hoge, Anaconda’s first mayor, sold his
interest in the bank to Daly in 1895. The institution became the Marcus Daly and Company Bank and later, the
First National Bank of Anaconda. Expansion of the Anaconda Company smelter during the 1890s prompted
construction of the bank block in 1895. The building’s colorful history includes a bungled nighttime robbery that
occurred soon after the bank’s grand opening. Two men attempted to blow up the safe but instead woke the
neighborhood; they were quickly apprehended. The impressive Victorian-era Romanesque style building features
granite trim, engaged columns, arched doorways, frosted and sandblasted windows, bronze door hardware, and
terra cotta tile with a floral motif. In 1914, renowned Bozeman architect Fred Willson designed the rear addition.
The bank moved in 1969 and diverse tenants subsequently occupied the space. Extensive rehabilitation in 2002
restored the older portion of the building to its original splendor and the building now houses the First National
Bank of Montana.

Property: Tuttle Residence
Address: 518 Hickory St, Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Westside Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Mass production of decorative details allowed even modest houses to partake of architectural fashion. In the case
of this one-and-one-half-story home, stained glass, gingerbread and latticework, turned porch supports, and fish-
scale shingles in the gable end visually reference the popular Queen Anne style. Although Charles Tuttle did not
formally acquire the land on which this home was built until 1897, he had contractors Smith and Gilmour
construct the wood frame residence in 1892, making this one of the oldest homes on Hickory. Tuttle owned the
City Drug Co., where he sold pharmaceuticals, hardware, and furniture. In the 1890s, a large furniture warehouse
stood behind the home. In 1898, Tuttle expanded his business to include a funeral parlor, selling the drug store in
1900 to focus on undertaking. He later added a livery, creating Tuttle’s Livery and Undertaking. Longtime resident
Joseph Malloy, a foreman at the converter plant, and his wife, Sarah, purchased the residence in 1915. More
recently, James Milo and Lenore Manning undid alterations from the 1950s and 1960s, restoring the front facade
to its original appearance.
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Property: Anaconda Saddle Club Historic District

Address: , Anaconda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Anaconda Saddle Club Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Copper king Marcus Daly built a racetrack outside Anaconda in 1888 to promote his passion for horse racing. The
racetrack not only offered recreational opportunities, it also established the first equine activities in Anaconda’s
WestValley. Although modern housing obliterated Daly’s racetrack in the early twentieth century, its legacy
endured. The non-profit Anaconda Saddle Club, founded in 1944 during World War Il, was an extension of the
tradition Daly brought to the valley. The club fostered the community’s enthusiasm for horses and horsemanship
at a time when resources were scarce. In 1945 the group purchased thirty acres of land and Martin Nelson and
Charles Nicely volunteered as architects. Almost every evening and on Sundays during 1945 and 1946, the 160
club members worked on the construction of the oval racetrack, arena, numerous barns, and other buildings.
Completion of the Rustic style complex was a great achievement by an all-volunteer work force. A huge crowd
attended the public opening on September 22, 1946. The unique octagonal clubhouse, log caretaker’s house,
frame buildings with weatherboard siding, and complementary log fences and corrals reflect a style unusual for
the postwar period. The log building methods mirror those employed in the Anaconda Company’s logging camps
in the Seeley-Swan area and FlatheadValley. The club’s log buildings also provide a visual connection to the Rustic
dude ranches of an earlier era. The club continues its careful stewardship of equine traditions in this superb
setting, offering an excellent venue for local and regional events.

Property: City Hall
Address: 401 E Commercial, Anacoda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: city halls Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Copper magnate Marcus Daly had great expectations for Anaconda when the town was platted in 1883, hoping
one day the town would become Montana’s capital. It was with that goal in mind that plans for a magnificent city
hall were conceived. Architects Lane and Reber of Butte, winners of a competition for the building’s design, drew
the blueprints for the symbolically and historically significant civic landmark, completed in 1896. Built in a
“straightforward manner ... using local materials,” the architects employed pressed brick, Anaconda granite, and
Anaconda copper trim. The complex design illustrates the passionate eclecticism of the late Victorian era,
incorporating elements of a variety of styles. A massive corner tower, bays, and pavilioned entrance visually
define the original separate functions of the building: city government, fire hall, and police department. Contrasts
of round and square forms serve to augment these divisions. Classical detailing, Roman and Romanesque style
arches, Moorish “keyhole” windows, Gothic tracery, and a Chateauesque style roof capping one of the bays are a
visual feast and showcase local craftsmanship. Abandoned in 1976 and slated for demolition, the building was
rescued by local citizens in 1978. Though a clock tower housing the fire bell was removed, the rehabilitated City
Hall Cultural Center is once again a thriving and impressive source of civic pride.

Property: Davidson Building

Address: 301-303 E Park Ave, Anacoda, Deer Lodge

Historic District: Building Type: building

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: apartments
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Sign Text:

Architect Jonathon Barlett designed this marvelous business block as an investment property for T. C. Davidson in
1896. Davidson, an Ohio native and Civil War veteran, came to Montana in 1879. In the early 1890s, Davidson
moved from his nearby ranch into town, where he later served as both city councilman and county commissioner.
Davidson died in 1916, survived by his wife and ten children. Original 1890s building features include splendid
arcuated brickwork, granite trim, cast-iron storefronts, and a canted corner entry with a beautiful oriel window. In
August of 1922, a spectacular fire originating in a basement warehouse “...ate up everything but the brick walls.”
Damage to merchandise and personal property, including that of twenty upstairs rooming-house residents,
exceeded $100,000. P. J. Stagg purchased the ruins from Mrs. Davidson and immediately rebuilt. By November a
new building had literally risen from the ashes of the old one, and its twenty-seven second-floor rooms had been
converted into fourteen apartments. Interior appointments still in place from this historic period include skylights,
wood cabinetry, elegant pressed tin ceilings, and fine wood trim. One longtime tenant was Lipman Coldwater,
who operated a shoe store on the premises from 1942 to 1974. Coldwater’s is remembered by longtime
Anaconda residents as a downtown fixture. The future of the Davidson was again threatened during Urban
Renewal in 1979. Thanks to the mighty efforts of a small group of citizens who recognized its significance, the
building narrowly escaped demolition. The Davidson is today one of Anaconda’s most outstanding examples of
late-nineteenth-century brick masonry and cast-iron storefront construction as well as a grand expression of the
vernacular Western Commercial style of architecture.

Property: Fallon County Jail
Address: 723 S. Main, Baker, Fallon

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: jails (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The completion of the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul, and Pacific Railroad line through this area in 1908 brought an
influx of homesteaders, increasing the demand for county services. Simultaneously, the Progressive Movement in
Montana sparked a county splitting craze. An acrimonious battle soon erupted between Ekalaka, Baker, and
Wibaux for designation as county seat of the recently formed Fallon County. In 1915, the Montana Supreme Court
upheld the election of Baker as county seat and the county commissioners took immediate steps to build a
permanent courthouse and county jail. The commissioners worked to act quickly to provide tangible proof that
Baker was the political center of the county. The county contracted with the architectural firm of Link and Haire,
who specialized in public buildings, to design a jail and heating plant to cost less than $9,000. The Craftsman style
Fallon County Jail expresses the firm’s adaptability to smaller buildings and limited budgets. Gable-front porches
supported by Doric columns of exposed aggregate protect the entrance. The first floor served as the sheriff’s
residence with a simple living space of plain woodwork and hardwood floors. The second floor housed the jail;
one room had two cells for women and the other room had four cells for men. The cells were removed in 1974,
but the second floor windows retain the original steel bars. Constructed in 1916, the jail well represents
Montana’s homestead era, incorporating Craftsman ideals of honesty and simplicity expressed in concrete and
stucco. The O’Fallon County Museum opened in 1980.

Property: Fire Pump House

Address: Highway 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: structure | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The army tapped into Lewistown’s water supply, but the base had its own water system. The pump house was
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critical to the safety of the base. Its massive pumping equipment provided accelerated water recharge for fire
emergencies. The pump house not only housed a high capacity electric pump, but also a standby generator for
backup power. The base water supply was also chlorinated here at the pump house. Like the elevated water tank,
the reservoir capacity for its in-ground storage tank was 50,000 gallons. In addition to the pumping equipment in
its single room, a built-in cabinet lies against the southeast wall. Inside the door, servicemen stationed at the base
left their signatures and hometown addresses. A water treatment plant at the southwest corner of the base
consisted of an Imhoff tank for the reception and processing of sewage. A trickling filter fed into a chlorinator
house. Little visibly remains of this part of the system except a ring-like mound where the Imhoff tank once sat.

Property: Pre-War Hangar

Address: Highway 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Local businessman Harrison Green established Lewistown’s first airport at this location in 1928, intending to sell it
to the city or operate it as a private enterprise. The city, however, established its own airport in 1933 just across
the road from Green’s runway. When airmail and air passenger service began in 1933, it quickly became obvious
that the city’s airport was inadequate. It was too close to power lines and its runway was too short. After several
close calls, the city negotiated relocation of its airport to Green’s facility. In 1937, this became Lewistown’s
municipal airport. In 1941, the WPA improved the facility, paving the runways. This hangar first appears in aerial
photographs during these improvements. It served as a hangar-field maintenance facility for private aircraft and
Inland Air Lines—the commercial company serving this region—just prior to World War Il. The World War Il
airbase sprang up around the hangar. Inland Airlines, and perhaps private pilots, likely continued to use it
throughout the war as an airport utility-maintenance hangar for smaller aircraft.

Property: Elevated Storage Tank

Address: Highway 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The brightly painted red and white squares of this four-story water tower have been a distinct landmark since its
placement on the prairie in 1942. The 50,000-gallon storage tank, built circa 1908, originally served the
community of Broadview north of Billings. The southwest leg of the tower identifies Indiana Steel—a prominent
Chicago-based firm that produced bridges, railroad track, and structural steel for skyscrapers—as its
manufacturer. A shortage of steel during World War Il forced the US Army Corps of Engineers to acquire the
Broadview water tower, no longer in use by 1942, for the Lewistown Air Base. The William P. Roscoe Company of
Billings, whose specialty was bridge construction, won the contract to build the water system for the base. Roscoe
acquired the Broadview tower, disassembled it, transported it to Lewistown, and reassembled it on the airfield.
The air bases at Glasgow and Cut Bank also acquired similar water tanks while a much larger concrete cylindrical
water tower served the base at Great Falls. Of the four towers, only this example at Lewistown survives.

Property: Hangar

Address: U. S. Route 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

The airfield’s immense hangar dominates the flight apron and appears much as it did when World War Il vintage
B-17s roared down the runway. Construction of the airfield began in July 1942. The original hangar plans were
soon modified, increasing the height and length of the building, likely to accommodate the larger B-29s. Crews at
Lewistown, however, trained exclusively on the various models of B-17s. Hangar construction crews laid out the
lumber for the bowstring trusses on site, assembled them for fit, and then took them apart to cut the grooves and
glue and spike the pieces together. The airfield accommodated one squadron in training at a time with nine B-17s
to a squadron; five of the hangar’s six bays could accommodate five of the huge planes, stacked in like sardines.
Before a training mission, the B-17 crews would line up outside the hangar to await the bombardier. Armed
guards escorted him to the Norden bombsight shelter to retrieve the top-secret device and then escorted him to
the hangar and the plane. The process was repeated upon the crews’ return.

Property: Camouflage Building

Address: Highway 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The United States Army Air Force (USAAF) trained its field maintenance crews in camouflage painting to make
aircraft difficult to distinguish from the ground. Constructed in the spring of 1943, this building was designed for
teaching and facilitating aircraft camouflage techniques. A catwalk, unique among Lewistown Airfield’s buildings,
allowed students to lay out their designs and provided instructors a bird’s eye view to evaluate them. While
American allies used elaborate camouflage, USAAF heavy bombers never widely adopted it. This building more
frequently functioned as an auxiliary hangar for base utility aircraft shuttles that carried payroll and mail between
Lewistown and the main base at Great Falls. It also may have housed the small twin engine AT-6 “tug” used in
target practice. The plane towed a windsock-like target over the gunnery range north of Grass Range. The B-17
gunners fired painted, color-coded bullets so the instructor could determine who hit the target. Vintage pinup
posters and calendars decorate the “camo” building’s main walls, colorfully recalling the years the building saw
active use.

Property: Armament Building

Address: U.S. Route 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Sand-filled “Blue Beetle” practice bombs with a five-pound black powder charge were loaded here for placement
in the B-17s’ bomb bays. The practice bombs were later dropped in 1,000-foot circles during the daytime and on
lighted targets at night. The bombing range was near War Horse Lake, 12 miles northwest of Winnett. The top
secret Norden bombsight, later used to drop the uranium bomb “Little Boy” on Hiroshima from the B-29 Enola
Gay, played a major role in the training at Lewistown. Navigators gained critical practice flying at night, invaluable
experience since Montana’s few visual checkpoints mirrored conditions over blacked-out England in 1943.
Gunners practiced working, loading, and un-jamming their guns in all conditions including freezing weather, day
and night. As the war progressed, B-17s gained fuel capacity progressing from the E and F models to the ultimate
B-17 G. Sixteen B-17 Gs and their crews trained at Lewistown from July 6 to October 6, 1943, then flew directly to
the front in England.
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Property: Recreation Building

Address: Hwy 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type:

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

"Essential for maintaining morality and morale, the Recreation Building was one of the busiest spots on base. A
host of activities provided wholesome entertainment to occupy the airmen's off-duty hours. Events included
amateur nights on Mondays, movies on Tuesdays and Thursdays, dances on Wednesdays, boxing on Fridays, and
religious services and sing-alongs on Sundays. Saturday dances, held downtown at the Civic Center, and regularly
scheduled athletic competitions between the airmen and local high school teams filled out a recreational schedule
designed to keep the men busy and out of trouble. Lewistown families, many of whom had sons serving overseas,
embraced the young airmen and answered the Air Force's call for donations to furnish the Recreation Building's
""clubroom."" Young women of certified good moral character, escorted by senior USO chaperones, rode buses to
the base on Wednesdays for the dances. Elsewhere known as ""Victory Belles,"" in Lewistown these patriotic
dance partners dubbed themselves the ""bomba-dears."" Far from home, anticipating deployment into grave

danger, and eager for distraction, the airmen welcomed such tangible signs of the community's support and
goodwill. "

Property: Bombsite Storage Building

Address: U.S. Route 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Barbed wire encircled this double-compartment storage building and a 24-hour sentry kept armed guard. The top
secret Norden bombsight, a mechanical analog computer, was accessed through bank vault doors, removed
carefully for training missions, and returned under armed guard. The 50-pound instrument was used to determine
the exact moment a bomb should be released. The bombsight contained 2,000 precision parts. Its accuracy
depended upon the bombardier’s ability to correctly calculate speed, altitude, temperature, barometric pressure,
and the “bomb curve.” Setting the instrument required such precision that one reporter likened it to playing a
violin. Wearing silk gloves so that his fingers wouldn’t stick to the metal and breathing pure oxygen in
temperatures reaching 40 degrees below zero, the bombardier crouched in the Plexiglas nose of the aircraft, the
worst seat in the house. This is the only identifiable Norden bombsight building still standing in the United States.

Property: Oil Storage House

Address: Hwy 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The B-17 was the Air Force's first aircraft made predominantly of metal. Its only non-metal parts were its control
surfaces—the vertical and horizontal stabilizers on the rudder and the ailerons on the wings (the movable part
used to control roll). To keep them lightweight, these control surfaces were still made of linen- and cotton-
covered wood, which was coated with a highly flammable varnish called dope. Used to tauten, stiffen, and
waterproof the fabric covering, dope was one of the primary materials stored in this one-story, glazed brick-block
building. Set off by itself to protect the rest of the base in case of an explosion, this fire-resistant storage building
was the base's only masonry structure. Inside, two rooms separated by a thick masonry wall isolated the coal-
burning stove used for heat from the main storage room. Planes came fully assembled, but ground crews
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responsible for maintaining the aircraft used dope to repair planes damaged during training. These ground crews
took what they learned about maintaining the training planes with them when they deployed to Europe and
North Africa, where they repaired aircraft damaged in combat.

Property: All Purpose Shop

Address: Hwy 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

During World War Il, the Army Corps of Engineers built almost 1,300 airfields. These rapidly constructed facilities
followed standardized plans, all of which included an All Purpose Shop. The unassuming one-story buildings
served as the bases' much-needed maintenance centers. In Lewistown, as at other satellite airfields, flimsy
construction material, quick assembly, and heavy use made for a busy maintenance crew. As "all purpose" as the
shop that served as their headquarters, the crew built shelves, tables, and benches and fixed broken toilets and
broken windows. They efficiently repaired damage to the airfield's buildings, whether caused by weather or by
the hundreds of men who temporarily made their home here. As the military undoubtedly anticipated, the young,
reckless airmen were not the most careful of tenants. Among other equipment, the shop housed table saws, drill
presses, and hand tools for woodworking. During Lewistown's notoriously harsh winters, the crew relied on two
coal-burning stoves to warm their workshop, whose single-pane windows and uninsulated lathe and tarpaper
walls did little to retain the heat.

Property: Crew Chief Building

Address: U.S. Route 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The mechanics that kept the heavy four-engine bombers, known as “flying fortresses,” aloft and the crew chiefs
that coordinated the efforts of their teams had offices in this building. The squadrons that trained at Lewistown,
Glasgow, and Cut Bank and at army headquarters in Great Falls were engaged in regular training flights
monitoring the accuracy of the navigators and promoting teamwork among the crews. Each man had to learn his
own job and that of his fellow crewmembers to ensure effective mass tactics. A corporal succinctly stated the
mission of the airfield: “This is a place where we will learn to work together, play together, live together, fight
together, and if necessary die together.”

Property: William M. Blackford Residence

Address: 713 West Main Street, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Courthouse  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Fine stone masonry is beautifully displayed in this powerful expression of early-twentieth-century architecture.
Combining the Victorian fondness for asymmetry with Classical Revival style details, local architects Wasmandorff
and Eastman designed the seven-bedroom home in 1909 for prominent attorney William M. Blackford. Oak doors
and woodwork, found in few Lewistown homes of this period, and a four-foot square marble shower reflect the
accessibility made possible by the railroad. Windows of stained, beveled, and diamond-patterned glass add period
elegance. William Blackford came to Lewistown in 1894 and soon married Anna Otten who took music lessons at
the home where Blackford boarded. They filled their home with six children. Blackford was a brilliant, civic-
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minded attorney who also loved his home and spent every spare moment in his backyard garden, “watching and
aiding in the wonderful creative work of nature.” When he died in 1938, court adjourned for the funeral so that all
could pay their respects. Anna remained at home here through the 1960s. Complete restoration in recent years
has returned the Blackfords’ gracious residence to its former glory.

Property: Attix Clinic

Address: 618 W. Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Dr. Frederick F. Attix came to Lewistown in 1901 where he set up one of the first local medical practices. Dr. Attix
traveled 70,000 miles in his horse and buggy visiting patients in mining camps, often operating by lamplight in
bunkhouses. On April 6, 1917, the same day the United States entered World War |, he and Dr. Frank Davis
opened the Attix Clinic. Lewistown architects Wasmansdorff and Eastman designed the brick building, which was
originally planned to carry five stories. Restrained brickwork, rusticated corner quoining, and a classical pediment
at the roofline reflect the transition in western commercial architecture from the showy Victorian era to the less
flamboyant twentieth century. Dr. Attix, who delivered some 1200 Fergus County residents, died in 1948 at St.
Joseph’s Hospital where, in 1909, he had performed the facility’s first major operation. Although expansion of this
building never occurred, the Attix Clinic continued to serve the community until 1955.

Property: Quartermaster Warehouses

Address: Hwy 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Caring for the squadrons of men who trained at the airfield was no easy task. It required a permanent host crew
of approximately 150 to keep the base running smoothly. In addition to providing the actual training, members of
the host crew assured that the plumbing functioned, the lights turned on, the bunks had sheets and blankets, the
roofs did not leak, and the mess hall served up "three squares" each day. Key to an efficient operation was
convenient access to necessary supplies. These two large warehouses were devoted exclusively to storing canned
and dried food, construction materials, plumbing supplies, clothing, and almost everything else needed to meet
the airmen's daily needs. Measuring 32-by-95 feet, the wood-frame buildings were more solidly constructed than
most of the buildings on base. Heavy timbers provided the structural support necessary for a conveniently open
floor plan and the placement of large garage doors in the buildings' load-bearing walls. The doors opened onto
either side of two drive-through bays, making it possible for four trucks to pull inside the warehouses
simultaneously, speeding up deliveries.

Property: Abraham and Mary Walton Hogeland House
Address: 620 W. Montana St., Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: military buildings
Sign Text:

In the 1870s, ranchers and prospectors looking for gold in the Judith Mountains clamored for military protection
as they settled a region recently controlled by the Blackfeet. In response, the federal government constructed
Fort Maginnis in 1880. Garrisoned by three cavalry and three infantry companies in 1882, the fort was home to
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five hundred men and ten women. Meanwhile, more Euro-Americans settled in the region, including Abraham
Hogeland, who first traveled west as a surveyor for the Northern Pacific Railroad. According to his great-
granddaughter, the author Mary Clearman Blew, Abraham loved the Judith Basin: "having seen no better country
between Pennsylvania and Montana, [he] decided to make it his." Hogeland established a ranch on Spring Creek;
his wife Mary and their oldest child joined him from Pennsylvania two years later. In 1895, the Hogelands
purchased two officers' quarters from the recently closed Fort Maginnis. He had the buildings dismantled and
moved twenty miles to Lewistown. This gable-front-and-wing residence was the larger of the two, reassembled as
closely as possible to the original design. The Hogelands used it for a "city house," occupying the residence during
the school year, so their children could receive an education. As time passed, Abraham and Mary, while still
continuing to ranch, spent more time here. Abraham became increasingly involved in the Lewistown community,
serving as superintendent of schools and justice of the peace as well as county surveyor. As of 2007, family
members still own and maintain the property.

Property: Laux Building
Address: 200 Block of Main Street, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)
Sign Text:

Philip Laux came to Montana in 1885 from Germany and worked in a Helena stone quarry until he relocated to
Lewistown in 1890. Two of the earliest stone builders in Lewistown, brothers John and Philip Laux built many local
buildings. This 1905 building illustrates the use of mixed architectural styles along Lewistown’s Main Street. The
building functioned primarily as a saloon in its early years. Henry Osmers operated the Blue Goose Saloon at 216
West Main from 1910 until 1918 when Montana officially went dry. When Prohibition forced the closure of all
saloons, the Laux building served as a billiards parlor, clothing store, and rooming house until the end of
Prohibition in 1933. The Acme Rooming House, boasting “Baths, Steam Heat, thoroughly Modern and
Convenient,” operated upstairs from 1916 until 1975. The Empire Café opened in the mid-1940s.

Property: Bon-Ton Building
Address: 312 West Main Street, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Built around 1893, the Bon-Ton is one of four remaining pre-1900 masonry structures in the Central Business
Historic District. The term bon-ton means “a good or elegant form or style; regarded as fashionably correct.” This
structure is an excellent example of early brick remodeling on stone and its construction likely supported the
Croatian stonemasons who settled in Lewistown towards the end of the nineteenth century. The Bon-Ton serves
as an excellent example of early commercial building design. The building originally housed the Carson Saloon.
William A. Carson tended the bar and operated a boarding house on the second floor. A former lodger of
Carson’s, Charles Williams, opened the Bon-Ton Confectionery in the building in 1908 featuring an early soda
fountain. Mrs. Florence Williams took over operation of the Bon-Ton Rooming House in 1912. The Williams family
operated the business continuously for over seventy-six years. The Bon-Ton building has served Lewistown
continuously since the late nineteenth century and remains a vital part of the commercial district as the city
embarks on the twenty-first century.

Property: Mackey Building (Montana Tavern)



MT NATIONAL REGISTER SIGN TEXT 1990 TO APRIL 2019

Address: Corner of Main Street and 2nd Avenue North, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: saloons (bars)
Sign Text:

Constructed during the 1911 half-million-dollar Lewistown building boom, the $20,000 Mackey Building sits
directly over Big Spring Creek. A blend of Romanesque and Classical Revival styles, the structure maintains much
of its original fagade, including the original Mackey Building sign in the colorful exterior checkerboard masonry
work. Mrs. Pearl Bloom accommodated borders in the Mackey Rooming House on the second floor until 1922
when it became the Spokane Hotel. Along with a clean room, guests could enjoy a game of billiards and a cold
drink at the Rialto Pool Hall. The Blue Goose Saloon operated here in conjunction with the Rialto until 1916.
Prohibition forced the Blue Goose’s closure in 1918. Joseph Alweis ran the Hub Clothing out of 202 % West Main
from 1914 to 1916, and again from 1918 to 1941. The Montana Tavern opened after Prohibition. Patrons can still
view Spring Creek through an opening in the floor.

Property: Melchert's Bakery
Address: , Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Melchert Bakery Building exemplifies the popular use of masonry facades throughout the Central Business
Historic District. The structure retains its original decorative brick fagade. Lawyer Roy E. Ayres paid for the
construction of the one-story, flat-roofed building in 1916. Prominent in local politics, Ayres served two terms in
the U.S. Congress and was elected governor of Montana in 1937. The first native-born Montanan to achieve this
office, Ayres helped establish the State Unemployment Compensation Commission. William A. Melchert is more
commonly associated with the building’s history. Melchert arrived in Montana in 1912 and became an active part
of Lewistown’s downtown development. Melchert’s Bakery opened in 1914 and moved to this location in 1916,
where it remained until 1925. In conjunction with owning and operating the bakery, Melchert served as city
alderman and acting mayor of Lewistown. Melchert retired in 1956 after approximately forty-two years as a local
merchant and baker.

Property: Warr-Lane Building

Address: 309 W. Main St, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The banner year of 1913 saw close to $1.5 million spent in Lewistown on construction. Two thirds of that sum
went toward new, elegant business blocks. The city’s rapid growth—from approximately a thousand people in
1910 to over five thousand in 1914 —predicted a market for commercial space. Entrepreneurs stepped forward to
fill the need, among them the founders of the Lewistown Commercial Company, whose principals included local
businessmen Austin Warr and James Lane. The company invested $25,000 to construct the three-story Warr-Lane
Building, which offered commercial space on the first floor, offices on the second, and two apartments on the
third. Renowned Montana architectural firm Link and Haire designed the Beaux Arts style edifice; the firm had a
branch in Lewistown, a testament to the community’s sophistication and growth. The architects relied largely on
terra cotta to ornament the building. Imported from large, out-of-state manufacturers, the lightweight and easily
produced material brought big-city glamour to central Montana. In the Warr-Lane’s case the flamboyant terra-
cotta fagade features lion heads, Grecian urns, and other ornamental motifs.
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Property: Warr Building
Address: 309 West Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: boardinghouses
Sign Text:

Austin W. Warr employed renowned architect John H. Kent—one of the architects for the Montana Capitol
Building—to design the Warr Building. Warr organized the Lewistown Telephone Company in 1899. Upon
completion of this new office building in 1904, Warr relocated the Telephone Company here. The Lewistown
Telephone Company remained in this structure until 1912, when Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph
purchased the local telephone companies. The Fergus County Argus then operated out of this facility for several
years. In 1941, the Lewistown Pharmacy opened its doors to the public and continues to serve Lewistown from
this location. The second floor served as a rooming house beginning in 1918. A cast-iron column separates the
residential entry from the storefront. Lewistown became known as the City of Stone due to its reliance on stone
as the primary building material. The fagade features alternate cut and dressed stone and flamboyant arches,
exemplifying the craftsmanship of stone masonry prevalent in buildings erected in Lewistown during the early
twentieth century.

Property: Culver Studio
Address: 212 5th Ave North, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Photographer William H. Culver arrived in Lewistown in 1886 after stints in Maiden and Butte. He was particularly
known for his early photographs of central Montana, including images of the renowned 1884 Judith Roundup.
Shortly after he arrived in Lewistown, Culver established a studio on this site. In 1899, he and his wife May—also a
photographer—decided to replace that small building with this two-story gallery, studio, and residence. Fergus
County’s first free public high school held classes on the second floor of the new building in 1899, while the
county school was under construction. Because there was no rail service to Lewistown until after 1903, Culver had
his business block constructed from local sandstone and low-fire brick, likely manufactured by local brick maker
Frank Moshner. On its completion the building was “one of the largest and most substantial” in Lewistown. The
decorative, corbelled cornice and brick arches surrounding the windows reflected Culver’s civic pride and add
elegance to the front fagade. Suggesting the building’s specialized purpose is the bank of windows, or sidelight,
that let east light into the single-story, attached studio. A ghost sign on the wall facing Fifth Avenue also offers a
visual reminder of the building’s past. Clearly well suited to its purpose, the building housed photography studios
continuously for almost one hundred years. In addition to William and May Culver, resident photographers
included Katherine Coulter, Culver’s daughter and son-in-law, Sybil and Lute Musson, and George Brenner, whose
studio closed in 1995.

Property: Carnegie Library

Address: 701 W. Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Courthouse Building Type: building

Subject 1: libraries (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

"Lewistown's first library opened in 1897 with 269 books in a corner of Mary Hanson's millinery shop. When Mrs.
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Hanson left town two years later, the collection moved to the office of Elizabeth Peeples, county superintendent
of schools. In 1905 Lewistown received a $10,000 grant from industrialist and library patron Andrew Carnegie for
this sandstone building, constructed by Lewistown's famed Croatian stonemasons. Carnegie, who funded over
1,600 libraries nationwide and 17 in Montana, encouraged communities to erect modest buildings, but Lewistown
wanted a symbol of civic pride. Contractor T. J. Tubb designed and oversaw the library's construction. Praised as a

public benefactor,"" Tubb lost money on the project, adding many embellishments at his own expense. Despite
Tubb's generosity, the building cost more than Lewistown could afford and the city found itself without funds to
install a heating plant, electrical fixtures, and furniture or hire staff. Begun in 1905, the building finally opened to
the public in 1908. Notwithstanding this rocky start, the library grew and flourished, becoming the civic

""temple of learning"" its founders had envisioned."

monument and

Property: Montana Building
Address: 224 West Main Street, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2: commercial buildings
Sign Text:

This elaborate six-story brick structure represents a visible sign of the stability and prosperity in Lewistown in
1916 and stands as the architectural anchor of the Central Business District. The construction of this mixed
Neoclassical and Revival style building signaled the end of the town’s greatest period of growth. Designed by J. G.
Link and C. S. Haire, the building reflects the construction methods and materials of the period, reinforced by the
stunning white terra cotta Beaux Arts style facade. The Montana Building originally housed the Bank of Fergus
County and the Montana Hardware Company. Drought and depression created a period of anxiety for building
owners and the county eventually acquired partial ownership in lieu of taxes. A massive homestead exodus in
1924 led to the bank’s closure. In response, the First National Bank was established and opened in the building in
December 1924. Montana Hardware relocated in 1960 and the bank expanded to occupy the entire first floor. The
Montana Building is an excellent example of this period and a monument to the community’s optimism.

Property: Phillips Drug Company
Address: 322-324 West Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
Sign Text:

One of four remaining pre-1900 masonry structures in the 300 block of Main, this structure at 322 and 324 West
Main Street originally housed a restaurant and drug store. “Prescriptions our Specialty” proclaimed an early
advertisement for the Phillips Drug Company, which proprietor Horace G. Phillips began operating out of this
facility in 1910. Phillips Drug Company served as Lewistown’s leading drug store until around 1920. Throughout
the years many different drug stores and pharmacies have occupied this space. The Alta News Depot opened at
322 West Main in 1914 and continued to serve Lewistown for the next decade. Various other businesses occupied
the area adjacent to the drug store, including a bookstore, a confectionery, and offices. This one-story commercial
building retains much of its original facade, including the decorative brickwork above the awning. Light brick,
arranged in a “sawhorse” pattern, adorns the parapet area. Three diamonds accentuate each “sawhorse” giving
the structure an unusual and eye-catching appearance.

Property: Lewis House
Address: 702 West Boulevard, Lewistown, Fergus
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Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Stone buildings constructed by skilled Croatian stonemasons are intrinsic to Lewistown’s unique personality. Peter
Tuss, who built this home with Anthony Weingart in 1902, was one such prominent craftsman. Constructed for
Citizens’ Electric Company president John L. Bright, the home’s roughly coursed sandstone reveals Tuss’ skill. The
cubic form, low-pitched roof, wide overhanging eaves, and open porch with massive tapered columns define the
newly emerging Prairie style. In 1905, Rufus B. Thompson, a prominent sheep rancher, Fergus County legislator,
and president of the Empire Bank and Trust Company, acquired the deed. Thompson, his wife Inmergene, and
their five children used the residence as an “in-town” home. The addition at the back housed the Thompsons’
caretaker, Bill Freeman, whose parents were freed slaves. The family adopted the name “Freeman” after the Civil
War. Rufus Thompson was a large man weighing in at 325 pounds. When he died in 1914, the entire community
mourned his great heart and exceptional good humor. Ownership of the property remained in the Thompson
family, passing to relatives Ronald and Helen Lewis in the 1940s. From 1943 to 1948, the residence served as the
Church of Christ. Since 1948, it has been home to members of the Lewis family. Today, the gracious interior
survives with details intact. Lincrusta wainscoting, wood trim with its original finish, paneled staircase, colonnades
separating the parlor and dining room, a green marble fireplace, butler’s pantry with built-in china closets, and
vintage light fixtures preserve the home’s period ambience.

Property: Training Building

Address: Highway 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

During World War Il, many aircrews came to Lewistown for the final phase of their training. Here they logged an
average eight hours of ground school for every hour of flying time. In this building the men studied aircraft
identification, learned first aid and emergency procedures, listened to veteran combat pilots’ experiences, and
viewed government training films featuring stars like Ronald Reagan and Allan Ladd. The building also housed
three Link Trainers, fully equipped simulated cockpits. Edwin A. Link invented the first simulator in 1928 to lessen
expensive flying time while students learned visual skills on the ground. After U.S. airmail planes suffered a series
of crashes in 1934, the Army Air Corps began requiring all pilots to take Link training. On the trainers, pilots
learned to rely on instruments while flying. The Japanese Imperial Navy also used the Link Trainer, which meant
that pilots on both sides of the conflict trained to fight each other using the same system. Most other airbase
buildings had outside facilities, but because the men spent so much time here, the training building had it own
inside restroom.

Property: Power Mercantile Building
Address: 302 West Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Possibly one of the first architect-designed stone buildings along Main Street, the Power Mercantile Building is the
most visible example of Lewistown’s stone architecture. Merchant Francis Janeaux became indebted to supplier T.
C. Power and lost his buildings, merchandise, and some lots to cover his $5,096 debt. The Power Brothers
established the Power Mercantile Company in 1883 and dispatched N. M. Erickson to run the operation. Erickson
petitioned for a post office designation for Lewistown and became the city’s first postmaster on March 10, 1884.
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Erickson remained managing partner of Power Mercantile until his death in 1894. W. D. Symmes filled Erickson’s
vacant post and ultimately became sole proprietor of the mercantile. Active in Lewistown’s development,
Symmes served two non-consecutive terms as mayor. The well-established business moved into this larger stone
facility in 1901. The mercantile continued to flourish, expanding with a matching addition in 1913. The addition
connected the store on Main Street with the warehouse on Broadway. Eventually Power Mercantile occupied
most of the 300 block of Main Street.

Property: 521 West Main

Address: 521 West Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: post offices

Sign Text:

In March of 1914, four hundred local business owners protested locating Lewistown’s new post office on this site,
claiming that the call for bids was not properly advertised. Most favored housing the post office in the Masonic
Temple building. Nevertheless, the Fergus County Realty Company, one of the two bidders, won the five-year
lease. Lewistown architects Wasmansdorff and Eastman drew the plans and construction commenced
immediately under federal supervision. Uncle Sam occupied part of the storefront while businessman A. H. Smurr
and attorney W. R. Kirk leased the remaining space. Smurr and Kirk’s enterprise included a confectionery/ice
cream parlor, a factory for the manufacture of their “delicacies,” and a billiard room/bowling alley catering to the
“the highest class of the trade.” The post office remained in the building until the construction of the federal
building in 1931. This historic building has been carefully restored to its original appearance and, since 1958, has
housed one of Montana’s longest running newspapers, the Lewistown New-Argus.

Property: US Land Office / Warr Building
Address: 309 West Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Central Business Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: banks (financial institutions)
Sign Text:

A man of vision and foresight, Austin W. Warr contributed to the financial development of early Lewistown. Warr
established many of Lewistown’s founding companies, became a key figure in the development of Central
Montana, and helped ensure the financial growth of Lewistown. This 1904 richly decorated building originally
housed the United States Land Office. The second in a pair of office buildings designed by Helena architect John
Kent for A. W. Warr, the U.S. Land Office building features a Beaux Arts style facade containing elaborate terra-
cotta ornamentation. The dressed stone and flamboyant flattened arches accentuate the building’s exterior in a
visual sign of Lewistown’s growth and development. Many different businesses called the Warr Building home,
including the Lewistown State Bank from 1912 to 1913 and the Big Bear Saloon from 1916 to 1918. The Central
Meat Market and The Lewistown Meat Company operated out of the building for nearly two decades. The Victory
Barber Shop opened in 1941.

Property: Hopkins Grocery

Address: 117 W. Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Welsh immigrant Archibald Hopkins settled in central Montana in the 1870s, where he raised produce for sale to
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local markets. Hopkins watched Lewistown grow from a small trading post to an established community before
linking his fortunes to the town. He purchased this Main Street lot after voters named Lewistown the county seat
of the newly created Fergus County in 1899. The following year he and his sons hired a crew of masons to
construct this one-story building, distinguished by its cut sandstone fagade, curved pediment, and dressed stone
incised with the year "1900." An abundance of local sandstone and skilled masons made the decision to build in
stone a logical one. So did the lack of a local brickyard. Hopkins and Sons sold groceries, crockery, and kitchen
furnishing here until the Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul and Pacific Railway completed its line to Lewistown in 1908.
That year, with the town booming, the Hopkinses moved their business into the large commercial block they had
built next door.

Property: Slater Block

Address: 409-411 W. Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: recreation

Sign Text:

Slater brothers William, John, and Henry sold their business, the Palace Meat Co., in 1913. With capital from the
sale and an abundance of faith in their steadily growing community, they built this three-story commercial block.
The local architectural firm of Wasmansdorff and Eastman designed the imposing structure, constructed for
approximately $50,000 (around $1 million at today’s prices). Less ornate than some of its neighbors, the building
relies on the use of two-color brick and its terra-cotta cornice and frieze for ornamentation. The upper stories
housed the Waldorf Hotel. First-floor businesses included the Myrtle Theatre, later renamed the Broadway
Theatre. Theaters in communities on the main railroad lines frequently hosted famous entertainers on their way
to the coast; top stars rarely came to Lewistown since it was on a spur line. Nonetheless, in addition to showing
motion pictures, the Myrtle offered four Vaudeville acts each week. A Chicago management company provided
the entertainers, who included acrobats, singers, and dancers as well as actors and comedians. Adult admission
was only twenty-five cents (worth approximately $4.50 today), ten cents for children.

Property: Thompson-Lewis House
Address: 702 West Boulevard, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Stone buildings constructed by skilled Croatian stonemasons are intrinsic to Lewistown’s unique personality. Peter
Tuss, who built this home with Anthony Weingart in 1902, was one such prominent craftsman. Constructed for
Citizens’ Electric Company president John L. Bright, the home’s roughly coursed sandstone reveals the
stonemason’s art and skill of its builder. The cubic form, low-pitched roof, wide overhanging eaves, and open
porch with massive tapered columns define the newly emerging Prairie style. In 1905, Rufus B. Thompson, a
prominent sheep rancher, Fergus County legislator, and president of the Empire Bank and Trust Company,
acquired the deed. Thompson, his wife Immergene, and their five children used the residence as an “in-town”
home. The addition at the back housed the Thompsons’ caretaker, Bill Freeman, whose parents were freed slaves.
Bill's family adopted the name “Freeman” after the Civil War. Rufus Thompson was a large man weighing in at 325
pounds. When he died in 1914, the entire community mourned his great heart and exceptional good humor.
Ownership of the property remained in the Thompson family, passing to relatives Ronald and Helen Lewis in the
1940s. From 1943 to 1948, the residence served as the Church of Christ. Since 1948, it has been home to
members of the Lewis family. Today, the gracious interior survives with details intact. Lincrusta wainscoting, wood
trim with its original finish, paneled staircase, colonnades separating the parlor and dining room, a green marble
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fireplace, butler’s pantry with built-in china closets, and vintage light fixtures preserve the home’s period
ambience.

Property: Wiedeman Apartments

Address: 210-214 W. Broadway, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: apartments Subject 2:

Sign Text:

As Lewistown’s population doubled between 1910 and 1920, the community found itself short on living space.
According to the paper, newcomers had difficulty procuring “even the most indifferent dwelling
accommodations.” G. R. Wiedeman capitalized on the tight housing market by constructing this two-story
business block, which featured retail space on the first floor and apartments on the second. An energetic
businessman and Lewistown booster, Wiedeman was a principal in the Montana Hardware Company and one of
the founders of the Lewistown Electric Light Company and the Lewistown Brick and Tile Company. His brickyard’s
distinctive “Lewistown red” lines the 1916 building’s facade. Much of the rest of the building is of rubble stone,
salvaged from the original Montana Hardware Co. building. Wiedeman and his partners razed that early Main
Street building in 1916 to construct a larger, more sophisticated business block. As a result, both Main Street and
Broadway—whose development lagged substantially behind Main—became more elegant. After a 1943 fire, the
Wiedemans converted the mixed-use building into eight apartments, two of which were occupied by Wiedeman
sons Art and Bill.

Property: Huntoon Residence
Address: 722 W. Water, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

“The finest and most costly residence” built in Lewistown in 1916, this one-and-one-half-story stone home
belonged to John and Maud Huntoon. The Huntoons arrived in Lewistown in 1903, where John practiced law
before becoming judge of the tenth judicial district in 1922. The couple commissioned the Billings architectural
firm of Link and Haire to design the home; the prominent firm had a branch office here in the 1910s. The house,
thought to be the last stone residence built in Lewistown, reflects the community’s outstanding tradition of stone
construction, and Croatian stonemason John Plovanic’s fine craftsmanship clearly enhanced the design. That
design includes popular Craftsman style elements with its low-pitched roof, gabled dormers, inset porch, and wide
overhanging eaves. However, other architectural features reveal the owners’ or architects’ personal aesthetic:
particularly notable are the “Islamic” keyhole arches framing the sunroom windows and the curved bargeboards
accenting the roofline. The interior, originally “finished with white enamel,” included a “fernery” and a “billiard
room,” and its detailing factored into the princely $15,000 construction cost. The residence still boasts a large
sandstone fireplace in the living room, original mahogany doors, and, in the dining room, an electric call bell to
summon the maid. The well-designed home suited the Huntoons, who lived here until after John’s death in 1933.
Maud apparently sought to preserve the tranquil surroundings. According to local sources, the city originally
planned to build the junior high school on this block, but because of her objections, the 1922 building was
ultimately located several blocks away.

Property: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Historic Distrcit
Address: , Lewistown, Fergus
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Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: buildings contributing

Subject 1: World War Subject 2: military buildings

Sign Text:

In the dark days following the December 7, 1941, attack on Pearl Harbor, Congress appropriated massive defense
appropriations. The US Army selected Great Falls, Montana, as the site of a major air base. Concurrent with its
construction were satellite airfields at Cut Bank, Glasgow, and Lewistown. On October 28, 1942, the first Boeing B-
17 Flying Fortresses roared over Lewistown’s Main Street with their bomb bays open, buzzed the treetops, and
landed at the Lewistown Airfield. Crews trained day and night combining navigation, bombing, and gunnery
practice. The men familiarized themselves with all aspects of the B-17 and trained with the top secret Norden
bombsight, a computerized aiming device that reportedly could “put bombs in a pickle barrel.” After one to three
months of instruction, aircrews then flew directly to join the air war in Europe. Nearly 1,000 Gls trained at the
Lewistown Airfield. They became a welcome part of the community, married local girls, and won the hearts of the
townspeople. Many never came home. B-17s carried 4,000 pounds of bombs and served in every World War |
combat zone, but casualties among bomber squadrons were horrific. A single mission over Germany in October
1942 claimed 60 B-17s and 600 lives. The Lewistown Satellite Airfield was deactivated after eleven months of
service. As the US Department of Defense systematically removes “temporary” World War Il buildings, this
Airfield is a rarity and its intact Norden bombsight storage shelter is the only known identifiable example
remaining in the United States.

Property: Operations and Alert Building

Address: U.S. Route 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Satellite Airfield Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: military buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Planning and scheduling of the training missions took place in this one-story T-shaped building during an eleven-
month period in 1942-1943. After November 1942, when the first of the four-engine B-17 bombers roared down
the airfield, they filled the skies over Central Montana. Despite the secrecy and censorship surrounding activities
at the airfield, the Army publicized and marked off practice bombing ranges because the use of live ammunition
and bombs made public safety a concern. One range in Blaine County was used for the high altitude precision
bombing proven successful in Germany; another in northern Chouteau County served as a gunnery range. Two
lines of Japanese “Zero Plane” silhouettes served as targets for strafing practice. The men frequently flew in
precise formation under simulated battle conditions, “...when ships must be so spaced as to cover one another
with guns.” Even routine training flights over Central Montana experienced casualties. One B-17 crashed near Fort
Benton in September of 1942 killing all ten aboard; another crash in December of 1943 south of Musselshell
claimed ten crewmen and a cook hitching a ride.

Property: Lehman Bunkhouse

Address: 801 W Broadway, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Courthouse Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: boardinghouses Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Two distinct buildings of different origins but with a shared purpose rest companionably side by side on this site
today. Pioneer merchant Charles Lehman constructed the handsome stone segment in the 1890s as a rooming
house for his unmarried male employees. By 1908, a rubblestone addition had doubled the size of the original cut
stone building. The residence also served rural students who boarded in town while attending the county high
school. The old Lehman property was purchased by the Lewistown branch of the Montana Institute for the Arts in
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1970. When the new art center needed additional space, the turn-of-the-twentieth-century two-story frame
building was literally rescued from the bulldozer and moved here in 1977. Large doors reveal its former function
as the carriage house of local district judge Rudolph Von Tobel. The few exterior alterations, including beautiful
stained glass from St. Joseph’s Hospital incorporated into a window and a main entry linking the two buildings
together, have little altered the original appearances. The complex now serves the community as an art center
and as an inspirational model of adaptive reuse.

Property: Lewistown Central Business District

Address: , Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: district

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Lewistown’s elegant commercial district was constructed during central Montana’s most prosperous decades,
from 1900 to 1920. That era of good weather, and railroad and government publicity, drew thousands of
homesteaders into the area. Lewistown grew from 1,100 in 1900 to 6,000 in 1920. Local architects Wasmansdorff
and Eastman, and prominent Montana firms including Link and Haire and Kent and Bell employed Beaux Arts and
period revival designs. Into those designs they incorporated readily available sandstone and exuberant
polychromatic and figured brick and for details, stamped sheet metal and terra cotta. The prominence of stone
masonry results from the abundance of building stone in the area and the immigration to Lewistown of
experienced, highly skilled Croatian stone masons. After 1911, the Lewistown Brick and Tile Company produced
distinctive “Lewistown Red” brick from nearby clay deposits that masons respected for its strength and
uniformity. Despite the homestead “bust” of the late teens, Lewistown has continued to grow slowly and serve as
a regional commercial, educational, social, and transportation center. Although many first-floor storefronts
sustained “fashionable” 1960s and 1970s modifications, the district remains an architectural and historical anchor
in central Montana.

Property: First Presbyterian Church
Address: 215 5th Ave S, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

This grand cut-stone structure was formally dedicated in 1913, becoming a major contributor to Lewistown’s
character as a “city of stone.” Although Lewistown had Presbyterian services as early as 1890 and an early
Presbyterian Church and manse, planning for this building began in 1909 during Lewistown’s period of greatest
growth. The congregation hired local architects Otto F. Wasmansdorff and George Eastman. They created a design
with many Gothic Revival details, to be built of native sandstone by local Croatian stone masons under the
direction of builder T. J. Tubb. Look for the Gothic Revival influence in the square crenellated bell tower, engaged
buttresses with dressed stone weathering caps, the arched windows, and the dressed stone cornice. Imagine the
sandstone slabs weighing 140-180 pounds per cubic foot, quarried south of Lewistown, being hauled to the site
and then fashioned into precise blocks with hand chisels, hammers, and mallets.

Property: Judith Place Historic District

Address: , Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Judith Place  Building Type: district
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

Then a “suburb” of Lewistown, the Judith Place Addition was platted in 1911 to provide “up to date” residences
for the growing town’s middle-class families. With Craftsman-style designs mostly from architectural pattern
books, no two homes are exact duplicates, but a number share the same floor plan. Notable Craftsman features
include wood frame construction, wide front porches with square or battered support columns, exposed rafter
tails, and decorative beams or braces. Detailing influenced by the Prairie style shows in gently pitched,
overhanging roofs and window banding. In 1912, the idea of a planned development was innovative when the
Empire Land Company (“Lewistown’s Home Builders”) advertised six-room bungalows for $3,500 and eight-room
homes for $4,500, complete with electric lights and water. The district’s design cohesiveness reflects its creation
during the Progressive Era, with its accent on community planning, and the national movement towards
standardizing single-family homes. Locally, the district reveals the opportunity for optimism, planning, and good
craftsmanship for middle-class businessmen that Lewistown experienced before World War 1.

Property: 108 Hawthorne Avenue

Address: 108 Hawthorne Avenue, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Judith Place  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The Empire Land Company constructed many of Judith Place’s most fashionable residences, including this one-
and-one-half-story Craftsman style home circa 1914. Reflecting the Progressive Era’s emphasis on efficiency, the
company adopted the relatively new “systems approach” to building, which used standard-sized studs and joists
to expedite construction. Advertising themselves as “Lewistown’s Home Builders,” the Empire Land Company
promised to “furnish plans, use first class materials and guarantee workmanship.” Despite its commitment to
standardization, the company varied details to give each home an individual flare. In the case of this house, a full-
length porch tucked under the upper attic story, exposed rafter tails, a W-truss tracery, and decorative barge
boards distinguish the exterior. Attorney W. R. Kirk briefly owned the home before selling it in 1916 to Charles
and Daisy McClave. The McClaves lived here with their two children, a maid, and Daisy’s mother through the early
1920s. The now defunct town of McClave was named for Charles, who served as president and manager of
Montana Flour Mills. His company’s slogan, “It’s the wheat,” reflected his connection to area farms.

Property: Saint Leo's Catholic Church
Address: 124 West Broadway, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Lewistown’s first Catholic church was a small frame structure built in 1888. Visiting priests from distant St. Peter’s
Mission, Great Falls, and Fort Benton celebrated mass for the French-Canadian, Indian, and settler congregations.
The first resident pastor was appointed in 1893. Less than fifteen years later, Lewistown experienced the
beginning of a population boom that extended to 1917. When the Catholic population reached a peak in 1915-16,
the need for a new Catholic church became critical. The resident pastor, Reverend Victor J. Van den Broeck, and
his building committee chose the well-known firm of Link and Haire to design the new church. Despite the
architects’ concerns that the site was too swampy, work on the new church began in July 1915. Bishop Mathias
Lenihan of Great Falls dedicated the new structure on November 12, 1916. The design of St. Leo’s Catholic Church
incorporates a blend of Italian Early Christian and Romanesque styling on a Roman cross plan. The campanile, or
bell tower, rises to a height of 95 feet. Blind arcading, exterior buttressing, rose windows, and intricate brickwork
with terra cotta highlights complement the integrity and nobility of this magnificent building. During renovation of
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the interior in 1991-92, the original tabernacle was restored to use and the earliest confessionals were re-
fashioned into the present altar.

Property: Bank of Fergus County

Address: 223 W. Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: banks (financial institutions) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Kent and Bell, designers of the Montana State Capitol, drew the plans for this Renaissance Revival/Beaux Arts-
inspired building of sandstone and brick, completed in 1904. The bank was Lewistown’s first, founded in 1887 by
S. S. Hobson, James H. Moe, and merchant prince T. C. Power. Remodeling in 1915 added terra cotta window
facings, pilasters, columns, and horizontal moldings intended to complement the design of the adjacent 1914
Judith Theatre. These embellishments demonstrate a shift along Main Street from the use of local materials to
those imported by the railroad. The original wainscoting, high ceilings, and brass-trimmed swinging doors within
reflect the wealth of a bygone era.

Property: First Presbyterian Church
Address: 215 5th Ave S, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

This grand cut-stone structure was formally dedicated in 1913, becoming a major contributor to Lewistown’s
character as a “city of stone.” Although Lewistown had Presbyterian services as early as 1890 and an early
Presbyterian Church and manse, planning for this building began in 1909 during Lewistown’s period of greatest
growth. The congregation hired local architects Otto F. Wasmansdorff and George Eastman. They created a design
with many Gothic Revival details, to be built of native sandstone by local Croatian stone masons under the
direction of builder T. J. Tubb. Look for the Gothic Revival influence in the square crenellated bell tower, engaged
buttresses with dressed stone weathering caps, the arched windows, and the dressed stone cornice. Imagine the
sandstone slabs weighing 140-180 pounds per cubic foot, quarried south of Lewistown, being hauled to the site
and then fashioned into precise blocks with hand chisels, hammers, and mallets.

Property: St. Joseph's Hospital
Address: US Route 87, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: hospitals Subject 2: Catholics
Sign Text:

In 1903, Lewistown welcomed a group of nuns from France, members of the Order of the Daughters of Jesus. This
location would turn out to be their only house in the United States. In a short time, Sister Philomene saw that the
twenty-four-year-old town needed a hospital, and she began soliciting funds. Within three years, the foundation
was laid for St. Joseph’s Hospital, which opened in October 1908 with the Daughters of Jesus serving as nurses
under Mother Philomene, Superior. The original building and three additional units all were constructed by the
Croatian stonemasons who had begun emigrating to Lewistown in 1898 from the town BriBir and who are
responsible for many buildings throughout the city. All Catholics, the stonemasons each donated one day’s labor
per week to the hospital’s construction. Between 1913 and 1935, four sandstone wings were added, including a
maternity ward and a chapel. The nursing school building, of brick rather than sandstone, arose in 1936. St.
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Joseph’s Hospital served approximately 5,500 patients annually until 1977, when a new central Montana hospital
was built.

Property: Lewistown Mercantile Company

Address: 220 E Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: warehouses Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Rail transportation in the early twentieth century brought homesteaders to Fergus County and cemented
Lewistown’s role as a regional commercial center. The General Brokerage Company of Grand Rapids, North
Dakota, financed this stunning warehouse for the Great Northern Railway in 1916. The local architectural firm of
Otto F. Wasmansdorff and George Eastman, whose architectural palette included stone masonry and the
masterful use of brick, designed the building. Plans called for an innovative design unlike other early nineteenth-
century warehouses. It was intended to be an eye-catching addition to Lewistown’s Main Street. The Democrat
News, December 17, 1916, reported that the attractive building greatly enhanced the depot area and was an
indication that the wholesalers had great optimism for Lewistown as a jobbing and distribution center. The
$30,000 grocery warehouse featured up-to-date refrigeration for fruits and vegetables and the most modern
system for cooling, humidifying, and ripening bananas. Large peanut roasters, special rooms for candy and nuts,
and tempered fresh air ventilation for employees’ offices offered ideal conditions for both produce and workers.
The railroad considered this warehouse the best of the sixty it owned at this time. The Lewistown Brick and Tile
Company provided the brick, expertly laid to enhance aesthetic appeal. Precast concrete adds contrasting
ornamentation. The utilitarian dark red brick forms handsome pilasters at the corners and entry. A grand parapet
with precast concrete coping accents the roofline. A “ghost sign” for the Central Feed Company attests to the
building’s later conversion to a feed mill.

Property: Mill House
Address: Upper Spring Creek, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: powerhouses Subject 2:
Sign Text:

This ashlar mill is a fine illustration of Croatian building traditions imported by immigrants who settled in
Lewistown. These Old World artisans accomplished all phases of the masonry work themselves: extracting the
stone from Big Spring Quarry, then rough cutting, transporting, shaping, and finally laying each finished piece in
place. Simple arched windows, single-piece downsloped windowsills, and walls of graduated coursed cut stone
are crafted with the hands of a skilled master. Although two carefully constructed new wings have expanded the
mill for residential use, the original building well represents the skills and talents of immigrant artisans who
provided a vital community service and greatly enriched the local landscape. Lewistown received electric service
in1893, but within a decade the demand for more power had increased with the population. Big Spring Creek was
an ideal source for hydroelectric power. In 1903, the Citizen’s Electric Company built this main powerhouse, which
produced 450 kilowatts of electricity for the city of Lewistown. The Upper Spring Creek Power Plant, in operation
until 1928, extends over a deep eddy that was once the outlet for the water that drove the water wheel. Power
generating equipment occupied the main floor, while the upper level served as living quarters for the operators.

Property: Lewistown Courthouse Historic District
Address: , Lewistown, Fergus
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Historic District: Lewistown Courthouse Building Type: district

Subject 1: Subject 2:

Sign Text:

In 1879, Metis—people of French and Chippewa-Cree descent—homesteaded in this area, near the army’s Camp
Lewis. Many street names memorialize these settlers, who included Francis A. Janeaux and Paul Morase. But open
range cattle ranching, nearby gold discoveries, and the growth of the sheep industry quickly made Lewistown a
regional supply center. Fergus County was created in 1885 with Lewistown as its seat. The district reflects the
maturing of the town as a governmental and business center. C. E. Bell, one of the Montana Capitol’s architects,
designed the 1904 stone jail. The elegant stone Carnegie library was built in 1905. The brick Fergus County
Courthouse followed in 1907. The Lewistown Art Center is housed in what was once the Charles Lehman
Bunkhouse. Lewistown’s first junior high school, built in 1921, is one of the later civic buildings in the district.
Residences important for their historical associations and distinct designs cluster around these public buildings.
Attorney William Blackford’s residence was built with materials such as finely milled lumber brought in on trains.
The two David Hilger residences, one moved here from Fort Maginnis before 1900 and the other built of brick in
1913, recall the sheep rancher who participated in many important community projects.

Property: The Hub

Address: 211 West Main Street, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Lewistown’s population tripled between 1900 and 1910 and the booming building trade attracted stonemasons
and craftsmen, many of them Croatian immigrants, who settled here. The upper fagade of this 1908 one-story
commercial building, revealed during restoration in 1990, exemplifies the fine stonework of these Old World
artisans. Also uncovered was the original sign for The Hub clothing store, located here for many years, and the
motto (which is repeated on the sidewalk) of proprietor Joe Alweis. A respected early day resident and local
property owner, Alweis is fondly remembered by “old timers” for his big-hearted generosity during the hard times
of drought and depression. If a customer couldn’t afford clothing, he had to “just pay the freight.”

Property: McDonald and Charters Block

Address: 506 W Main, Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: fraternal lodges

Sign Text:

The beautiful blending of brick and handcut stone in this 1905 business block serves as a fine example of
Lewistown'’s distinctive architecture. Romanesque Revival arches, Renaissance Revival wall layering, and an
Italianate cornice speak to the exuberant eclecticism of the period. Built by local contractor George Wells for
Charles McDonald and John Charters, the building originally housed a land office and the Lewistown Bakery whose
specialty was “Mother’s Bread.” The Knights of Pythias met in the second-floor lodge hall. Now an integral part of
a three-building unit, the narrow cut stone first-floor entry hall and upper-floor fagade retain their 1905
appearances.

Property: Lewistown Silk Stocking Historic District

Address: , Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Silk Stocking Building Type: district
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

The seven large residences that comprise Lewistown’s mansion, hence “silk stocking,” district were built during
the city’s period of greatest prosperity, from 1904 to 1919. In this small neighborhood, central Montana’s major
entrepreneurs, whose fortunes represent historic area resource development, built their homes. In 1904, J. T.
Wunderlin, a partner in the Barnes-King gold mine at Kendall and an organizer of the Empire Bank and Trust of
Lewistown, built his home here. Rancher George Wiedeman built his home in 1905, better able to follow his
interests in the Montana Hardware Company and the Lewistown Brick and Tile Company. In the following years,
homes were also built by Weymouth D. Symmes, owner of Power Mercantile and a Lewistown mayor; by John
Waite, pioneer sheep rancher, banker, and state senator; by department store owner E. C. Swietzer; by rancher-
businessman Fred Warren; and by banker T. T. Taylor. Many of these homes were designed by architects. Note
the variety of styles—Roman Revival, Shingle style, Arts and Crafts, and Georgian. They attest to the exuberance
of this special era in Lewistown’s history.

Property: Knerr-Tubb Block / Armory Hall

Address: 116 Main (West), Lewistown, Fergus

Historic District: Lewistown Central Business  Building Type: building

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: recreation

Sign Text:

Rubble stone construction with brick veneer became Main Street’s preferred design after 1909. The elegant
facade of this business block is an early example of the newer style, constructed before 1911 when locally
produced bricks became available. Ground-floor businesses offered food and libation at the Montana Buffet or
pool and billiards next door at Spring and Eldred’s. Upstairs, dance enthusiasts “tripped the light fantastic” at
charity and dress balls, weekly dances, and dance classes. In 1914, Professor Oswald of Seattle taught the latest
steps like the Hesitation Waltz and the tango. The exaggerated height, arched windows, and decorative sheet
metal cornice of the upper floor appear today as they did in 1909.

Property: Kalispell Hotel
Address: 100 Main Street, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Main Street (Commercial) Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Running water, wake-up calls, and doors with locks were just a few of the amenities travelers could expect in this
classy and expensive $2-a-night hotel, which opened in 1912. Kalispell architect Marion Riffo designed the three-
story landmark built by local contractor B. Brice Gilliland. Since five other hotels closer to the railroad tracks
offered stiff competition, a rooftop electric sign—one of the largest in the northwest—beckoned travelers. Hotel
proprietors included Montana author Frank Linderman, who managed the business from 1924 to 1926. His
frequent guest was renowned Montana artist Charlie Russell. Sale of the hotel lease brought Linderman enough
profit to allow him to continue his writing. In later decades, the hotel fell on hard times and guests became less
particular. Renovation, begun in 1989, transformed the original 52 rooms with “facilities down the hall” into a
modern 40-room hotel. But the historic ambience remains in the lofty tin ceiling and oak stairway that still grace
the spacious lobby, inviting visitors in imagine a bygone era.

Property: Anderson Style Shop
Address: , Kalispell, Flathead
Historic District: Kalispell Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing
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Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

When the railroad bypassed Demersville in 1891, many businessmen loaded their buildings onto log rollers,
hauling them three miles to the newly platted community of Kalispell. This lot became home to a two-story
Demersville building, occupied first by a grocery, then by the Pacific Union Tea Company, and then, in the 1920s,
by a “ladies furnishings” store. Around 1928, Carl Anderson, who ran the Orpheum, Liberty, and Roxie Theaters,
opened Anderson Style Shop, hiring a manager to run “the headquarters for style and correctness in Kalispell.” In
1941, Anderson asked Kalispell’s premiere architect Fred Brinkman to design this modern showcase. It cost
Anderson $17,500 to raze the original wooden building and replace it with a fitting home for his fashion-forward
business. Travertine siding, copper alloy bands, and glass block combine to present a sleek yet fanciful facade. A
heraldic crest flanked by sea horses crowns the high style building.

Property: Ragsdale House
Address: 825 2nd Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Built in 1909 for blacksmith Howard Ragsdale, this cozy hipped-roof bungalow features a molded concrete block
basement, narrow-reveal clapboard siding, and a small integrated porch. Its wide overhanging eaves and exposed
rafter tails reflect the popular Craftsman style. Pharmacist William F. Halliday purchased the property in 1917.
Halliday owned the Red Cross Pharmacy, which according to the 1910 Daily Interlake stocked "drugs, chemicals,
patent medicines and ... [a] hundred and one fancy toilet articles." A "modern, sanitary soda fountain" lured
customers into the shop, which also sold Havana cigars, choice confections, books, stationery, and office supplies.
By 1920 traveling salesman James Forter and his wife Lorinda had purchased the home. After renting it to widow
Mary Richie and her daughters, Jennie (a schoolteacher) and Elizabeth (a librarian), the Forters lived here from
1922 to 1928. Percy and Audrey Metzner, owners of Metzner's Furniture Exchange, then purchased the residence,
valued at $4,500 in 1930 (equivalent to approximately $56,000 in 2007). Later owners included R. Burt Johnson,
chief clerk of Mountain State Power, and his wife Lucille, who lived here from 1940 to 1972.

Property: Flathead Wholesale Grocery
Address: 5 First Avenue East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Minnesota merchant brothers Tom, John, and William Elliott moved to Kalispell in 1911, after buying James
Conlon’s successful mercantile. They expanded into the wholesale grocery business in 1914, building this two-
story brick warehouse near the Great Northern Railway tracks. The solid, practical building is designed to hold
thousands of pounds of goods. Interior posts and beams helped support the weight; the main floor originally had
about 7,500 square feet filled with shelves for dry storage. A small enclosed office sat on the west end of the
building. The Elliotts stored perishable goods, including barrels of vinegar, canned fruits and vegetables, and
molasses, in the basement to protect them from temperature fluctuations. A freight elevator ran from the
basement to a second-story balcony shipping room. The elevator was designed for loads of up to 3,000 pounds,
but as one enthusiastic reporter explained, since its motor was “capable of lifting 7,000 pounds . .. an extra case
of pork and beans would hardly stall it.” The Elliotts purchased local produce, like potatoes, for export by rail.
They also imported a wide range of groceries that they sold to area retailers. Rail cars traveled from the main line
on a spur line built specifically to bring goods to the warehouse. At one time, a rear loading platform angled to
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align with the rail line, easing the transfer of merchandise from the boxcars to the wholesale grocery. Although
the tracks (and the loading platform) have long since been removed, the warehouse remains, reflecting the
importance of the Great Northern Railway to early Kalispell commerce.

Property: Morgan house
Address: 344 6th Avenue East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Following new towns that sprang up across Montana, architect Franklin M. Morgan left a trail of buildings he
helped construct from Billings to Miles City and Great Falls. Many were the first buildings in these fledgling
communities. Morgan moved on to Demersville in 1891 as that settlement was relocating to the new town of
Kalispell. Little of Morgan’s work remains, but his own Kalispell residence designed and constructed in 1892 is a
fascinating study in change. Originally a striking Queen Anne style home, owner William Macdonald hired Henry
Hansman to remodel the exterior in 1924. The dramatic emergence from the Queen Anne style to Colonial Revival
included alteration of the cross-gabled roof to clipped gable, squaring the original floorplan to make it more
symmetrical and the addition of classical details including Tuscan columns and circular windows. The
transformation was almost complete, except for the remaining two-story canted bay on the east which betrays
the Queen Anne origins of this significant home.

Property: First Presbyterian Church of Whitefish
Address: 301 Central Ave, Whitefish, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Not long after the Great Northern Railway announced its plans for a division point in Whitefish, Presbyterian
missionary E. M. Ellis and Kalispell minister Alexander Pringle traveled by bicycle and rowboat to visit the site.
Soon after, Reverend Pringle canvassed logging and railroad camps for donations of cash and labor to construct a
sanctuary. By December 1903, Whitefish had its first church. The First Presbyterian Church moved several times in
the early years. By 1919, it had once again outgrown its building; to accommodate congregants, the church held
services in the Masonic Lodge while planning a new house of worship. Under direction of physician and active
church member W. W. Taylor, the building committee devised detailed drawings, which the Spokane architectural
firm Rigg and Vantyne modified only slightly. The building committee chose a Romanesque Revival style design,
considered less ostentatious and more appropriate for a Protestant church than the competing Gothic tradition.
Romanesque Revival churches featured masonry construction, heavily arched windows, bands of stylized
decoration, and towers—in this case a Norman style square tower that serves as the building’s main entrance.
The one-story building featured a large daylight basement with a high ceiling, designed to provide clearance for a
full-sized basketball court. Community members donated the large art glass windows ornamenting the sanctuary.
Among them are two purchased by Japanese railroad workers for $700 in honor of churchwoman Elizabeth Peck,
who taught the men English. A tribute to Peck, the windows also commemorate Whitefish’s once-thriving
Japanese community and the church’s long history of community service.

Property: W.L. Adair General Mercantile Historic District

Address: Main Street, Polebridge, Flathead

Historic District: W.L. Adair General Mercantile Building Type: district
Subject 1: cabins (houses) Subject 2: homesteads
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Sign Text:

Remote wilderness where a man could live by his own rules drew Bill Adair to northwestern Montana in 1904. He
and his wife, Jessie, built a log mercantile on the east side of the North Fork of the Flathead River, supplying goods
to the few settlers in the sparsely populated area. When the designation of Glacier National Park in 1910
eliminated homesteading on that side of the river, Adair saw that his future lay across the river where
homesteaders continued to settle. Choosing a spot with exceptional fishing nearby, Adair filed a land claim in
1912 and built this cabin of square-notched, unhewn peeled logs. The false-fronted mercantile was completed in
1914. Adair's holdings, maintained with Jessie's help, and later that of second wife Emma, reflected a self-
sufficient lifestyle. By 1917 the property included twenty-two acres planted in hay, potatoes, timothy grass, and
garden vegetables, four work horses, one hundred chickens, and a milk cow. From 1913 to 1920, Adair's was the
only general store in the North Fork region and a favored spot for social events. By 1922 more than 150
homesteads dotted the fifty-mile stretch of valley bottom, but the area never became heavily populated. Even
today the Polebridge Mercantile continues to serve its few North Fork residents, while this splendid, unspoiled
environment remains largely undiscovered by tourists.

Property: 636 Third Avenue East
Address: 636 Third Avenue East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1890, the Flathead River town of Demersville was the valley’s trading center. However, after the Great
Northern founded Kalispell in 1891, residents—including longtime owner of this home, Ira Sanborn—abandoned
Demersville for the new railroad town. Many took their houses with them, and local sources believe that this one-
story wooden home was one of the many Demersville buildings loaded onto log rollers so horses could haul them
three miles north to Kalispell. When Walter and Ethel Craven purchased the property in 1910, the residence was
advertised as a “modern 6 room house” with a “bath, hot and cold water, electric lights, chicken and wood house;
some fruit. All first class.” The chicken and wood houses are long gone; by 1927, a two-story garage had taken
their place. The primary residence was also remodeled, but it still sports many features that characterized early
Kalispell homes: wooden siding; decorative shingles in the front gable; a native rock foundation; the original glass
windowpanes, with all their subtle irregularities; and a full-length, hipped-roof front porch.

Property: 503 5th Ave E
Address: F.W. Cole House, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type:
Subject 1: Subject 2:
Sign Text:

An eclectic blend of periods and styles characterizes the historic streetscapes of Kalispell’s East Side. This home is
a charming example of a mixed house form with Tudor style details, very fashionable during the 1920s and 1930s.
Frank W. Cole drew the blueprints for the residence which he built for himself and his wife, Florence, in 1932.
Tudor elements include stuccoed, half-timbered gables and a gabled entry with narrow windows. Inside,
hardwood floors and five doorways with graceful Tudor arches lend the home a rich ambience. The distinctive
interior doorways include a spacious arch separating the dining and living rooms; another, smaller scale arch in
the bathroom defines the area above the bathtub. Frank and his father, Frank G. Cole, established Cole’s Machine
Works in 1928 and operated the business together until 1960 when the elder Cole retired. They advertised as “the
original manufacturers of barrel stoves and furnaces.” Frank and Florence Cole made their home here until 1975.
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Property: Boles Residence
Address: 40 Appleway Drive, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: commercial structures
Sign Text:

Thousands of American soldiers served in Europe during World War I, and many of these fresh-faced doughboys
returned home with a new appreciation for European architecture. The Tudor style particularly caught their
imagination with its emblematic half-timbering, steeply pitched roofs, massive chimneys, decorative chimney
pots, and tall, multi-paned windows. Rapid changes in technology, industry, and social customs marked the Jazz
Age of the 1920s, creating nostalgia for the supposedly simpler past the style represented. Tudor’s storybook
charm also seemed particularly appropriate for suburban country houses as the newly rich adopted the style in
imitation of English country homes. Architects and pattern books aided the style’s spread and Tudor Revival soon
rivaled Craftsman and Colonial Revival in popularity. Among those enamored with the Tudor Revival was Montana
architect Frederick Brinkman, who designed several Kalispell residences in the style, including this impressive one-
and-one-half-story home. Built for Charles and Helen Boles in 1932, the house features an intersecting gable
roofline, blond brick on the first floor, and false half-timbering on the second. Decorative wrought iron, wooden
finials, and a prominent brick chimney add elegance to the well-designed residence. Like many Tudor Revival style
homes, the interior complements the exterior: the original built-in cabinets and large brick fireplace remain intact
as do the architect’s signature interior arches. A well-to-do farmer and property manager, Charles lived here with
his wife and daughter until 1944, when the family moved to Havre. In 2000 the residence was converted into
offices for the United Way.

Property: Ford Residence
Address: 728 1st Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Stockman and real estate developer James A. Ford arrived in Kalispell with the Great Northern Railway in 1891. In
1898, he built a two-story business block at the corner of First and Main. On the second floor was a rooming
house, where he lived with his two sisters. In 1923, the siblings moved into this fine Craftsman style residence,
where Ford made his home until his death in 1934. The stylish home provided the Fords with ample living space;
among other amenities, each of the five bedrooms boasts a walk-in closet. The home’s design closely resembles
that of a mail-order house, “the Vincennes,” sold by Montgomery Ward and Co. Montgomery Ward was one of
several companies that sold house plans and supplied precut lumber and other material for builders to quickly
assemble on site. The Vincennes’ classic Craftsman style features include its wide overhanging eaves, exposed
rafter tails, bracketed cornices, multi-pane windows, and full-length front porch. Clustered columns supporting
the broad porch beam provide the design’s most striking feature, adding elegance and dignity to the inviting front
facade.

Property: Brintnall House

Address: 321 5th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

There were very few homes in the neighborhood when the Reverend O. W. Mintzer built this cross-gabled Queen
Anne style landmark in 1894. Although brick was readily available, its wood construction illustrates the local
preference of the period. Rich details including stained glass, an ornate screen door, and decorative scrollwork
complement the typical Queen Ann asymmetry. By the turn of the century, American Steam Laundry proprietor
Frederick French lived in the home with his family and eight boarders. The Frenches advertised their rooms as
having electric light, water, and an additional amenity: laundry service. Chester Brintnall owned the home by 1923
when he leased it to Montana author Frank Bird Linderman. Linderman went into the hotel business to finance his
writing career and lived here in the 1920s while he was the successful proprietor of the Kalispell Hotel. A Kalispell
school bears Linderman’s name. Brintnall, who helped establish Kalispell’s rural delivery routes and later became
assistant postmaster, lived here from 1927 to 1952.

Property: Heller Building
Address: 140 Main St, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Main Street Commercial Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: saloons (bars) Subject 2: commercial buildings
Sign Text:

Kalispell already boasted its fair share of saloons when August Heller opened this downtown establishment in
1900. Cream and mottled brick with a “reverse stair step” cornice—the hallmark of local brick masons Jack, Art,
and Ed Stahl—made the Heller Saloon an impressive business. Heller traveled to Chicago for interior fittings,
added a hot water boiler in 1902, Kalispell’s first cement sidewalk in 1904, and a Stubber’s gas lighting system in
1907. Spittoons on the floor, imported liquors, back room poker games, and rumors of loose women upstairs kept
a rough-and-tumble clientele entertained. So famous was Heller’s Saloon that temperance crusading bar-smasher
Carrie Nation delivered her gospel message in front of the building in 1910, exchanging heated words with
proprietor Heller. During Prohibition, John Gus Thompson—Pittsburgh Pirates’ pitcher in the first World Series in
1903—moved his pool hall here. Later, the Pastime Bar offered fishing tackle, beer, tobacco, and hot meals. The
Pastime closed in 1988. In 2005, a fire in an adjacent building prompted a complete restoration of the Heller
building, which now accommodates commercial and office space.

Property: Bunkhouses
Address: Flathead National Forest, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Big Creek Ranger Station Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: ranger stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Constructed in 1939, the bunkhouse now known as the Boys Dorm has an L-shaped plan with a small porch
marking the entrance. Small gables interrupt the roofline, bringing light into the interior. The one-story cross-
gable building provided housing for seasonal fire and Civilian Conservation Corps crews assigned to the Big Creek
station. In 1966, the Forest Service chose Big Creek as an intra-regional fire-fighting headquarters. To
accommodate the expanded crews, it relocated a second bunkhouse (now the Girls Dorm) from the Coram Ranger
Station near Hungry Horse. That bunkhouse, also originally built in 1939, looks much the same as the original
bunkhouse except for the placement of its front door. Both buildings were based on standard plans provided by
Region One’s central office. The plans specified frame construction, with the use of logs for structural support,
and sawed cedar shingle siding. In the 1980s, interregional crews in Boise, Idaho, and elsewhere eclipsed the need
for remote stations like Big Creek, and the station closed. The buildings went unused until 1989, when the Forest
Service authorized the Glacier Institute to house youth education programs.
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Property: Cookhouse
Address: Flathead National Forest, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Big Creek Ranger Station Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: ranger stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1930, three years after building the Ranger’s House, the Forest Service constructed this one-and-one-half-story,
shingle-clad building. First used as a warehouse, it features a high gambrel roof and a screened-in single-story
entrance porch. Although it is the only building on this site to sport a gambrel roof, gambrel roof designs were
used elsewhere in Region One, including the Coram Ranger Station. The style had the advantage of creating
usable space on the second story without the added expense of constructing full second-story walls. As staffing
grew, the Forest Service converted the building into a cookhouse as it was spacious enough for a kitchen, dining
area, and areas for relaxation. Inside, exposed square posts and center beams provide structural support, allowing
for an open plan between kitchen, dining areas, and common rooms. A central stairway accesses the attic, where
the building’s rough sawn joists and hand-peeled wooden rafters remain visible. Among those to use the building
were crews at the station under the auspices of the Civilian Conservation Corps, a New Deal program to put
unemployed, unmarried men to work.

Property: Johnson / Lee House
Address: 651 2nd Ave West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The northwest area of Kalispell was undeveloped when carpenter Erick J. Johnson bought this property in 1911.
Johnson, a cabinetmaker for Lew Switzer, had built this Craftsman style residence by 1913, likely doing much of
the work himself. The Greene brothers of California promoted the style, which was widely publicized through
magazines and pattern books. It was especially popular in Kalispell from 1907 to 1928. The quintessential
Craftsman bungalow called for varied, natural materials and subtle detailing that allowed the home to virtually
“sing into the landscape.” This exceptionally well-maintained example illustrates the ingenuity of its builder. The
modest home is sheathed in a combination of narrow clapboard and shingles, an effective yet inexpensive way to
add textural interest and emphasize the horizontal orientation characteristic of the Craftsman style. Wide
overhanging eaves supported by knee brackets and an inviting full-width open front porch with square columns
on wooden piers further reinforce the stylistic dictum. Interior finishes that reveal Johnson’s carpentry skills
include a plate rail in the dining room and the original stairway banister. A diamond-shaped window in the entry
adds individuality. One of the very first residences in the neighborhood, its street address, listed in early
directories as the “end of 2nd Avenue West North,” reflects the rural character of the area when the home stood
without neighbors. Johnson owned the property until 1929, when he sold it to cabinetmaker Benjamin P. Lee, a
co-worker at Lew Switzer’s.

Property: Big Creek Ranger Station Historic District
Address: , Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Big Creek Ranger Station Building Type: district
Subject 1: ranger stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Big Creek Ranger Station served as an administrative center for managing logging and firefighting in the
remote North Fork of the Flathead River valley. Set aside for a ranger station in 1908, the site was surveyed in
1911, after the 1910 “Big Burn” invigorated the U.S. Forest Service’s commitment to fighting fire. A seasonal log
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house served as summer quarters for patrolmen during fire season. Conveniently located on the “main county
wagon road,” Big Creek saw further development in 1917-18. USFS replaced these early buildings between 1927
and 1942, developing the complex according to a 1931 site plan that followed region-wide patterns. After creation
of the Civilian Conservation Corps in 1933, Big Creek housed seasonal CCC workers, who made many
improvements, including constructing new buildings following simple, pattern-book designs. These designs
reflected the agency’s practical rustic aesthetic, a utilitarian emphasis on rural self-sufficiency, and Craftsman
style detailing. The 1960s saw the creation of Interagency Fire Suppression crews, including one that based its
seasonal fire camp at Big Creek. USFS relocated a second bunkhouse from the Coram Ranger Station to house
these expanded crews and built three new buildings. The Big Creek Work Center, as it became known, operated
for two decades, until firefighting centers in Boise and elsewhere eclipsed the need for remote stations like Big
Creek. During the 1980s, the Big Creek firefighting center and ranger station closed. The buildings went unused
until 1989, when the forest service authorized the Glacier Institute to house educational programs for young
people.

Property: Ranger's House
Address: Flathead National Forest, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Big Creek Ranger Station Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: ranger stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1917-18, the Forest Service recognized the Big Creek Ranger Station as the “most important secondary
protection station site in the Lower North Fork district.” Ten years later, the Forest Service reinforced the
designation by building this one-and-one-half-story permanent residence. The oldest extant building at the
station, the 1927 Ranger’s House originally doubled as the station’s office. Its design displays Craftsman influences
combined with a rustic aesthetic, a typical format for USDA Forest Service buildings in the West and particularly in
Northern Region One. Coursed wood shingles cover the gable-roofed frame dwelling. The home’s projecting
eaves, its exposed rafter tails, and its inviting, full-length front porch reference the Craftsman style. Interior
detailing, such as the kitchen’s beaded wainscoting and the living room’s wooden window trim and tongue-in-
groove fir flooring, also shows Craftsman style influence. The choice of the Craftsman style reflected national and
local architectural trends as well as the Forest Service’s building philosophy, which included utility, respect for
nature, and harmony with the environment.

Property: Scott / Forhan House
Address: 326 4th Ave West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

This two-story residence, built between 1891 and 1897, began as a one-story twin of the Ferguson House next
door. Its first owner was Thomas Lacher, a Great Northern locomotive engineer, who lived with his English wife
and young daughter. Windmill agent and traveling salesman Stacy Scott and his wife, Carrie, owned the home
during the 1910s. William Forhan, an Irishman born in Tipperary County, bought the home in 1923. For forty-four
years, Forhan was a conductor on the Great Northern line between Havre and Spokane and on the Galloping
Goose that served Kalispell. Forhan and his Bohemian wife, Hermine, added the second story between 1923 and
1927 to make room for their nine children. By 1927, the original four-room American Four-Square cottage had
greatly expanded with the addition of a full basement, several upstairs bedrooms, and a bathroom. The Forhans
also enlarged the kitchen at the rear, removed many of the twenty-seven trees that crowded the lot, and
converted a three-story barn to the present garage. During the 1940s, one daughter operated a beauty shop here
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while another daughter and her husband raised their six children in the home. Forhan died in 1952, but the home
remained in the family until 1967. Long covered with English ivy (which Forhan eventually had to remove because
it grew under the clapboard), the home is fondly remembered by one of the Forhan daughters as a “house full of
love.”

Property: Swan River Bridge
Address: Bridge Street, Bigfork, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type:
Subject 1: bridges (built works) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Between 1909 and 1918, the homestead boom and expansion of the logging industry dramatically increased
traffic in northwest Montana. County governments aggressively worked to meet heightened transportation needs
by building better roads and bridges. In June 1911, the Flathead County Commissioners hired Minneapolis bridge
builder A. Y. Bayne and Company to construct this span at Bigfork. The bridge was part of an extensive program by
the commissioners to develop the county’s infrastructure. Steel pin-connected Pratt through truss bridges like this
one were typical of the steel spans Montana counties built by the hundreds between 1888 and 1915. Now a
relatively rare sight, spans like the Swan River Bridge were once common in Flathead County and across the state.
Pin-connections, developed by the railroads in the 1840s, streamlined the construction process and made this
style of bridge relatively inexpensive to build. Engineers had adapted the Pratt pin-connected truss for use as
wagon bridges by the time the Civil War began. The pin-connections are seen where the vertical and horizontal
steel beams meet at the top of the trusses. Construction of the bridge coincided with the expansion of a
hydroelectric facility at the nearby Bigfork Dam. At the same time, access over the bridge sparked the expansion
of Bigfork into a significant trade and industrial center in Flathead County. Closely associated with the adjacent
hydroelectric facility, the bridge also reflects the community’s growth from its humble beginnings in 1892 to a
significant residential and commercial center in northwestern Montana.

Property: Fry House
Address: 911 3rd Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Isaac Yenne, a carpenter who lived next door, likely built this cross-gable house for his brother George, a Civil War
veteran of the 14th Indiana Regiment. The residence originally featured a full-length front porch. Common to the
era are the home's clapboard siding, decorative shinglework in the gable ends, and returned eaves. George Yenne
arrived as a Flathead Valley settler in 1886 and moved here from Creston in 1901 after his wife's accusations of
abuse made the newspaper's front page. By 1907 widow Sarah Jane Kelley owned the residence, where she lived
with seven of her nine children. The three employed older children living with her undoubtedly helped support
the family. The home's longest owners were Louis and Caroline Fry, who lived here between 1925 and 1943 and
owned the property until 1950. Louis, a traffic manager for Kalispell Mercantile, helped found Kalispell's Peewee
baseball league and led four teams to the championship in the league’s first eight years. A painter and private art
teacher, Caroline was an early member of the Montana Institute of the Arts and a frequent exhibitor at their
festivals.

Property: Site of the Original Superintendent's Cottage
Address: , Kalispell, Flathead
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Historic District: Building Type: site
Subject 1: site Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Generations of native people enjoyed this wooded promontory long before settlers discovered it. In 1902, Charles
and Alicia Conrad chose this spot for their own eternal rest and envisioned it as a place of beauty for all. In 1905,
the Board of Trustees hired the cemetery’s first superintendent. For the next twenty years, English immigrant
William F. Tucker and his wife Jennie made their home in a cottage that once stood on this site. As the Tuckers’
two children grew up, Tucker’s son James worked with him alongside maintenance crews, tending the grounds
and improving the winding driveways.

Property: Montgomery Ward Building

Address: 333 Main Street, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Kalispell Main Street  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Montgomery Ward opened its Kalispell store on July 27, 1929, just three months before the stock market crash
that launched the Great Depression. Kalispell architect Fred Brinkman took inspiration from the Gothic style for
his design of the 23,000-square-foot building, whose exterior featured pressed tan brick decorated with heraldic
medallions and a stepped parapet accented with bell-shaped finials. Although Montgomery Ward’s corporate
office in Chicago approved the plans, the building was actually constructed for Kalispell businessman Henry Good,
whose logging company supplied the timber. A Missoula builder won the construction contract, but many local
subcontractors worked on the project. Montgomery Ward originally agreed to lease the building for five years,
but despite the Depression, the lease extended for over fifty. This store was part of an aggressive expansion for
Montgomery Ward, which began as a mail-order company in 1872. It opened its first retail outlet in 1926, growing
to 531 stores by 1929. Considered on its opening “one of the most up-to-date” Montgomery Ward buildings, the
downtown department store carried toys, car accessories, hardware, stoves, radios, paint, and women’s ready-to-
wear.

Property: Proctor Rental Property
Address: 227 4th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

National folk type housing like this one-story gable-front-and-wing style residence of frame with brick veneer
gained popularity in the late 1890s and early 1900s. The front porch nestled in the ell is a typically appealing
feature of the style while scrollwork on the gable end adds individuality. Flathead Valley pioneer James Proctor
built this home in 1895 and likely was its first resident. Proctor, a carpenter by trade and local planing mill owner,
had moved elsewhere in Kalispell by 1900. The long succession of Proctor’s tenants included jeweler Philip Jacoby
from 1905 to 1907. Jacoby, one of Kalispell’s few Jewish residents, advertised his specialty as mounting elk teeth
and claws. Kalispell Mercantile grocery manager James Busey and his wife, Elizabeth, lived here from 1909 to
1911. In 1910, David Barber and his wife lived with them while the Barbers’ house on 5th Avenue East was under
construction. Proctor’s long period of ownership ended in 1936 when Ida Chasse purchased the home.

Property: Nathan Rental Property
Address: 204 5th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead
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Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Valley farmer James Eckleberry built this residence as a rental property in 1900. Among his early tenants were Big
Fork Electric Power and Light Company president Lafayette Tinkel and Charles I. O’Neil who, with his brother
Clinton, owned the state’s largest retail lumberyard. Eckleberry sold the home to retired clothier Abraham Nathan
in 1912. Nathan, a confirmed bachelor, continued to maintain this residence as a rental while he lived in hotels
and rooming houses. He still owned the property upon his death in 1940. Nathan’s tenants included Cannon
Clothing Store proprietor Harvey S. Cannon, horticulturist Edward Dickey and insurance agent H. M. Huck. The
Daily Inter Lake described the American four-square style home in 1909 as an eight-room brick house with “all
modern improvements.” Except for a full-width porch that originally spanned the front, the turn-of-the-twentieth-
century home reflects few changes. Numerous families have lived under its roof, but the home has obviously been
well cared for by its owners: even the stained glass remains in place.

Property: Saucer-Mercord Building
Address: 338 Main St, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: KALISPELL MAIN STREET Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: commercial buildings Subject 2: residential structures
Sign Text:

A unified second-story fagade with distinct first-floor storefronts reflects the unique history of this business block.
George McMahon paid $4,000 to have the building’s southern (left) half constructed in 1901 for his undertaking
business. McMahon was one of the first coroners in Kalispell, and like most early undertakers, he had multiple
businesses. McMahon sold his business to trained undertaker and embalmer William Sherman in 1903. William
sold pianos as well as conducting his mortuary business on the first floor and used the basement as an embalming
room. Wife and business partner Nora and their seven children lived on the second floor. After William died, Nora
continued the business. In 1920, she became one of the first licensed women undertakers in Montana. Realtor
John Sauser hired Frederick Mercord to construct the northern storefront and second-story apartments in 1925.
The southern facade was likely remodeled at that time to create the appearance of a single, substantial business
block. Although the two buildings share a common wall, no doors connect the two structures. Subsequent first-
floor remodels include a recent extensive redesign of the north side storefront.

Property: Steere Residence

Address: 630 1st Ave West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This turn-of-the-twentieth-century home and its two outbuildings recall a time when neighborhood residents
cultivated backyard gardens and spent leisure hours on front porches. High school principal Eugene Steere
purchased the property in 1903. He and his wife, Lillian, moved to their Dayton ranch in 1910, renting out their
Kalispell residence in the interim. Steere returned to the high school as a teacher and assistant principal in 1914.
He retired in June of 1929 to “live an outdoor life on his ranch” but suffered a fatal stroke the following
November. This pioneer educator made an indelible mark on Montana’s school system. As state superintendent
of schools from 1892 to 1897, Steere revised the state’s school laws and played a key role in the founding of its
university system. New owners refurbished the home in the 1990s and restored much of its original floorplan.
Glass doorknobs, kitchen cupboard hardware, and maple flooring reveal quality vintage finishing while skylights,
stair paneling, and a built-in den bookcase demonstrate sensitive blending of old and new.
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Property: Conrad / Tobie House
Address: 428 Sixth Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Newlyweds Kokoa Baldwin, daughter of Kalispell attorney Marcus Baldwin, and Charles D. Conrad, son of the
wealthy Charles E. Conrad, built and settled in this three-story wood-frame home in 1907. The comfortable front-
gabled residence with its combination shingle and clapboard siding, wrap-around porch, and square columns was
reportedly architect designed. Tradition has it that the porch was built in Spokane and brought here in 1907. After
the Conrads divorced in 1915, Alba and Frances Jurgens Tobie purchased the home. Alba Tobie was president of
the Conrad Bank and Mrs. Tobie, a graduate of the Chicago Art Institute, was an artist of some renown. She filled
the home with her work. The vivacious Mrs. Tobie combined art with a busy career that included women's page
editor for the Kalispell Bee, proprietor of the Kalispell Gardens, and many professional affiliations. In 1945, Chet
and Jewell Chrisinger bought the property. Chet grew up in the neighborhood and as children, he and the
Conrads' son, William, played together in the Conrad Mansion. The Chrisingers and their four children carefully
maintained the historic home for over fifty years.

Property: Burton and Lulu Wheeler Cabin
Address: Lake McDonald, , Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Montana's dynamic Democratic senator Burton K. Wheeler rose to prominence as a Butte attorney and was one
of the leading progressives. He served in the Senate from 1923 to 1947. During his turbulent political career he
championed labor unions and freedom of speech, shaped key New Deal legislation, and successfully opposed
President Franklin Roosevelt's scheme to expand the Supreme Court. Never one to shy away from controversy, he
once boasted: “I've been accused of almost everything except timidity." In 1915, he first visited Lake McDonald
with his wife Lulu, an active and influential force in her husband's career. The following year the Wheelers leased
land and purchased a cabin in the park. Although Glacier offered a refuge from politics, Wheeler often engaged in
working vacations. He authored some of his important bills here, including legislation establishing self rule on
Indian reservations and regulating public utilities. Wheeler also took a special interest in the park's welfare and,
among other initiatives, was instrumental in securing appropriations for the Going-to-the-Sun Highway. The
Wheelers’ cabin burned in 1941. Lulu immediately began to design a replacement, supervising its construction the
following year. Her plans for the new cabin captured the spirit of the family's lost landmark while following the
signature Rustic Style of the National Park Service. Using local materials, she emphasized the importance of
privacy, quality of view, and natural environment to reflect an unpretentious "democratic" life style.

Property: McCarthy-Pederson Farm Historic District

Address: 820 Riverside Rd, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: McCarthy-Pederson Farm Building Type: district

Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: homesteads

Sign Text:

After Montana became a state in 1889, the Great Northern Railway pushed west and the fertile Flathead Valley
opened for settlement. One of the first to apply for a land patent from President Grover Cleveland was John E.
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McCarthy, who brought his wife and children to this Creston site in 1892. He cleared the timber, dragged logs up
Mill Creek to the Yenne-Eccles Mill, and with the lumber built a 10' x 21' home complete with brick fireplace and
chimney. Construction of the granary and concrete root cellar followed, all in close proximity to pure water
artesian wells. Flooding ruined his first crops, but since McCarthy's farm was on the Flathead River he was able to
sell timber down river in Somers and persevered. Kalispell's first blacksmith, Norwegian immigrant Andrew
Pederson, moved his wife and eight children to this farm upon McCarthy's death in 1903. The Pedersons further
improved the property, building a large home and four additional outbuildings for their cows and horses. During
the heady homesteading boom of the early 1910s, the Pedersons’ bountiful harvests included oats, barley, alfalfa,
hay, cattle, dairy products, and chickens. The Pederson children continued to work the farm until 1950.
Subsequent owners raised prize horses and Golden Retrievers and nurtured the land for grazing elk. Today, the
cluster of historic buildings reflects the farm’s diversity and historic owners. The McCarthys’ small homestead and
granary and the Pedersons’ loafing barn, horse stable, calving barn, and workshop well represent the agricultural
legacy of the Flathead Valley.

Property: Armstrong House
Address: 405 Fifth Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The Craftsman style was at the height of its popularity when clothing store salesman August Heusner and his wife
Tina purchased this one-story wood-frame home, built in 1910. The stylish corner residence features a low-
pitched hipped roof, gable dormer, wide unenclosed eaves, exposed rafter tails, a full-width front porch, and
narrow-reveal siding. Court stenographer Dean King, son of early Flathead County pioneers, lived here from 1915
to 1920 with his wife Metta and their three children. Metta was an active member of the Montana Federation of
Women'’s Clubs. In 1920, the Kings sold the home to electrical shop owner Arthur Mosby and his wife Edna. From
1926 to 1929, Albert Koppang, owner of Koppang Motor Service, and his wife Minnie lived here. By 1930, when
the one-story house belonged to Ory and Eva Armstrong, its appraised value was $4,500 (approximately $294,000
in 2011 dollars). An insurance agent by 1930, Ory was a World War | veteran who served in France as a lieutenant,
both during the war and afterwards as part of the occupation.

Property: Driscoll House
Address: 515 3rd St. East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Kalispell architect Fred Brinkman added character to the town’s built environment, designing everything from
modest dwellings to grand residences and civic buildings. He wrote that “... man has built his hopes, dreams and
ideals into the structures which he has created...” This gracious French Eclectic style home, unique to the
neighborhood, readily demonstrates Brinkman’s indelible influence. Maurice Driscoll had the home built in 1941
as a wedding present for his wife, Mary. Driscoll, the son of Kalispell lumberman Michael Driscoll, was cashier at
the First National Bank. The captivating residence is a late addition to this historic district, which spans the period
from 1892 to 1941. Stylistic elements include a steeply pitched hipped roof, arched through-the-cornice dormers,
and a massive chimney. Mature landscaping, a central circular window, balustraded garage, and front entry with
leaded and beveled glass embellish the storybook appearance of this neighborhood landmark.
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Property: Lee / O'Neil House

Address: 617 3rd Ave W, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Rural families who valued education faced a dilemma when their children graduated from the local one-room
school. Many students simply ended their studies after eighth grade. A lucky few, like Mercedes Lee, moved into
town for the winter to attend high school. Some came alone and boarded with Kalispell families; Mercedes came
with her parents, Hamilton and Martha Lee, whose older children cared for their Milk River ranch during the
winter. In 1906, the Lees completed this seven-room home, conveniently located two blocks from the new county
high school, which graduated its first class in 1902. Wide eave returns, a full-length front porch, a pedimented
entry, and clapboard siding add character to the Colonial Revival style residence. Because of its location, the
house retained its connection to education long after Mercedes graduated from high school. In 1930, printer
Ernest O’Neil lived here with his wife, Frieda, their four children, and two female boarders, both of whom were
teachers.

Property: McAllester House

Address: 619 2nd Ave West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Carpenters Hiram Seeley and William Kelsey built this front-gabled farmhouse on speculation in 1909 and lived
here briefly as they finished the interior. The frame two-story house recalls the rural character of the area, when
the home sat alone on the block. Stables behind and across the alley contributed to the pastoral landscape. In
1910, bartender James Coleman purchased the home. Coleman, who owned the Pastime Bar and the National
Hotel’s saloon during the 1910s, had a stormy residency in Kalispell. In 1912, the Women'’s Christian Temperance
Union circulated petitions against his business and police arrested him almost daily for operating a saloon across
from the YMCA. The judge ruled, however, that Coleman had a right to operate the business. Upon Prohibition in
1918, Coleman left Montana. In 1923, Bradley R. and Ella McAllester purchased the house. McAllester was a
respected civic leader, an advocate for farmers, and the longtime manager of the Equity Supply Company. The
McAllesters’ farm-like setting remained pristine until after 1927 when new homes began to appear on the block

Property: Bruyer Granary Historic District
Address: 1355 Whitefish Stage Rd., Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Bruyer Granary Building Type: district
Subject 1: historic districts Subject 2: agriculture
Sign Text:

Julius and Susanna (Birgin) Bruyer sold their successful farm in Vermillion, South Dakota, and moved to the
Flathead Valley in 1901. There Julius purchased 280 acres of partly improved property for $14,000. The couple
raised six children: Phillip, Lawrence, EImer, Nicholas, Elizabeth, and Benjamin. With the help of his sons, Julius
harvested and milled the timber for this granary, constructed in 1909 by stacking overlapping two-by-fours (a
technique called cribbing). Milled trim work and wide boxed eaves added elegance to the functional building.
Julius copied the design for the 11,000-bushel granary from the commercial-scale grain elevators that once stood
at almost every railroad siding. Loaded wagons entered the granary through large sliding doors. After the driver
unhitched the horses, the front of the wagon was lifted, using a hand-crank, to dump the grain into a pit. From
there, the bucket elevator lifted the grain in metal buckets to the building's distinctive cupola, or headhouse. The
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buckets emptied into the distributor, which funneled the grain through long spouts into storage bins. Nicholas
established the Kal-Mont Dairy in 1928, and the building remained in use until the late 1970s, when the dairy
closed. George and Anna (Hummel) Schulze purchased the property in 1950, when they moved from Minnesota
with their sons Gerald, George, and Roger. In 2004, the Schulze family agreed to donate the land on which the
granary sits to the City of Kalispell. Carl Naumann and Ellen (Bruyer) Naumann, granddaughter, restored the
building, a testament to the valley's agricultural heritage.

Property: Adams House
Address: 1044 First Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Perfect symmetry and mature landscaping make this Colonial Revival style home, built by widow Eliza Elliott circa
1910, quietly inviting. The home initially served as an investment, where retail merchant Peter Iverson and his
family were the first tenants. Watchmaker Frank Sheets, the Reverend Alexander Pringle of the Evangelist
Presbyterian Church, and newspaper reporter William Greene were residents at different times during the 1910s.
These early occupants well reflect the East Side’s diverse mixture of neighbors. Jess Adams of the city fire
department purchased the home in 1923. Adams and his wife, lla, raised two of their own children and four
others here. Upon Jess’s retirement as fire chief in 1944, the couple moved to a farm west of town. The home
appears today much as it did in 1910. An open porch spanning the front, central dormers, and evenly spaced
windows reflect the Colonial Revival style, but wide bracketed eaves and exposed rafter tails are inspired by the
Craftsman style.

Property: Yanicke House

Address: 748 3rd Ave W, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: boardinghouses

Sign Text:

The Flathead Monitor declared in 1899 that the west side was way ahead of the east side with “a new residence
being started there about every day.” By 1900, streets and sidewalks had replaced the open prairie. This Queen
Anne style home was one of the first in the neighborhood, constructed between 1891 and the turn of the century.
Carpenter/teamster William Yanicke came to Kalispell from South Dakota in 1900, purchasing this property where
he and his wife, Susan, were in residence by 1901. Yanicke served as street commissioner in the 1910s and later as
foreman for the city engineer. When the couple moved out of town to operate a poultry farm in 1925, daughter
Lydia Relter and her husband Nerlie, a Kalispell grocer, then lived here until 1938. The cross-gabled plan, mixed
exterior sidings (clapboard and decorative shingle work in the gable ends), and front and side porches are classic
elements of the Queen Anne style. The wraparound porch at the rear and south bay window, also distinguishing
features of the style, were later additions.

Property: Foot / Templeton House
Address: 330 5th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Charles H. Foot left his bride in Minnesota in the spring of 1891 to establish a home for them in Montana. Theresa
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Foot joined her husband in Kalispell the following July where he had set up the first law practice in the newly
platted town. The couple built this home, one of the first in the neighborhood, between 1891 and 1894. The
residence is a pleasing example of the gable-front-and-wing house form popularized by the advent of the railroad.
Balloon framing techniques and the availability of shipped-in lumber made this type of urban folk housing
especially desirable and affordable. Leaded window glass and Victorian-era turned porch posts with graceful
scrollwork follow the Queen Anne traditions of the late nineteenth century. The original front porch has been
carefully restored and moved to the back of the house. After several other owners and occupants, Flathead
County High School principal Payne Templeton and his wife, Gladys, purchased the home in 1924 and lived here
until 1936.

Property: Walker Residence

Address: 540 2nd Ave W, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: boardinghouses

Sign Text:

The Kalispell Bee in 1903 described the newly completed residence of county clerk and recorder James Wiltse
Walker as “one of the handsomest dwelling houses in the city.” A classic example of the Queen Anne style, typical
architectural elements include an irregular plan, wraparound porch, varied siding, and recessed semicircular
windows. The house, built by Cassius McCarty, featured nine rooms including a reception hall, maid’s room, fruit
room, laundry, and pantry. There were six clothes closets, picture molding, dining room plate railings, a pocket
door, a foundation of native rock, and a lawn beautifully landscaped with shrubbery and fruit trees. Walker, a
former pharmacist later elected state treasurer, was an early automobile enthusiast. His eleven-year-old
daughter, Phyllis, was reportedly the first child in Kalispell to learn to drive. Kalispell National Bank president
Clifford B. Harris (1908-1914) and John Hogl of Kalispell Malting and Brewing Company (1914-1920) were
subsequent owners. Then Sarah Ingraham, widow of the county sheriff, operated a popular boarding house here
from 1920 to 1946. A single family residence again since 1964, spacious grounds and a carriage house
complement this elegant turn-of-the-century home.

Property: Wurtz Homestead
Address: N. Fork Road, 2 mile North of Ford, Polebridge, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: cabins (houses) Subject 2: homesteads
Sign Text:

A torturous journey by covered wagon brought Frank and Ella Wurtz to this remote homestead in 1914. By 1917,
the family included three children, so Frank built a larger cabin, reusing the logs of their first one-room dwelling.
Proving a claim in the North Fork was a formidable task, and Frank did his best to clear and cultivate the required
acreage. Even so, the Forest Service challenged the Wurtz claim in 1918, charging that not enough land had been
cultivated. The protest was withdrawn, however, in 1919. A few months later, an arson fire consumed the family’s
newly finished third cabin. Evidence suggested that the fire was a cover-up for the abduction of four-year-old
Marie and two-year-old Harold; no trace of them was ever found. As the family dealt with this tragedy, title to the
land was granted in 1920. Frank began to build the main house, but grief was hard to overcome; Frank, Ella, and
nine-year-old Louise left the North Fork in 1922. A decade later, Frank and Ella returned with three children born
in the interim. Frank then completed the log house and continued to improve the property until his failing health
forced its sale in 1964. Today, the sturdy Wurtz cabin and house, representative of two building phases, are a
lesson in perseverance and a tribute to the hardy North Fork settlers who carved homes out of the wilderness.
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Upon the transfer of ownership to the Forest Service in 1990, the Wurtz grandchildren wrote: “This land has been
good to our family. The homestead was a labor of love, and it is with great love and respect that we now leave it.”

Property: Leslie-Dodge House

Address: 745 1st Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This side-gabled vernacular style residence was built for English-born veterinarian Charles F. Leslie in 1908. Dr.
Leslie, a graduate of Ontario Veterinary College in Toronto, came to Kalispell in 1906 when horses still provided
most transportation needs. He served as veterinary surgeon for several local liveries and was later appointed
deputy state veterinarian. The property was purchased in 1925 by Flathead County medical officer Dr. Albert
Dodge, who owned the home until 1943. Dr. Dodge served as county medical officer for 25 years and at his death
at age 91 in 1959, he was the oldest practicing physician in Montana. Narrow clapboard siding mixed with
shingled gable ends, full-width porch, Tuscan columns, and leaded glass are classic Queen Anne style elements of
the Victorian era that carried over into the twentieth century. The original interior includes a French door
separating the living and dining rooms and oak stairwork with engraved newel posts.

Property: Sundelius House

Address: 705 3rd Ave W, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Dr. Victor Sundelius was the first owner of this charming cottage, built circa 1937. Victor and his brother Fred,
both osteopathic physicians, practiced together in Kalispell during the 1930s and 1940s. The brothers were
generous to the community, donating their medical services to high school football, basketball, and track teams.
The community mourned when Victor died in 1949 and Fred in 1952. Victor’s wife, Emma, and their two children
remained in the home and the Sundelius family retained ownership until 1977. The well-finished interior features
vintage glass doorknobs throughout, multi-paned French doors, and hardwood floors. Fluted ceiling fixtures in
ornate and colorful floral motifs grace the bedrooms. Stucco cladding and a covered, gabled entry with graceful
arches reflect the Tudor style, illustrating how English building traditions were adapted to twentieth-century
American architecture. Mature landscaping reveals Victor Sundelius’ love of gardening and adds further appeal to
this historic home.

Property: Boyd's Shop
Address: 227 First Street West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: commercial structures Subject 2: transportation
Sign Text:

There were two businesses devoted to automobile repair in Kalispell in 1909, and seven blacksmiths. By 1915, the
ratio was almost reversed. Mort Fuller and Harry Jones worked here in one of Kalispell’s three remaining
blacksmith shops, while seven auto repair shops competed for business. Both men came to tragic ends. Fuller died
in 1916 at age thirty-three. Jones was indigent when he died in 1934 from typhoid—likely acquired from eating
refuse from the Billings dump. Paris Boyd owned the shop in 1934. His ghost sign still advertises “general
blacksmithing and horseshoeing.” His son, Glen, who ran the business from 1936 to 1947, continued to offer
“general blacksmithing,” as did his successor, James Schumach, who retired in the 1980s. However, survival in the
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automobile age required diversification: a second ghost sign advertises “welding, logging, tran repair.” Boyd’s
Shop is one of the few remaining false-fronted buildings in Kalispell. Visual icons of the western frontier, false-
fronted buildings are typically associated with the earliest period of settlement. False fronts added a touch of style
to what were essentially utilitarian structures. They made buildings appear larger and communities appear more
settled and sophisticated than they actually were. By the 1910s, when this building was constructed, the twenty-
five-year-old City of Kalispell boasted a population of 12,000 and a Main Street lined by elegant brick business
blocks. Thus, placing a false front on this building may have been a nostalgic comment on the part of the builders.
In any case, it was entirely appropriate for the old-fashioned business within.

Property: Anderson House
Address: 345 5th Avenue East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Flathead County High School principal Gilbert Ketcham was the first owner of this Craftsman style home built in
1908. As principal from 1902 to 1911, Ketcham was a well-rounded educator who loved being in the classroom.
He was called upon to teach “history, German and anything else that was lacking an instructor.” The next
occupant was Lloyd Shulkin who shared the home at various times with his four brothers. The Shulkins were in
business together, operating regional men’s clothing stores that catered to loggers. Longtime owner Adolph
Anderson, a native of Norway, purchased the property in 1918. Anderson had a varied career in Kalispell as
realtor, Continental Oil Company district manager, and later owner of two local service stations. From 1944 to
1955, he and his sons operated the Hotel Kalispell. After Anderson’s death in 1967, the home remained in the
family until 1980. Characteristic Craftsman style elements including bracketed eaves, exposed rafters, and gabled
dormers add to the architectural layering and pleasant diversity of the neighborhood.

Property: Ripke House

Address: 805 2nd Ave. W., Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

While most of Montana lost population during the 1930s, Kalispell grew dramatically as people migrated from
areas hard hit by drought and economic depression. Contractors like Herbert Yeaw, who built this one-story,
wood-sided home, filled the city’s vacant lots with small residences to accommodate the influx. Constructed in
1939, the interior of this practical residence includes built-in nooks and archways, typical of Kalispell homes of the
era. It also has an attached garage, distinguishing it from its older neighbors. The first garages were converted
barns or carriage houses. By the teens, most “modern” homes had detached garages at the rear of their lots,
though that was changing. As one architectural critic commented in 1919, “putting a garage in a house may sound
like a joke, but it is not.” Only after World War |l did the style become commonplace. Francis and Ethel Ripke
purchased the residence in 1940. Francis moved to Kalispell in 1903 and served as deputy sheriff for many years.
He died at home in 1960; Ethel continued to live here until 1973.

Property: C. E. Conrad Memorial Cemetery
Address: 641 Conrad Dr, Kalispell, Flathead
Historic District: Building Type: district
Subject 1: cemeteries Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

One fine fall day in 1902, Kalispell founder Charles E. Conrad and his wife Alicia took a last horseback ride to this
area and rested on the narrow overlook where the valley spread below. Charles told his wife there could be no
lovelier place for his final rest. Charles died weeks later, but not before he sketched the mausoleum he wanted
Alicia to build here. She carried out her husband’s wishes and had more than one hundred stone steps set into the
steep cliff below, allowing private access to her husband’s gravesite. Alicia Conrad worked tirelessly to establish a
community cemetery serving all people and all faiths as a memorial to her husband. She traveled extensively to
find the right design. At her invitation, A. W. Hobert, superintendent of the famed Lakewood Cemetery in
Minneapolis, Minnesota, visited this site and agreed there was none more beautiful. He designed the cemetery in
1903 as a classic Rural Garden Landscape. This concept in urban cemetery planning, first employed in Paris,
France, and later in Boston, Massachusetts, offered a park-like setting for the enjoyment of nature as well as
burial of loved ones. Alicia initiated a legislative bill, passed in 1905, establishing cemetery management and
perpetual care. This cemetery became the prototype for perpetual care cemeteries in Montana. Today, 104 acres
include more than 18,000 burials among winding driveways, sweeping lawns, and formal plantings that blend into
the spectacular natural setting. Alicia Conrad laid the foundation for thoughtful management and careful
stewardship. This unique cemetery welcomes all to enjoy its special features.

Property: Buck / Robbin House

Address: 725 S. Main, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Courthouse  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The City of Kalispell undertook a community improvement project in 1928 to beautify the long-neglected area
north of the courthouse. Many of the homes in this neighborhood were built as part of that comprehensive plan,
attributed to the vision of architect Fred Brinkman, linking downtown with the courthouse. This brick Tudor
cottage, built in 1931 by grocer Harry Buck, was part of the planned community. Its arched entry with steeply
gabled roof and heavy corbelled chimney well represent the American synthesis of the style, which sprang from
building traditions of medieval England. Noteworthy interior features include distinctively arched cubby holes
throughout the home, arched doorways, French doors, and the original fireplace. Buck sold the home to
businessman George K. Robbin in 1936. Robbin, whose locally prominent family pioneered the sweet cherry
industry on Flathead Lake, lived here until his death in 1975. Current owners have carefully preserved impressions
of small hands and feet etched in the concrete driveway and dated 1938.

Property: Chester / Long House
Address: 845 1st Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

“Harmony and artisticness,” according to the Kalispell Bee in 1913, best described the newly completed Craftsman
style home of attorney Thomas Long and his wife, Vesta. Originally painted maize with white trim and green roof,
its natural colors followed the Craftsman style ideal. Wide bracketed eaves and French doors opening onto a small
pergola/porch further reflect this fashionable style. Vesta, a “brilliant clubwoman” and later the first woman of
Flathead County elected to the state legislature, divorced Long in 1919 and married politician William Brennen.
Brennen was a personal friend of both Presidents McKinley and Roosevelt and a colorful public figure. From 1922
to 1939, local businessman Thomas Chester and his wife, Effie, owned the property and in 1941, Norma and Roy
Waller were tenants. Norma was the daughter of noted author Frank Linderman. The residence has also served as
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a duplex, a chiropractor’s office, and a youth hostel but is once again a single family residence. Original light
fixtures and handsome built-in bookcases remain, recalling Vera Long’s excellent taste.

Property: Weberg House
Address: 329 5th Ave E., Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Carpenter William Williscroft owned, and possibly built, this one-story hipped-roof cottage between 1891 and
1897. He likely intended it as an investment property because by 1900 renters occupied the house. Sometime
after 1950, owners replaced the full-length front porch, stuccoed the original brick veneer, and exchanged the
one-and-one-half-story alley apartment for a two-car garage. Otherwise, the home looks much as it did at the end
of the nineteenth century. Peter and Rena Weberg bought the home in 1906. The couple had arrived in Kalispell
in 1898 and raised three children here, occasionally renting out a room “for the summer only,” perhaps to tourists
attracted to the area by Glacier National Park. In 1916, Peter- became city treasurer. He was reelected to that
position for twenty-nine years, until his death at age eighty-five. Rena was an early member and president of the
Ladies Aid of Bethlehem Lutheran Church and an active member of the Republican Women'’s Club. She made her
home here until three years before her death in 1966 at age ninety-three.

Property: Pierce Residence

Address: 614 First Ave West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

The unusual architecture of this front-gabled vernacular style residence, built by Alfred Pierce in 1901, sets it
apart from its neighbors. One of the first homes built in the neighborhood, it was considered a fairly expensive
home at $2,400. Peterson was proprietor of the Somers Hack Line, and moved to Somers in 1907. The home then
had a variety of tenants between 1909 and 1920, including an ice dealer, a teamster, and one of the proprietors of
the City Transfer and Coal Company. Most notable, however, was Kalispell architect Marion Riffo, who lived here
with his family circa 1915. William J. Pierce, a decorator and painter, moved in with his family in 1920. Pierce
briefly moved to California and returned to buy the home in 1923; the Pierce family lived here for a decade. The
turn-of-the century home features a distinctive clipped gable roof, projecting shed dormers, and ample porches.
The upstairs front doorway likely once led to a finished second-story porch.

Property: Spafford House
Address: 504 6th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

A bird's-eye view of Kalispell drawn in 1897 shows this Colonial Revival style residence already in place on its
prominent corner. The Kalispell Building and Loan Association likely built the home in 1895 when the company
obtained title to the property. The first known resident was Dr. Arthur Burch, a local dentist, who lived with his
family at this address by 1900. Attorney Mark B. Cornrow, a widower with two infant daughters, purchased the
home in 1907. Louis Spafford, editor and manager of the Daily Inter Lake newspaper, was the next owner. Louis
and his wife, Hilma, lived here for nearly fifty years and the Spafford family retained ownership until 1991. A
rectangular plan, symmetrically balanced windows, pedimented entry with sidelights, and long shed-roofed
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dormers reflect the Colonial Revival style. Tucked into the landscape and framed by ample shade trees, this
pleasant home exemplifies the East Side’s earliest period of development.

Property: Proctor House
Address: 412 2nd Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Local legend has it that this home was built at Demersville, a steamboat landing on the Flathead River. When the
railroad bypassed Demersville, many residents gradually moved their homes and buildings to the new town of
Kalispell some four miles away. Before the days of hydraulic jacks and flatbed trucks, this tedious operation was
accomplished by placing the structure on logs. Horses pulled it along, rolling the logs, moving the last log to the
front as the load advanced. This home occupied its Second Avenue lot by at least 1908 when it was advertised for
rent. Farmer George Proctor and his wife Lurana settled in the Kalispell area and purchased the property in 1909,
keeping house here until 1916. Like their neighbors, the Proctors stabled their horses in a barn on the alley; by
1927, an auto garage had replaced the barn. The cozy well-maintained cottage retains its asymmetrical floor plan.
The bay window, gabled roof, and porch tucked into the front fagade are charming features typical of the Queen
Anne style.

Property: Dunsire House
Address: 545 2nd Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Leaded glass transoms, Tuscan columns, a bay window, and spacious porch spanning the front recall nineteenth-
century requirements for a comfortable, homey dwelling. Isabelle and David Sturtevant first owned this early
residence, built between 1891 and 1894, as rental property. In 1900, Andrew Dunsire bought the house. Dunsire
was born in Fifeshire, Scotland, and came to the Flathead Valley in 1888 where he worked as a ship’s purser on
Flathead Lake and Kootenai River steamers. His sailing days were over in 1892 when Isabella Ritchie arrived from
Elgin, Scotland. Andrew met her train at Missoula and the couple immediately went to the Episcopal Church
where they were married. They traveled by train, coach, and boat to Kalispell where they made their home.
Andrew served as county assessor from 1897 to 1904 and eventually went into the dry goods business. The
couple had no children, but took in Isabella’s sister, Andrew’s nephew, and boarders. After Andrew’s death in
1947, Isabella remained in the family home until her death in 1952 at 93.

Property: Peterson House
Address: 604 4th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Self-styled capitalist Olaf Peterson and his wife Johanna, both Swedish immigrants, built this sturdy two-story
home circa 1896. It was the first home constructed on the block. While other neighborhood homes are of frame
construction, this residence is of brick. Oddly, several of its former owners were in the timber business. Timber
dealer George Millet purchased the home from the Petersons in 1908. Pacific Northwest lumberman Julius Neils
of Portland was the next owner. Neils sent his son-in-law, Harry Schocknecht, to Kalispell to establish lumberyards
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in Montana. The Schocknechts occupied the home until 1915. Logging contractor Thomas Gardner and his family
were residents during the 1920s. Dr. Ralph Towne and his wife, Marie, made their home here from 1936 to 1967.
The home then served as parish house for the nearby Trinity Lutheran Church. At some time in its more recent
history, preeminent Kalispell architect Fred Brinkman designed the newer windows, but the nineteenth-century
residence retains much of its historic fabric. A complex plan and orange-red brick softened by mature landscaping
make this a distinctive neighborhood landmark.

Property: First Presbyterian Church

Address: 524 Main Street, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Courthouse  Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: churches (buildings) Subject 2:

Sign Text:

Charter members George and Helen Miles bestowed this land on the church in 1882. Since that time the First
Presbyterian Church has occupied this space. Church trustees met in 1911 to discuss the construction of a larger
$30,000-540,000 church. Pastor Reverend J. Forsythe Smith reasoned that a new house of worship would
“provide better social advantages, better intellectual advantages, and better moral and spiritual advantages.” In
addition to a larger worship space, the modern facility would include a Sunday school and choir room. Architect
Brynjulf Rivenes designed the concrete and brick edifice on the same site as the old church, which was sold and
relocated to face North Prairie. Western Granite and Marble Works of Miles City donated the cornerstone, laid on
November 26, 1914. C. N. Strevell gifted the main stained glass window fronting Montana Avenue. The oak
finished, 871-pipe Estry organ was specially designed to fit the organ chamber. Dedicated in 1917, this impressive
Gothic Revival Style church conveys a sense of stability and permanence.

Property: Goshorn House
Address: 501 4th Avenue East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

The owner and publisher of the Inter Lake, a weekly newspaper serving the Flathead Valley, was the original
owner of this prominent corner residence. Robert M. Goshorn, his wife Alice, and their two children moved into
the new home in 1900. In 1907, their son Joseph, a Stanford University student, drowned along with two other
Kalispell youths in a canoeing accident near Seattle. Robert and Alice Goshorn determined to stay busy,
converting their weekly publication to a daily newspaper. They sold the business in 1912, but it remains today the
Daily Inter Lake. Goshorn subsequently served as receiver (under the Taft administration) and as register (under
the Harding administration) of the U.S. Land Office at Kalispell. The couple also maintained a ranch and fruit
orchard on Flathead Lake. Their vintage Kalispell home features bay windows, diamond-shaped window panes,
two porches, decorative shinglework, and partial shingle cladding, hallmarks of both the Queen Anne and Shingle
styles. A smorgasbord of surface textures—clapboard, rough-cut stone, and shingles—beautifully expresses
Victorian-era taste. Inside, a handsome staircase showcases highly skilled carpentry.

Property: Ross House

Address: 820 3rd Ave West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

This two-story residence began as a one-story shotgun style house built in 1897 by furniture dealer Samuel Clark.
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In 1900, the Clarks added the south wing and second floor. William “Dusty” Rhoades, later city attorney and state
legislator, acquired the home in 1905. David and Anna Ross next owned the home from 1907 to 1936. Ross was
an attorney and president of the Kalispell Title Guarantee and Abstract Company. Between 1910 and 1927, the
Rosses greatly enlarged the south wing. World War | veteran and prominenet Kalispell surgeon Dr. Fayette Ross
lived with the Rosses in the late 1920s. The porch was screened in and the entrance was on the north when Roy
and Norma Waller were tenants in the 1930s. Norma was the daughter of noted Montana author Frank B.
Linderman. The residence today, much changed from the original small dwelling, mirrors the evolution and
maturation of the neighborhood.

Property: Alward House
Address: , Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Kalispell carpenter Cassius McCarty, property owner from 1909 to 1911, most likely built this vernacular style
residence with Craftsman style details. Shortly after construction newlyweds Herbert and Kate Alward moved into
the new home. An established member of the community, Alward was cashier of the First National Bank, the
oldest bank in the northwestern portion of the state. In 1910, Alward married socialite Kate Montelius, daughter
of Mrs. Lew Switzer, in an elegant yellow wedding. Alward’s financial career took the family to Tacoma,
Washington, four years later. Traveling salesman Maurice Beaudin rented the house from the Alwards. Kate
Alward died during the influenza epidemic in 1920 leaving three small children. A. J. Casey, a partner in the
Western Supply Company grocery, purchased the property from Alward in 1923. The Craftsman style was a
popular architectural design in Kalispell at the turn of the century. The home features clapboard siding, a hipped
roof, exposed rafter tails, a projecting window on the south side, and a small integrated porch with Tuscan
columns. A stained-glass window in the bathroom complements the residence’s vintage interior.

Property: 404 Second Avenue West

Address: 404 Second Avenue West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building | contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

When twenty-five-year-old housekeeper Cora (Brooks) Moore lived here with her four-year-old son, she owned
the home free of mortgage. She built the simple, one-story gable-front home sometime between 1894 and 1899.
At that time, it had a back porch but no front porch. Her neighbors were mostly residents of female boarding
houses (a turn-of-the-century euphemism for brothels). Claude Jump, who owned a livery stable one block north,
rented the home in 1907. Ezra and Catherine Slack purchased the property in 1910, after their eight children had
grown up. The founder of an important Kalispell realty company, Ezra died in 1918. Catherine continued to live
here until her death in 1924. Her son George and his family lived just up the block. The red light district had
moved elsewhere by the time the Slacks moved in, and the female boarding houses had all been torn down or
converted into more respectable lodging. By 1927, the area’s transformation was complete. Two churches
neighbored this residence: the Free Methodist Church to the north and the Full Gospel Mission Church to the
east.

Property: Stillwater Ranger Station Historic District
Address: 7425 Hwy 93 S, Olney, Flathead
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Historic District: Stillwater Ranger Station Building Type: district
Subject 1: ranger stations Subject 2: log buildings
Sign Text:

The Stillwater Forest and its ranger station mark a milestone in the history of state forestry. The Enabling Act of
1889 laid a tenuous foundation for today’s system by granting Montana two sections of land in every township,
stipulating that the income generated must be used for education. It soon became apparent that effective
management of 500,000 widely scattered acres was impossible. The Office of the State Forester, created in 1909,
advocated consolidation of state holdings as the solution. In 1912, the State Forester proposed to swap the Forest
Service 60,000 acres of state-owned sections for a like amount here in the Whitefish and Stillwater drainages.
President Woodrow Wilson approved the exchange in 1918. Stillwater became Montana'’s first state forest.
Through the efforts of State Forester Robert McLaughlin, the first log structure at Stillwater Ranger Station was
built in 1922. At McLaughlin’s urging, the 1925 legislature designated the Stillwater Forest a managed site. After
40,000 timbered acres burned in 1926, the Stillwater Ranger Station became a year-round facility for timber
management and fire protection and was the only major ranger station in the state system until 1954. Ranger
Pete De Groat built the main log residence in 1928, and CCC forestry crews added several more buildings in the
1930s. Maurice Cusick, supervisor from 1936 to 1967, built four others. Today, these historic log buildings
constructed of local materials are a tribute to Montana’s early forestry and conservation efforts.

Property: J. E. Rockwood House
Address: 835 1st Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Joseph E. Rockwood moved to Kalispell from Missouri in 1901 to begin a long and successful career as a lawyer.
He entered into practice with longtime friend F. Joe Rice. And, beginning in 1934, served two terms as judge of
the 11th Judicial District. Before retiring in 1942, Rockwood served two terms in the Montana House of
Representatives, was a member of the Odd Fellows, and the Kalispell Saddle Club. Rockwood married Minnie
Saeger in 1897 and they had two children, Georgia and Forrest. An avid horseman and lawyer, Forrest worked to
enlarge the Bob Marshall Wilderness area for horseback riding. Built between 1922 and 1925 for the Rockwoods
by Kalispell contractor F. C. Mercord, this Craftsman-style home features a full-width front porch with Tuscan
columns, exposed rafter tails, Craftsman style windows, and large gabled front dormers. The interior of the home
retains its original Craftsman splendor, showcasing built-in bookcases, a built-in china hutch, and birch hardwood
floors. The Rockwoods’ horse barn still stands on the alley.

Property: Graham House
Address: 825 6th Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Wilbur and Celeste Graham built this hallmark Art Moderne style home in 1942. The style took its look from the
modern means of transport that had captured the popular imagination in the 1930s. While the Depression had
taken its toll on the country’s economic life, Americans were still proud of their technological prowess. In an
expression of determined optimism, commercial and architectural design of the era imitated the sleek curves and
smooth surfaces that gave cars and airplanes their aerodynamic advantage. The chic, stripped-down style also had
the benefit of being relatively inexpensive to build. Favored by architects, Art Moderne had less of a popular
following than more familiar-looking styles, making examples relatively rare in Montana. A building contractor,
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Wilbur designed this home himself, including the extra long garage that provided space for his office. Perhaps his
profession gave him an advantage in finding construction materials, which were scarce during the war years; this
is one of the few Kalispell residences built during World War Il. The Graham home features many of the elements
that characterize the Art Moderne style: a flat roof with a small ledge at the roofline, stucco siding, rounded
corners, metal sash windows flush with the wall, and a circular window in the front door (reminiscent of a ship’s
porthole). Chrome door handles, hinges, and cabinet pulls continued the modern look in the interior. The
Grahams, who never tired of their stylish home, both lived here until their deaths, his in 1958, and hers in 2001.

Property: Kolle / Sherman House
Address: 810 Third Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: contributing building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: Craftsman
Sign Text:

Built on a prominent corner lot for blacksmith Chris Kolle and his wife Mary in 1908, this Craftsman style home
features many of the design’s characteristic elements. Its wide, sheltering eaves are meant to evoke feelings of
coziness and security while its full-length front porch, tucked beneath the main roofline, offers a connection to
nature. In 1910, Chris employed four to six “scientific horseshoers and skilled wheelwrights and blacksmiths.” Like
many blacksmiths, he transitioned to automobile repair and sales as combustion engines began to replace horse
power. John and Cornelia Sherman purchased the residence in 1920. In 1926 the Shermans hired Kalispell
architect Fred Brinkman to remodel the home, adding a fireplace, breakfast room, downstairs bathroom, and rear
“service stairway to the basement.” John was the co-owner of Flathead Motor Sales Company, and, as a member
of Roads and Highways committee of the Kalispell Chamber of Commerce, he helped to locate and develop
western Montana highways. After John died in 1941, Cornelia, a trained teacher, ran a home kindergarten. In
1943, she took a teaching job with the district and later became the Flathead County librarian.

Property: Dean Rental Property
Address: 19 5th Ave E., Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: barns Subject 2: residential structures
Sign Text:

Alonzo J. Dean turned to real estate investment after his retirement as longtime manager of Kalispell’s J.C. Penney
store in 1927. In 1928, Dean purchased the elegant Charles Conrad stable complex that originally stood on
Woodland Avenue. The barn and carriage house were divided into five sections and the pieces moved to different
locations. Kalispell architect Fred Brinkman brought about the transformation of each from stable to home. A
steep gabled roof, half timbering, arcaded wing, and arched entry are classic Tudor style elements Brinkman
employed in the remodeling. Although no longer associated with the Conrad Estate, the home is an excellent
example of adaptive reuse during the neighborhood’s historic period. It is also significant for its association with
A. ). Dean, whose real estate development during the late 1920s served as impetus for further residential
construction. Now a private residence, current owners have meticulously restored the original architectural
features both inside and outside.

Property: Bogardus House

Address: 31 5th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
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Sign Text:

Many interesting families occupied this Craftsman style home after its completion in 1909. John and Anna Nelson
were probably the original owners of the property, but Richard Cap, manager of Cap Electric Construction, and his
bride, Leila Noffisinger Cap, were the first to occupy the residence. In 1915, good road and automobile booster
Frank D. Stoop moved into the house and his bride Annie joined him a year later. Stoop became known as the first
person to travel by car from Kalispell to West Glacier and to Libby. The home is best known for its longest
residents, Dr. Fred B. and Gertrude Bogardus, who owned the property from 1923 to 1955. Dr. Bogardus originally
came to Somers, Montana, as physician for the O’Brien Lumber Company. After completing post-graduate work,
Dr. Bogardus established a hospital in Eureka and later opened an eye, ear, and throat practice in Kalispell. The
residence features wide, bracket-supported eaves, a full-width porch, and windows accented by diamond-paned
upper lights.

Property: 610 1st Avenue West

Address: 610 1st Avenue West, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: West Side Building Type: building contributing

Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:

Sign Text:

A built-in china cabinet with access from two rooms, a bird’s-eye maple floor in the dining room, a breakfast nook
with a simple round arch, and an early dishwasher made this stylish 1905 Queen Anne style residence a haven for
entertaining. A cross-gabled plan, decorative shingle siding, a pedimented porch, and native rock basement
highlight the structure’s facade. Throughout the years the home was owned and rented by several prominent
citizens who entertained frequently, capitalizing on this distinctive architectural design. Assistant Secretary of the
State Senate Xerxes Kemp Stout rented here in 1905. Stout administered the oath of office to his uncle, Joseph K.
Toole, Montana’s first governor. In 1913, State Senator Sidney Butler, the “father of Flathead County,” leased the
dwelling. The longest residing occupant, Dr. Locious A. Harris, purchased the home in 1924 and added steam heat
to the attached garage so that in the winter his car would start quickly in medical emergencies. The Harris’
daughter Bernice lived here until 1981.

Property: Sawyer House
Address: 828 4th Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Historic District Building Type: contributing building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: Queen Anne
Sign Text:

Harriet and Hugh Sawyer built this Queen Anne style home before 1903 as a rental property. The scrollwork and
fish-scale shingles ornamenting the gable end, leaded glass, and a bay window reflect the style’s popularity. The
front-gable residence originally had a one-story rear wing. The homeowners enlarged it after 1955 by adding a
second story. Early residents included deputy county clerk and recorder Charles Morrill and his wife Geraldine,
high school teacher Samuel Brown, and widow Kate Bull and her seven children. Grain thresher Martin Knutson
and his wife Ella and their five children lived here in 1920. The Browns, who lived here in 1922, had four children
and the Kings, who lived here in 1938, had five. Large families were the norm. When part owner of the Daily Inter
Lake newspaper Arthur Sward and his wife Blanche purchased the residence in 1930, the home was assessed for
$2,600. Neighborhood children had picnics and played on the vacant lot across the street until 1929, when the
county built Cornelius Hedges Elementary School. The Sawyer House has always been a home brimming with
children.
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Property: Simpson House
Address: 718 2nd Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Scottish immigrant John Simpson had this two-story home built in 1901 by contractor and lumberman Elmer
Bader. Simpson and his wife Minnie lived here off and on with their seven children for many years. Herbert and
Johanna Harmon owned and occupied this house between Simpson ownerships. The Harmons rented out a
furnished south room in their “congenial private home,” advertising the new amenity of electric lights and an
indoor bath. In 1907, the Simpsons returned to Kalispell from Spokane and John resumed his career with the
Kalispell Mercantile Company. After Simpson’s death in 1915, his wife owned the residence until 1934. Walter and
Clara Stearns purchased the property from the Simpson family in 1939 and continued to rent out a two-room
private apartment for the next six years. A bay window and a gabled dormer adorn the south end of the house.

Property: Belton Chalet
Address: U.S. Route 2, West Glacier, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: hotels (public accommodations) Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Great Northern Railway chairman of the board Louis Hill dubbed the rugged mountains of Glacier National Park
“America’s Alps.” Between 1909 and 1913, the Great Northern Railway constructed the Belton Chalet complex
under Hill’s direction. It was the first of the Great Northern Railway’s sprawling hotels to serve Glacier National
Park, created in 1910, and marks the beginning of tourism in the park. Hill drew upon the Chalet and American
Rustic styles for his hotels to create harmony with Glacier’s natural landscape and help define visitors’ perceptions
of the “controlled wilderness.” He costumed employees accordingly throughout Glacier Park. Waitresses in alpine
dress, cowboy guides, and local Blackfeet Indians created a true theme park preceding Walt Disney. Belton Chalet
is the most traditional, purely Swiss of Glacier’s hotels. Stylistic elements include front-facing gable ends, wide
eaves with heavy braces, balconies, and ornamental fretwork. Inside, taxidermy, American Indian motifs, and a
large oil landscape of Glacier Park by artist John Fery complement the rustic wood timbers. Guest rooms at the
Belton Chalet featured rustic rockers, porcelain washbasins, Arts and Crafts style dressers, Hudson’s Bay style
blankets, metal bedsteads, and Swiss style curtains. After being closed for many years and then completely
restored under private ownership, Belton Chalet is one of six original park hotels. The buildings as a group,
designated a National Historic Landmark, remain unaltered as a unique example of a Swiss theme park in
America’s Alps.

Property: Ernest M. Child Residence
Address: 233 5th Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Shed dormers, exposed rafter tails, wide eaves supported by brackets, a flared chimney, and a full-width front
porch mark this circa 1913 home as a Craftsman style residence. Native rock and molded concrete ornament the
full basement; interior features include built-in cabinets with leaded glass doors in the living and dining rooms, a
fireplace of Kalispell brick, and walk-in closets (all but one with windows that open). The house was likely
constructed for Frank Johnson, a cashier at the Conrad National Bank, who owned the residence until 1918.
Ernest and Helen Child lived here from 1920 until Ernest’s death in 1941. Born in DeKalb, New York, Ernest was a
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prominent attorney who arrived in the Flathead Valley from Wisconsin in 1905. Helen, a Minnesota native, was
called a “singer of note” at the time of their marriage in 1906. During the Childs’ occupancy, the exterior was
elegantly landscaped; in 1936, the Kalispell News published a detailed description of the yard, which it called “the
beautiful garden of another ‘Home Beautiful’.”

Property: Iseminger / Graham House
Address: 611 2nd Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

An interest in colonial American architecture began with the Philadelphia Centennial in 1877 and inspired the
Colonial Revival style. When new printing methods in the late 1890s made photographs in periodicals widely
available, the style spread across the nation. This home, built between 1903 and 1909, is representative of the
architectural revival. A porch spanning the front, Tuscan columns, narrow clapboard siding, and strict overall
symmetry define the style, which draws upon classical lines and simple details. Halbert and Marilla Iseminger
moved to Kalispell from their rural farm and purchased this property in 1908. Halbert Iseminger Jr. was in
residence by 1909. The senior Isemingers were the proprietors of the Men’s Fashion Shop where Halbert Jr. and
some of their seven children were also employed. Various family members resided at this address until 1923.
World War | Navy veteran John Graham and his bride, Elsie, then bought the property. Graham owned a local
furniture and appliance business. The couple raised their son here and after Elsie’s death in 1955, Graham
remained in the home until 1967.

Property: Elliott House
Address: 506 6th Avenue East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Builder and real estate agent Hiram Johnson built this residence around 1911 for his wife and three children. The
Johnsons had come to Montana in 1893 as homesteaders and developed a successful apple and cherry orchard
near Flathead Lake. They sold their produce door-to-door in Kalispell. In 1904, Hiram moved his family to Kalispell
so that the Johnson children could attend public school. John and Elizabeth Elliot purchased the property from the
Johnsons in 1917. Along with his brothers W. G. and T. W., John owned and operated the Elliot Brothers
Company, a general merchandise and wholesale grocery business. John died only two years after moving into this
home, but his wife Elizabeth remained here until 1946. The original fagade featured a full-width front porch;
Elizabeth had it enclosed in 1927. The house has wide, flat, returned eaves and a molded concrete block
foundation. Leaded glass complements the upper panes of many of the windows.

Property: Kalispell Mercantile Rental Property
Address: 419 2nd Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Constructed between 1899 and 1903, this charming American foursquare cottage features a front gable with
ornamental shingle work, front windows with decorative muntins, original front door, and decorative scrollwork
spanning the front porch. The garage at the rear was built in 1929 with patented steel corners with locks and
sidewalls that came assembled without the use of nails. It is of primary significance as the first prefabricated
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building the Superior Lumber Company of Columbia Falls erected in Kalispell. A growing population demanded
housing, and Kalispell businessmen responded by constructing numerous rental homes. The home had a series of
early owners and tenants. From 1911 to 1931, the Kalispell Mercantile owned the property. Among the many
diverse occupants were John O’Connor, superintendent of the Northern Idaho and Montana Power Company
(1905 to 1913), auto mechanic Ralph Pike (1917 to 1928) and Reverend Walter Sandy of the Central Christian
Church (1930). Owners carefully refurbished the house in 1999.

Property: Madison S. Love Residence
Address: 535 3rd Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: apartments
Sign Text:

An architectural oddity in the West, the Shingle style was more common in upscale, eastern coastal communities.
In this example, unusual for Montana, the characteristic gambrel roof conceals the residence’s second story. A
Palladian front window punctuates the upper level. Plain in decorative detailing, this architectural design attempts
to unify the irregular outline of the house with wood shingle cladding, giving the effect of a complex shape
enclosed within a smooth surface. Madison and Alice Love moved into their unique dwelling in 1909, ten years
after arriving in Kalispell. Madison was a plumber at McIntosh Hardware Company and Alice was an artist who
painted china. The Loves shared their home with boarders, especially teachers. After 1936, they moved to the
clapboard dwelling at the rear of the property, renting out their home to various tenants. During the late 1930s
the residence was often referred to as the Love Apartments. Madison and Alice died within seven months of one
another in 1940.

Property: George Drew Residence
Address: 345 4th Ave East, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Kalispell was only two years old when German immigrant Louise Sels and her son Ed had this cross-gabled Queen
Anne style residence built in 1892, a year that saw over a hundred homes built in the new town. Louise Sels soon
sold the house to her son-in-law Arthur Burnes, but according to the 1900 census, she continued to live in the
home with her extended family. The household included her three grown children, granddaughter, son-in-law,
and his mother. Josephine Richards and Ella Bell owned the house between 1902 and 1905, renting out "nice large
front rooms" to gentlemen. The distinctive horseshoe-shaped porch was added between 1903 and 1907. The
home's longest occupant, Maude Drew, lived here between 1905 until her death in 1959 at age 89. A year after
she and her husband George bought the house in 1905 they installed a brick sidewalk. The local newspaper
lauded this improvement over the standard wood sidewalks and predicted, "Other property owners will note the
manner in which the walk wears with much interest."

Property: Swan River Community Hall
Address: 115 Swan River Rd, Swan River, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: community centers Subject 2:
Sign Text:

In 1920, the local Rod and Gun Club purchased this acre of land as the site for a community building. Constructed
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twelve years later, the Swan River Community Hall has served as a locus for valley residents, who gathered here
for school functions, card parties, plays, dances, weddings, and funerals. The Grange and Farmers Union met at
the facility for years, and roller-skating was an important social activity during the 1950s and 1960s. As one
resident recalled, “If we didn’t go to the Hall every week, something was wrong.” Local builder Joe Johnson
designed the building, which is made of timber from surrounding state lands and salvaged from abandoned mills.
Most of the other building materials were donated, often in lieu of membership fees. Plays and dances also
financed the project. The first fundraising play was performed at the school across the road in 1931, and the first
dance was an open-air affair held on the Hall’s new birch floor the following summer. The thirty-six-by-sixty-foot
structure was completed in 1933. By 1945, an entry hall and two small rooms had been added to the front of the
building. The exposed rafter tails, milled trim, lap siding, and shingled gable ends of the addition match those of
the original Craftsman design. After a fire burned the rear of the Hall in 1976, the Board considered abandoning it,
but an outpouring of support led them to restore the structure. The Hall continues to serve as an important
gathering place for this rural Montana community.

Property: Dr. Albert Brassett Residence
Address: 628 4th Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: building | contributing
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Dr. Albert and Minnie Brassett built this house with money given Minnie as a wedding present by her father.
Constructed in 1911, the comfortable Craftsman style bungalow reflects the fashions of its day. Craftsman style
houses abound in Kalispell; this one, designed by local architect Marion Riffo, features a full-length front porch,
wide eaves, a flared brick chimney, and a shed dormer. A well-known physician, Dr. Brassett opened his practice
in Kalispell in 1909 and performed the first surgery at Kalispell General Hospital. He retired in 1954 on his
eightieth birthday, having served in some cases as family physician for three generations. Before buying one of
the first automobiles in Kalispell in 1913, Dr. Brassett walked to attend his in-town patients, including those at
Kalispell General; the hospital’s location two and a half blocks away likely influenced the Brassetts’ choice of
building site. The Brassetts raised two children here. Their long-term residency testifies to the home’s fine design:
Minnie and Albert both lived here until their deaths, hers in 1952 and his in 1956.

Property: Great Northern Railway Passenger and Freight Depot and Division Office
Address: 500 Depot St, Whitefish, Flathead

Historic District: Building Type: building
Subject 1: railroad stations Subject 2:
Sign Text:

Whitefish served as a division point for the Great Northern Railway from its founding in 1904 until 1955. In 1925,
one railroader called it “the most distinctively railroad town on the whole Great Northern system.” The second
floor of this 1928 Tudor style building, designed by railroad architect Thomas McMahon, housed the railway’s
division offices. Serving as a hub for passenger and freight transportation, the first floor housed the yard office,
freight and baggage rooms, warm room, ticket office, general waiting room, telegraph office, men’s smoking
room, and ladies’ rest room. Competition from automobiles and trucks had already begun to decrease railroad
traffic, so not many depots were built in the 1920s, the height of Tudor popularity; thus Tudor style depots are
rare. This depot’s Tudor features include its high pointed roof, stucco and decorative half timbering above
clapboard, and multiple groups of tall, narrow windows. Its decoratively carved brackets and rafter tails and
second-floor balconies echo similar detailing at Glacier National Park chalets, visually connecting Whitefish to
Glacier, a tourist destination widely promoted by the railroad. In the 1980s, Whitefish preservationists worked to
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preserve this magnificent building, which still serves as a passenger and freight depot. Railroad depots are one of
the few types of buildings for which the back (facing the town) is as important as the front (facing the tracks). The
stylish fagcades on both front and back of the Whitefish Depot continue to welcome travelers and reflect the
town’s railroad history.

Property: Charles and Carrie March Residence
Address: 442 4 Ave E, Kalispell, Flathead

Historic District: East Side Building Type: contributing building
Subject 1: residential structures Subject 2: Colonial Revival
Sign Text:

District court judge David Smith and his wife Hattie lived in a small wooden home here in 1900. That original
house was demolished by 1910 and replaced about ten years later with this stylish cottage. Designed following an
H-shaped plan, the one-and-one-half-story h